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OVERSIGHT HEARING ON JUVENILE 
RESTITUTION PROGRAMS 

TUESDAY, MARCH 3, 1981 

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, 
SUBCOMMITTEE ON HUMAN RESOURCES, 

COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION AND LABOR, 
Washington, D.C. 

The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 10:30 a.m., in room 
2261, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Baltasar Corrada pre
siding. 

Members present: Representatives Corrada, Williams, and Petri. 
Staff present: Gordon Raley, staff director; Deborah Hall, clerk; 

Dorothy Strunk, minority senior legislative associate; and John 
Dean, minority senior legislative associate. 

Mr. CORRADA. Good morning, ladies and gentlemen. 
Chairman Andrew's wife is scheduled for surgery this morning 

and he has gone to be with her. He asked me to express his regrets 
and preside in his absence. 

Pursuant to its oversight responsibility for the Juvenile Justice 
and Deliquency Prevention Act, the Subcommittee on Human Re
sources convenes this morning to review progress made by a 
number of restitution projects funded 2 years ago by the Office of 
Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. 

The idea of making restitution, whether for sins committed or 
crimes perpetrated, is certainly a very old one. It predates many of 
our modern-day judicial codes. At the same tiffi/~, employment of 
restitution models by the American juvenile justice system is rela
tively new. 

As I understand it, these projects are really aimed at making the 
concept of justice mean something to the offender and the victim 
alike. Young people, most often who have committed property of
fenses, are given the opportunity to work and repay their victims 
instead of being locked up. Thus, it keeps first offenders and minor 
offenders out of secure correctional facilities while still allowing 
them to literally pay for their crime. 

Restitution certainly seems to be a good idea on paper. Today we 
are here to see if it works in reality. About 2 years ago the Office 
of Juvenile Justice funded 41 projects in 26 States, Puerto Rico, 
and Washington, D.C., through a restitution initiative. I under
stand that an initial evaluation of this program by an independent 
evaluator is near completion. We have that evaluator, as well as 
juvenile justice officials with us this morning. 

Following them, the project manager from one of the actual 
projects in Madison, Wis., will describe the program as it was 
implemented at the State and local level, and then a youth panel 
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consisting of youngsters who have participated in the program, 
both in Washington, D.C., and in Wisconsin, will describe its 
impact on a personal level. 

Mr. Dodge and Dr. Schneider will join us at this time. Mr. Dodge 
is with the Office of Juvenile Justice here in Washington, D.C., and 
Dr. Schneider is the evaluator from Eugene, Oreg. 

We welcome Douglas C. Dodge, branch chief, juvenile justice 
system program, special emphasis division, Office of Juvenile Jus
tice and Delinquency Prevention, Washington, D.C. 

We also welcome Dr. Peter R. Schneider, principal investigator of 
the Juvenile Restitution Initiative, Institute of Policy Analysis, 
Eugene, Oreg. 

Dr. Schneider, will you take a seat. 
We welcome both of you to these hearings and appreciate very 

much the testimony to be presented by you today with reference to 
these innovative demonstration projects and your views on the 
subject. 

We are joined today here in the subcommittee by two of its 
members, Mr. Williams and Mr. Petri. 

If you have any initial statement that you would care to make, I 
would recognize either or both of you. If not, we will proceed \, ... ith 
the testimony of Mr. Dodge. 

[prepared testimony of Douglas C. Dodge follows:] 

PREPARED TESTIMONY OF DOUGLAS C. DODGE, BRANCH CHIEF, JUVENILE JUSTICE 
SYSTEM PROGRAM, SPECIAL EMPHASIS DIVISION, OFFICE OF JUVENILE JUSTICE 
AND DELINQUENCY PREVENTION 

I appreciate the opportunity, Mr. Chairman, to appear today before the House 
Education and Labor Subcommittee on Human Resources to discuss efforts by the 
Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention to promote restitution by 
juvenile offenders as an alternative to incarceration. It is a particular pleasure to 
represent the Office before this Subcommittee for the first time since enactment of 
the Juvenile Justice Amendments of 1980. 

As you know, the major share of the annual OJJDP appropriation is allocated to 
the states according to a population formula for use in assisting each state imple
ment such juvenile programs as the state deems appropriate. Smaller portions of 
our funds are used for research and evaluation, technical assistance, coordination of 
Federal activities, and discretionary grants which give special emphasis to innova
tive prevention and treatment approaches. 

In February of 1978, the Office announced a major competitive funding initiative 
to support projects which utilized restitution by juvenile offenders. Attention to this 
area was deemed appropriate in light of the emphasis in section 224(a)(3J of the 
Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention Act on programs which are "effective 
means of diverting juveniles from the traditional juvenile justice and correctional 
system, including restitution projects ... " The major objectives of this initiative 
were to hold youth accountable for their offenses, while providing an alternative 
disposition to incarceration. Accountability for misdeeds would be directly targeted 
to benefit the victim and the community. 

Programs would be further cost effective because of the avoidance of the costs 
associated with incarceration of young offenders. Maintenance of an individual in a 
residential facility costs the government from $24,000 to $43,000 per year, depending 
on the locality and the level of security. The cost per participant in a restitution 
project, on the other hand, is only $1,000, a significant savings. Restitution partici
pants enjoy the additional benefit of a meaningfUl employment experience which 
helps in their rehabilitation. 

Restitution for this program is conceived of in its broadest sense. It is defined to 
include payments by an offender in cash to the victim or service either to the victim 
or the general community. These payments must be made under jurisdiction of the 
juvenile or criminal justice process. OJJDP added a new dimension to monetary 
restitution by providing funds which could be used to support youth in employment. 
Provision of this employment support, together with the use of community service, 
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are viewed as giving all offenders an equal opportunity to participate, regardless of 
their ability to pay. 

Between September 30, 1978, and March 9, 1979, OJJDP funded 41 juvenile 
restitution projects in 26 states, Puerto Rico and the District of Columbia. Within 
this group, there were six state-wide agencies or organizations responsible for over
sight of program implementation at 50 local sites. 35 other localities were funded 
directly. Thus, 85 projects were supported under the initiative. 

Grants for the program were made for 24 months. The total amount awarded for 
the two-year period was $19,564,000. Of the initial 41 awards, it is anticipated that 
36 will be continued for a third year. 

To assist with project implementation, OJJDP awarded a technical assistance 
contract to the National Office of Social Responsibility (NOSR), of Arlington, Virgin
ia, NOSR has developed several training manuals and conducted a number of small 
training conferencE's for project personnel. 

Six of the sites are being intensively evaluated by the Institute for Policy Analysis 
(IPA) of Eugene, Oregon. IPA is also implementing a management information 
system which provides a base of data on all projects. 

Monetary restitution is the most frequently used form of restitution used by the 
projects, followed by community service and direct service to victims. Two programs, 
Puerto Rico and Charleston, South Carolina, do not accept any cases involving 
monetary restitution. Wayne County, Michigan, accepts a monetary restitution 
referral only if the youth already has a job. Otherwise, they rely on community 
service placements. 

The projects vary significantly in the scope of their activities. The narrowest in 
scope receive an offender only after a restitution plan and order has been developed. 
The youth will be placed and restitution payments will be supervised. A few ancil
lary services are also provided for the victims or offenders. About one-half of the 
programs fall into this category. This type of project is more predominant among 
the state-wide sites where individual projects tend to be smaller and fewer persons 
are available for delivery of services. The directly-funded local projects are more 
likely to provide ancillary services to victims. 

The projects offer a range of employment opportunities, including job develop
ment (locating and reserving slots for project youth) and job assistancE' (placing 
individual youths in a job). Subsidized work has the added ingredient of providing 
funds to support the youth in a job. 

Subsidized employment opportunities are offered by 69 percent of the local proj
ects and 62 percent of the state-wide projects. Job assistance is more popular than 
job development, although the difference is marginal. Only ten percent of the 
projects offer all three services. Half of the local projects attempt to place the youth 
in a permanent job, but only one state-wide project with three sites offers this 
service to participants. 

The results which have been reported regarding the operation of the various 
restitution projects are encouraging. Many of the objectives set for the program are 
being met. As of November 30, 1980, the following data have been reported: 

The number of youth referred to the projects is 16,000; 
The offenses which resulted in these referrals involved nearly 17,000 victims and 

$8.7 million in losses; 
Judges have ordered $2.4 million in monetary payments, 818,000 hours of commu

nity service, and 5,100 hours of direct service to victims; 
In 11,612 closed cases, juveniles placed by restitution projects have paid $1,076,200 

in monetary restitution, worked 177,935 hours of c:ommunity service, and performed 
more than 4,157 hours of direct victim service; 

78.7 percent of the youth referred are successfully completing their original or 
adjusted restitution orders; this successful completion rate goes to 87 percent if 
project ineligibles are removed from consideration; 

85.6 percent of the referrals have no subsequent contact with the juvenile court 
after the offense that resulted in a referral to the project and prior to their case 
closure. 

We are very pleased with these results, and believe it is particulary noteworthy 
that many young people are finding permanent employment as a result of their 
placement in jobs by restitution projects. 

Besides the projects in this initiative Mr. Chairman, OJJDP funds have been used 
in a number of other instances to support restitution. Some states have deemed it 
appropriate to use formula grant funds to implement restitution programs. I have 
brought with me a listing of OJJDP awards relating to restitution. Several back
ground !Jrtpers and evaluation documents have been prepared by the Office which 
may provide the Subcommittee with additional insight into the nature and impact 
of restitution activities. I am pleased to submit this material for your use. 
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We hope, Mr. Chairman, that as the results of these pilot projects are disseminat
ed widely, more jurisdictions will utilize their own resources to initiate similar 
efforts. This is a time when all levels of government must look for ways to limit 
their expenditures and conserve resources. Restitution is being shown to be a cost 
effective alternative to old ways of doing business. Given the other benefits
reduction in recidivism, provision of redress for victims, accountability on the part 
of offenders, and meaningful employment opportunities for youth-we believe that 
these restitution programs are resulting in greater community confidence in the 
juvenile justice system process. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would now be pleased to respond to any questions. 

STATEMENT OF DOUGLAS C. DODGE, BRANCH CHIEF, JUVE
NILE JUSTICE SYSTEM PROGRAM, OFFICE OF JUVENILE JUS 
TICE AND DELINQUENCY PREVENTION, WASHINGTON, D.C. 
Mr. DODGE. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. 
I appreciate the opportunity, Mr. Chairman, to appear today 

before the House Education and Labor Subcommittee on Human 
Resources to discuss efforts by the Office of Juvenile Justice and 
Delinquency Prevention to promote restitution by juvenile offend
ers as an alternative to incarceration. It is a particular pleasure to 
represent the Office before this subcommittee for the first time 
since enactment of the Juvenile Justice Amendments of 1980. 

As you know, the major share of the annual OJJDP appropri
ation is allocated to the States according to a population formula 
for use in assisting each State implement such juvenile programs 
as the State deems appropriate. Smaller portions of our funds are 
used for research and evaluation, technical assistance, coordination 
of Federal activities, and discretionary grants which give special 
emphasis to innovative prevention and treatment approaches. 

In February of 1978, the Office announced a major competitive 
funding initiative to support projects which utilized restitution by 
juvenile offenders. Attention to this area was deemed appropriate 
in light of the emphasis in section 224(a)(3) of the Juvenile Justice 
and Delinquency Prevention Act on programs which are "effective 
means of diverting juveniles from the traditional juvenile justice 
and correctional system, including restitution projects. * * *" . 

The major objectives of this initiative were to hold youth ac
countable for their offenses, while providing an alternative disposi
tion to incarceration. Accountability for misdeeds would be directly 
targeted to benefit the victim and the community. 

Programs would be further cost effective because of the avoid
ance of the costs associated with incarceration of young offenders. 
Maintenance of an individual youth in a residential facility costs 
the Government from $24,000 to $43,000 per year, depending on the 
locality and the level of security. The cost per participant in a 
restitution project, on the other hand, is only $1,000, a significant 
savings. Restitution participants enjoy the additional benefit of a 
meaningful employment experience which helps in their rehabilita-
tioo. . 

Restitution for this program is conceived of in its broadest sense. 
It is defined to include payments by an offender in cash to the 
victim or service either to the victim or the general community. 
These payments are made under jurisdiction of the juvenile or 
criminal justice process. OJJDP added a new dimension to mone
tary restitution by providing funds which could be used to support 
youth in employment. Provision of this employment support, to-
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gether with the use of community service, are viewed as giving all 
offenders an equal opportunity to participate, regardless of their 
ability to pay. 

Between September 30, 1978 and March 9, 1979, OJJDP funded 
41 juvenile restitution projects in 26 States, Puerto Rico, and the 
District of Columbia. Within this group, there were six statewide 
agencies or organizations responsible for oversight of program im
plementation at 50 local sites. Thirty-five other localities were 
funded directly. Thus, 85 projects were supported under the initia
tive. 

Grants for the program were made for an initial 24 months. The 
total amount awarded for the 2-year period was $19,564,000. Of the 
original 41 awards, it is anticipated that 36 will be continued for a 
third year. 

To assist with project implementation, OJJDP awarded a techni
cal assistance contract to the National Office of Social Responsibili
ty (NOSR), of Arlington, Va. NOSR has developed several training 
manuals and conducted a number of small training conferences for 
project personnel. 

Six of the sites are being intensively evaluated by the Institute 
for Policy Analysis (IPA) of Eugene, Oreg. IPA is also implement
ing a management information system which provides a base of 
data on all projects. 

Monetary restitution is the most frequently used form of restitu
tion under the projects, followed by community service and direct 
service to victims. Two programs, Puerto Rico and Charleston, S.C., 
do not accept any cases involving monetary restitution. Wayne 
County, Mich., accepts a monetary restitution referral only if the 
youth already has a job. Otherwise, they rely on community service 
placements. 

The projects vary significantly in the scope of their activities. 
The narrowest in scope receive an offender only after a restitution 
plan and order has been developed. The youth will be placed and 
restitution payments will be supervised. A few ancillary services 
are also provided for the victims of offenders. About one-half of the 
programs fall into this category. This type of project is more pre
dominant among the statewide sites where individual projects tend 
to be smaller and fewer persons are available for delivery of serv
ices. The directly funded local projects are more likely to provide 
ancillary services to victims. 

The projects offer a range of employment opportunities, includ
ing job development-locating and reserving slots for project 
youth-and job assistance·--placing individual youths in a job. Sub
sidized work has the added ingredient of providing funds to support 
the youth in a job. 

Subsidized employment opportunities are offered by 69 percent of 
the local projects and 62 percent of the statewide projects. Job 
assistance is more popular than job development, although the 
difference is marginal. Only 10 pE"rcent of the projects offer all 
three services. Half of the local projects attempt to place the youth 
in a permanent job, but only one statewide project with three sites 
offers this service to participants. 

The results which have been reported regarding the operation of 
the various :restitution projects are encouraging. Many of the objec-
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tives set for the program are being met. As of November 30, 1980, 
the following data have been reported through our management 
operation system. 

The number of youth referred to the projects is 26,000; the of
fenses which resulted in these referrals involved nearly 17,000 
victims and $8.7 million in losses; ;'ldges have ordered $2.4 million 
in monetary payments, 318,000 hours of community service, and 
5,100 hours of direct service to victims; in 11,612 closed cases, 
juveniles placed by restitution projects have paid $1,076,200 in 
monetary restitution, worked 177,935 hours of community service, 
and performed more than 4,157 hours of direct victim service; 78.7 
percent of the youth referred are successfully completing their 
original or adjusted restitution orders; this successful completion 
rate goes to 87 percent if project ineligibles are removed from 
consideration; 85.6 percent of the referrals have no subsequent 
contact with the juvenile court after the offense that resulted in a 
referral to the project and prior to their case closure. 

We are very pleased with these results, and believe it is particu
larly noteworthy that many young people are finding permanent 
employment as a result of their placement in jobs by restitution 
projects. 

Besides the projects in this initiative, Mr. Chairman, OJJDP 
funds have been used in a number of other instances to support 
restitution. Some States have deemed it appropriate to use formula 
grant funds to implement restitution programs. 

I have brought with me a listing of GJJDP awards relating to 
restitution. Several background papers and evaluation documents 
have been prepared by the Office which may provide the subcom
mittee with additional insight into the nature and impact of resti
tution activities. I am pleased to submit this material for your use. 
The information has been provided to the staff. 

We hope, Mr. Chairman, that as the results of these pilot proj
ects are disseminated widely, more jurisdictions will utilize their 
own resources to initiate similar efforts. This is a time when all 
levels of government must look for ways to limit their expenditures 
and conserve resources. Restitution is being shown to be a cost 
effective alternative to old ways of doing business. Given the other 
benefits-reduction in recidivism, provision of redress for victims, 
accountability on the part of offenders, and meaningful employ
ment opportunities for youth-we believe that these restitution 
programs are resulting in greater community confidence in the 
juvenile justice system process. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would now be pleased to respond to 
any questions. 

Mr. CORRADA. Thank you, Mr. Dodge. 
We will now listen to the testimony of Dr. Schneider. After he 

has concluded his testimony, then we will open up the hearing for 
questions to both witnesses. Dr. Schneider, will you please proceed 
with your testimony. 

[Prepared testimony of Dr. Peter R. Schneider follows:] 

PREPARED TEsTIMONY OF PETER R. SCHNEIDER, PH. D., PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR, 
INSTITUTE OF POLICY ANALYSIS, EUGENE, OREG. 

The program announcement entitled "Restitution by Juvenile Offenders: An Al
ternative to Incarceration" was issued by the office of Juvenile Justice and Delin-

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



:. 

'. 

7 

quency Prevention on February 27, 1978. Following a two-stage applications process, 
grants were awarded to 41 separate projects in 26 states, Puerto Rico, and the 
District of Columbia. Six of the grants were awarded to statewide agencies or 
organizations to oversee the implementation and administration of 50 local pro
grams in selected counties or judicial districts. Altogether, the juvenile restitution 
initiative has provided support for 85 programs-all but a few of which were created 
as a direct result of federal funding. 

Funding for the initiative was projected at $10 million per year over three years, 
and initially $20 million was committed for the first two years. Third-year funding 
will be considerably less than $10 million, however, for several reasons: Two of the 
projects dropped out of the initiative during the first year; several others were 
terminated after two years due to unsatisfactory performance or noncompliance; 
and a number of others had saved enough money from their earlier grants to 
continue at no additional cost. 

The framers of the initiative envisioned the program as a major research and 
development effort designed to support and experiment with the use of restitution 
as an alternative to traditional dispositions for young offenders, and specifically as 
an alternative to incarceration. Its major objectives are set forth as follows: 

(1) A reduction in the number of youth incarcerated. 
(2) A reduction in recidivism of those youth involved in restitution programs. 
(3) Provision for some redress or satisfaction with regard to the reasonable value 

of the damage or loss suffered by victims of juvenile offenses. 
(4) Increased knowledge about the feasibility of restitution for juveniles in terms 

of cost effectiveness, impact on differing categories of youthful offenders, and juve
nile justice process. 

(5) An increased sense of responsibility and accountability on the part of youthful 
offenders for their behavior. 

(6) Greater community confidence in the juvenile justice process. 
Reflected in these objectives are several specific concerns: 
First, attention in this initiative clearly is directed at the policies of juvenile 

courts concerning the more serious offender-the juvenile who has had prior contact 
with the police and/or the court or who has committed, as a first offense, a crime 
which would place him or her in jeopardy of incarceration. By requiring that 
referrals to restitution programs be limited to adjudicated delinquents, and by 
emphasizing that the programs be used as alternatives to incarceration, the initia
tive obviously is targeted at a particular type of juvenile offender. 

Second, concern for the impact of a restitution program on the juvenile justice 
process as a whole is expressed in objective 4. One important issue is whether the 
implementation of a restitution program, as an unintended and unwanted conse
quence, will "widen the net" for juvenile offenders and ensnare more youth in the 
system. This might occur if juvenile authorities view restitution as an attractive 
disposition, especially when weighed against unattractive alternatives, and begin to 
increase the number of petitions filed and the number of youth adjudicated. On the 
other hand, there is the question of whether juvenile court judges will, in fact, use 
restitution as an alternative disposition even when it is made available to them. 

Third, assumptions are made concerning the impact of participation in n restitu
tion program on both offenders and victims. Through direct restitution. or communi
ty service, offenders are expected to experience "an increased sense of responsibility 
and accountability" (objective 5) and be less inclined to commit further offenses 
(objective 2). Victims, by receiving redress or satisfaction with regard to their 
damage or loss (objective 3), should manifest improved attitudes toward the juvenile 
justice system and this, in turn, should promote greater community confidence in 
the juvenile justice process (objective 6). 

Fourth, it is suggested (by objective 4) that the feasibility of restitution may differ 
by category of juvenile offenders. In other words, attention should be focused on the 
characteristics of youth who demonstrate significantly different rates of success in 
completing restitution contracts. 

Fifth, concern is expressed (again in objective 4) about the cost-effectiveness of 
restitution as compared with other, more traditional, juvenile court dispositions. A 
related issue is the cost of different types of restitution programs, and especially the 
cost and effectiveness of different restitution program segments. 

To address the specific interests expressed in the objectives-as well as other 
important research questions-the national eva!uation of the juvenile restitution 
initiative is organized into three major components: 

The first major component of the evaluation is designed to assess the impact of 
restitution on offenders and victims. So that the unique effects of restitution can be 
isolated, experimental research designs-involving the random assignment of adju
dicated delinquents and their victims into experimental and control groups-have 
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been established in six project sites: Boise, ID; Clayton County, GA; Ventura 
County, CA; Dane County, WI; Oklahoma County, OK; and Washington, DC. This 
segment of the evaluation focuses on outcome measures such as rates of recidivism 
and attitudinal shifts, and involves comparisons between restitution and non-restitu
tion dispositions; programmatic restitution and non-programmatic restitution; and 
restitution as a sole sanction vs. restitution coupled with other types of treatments. 
While considerable data have been generated by these randomized controlled experi-
ments, the experiments are not yet complete and, therefore, the results are not • 
available for inclusion in this testimony. These data are perhaps the most valuable 
we have, and I am hopeful that we can submit a preliminary report to this 
committee at a later date. 

The second major component of the evaluation relies primarily on the continuing 
analysis of the case-by-case data accumulated through the Management Information 
System (MIS) forms. This information reflects, at any given point in time, the status 
of the initiative in terms of total referrals, case closures, amounts of monetary 
restitution ordered and paid, total community and victim service hours worked, 
characteristics of offenders and victims, and so forth. These data are received • 
weekly by the national evaluation and published in the Monthly Evaluation Reports 
circulated to project directors and other interested parties (the report for February, 
1981, is included as attachment A). These data shed light on such things as the 
association between categories of offenders and successful completions, and the 
success of the initiative in serving its target population. 

The third major component of the evaluation addresses the policy issues associat
ed with the initiative. This portion of the evaluation draws upon data from a variety 
of sources, including MIS forms, descriptions of programs as contained in project 
applications, interviews with project directors, and aggregate data from juvenile • 
courts throughout the country. The policy issues dealt with fall into several differ-
ent categories. One category of issues centers on the courts and involves questions 
concerning changes in court practices as disclosed through the increased use of 
restitution as a disposition, reductions in the number of youths incarcerated, and/or 
increases in referrals and adjudications. Another category of issues involves the 
appropriate procedures for funding and implementing restitution programs, and 
calls for a comparison of restitution programs and, similarly, the cost of "add-on" 
components such as psychiatric counseling, and subsidized employment. 

As work on each of these components of the evaluation has progressed, a number • 
of research reports have been completed and several of these are appended to this 
document as attachments. For the remaind<:!r of my testimony, I want to summarize 
the information from these reports in terms of what we view as the paramount 
issues addressed by this initiative. 

Three questions, it seems to us, are supreme: 
1. If restitution (including financial restitution, community service, and direct 

service to victims) is available as an alternative disposition, will juvenile court 
judges use it? And if so, under what conditions and for what types of offenders? • 

2. If restitution is ordered as a disposition for young offenders, can they be 
expected to carry out the terms of their sentences or, as some critics have suggested, 
are they "being set up for yet another failure?" 

3. If restitution is a reasonable requirement to make of young offenders, is it 
effective in terms of its impact on juveniles, their victims, and the juvenile justice 
system? 

The evaluation of the initiative is unfinished, and some of the most critical data
those from the six experimental projects-are yet to be scrutinized. Thus the an-
swers to these questions must be regarded as tentative. The existing data indicate, • 
however, that restitution will be used if available, offenders can complete the 
requirements, and an impact is discernible. 

A survey we conducted in 1977 of a randomly-selected sample of juvenile court 
judges disclosed overwhelming support and widespread use of restitution (see attach
ment B). Typically, restitution was used for first offenders charged with minor 
property crimes. But the initiative was directed at serious offenders in jeopardy of 
incarceration, and the willingness of judges to use restitution as a sanction for this 
class of delinquents was not known. 

The record so far is very encouraging, with respect to both the number and type • 
of referrals. 

First, the numbers: As of the first of this year (1981), the national evaluation had 
documentation of more than 17,000 referrals and, by the time the projects catch up 
on paperwork, the figure will be closer to 20,000. Ultimately, this initiative can be 
expected to serve more than 30,000 offenders and, at least, an approximately equal 
number of victims. 

• 
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Second, the type of offenders: The average referral to the projects in this initiative 
is a 15V2-year-old male from a low income ($12,000) family. Most are white, but 
nearly 25 percent are black and hundreds of other offenders are members of other 
minorities. Data on the seriousness of these offenders-defined as a combination of 
presenting offense and number of priors-are presented in Table 1. 

These data show that about 54 percent of the referrals to restitution projects have 
at least one prior offense, 21 percent have three or more, and 6.3 percent have more 
than six priors. In terms of presenting offenses, 53 percent were referred for crimes 
at the level of "serious property" and above, and about 22 percent had committed 
offenses labeled either "very serious property" or "very serious personal." More 
than 11 percent had three or more priors and presenting offenses at the level of 
"serious property" and above-serious offenders by any definition. 

Finally, the types and amounts of restitution ordered: About 18,000 victims were 
involved in the offenses that resulted in referrals to restitution projects, and togeth
er they reported more than $9 million in losses-about one-third of which was 
recovered from insurance and other sources. As restitution for the remainder, 
judges have ordered nearly $2.6 million in financial restitution, more than 340,000 
hours of community service, and more than 5,200 hours of direct service to victims. 

The extent to which juvenile offenders can successfully complete restitution re
quirements is reflected, first, in some impressive statistics: Through the calendar 
year 1980 slightly more than 12,000 cases had been closed and more than $1 million 
in cash had been collected, more than 190,000 hours of community service worked, 
and more than 4,000 hours of services for victims performed. 

The proportion of juvenile offenders successfully completing restitution require
ments was the topic of a research report issued by the national evaluation last year 
(see attachment C). Again, the data are very encouraging: They indicate that about 
88 percent of all referrals can be expected to complete restitution as ordered by the 
courts. 

Rates of successful completion of restitution orders varied, however, by several 
predictable characteristics. Persons were more likely to complete restitution require
ments successfully if they were first-time, minor offenders; full-time students; and 
from white, middle-income families. For persons in these groups, rates of successful 
completion averaged 90 percent or more. 

However, the variation among groups is not great and the rates of successful 
completion are high even for offenders at the other end of the continuum: The rates 
are over 80 percent for persons convicted of very serious personal or property 
crimes, with up to five priors, and from minority families with very low incomes. 

Significant, too, is the amount of the restitution order: Persons are considerably 
more likely to complete restitution if the amounts of money or community service 
are small; but, even for large orders, the rates are about 75 percent. Interestingly, 
there appeared to be no statistically signiiicant differences in successful completion 
between offenders in subsidized and non-subsidized jobs. 

The most appropriate data for assessing the impact of restitution on offenders and 
victims are being generated by the six experimental sites and, as previously men
tioned, those experiments are still under way. Inferences concerning the effect of 
restitution can be drawn, however, from data on the in-program reoffense rate; the 
proportion of victim losses recovered through restitution; and the use of restitution 
as a sole sanction compared with restitution as a condition of probation. 

The term "in-program reoffense rate" refers to the percentage of offenders who 
commit new offenses while still officially involved in a restitution project. In most 
projects, the commission of a new offense results in dismissal from the project and 
return to the juvenile court. 

A research report which details the methodology of computing in-program reof
fense rates is appended as attachment D. The methodology is somewhat complex 
and will not be discussed here, except to say that it involves the calculation of the 
probability that a certain proportion of offenders wiII commit new offenses after a 
certain amount of time in a restitution project. The data used to calculate the rates 
are drawn from official court records. 

The in-program reoffense rate for the initiative as a whole, based on an expected 
amount of time in a restitution project of 6.2 months, is quite low at only 8.8 
percent. In other words, less than one out of 10 referrals can be expected to commit 
a new offense while still in the project. 

In a manner similar to that of the successful completion rates, the in-program 
reoffense rates vary by type of offender: Those more likely to commit new offenses 
come from poorer families, have dropped out of school, and have more priors. There 
are virtually no differences with respect to age, race, and gender and, surprisingly, 
no differences attributable to the seriousness of the presenting offense. 
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The i.n-program reoffense rate-an admittedly rough and, by itself, inadequate 
measure of recidivism-suggests that restitution might be effective in reducing 
subsequent offenses. Additional evidence of effectiveness may be found in a compari
son between juveniles ordered to make restitution as a sole sanction-with no other 
requirements-and juveniles ordered to make restituticn as a condition of proba
tion. 

• 
There are undeniably good reasons for ordering restitution as a condition of 

probation. For one thing, it provides judges with a joint sanction which seeks 
satisfaction for both injured parties: the victim and the state. For another, probation • 
provides judges with a mechanism for enforcing the restitution requirement. At the 
same time, there are good reasons for ordering restitution as a sole sanction. For 
example, it frees the time of probation officers and thus may be more cost-effective. 

A research report which compares restitution as a sole sanction with restitution 
as a condition of probation in terms of successful completions and in-program 
reoffense rates is appended as attachment E. The findings are straightforward: 
offenders ordered to make restitution as a sole sanction have higher rates of 
successful completion, and lower in-program reoffense rates, than those making 
restitution as a condition of probation. The relationship remains constant even • 
when other important variables-such as number of priors, offense seriousness, 
household income, school attendance, and size of restitution order-are statistically 
controlled. 

It is tempting to conclude from these findings that restitution probably is more 
effective than probation, since restitution alone seems more effective than probation 
involving restitution as a condition. However, there are competing explanations that 
must be mentioned. For example, judges may select offenders they consider "gcod 
risks" and excuse them from probation. Or, offenders on probation may be under 
closer surveillance and their offenses more likely to be detected. Until we have • 
analyzed the data from an experimental project in which this proposition is being 
tested, it is impossible to eliminate these rival hypotheses. 

Finally, let us look at the effectiveness of restitution from the standpoint of the 
victim. In most cases, it can be assumed, the victim's assessment of the effectiveness 
of restitution will depend upon the extent to which they are compensated for their 
losses. 

Preliminary data on the proportion of victim losses recovered indicate that resti
tution, from the victims' viewpoint, is largely successful. On the average, victims 
can expect to recover about 87 percent of their net losses-excluding insurance and • 
property return-and 88 percent of their total losses. Offenders, on the average, pay 
about 84 percent ofthe victims' net loss as restitution. 

As expected, the percent of loss repaid as restitution declines as the amount of 
loss increases. For net losses up to $250, offenders pay 94 percent, declining to 66 
percent of net losses up to $1,000. For net losses over $1,000, offenders pay about 58 
percent. 

These figures are impressive, but they should be interpreted with caution. They 
reflect, for example, only those cases in which monetary restitution was ordered. 
Cases in which payment of financial restitution was unlikely probably resulted in • 
community service orders, and this would bias the percentage of victim loss recov-
ered in an upward direction. 

The issues discussed in this presentation do not exhaust those raised by the 
restitution initiative, but they certainly are among the most critical. We have asked: 
Will judges use it? Can offenders do it? And is it effective? The answers, as we see 
them, are yes, yes, and probably. More data must be brought to bear on the question 
of effectiveness, and those data are forthcoming from the experimental projects. 
Before all the answerS to all our questions are known, much more remains to be 
done. 

TABLE I.-CROSS-TABULATION OF SERIOUSNESS LEVEL AND OFFENSE HISTORY 1 

Seriousness of referral offense 

Number of cases .......................................................................... 

Victimless: Includes traffic accidents or tickets, status of· 
fenses, drugs, alcohol, gambling, prostitution, and probation 
violations ................................................................................. 

Minor offenses: Minor offenses not easily classified as proper· 
ty or personal, such as disorderly conduct.. ............................ 

Prior and concurrent delinquent offenses known to court offiCials 2 

7,009 3,274 1.863 1,162 

0.9 0.6 0.3 0.2 

0.7 0.4 0.1 0.1 

696 444 

0.1 0.1 

0.1 0.0 

969 

0.1 

0.1 

Total 
percent 

15,417 

2.2 

1.7 

• 

• 

• 
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TABLE I.-CROSS-TABUlATiON OF SERIOUSNESS LEVEL AND OFFENSE HISTORY I-Continued 

Prior and concurrent delinquent offenses known to court officials· 

Seriousness of referral offense Total 
percent 

Minor property: Any property offense with loss/damage of 
$10 or less except burglary and arson ..•.. "'.""",."."""",,.,, .. 6,4 2.5 1.5 l.l 0.6 0.3 0.7 13.1 

Minor personal: Resisting or obstructing an officer, coercion, 
hazing, other similar UCR part II offenses •• """"." .. """""."" 0,8 0.5 0,4 0,2 OJ OJ 0.2 2.2 

Moderate property: Burglaries and arsons with loss/damage of 
$10 or less and any other type of property offense with 
loss/damage of $11 to $250 ... " .. """" .... """""" ... ,, .. ,,""''',,. 12.6 6.2 3,4 2.1 1.3 0.7 1.8 28.1 

Serious property: Burglaries and arsons with loss/damage of 
$11 to $250 and any other property offense with loss/ 
damage greater than $250 ""."" ......... " ........... "" ..... " .. "."" .. 13.6 5.9 3.2 2.0 1.3 0.8 1.5 28.3 

Very serious property: burglaries and arsons with loss/damage 
of $250 or more """." ....... "".""""." ..... "" ... "."." ... "" .... "" .. 6.6 3.7 2.3 1.3 0,8 0,6 1.6 16.9 

Serious personal: Unarmed robberies and non·aggravated as-
saults with loss of $250 or less •. " .... " ......... ,""" ...... , .. " ....•.•. 1.8 0.8 0.5 0.3 0.1 OJ 0.2 3.8 

Very serious personal: Unarmed robberies and non·aggravated 
assaults with losses exceeding $250 and ~II UCR Part I 
personal crimes including rape, armed robbery, aggravated 
assault.. ................................................................................... 1.9 0.7 0,4 0.3 0.2 0.1 OJ 3.3 

Total percent ...•.... "." ....•.......•...•. "." ..•........ ,,, ... , ..... " ..... 45.5 21.2 12.1 7.5 4.5 2.9 6,3 100.0 

1 Offenses are coded by IPA personnel from the narrative description of the offense contained on the MIS forms. Coding categories and rules are 
those used in the Uniform Crime Reports (UCR). Transfer cases are not included. 

2 These liffures include prior offenses resulting in a court contract concurrent offenses. No incident is counted both as a prior offense and as a 
concurrent 0 ense. 

STATEMENT OF PETER R. SCHNEIDER, PRINCIPAL INVESTIGA
TOR OF THE JUVENILE RESTITUTION INITIATIVE, INSTITUTE 
OF POLICY ANALYSIS, EUGENE, OREG. 

Mr. SCHNEIDER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I want you and the other members of the subcommittee to know 

how very pleased and proud I am to appear before your subcommit
tee today. 

I would like to call your attention to the prepared testimony 
which I submitted. The first part of that testimony reiterates the 
objectives of the initiative and discusses the research objectives 
that the national evaluation had of those objectives. It explains 
how the national evaluation is organized to address those issues. 

The second half of the testimony summarizes some of the data 
that we have on this program to date. And if I may, I would just 
like to summarize that verbally rather than reading my statement. 

Mr. CORRADA. Please do so. 
Mr. SCHNEIDER. There are several things we wanted to know 

about this initiative when we began. There are some things we 
already knew. We knew as a result of the survey we had done in 
1977 that about 90 percent of the juvenile courts in the United 
States were using restitution, and there was widespread support 
among juvenile court judges for the use of restitution. 

Most of these kids who were being referred to restitution pro
grams were first-time or minor offenders. We did not know wheth
er judges would be willing to use restitution for the wide range of 
juvenile offenders that appear before our courts. 

We also did not know whether these kinds of offenders would be 
able to complete restitution if they were ordered. There was a very 
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great fear in the community that assigning these kids to a restitu
tion program would be setting them up for another failure, conse
quently, perhaps, leading to more delinquency. 

Then, of course, the third thing we did not know was how effec
tive restitution was. These were the kinds of things we wanted to 
look at. Doug Dodge has gone over some of the data that we have 
had to date. 

The record as he said is very encouraging in terms of the num
bers he mentioned. There were something like 1,600 offenders. 
Those numbers are a month old. As of this month, we have 17,000 
referrals and our data collection system runs about 6 weeks behind 
the actual number of referrals to this project. 

So right now out there in the United States are probably 20,000 
juvenile offenders in restitution projects as a result of this initia
tive. By the time the initiative is completed, there will be about 
30,000 referrals. One thing he didn't mention was the kind of 
offenders who are being referred to this program. Generally these 
offenders are 15V2 years old, white males; however, 25 percent of 
them are blacks and hundreds of others represent other minorities. 
They tend to come from low-income families. The average annual 
family income of the referrals is about $12,000, but many are below 
that. 

In terms of the seriousness of these offenses and the kind of 
offenders that are being referred, 54 percent of them have at least 
one prior offense. Twenty-one percent of the referrals have three 
prior offenses, and 6.3 percent have six or more prior offenses. 

In terms of the presenting offenses, the offenses for which they 
are referred to the restitution project, 53 percent were for crimes 
which the Uniform Crime Reports referred to as serious property 
offenses, and 22 percent had committed offenses which would be. 
labeled as either very serious property or very serious personal 
offenses. 

Eleven percent of these offenders had three or more prior of
fenses and had presenting offenses at the level of serious property 
or above. I think you would agree these are very serious offenders 
by any definition. 

Doug also mentioned the number of victims and the amounts of 
restitution which are being ordered. Again, those numbers are a 
month out of date. There are 18,000 victims, more than $9 million 
in losses. Judges have ordered almost $3 million in restitution and 
more than 300,000 hours of community service. 

In terms of the completion, he mentioned that the statistics are 
very impressive. More than $1 million has been paid, 190,000 hours 
of community service work completed, and 4,000 hours of direct 
service provided to victims. 

The proportion of juvenile offenders that are successfully com
pleting the restitution requirements is, as he mentioned, about 88 
percent. 

Now, there are a couple of things I would like to say about that. 
First, the most successful referrals to this project are the kind of 
kids you would expect to be successful. These are first-time offend
ers who are from middle-income families and are full-time stu
dents. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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The successful completion rates among those kinds of offenders is 
90 percent or better. However, the variation among these groups
the different groups of kids in this initiative-is not very great. 
The rate for successful completion is high even for offenders at the 
other end of the continuum. The rate is over 80 percent successful 
completion for persons convicted of very serious personal or proper
ty crimes, and for those who have up to five prior offenses and 
those from minority families with very low incomes. 

In fact, I think the smallest rate of successful completion, which 
is 77 percent, is for the offenders who have six or more prior 
offenses. So even among those categories of offenders the successful 
completion rate is high. 

It is important to look at these from a policy standpoint. If you 
have a limited amount of resources to expend on a restitution 
program itself--· 

Mr. CORRADA. Excuse me just a second. Just for the sake of the 
record, when you talk about successful completion, how do you 
define that concept? 

Mr. SCHNEIDER. Successful completion is completion of the resti
tution requirement as it is originally made by the judge or as it is 
adjusted by the judge. 

Now the proportion of the cases which are adjusted is very small. 
I think it is on the order of about 6 percent, and that data, by the 
way, is contained in a report which I submitted to you as an 
appendix to my statement. It is a technical report, and it is entitled 
"The Monthly Evaluation Report for February, 1981." It is before 
you. 

The last thing I would like to mention is the effectiveness of 
restitution. 

Now, I will have to be somewhat cautious here our data is not 
fully complete yet. 

The data that we have on effectiveness is coming from our ex
perimental sites. We have eight experimental programs from var
ious places in the United States. In those experimental programs, 
we have juveniles who are being randomly referred to restitution 
and nonrestitution dispositions and among different kinds of resti
tution projects. Now, those kids can be compared with kids who 
are doing other kinds of things, straight probation or incarceration 
or counseling or what have you. 

That is what we want to measure: the effectiveness against the 
other kind of dispositions. 

Those experiments are not complete. We have some data from 
those experiments, but I would rather not discuss those data until 
we have them all and have had a chance to analY'le them properly. 

We can look at several other things which will give us an indica
tion as to how effective these programs can be. 

One thing we can look at is the in-program reoffense rate. By 
that I mean the probability that a youth will reoffend while he is 
still in the program, nominally under the supervision of the juve
nile court. 

Another thing we can look at is restitution from the standpoint 
of the victim. What proportion of the victim losses can be expected 
to be recovered under restitution projects? 

79-489 0-81--2 
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Then, the third thing is to compare restitution as a sanction 
against probation which involves restitution. I think if we can 
make that comparison we can get some kind of an idea as to the 
unique impact of restitution. 

The in-program reoffense rate is, I think, pretty low. On the 
average, a referral will stay in the restitution program for 6.2 
months. The probability of reoffending while in the program for 6.2 
months is only 8.8 percent. So, at least on the average, about lout 
of 10 will reoffend while still in the program, and again I caution 
you this is while he is under the nominal supervision of the juve
nile court. 

The data on reoffense after they have completed the program is 
what we are looking for in experimental sites. We don't have that 
yet. 

Mr. CORRADA. Excuse me. You have made reference to 8.8 per
cent as a rate of reoffense when a youngster is still in the program. 
How do you compare that to reoffense levels for straight probation 
or other types of programs? . 

Mr. SCHNEIDER. Those reoffense rates vary a lot across different 
kinds of probation programs. 

My understanding is that the rate of reoffense in a restitution 
project is considerably below the revocation rates of kids who are 
on straight probation. 

Maybe Doug knows this. 
Mr. DODGE. We don't have specific data. We had some experi

ences under previous programs involving diversion where the reof
fense rates for specific projects run around 25 percent. But we 
don't have studies directly on point. The literature and studies are 
pretty skimpy. 

Mr. CORRADA. When you say that 8.8 percent is a low rate, on 
what do you base that judgment? 

Mr. SCHNEIDER. I base it on the judgment of what can be expect
ed for a juvenile under any kind of a disposition in a juvenile court 
program. We are talking frequently, Mr. Chairman, about rates of 
reoffense of up to 60 percent and more for some of the kinds of 
programs that juveniles are in. We are also talking about a serious 
kind of an offender. We are not talking about the first-time minor 
offender here. We are talking about kids who have committed quite 
a number of offenses prior to being admitted to this program. 

Another thing I think we can look at-and I am not quite sure 
what the mechanism is which explains these findings-but we have 
some data comparing kids who are on restitution as a sole sanction, 
no other requirements, and kids who are on restitution projects as 
a condition of probation. These findings are straightforward, and I 
think very interesting. 

Across all kinds of offenders, kids who are making restitution as 
a sole sanction are doing better in terms of successfully completing 
the restitution project and having lower reoffense rates than kids 
who are on probation programs where restitution is made a condi
tion of probation. I find that very interesting. 

Then the last thing I want to mention is the effectiveness of 
restitution from the standpoint of the vi.ctim. Now, I think we can 
assume in most cases that a victim's assessment of the effective-

• 
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ness of a restitution program will depend upon the extent to which 
he is compensated for his losses. 

We have only preliminary data, and we are still working on this, 
but based on data which occurred as of last month, victims can 
expect to recover 87 percent of t:leir net 10sses.That figure excludes 
recovery from insurance and from property return. 

The amount of loss that they can expect to return varies as you 
go from low losses to high losses. They can expect to recover up to 
100 percent of losses ranging between zero and $250 and then that 
amount of return, the amount of recovery goes down as the amount 
of the loss increases. . 

For losses of up to $1,000, they can expect to recover about 66 
percent of their net loss and for losses of over $1,000, it is about 58 
percent . 

Again, these figures are impressive, but I urge you to be some
what cautious in interpreting them. These data are based only on 
the cases in which monetary restitution was ordered. 

In some cases, you have very high losses. We have a case in our 
files in which two youths in a New England State derailed a 
freight train, and the amount of loss was $250,000. It was unrealis
tic and perhaps unreasonable to expect these two young persons to 
repay $250,000. I believe the amount they actually paid was nomi
nal. It was on the order of $200 or $300. Then they worked in some 
community service. 

That particular loss figure is not accounted for in these statistics. 
Just to summarize, we have looked at three things. One is, if 

restitution is available as a disposition for juvenile court judges, 
will they use it? I think the record speaks for that. Judges will use 
it. We also have asked if juveniles are ordered to make restitution, 
can they do it? Again, I think the record speaks to that. They can 
do it and do it successfully. Thirdly, we have asked whether restitu
tion is effective as a disposition for juvenile offenders. The answer 
here is maybe. It might be stronger to say probably. When we get 
the results from our experimental sites we will know a lot more 
about that. I have research reports on each of the topics that I 
have spoken to as attachments to my testimony and I will be glad 
to answer any questions you have. 

Mr. CORRADA. Thank you, Dr. Schneider. 
We will now go into a questioning session for the witnesses, and I 

will recognize Mr. Petri for questions of the witness at this time. 
Mr. PETRI. I must apologize if I ask some very basic questions, 

but I can remember as a kid growing up that judges used to do this 
all the time. What is the need for it-this is not something that 
has never happened before. 

Mr. SCHNEIDER. No, sir. As I mentioned, restitution was being 
used by about 90 percent of the courts prior to this initiative 
coming into effect, and there was widespread support for it. But 
the use was very predictable. It was for minor offenders, and it was 
for first-time offenders. It was most often used as a diversion in 
which the kids were given an opportunity to either go into the 
restitution project or be referred to the juvenile court for adjudica
tion and for another disposition. This initiative addresses a com
pletely different population. This addresses the population of youth 
who are adjudicated, and the restitution is then made a sentence, 
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not a choice that they have 3S an alternative to going into a 
diversion program. Another thing is that it deals with a much 
more serious kind of offender. 

Mr. PETRI. Do you know how many are diverted from the mili
tary service by this? That is another traditional thing that has 
been done in reality-at least out where I live, I think. More 
serious potential offenders, first offenders, were told if they could 
convince a Marine recruiter to take them, maybe they would not 
get a criminal record, but the town didn't want them around any 
more. 

If you are just moving people from that approach to some other 
program--

Mr. SCHNEIDER. I am sorry. I cannot answer that. I do not know 
what numbers of kids are brought in here who otherwise might go 
into the military. 

Mr. PETRI. Is this program a potential program for being includ
ed in a block grant in the new budget that is coming up? 

Mr. DODGE. The details of the new block grant program have not 
yet been released. It is definitely possible that the Juvenile Justice 
and Delinquency Prevention Act could be included. As you know, 
the major portion of the current program is a block grant program. 
States are utilizing these funds for purposes they deem appropri
ate. 

In your own State of Wisconsin, restitution has been very suc
cessful in the counties where it started out. The number of counties 
participating has been increased. 

Other States, including South Carolina, and Iowa, are also 
moving to implement statewide projects. As restitution becomes 
broadly accepted, we expect that more and more States will use 
their block grant funds to continue or to initiate restitution efforts. 

Mr. PETRI. But I am just wondering if you had any initial reac
tion to the possibility it might be included in the block grant? Do 
you think that would be a good thing for the program or a bad 
thing? Do you think people, if they had the money and had the 
freedom to do what they wanted with it, would expend efforts in 
this sort of area or spend the money for something else and not as 
much on this particular effort? 

Mr. DODGE. It is hard for me to respond to that question definite
ly. My hope is that because of the acceptance of restitution and 
other programs now supported, the activities authorized by the 
JJDP Act would be continued. I realize that there are a lot of 
demands and a lot of needs out there, but these efforts do have 
pretty broad acceptance at this time. The reason they are accepted 
is because we were able to test these concepts utilizing our discre
tionary funds. 

Mr. PETRI. Thank you. 
Mr. CORRADA. Mr. Williams? 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I welcome both of you gentlemen to the hearing today. 
We hear a lot in Washington these past days and weeks about 

cost benefit and programs breaking even or maybe showing a little 
profit at the end of the year. 

I am just wondering if you have a cost benefit study that demon
strates the worth on that basis of your program? 
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Mr. SCHNEIDER. I will speak first, and r think Doug might have 
something to say about that. We do have a cost effectiveness com
ponent as a part of the evaluation. But we have not had a chance 
to implement that yet. We did not know these hearings were going 
to be held when they are being held. If we had known that they 
were going to be held in March, we could have had those data 
available for you. It takes about 5 months to complete that kind of 
study. We have the instrumentation to do it, but we don't have 
that. We have not done it yet. But I think that Doug has gathered 
some statistics. 

Mr. DODGE. We have looked at the data in a very rough way. 
Looking at the seriousness of the offenses committed by individual 
youngsters coming into the programs, it is fair to project that 20 
percent of these 16,000 youths are prime candidates for incarcer
ation. That is 3,200 juveniles who were prime candidates for incar
ceration. 

With on average annual cost of incarceration being approximate
ly $24,000 using the lower figure, it would cost $76,800,000 to 
incarcerate these youths for 1 year. Even if we assumed that they 
would only be incarcerated for the average length of participation 
in the project, which is 6.2 months, the cost for just these 3,200 
youths would be around $38,400,000. Beyond that, there is cost 
benefit because of the repayment to the victim in the community. 
Looking at the November data, since we do not yet have the 
benefit of the latest report that Peter mentioned, if the value of the 
performed community and direct victim service is computed on the 
basis of an average minimum wage of $3.10 per hour, the amount 
paid ;:,ack is $1,756,665.50. 

That figure is increasing all the time. I did not project out what 
it would be eventually, but the total should be substantially higher 
than that. Thus, these are cost savings from reduction in incarcer
ation and payments back to the community. There are probably 
additional long-term cost savings on account of the fact that many 
of these youths do not come back through the juvenile justice 
system. We have not computed that. We hope the cost-benefit study 
by the Institute for Policy Analysis will reflect on many of these 
issues. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. It occurs to me that an excellent way to improve 
the cost effectiveness of this program then would be to not incar
cerate prime candidates for incarceration, but simply put them in 
the restitution program, subtract what it would have cost them to 
put them in jail, where perhaps they ought to be, therefore proving 
that this program is really cost beneficial, but the result on society 
is that these people are out when they ought to be in. Is that a 
possibility here? 

In other words, if we-let me put it another way-if we allow the 
cost-benefit demands to control the future of these kinds of pro
grams, then perhaps we don't jail people who ought to be jailed 
because it is the only way we can show this program is going to 
pay for itself and continue what appears to be a good program. 

Mr. DODGE. We are not driven totally by cost-benefit issues. 
There certainly are some youngsters who, by virtue of the commis
sion of violent offenses, do not fall within this target population. 
They are most appropriately placed in incarcerative settings. We 
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see from this program, however, that despite the participation of 
offenders who might otherwise have been incarcerated, there was 
not any greater risk to society. 

As a matter of fact, it appears, based on the preliminary inter
pretation of data, that there is substantially less risk to society at 
substantially less cost. Therefore, we would assert that this is an 
effective means for dealing with juvenile offenses. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Do I understand that the judge makes the deci
sion? 

Mr. DODGE. That is correct. In this particular program the judge 
has the authority to impose the restitution sanction. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Prisons or juvenile institutions are places of reha
bilitation. We all know that and have myriad data to prove it. 

Well, then, I am wondering how it is that we rehabilitate people 
through this program instead of through that marvelous program 
called the prison system because we are keeping them out of that 
system by having them in this one. What about rehabilitation? Are 
we unconcerned about that? 

Mr. DODGE. No. Rehabilitation is a primary concern of this par
ticular program. The process of placing young people in a restitu
tion setting, requiring them to come to grips with the kind of loss 
that they have perpetrated on an individual or business, and 
having them make amends for that is rehabilitative in and of itself. 
Beyond that, they are provided with employment experience in 
supervised work groups or in the private sector. The projects have 
been amazingly successful in obtaining private sector employment. 

Many of the participants are going on to be retained in private 
sector employment. There is a fair amount of evidence to suggest 
that this employment experience for youth is indeed rehabilitative 
and often keeps them out of further trouble. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. A number of the States chosen, 26 St~.tes that are 
part of this experiment--

Mr. DODGE. They were selected through a competitive process. 
We went through a two-stage application process with the initial 
stage being concept papers or preapplications. We received 117 
preapplications from throughout the country. Of that group we 
requested that 54 submit final applications; 43 or 44 actually sub
mitted final applications and from that group, 41 were funded. Our 
selection was based upon degree of compliance with the terms and 
cbnditions of the guidelines, which were fairly restrictive. We par
ticularly looked for agreements by the appropriate courts to par
ticipate in the restitution effort. There were some requirements 
that the courts found difficult at first, but as we have gone along, 
the courts have seen that they can use restitution with this level of 
offender effectively. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Generally what were the guidelines for applica
tions by the States? 

Mr. DODGE. The guidelines applied to States and localities. They 
had to submit applications in which they outlined clearly that they 
would develop a monetary payment or community or victim service 
restitution project. They had to agree to refer a portion of their 
serious offenders to the project in lieu of incarceration. They had to 
outline how they would operate the project, what they would do in 
terms of community service placements, how they would go about 
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setting up job assistance or job placements, and generally layout 
exactly how they were going to operate. 

They had to include data and statistics on the levels of juvenile 
offenses in the past. 

They had to provide a judicial agreement or memorandum of 
understanding, indicating that the courts understood what the pro
ject was about and what the requirements were. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. What agency of the State was the usual appli
cant? Which agency in the State government? 

Mr. DODGE. It varied. In New Jersey, for example, the Office of 
Administration of State Courts applied. In Nevada and Wisconsin, 
it was the Department of Human Services. In the State of Wash
ington it was initially the Department of Human Services. Later, 
the State Criminal Justice Council became the applicant and man
aged that particular effort. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. I note that five initial awards were discontinued. 
What was the reason for that, Mr. Schneider? 

Mr. SCHNEIDER. I think that Mr. Dodge is the person to ask about 
that. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Mr. Dodge. 
Mr. DODGE. One project withdrew because they had misunder

stood the criteria on referrals and the alternative to incarceration 
requirements. They interpreted the laws of the States to prohibit 
their participation. 

Four of them were eliminated from third-year consideration be
cause of circumstances in their jurisdiction. They did not have the 
number of referrals to make the program cost effective for them to 
participate or they were not effectively managing their projects. 
We did not permit them to go on to the third year. 

In addition to the five that I have mentioned, in one of the State 
projects we eliminated 17 of the 19 counties because of a failure to 
meet the goals and objectives that they themselves set out in their 
application. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Were there awards then being made to replace 
the five discontinued applicants? 

Mr. DODGE. We do not anticipate that at this time. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Do you anticipate adding any States? 
Mr. DODGE. Not at this time. We have invested a total of almost 

$23 million in this effort. Before we plan for the future, we get 
more information from the evaluation about the effectiveness of 
restitution for specific offenders. We need to look at the specific 
settings and characteristics of projects that make them most suc
cessfuL Then we hope to move toward replication of successes in 
other States or localities. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Have you considered sharing appropriate informa
tion with States to allow those States that will to replicate the 
effort on their own without joining this program or requesting any 
of your funds? 

Mr. DODGE. Yes, Congressman Williams. We have a very active 
process right now. Our technical assistance contractor, the Nation
al Office of Social Responsiblity, is involved in providing technical 
assistance to States. They have provided assistance in South Caroli
na, Iowa, and numerous other jurisdictions. They have developed 
manuals about the implementation of restitution projects. They 
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have become highly skilled in helping States conceptualize restitu
tion and implement that conceptualization. 

I have worked closely with the NOSR staff to discuss effective 
assistance. We are all available, to help in any way a State or 
locality that is interested in initiating and operating a restitution 
project. 

Mr. SCHNEIDER. I would like to point out it has not been men
tioned today that in addition to the restitution projects that have 
been funded by this initiative since it has gone into effect, there 
have been, I think, 19 new restitution projects that have come into 
existence in the State of Wisconsin, and I believe 14 or 15 new 
restitution projects that came into existence in the State of Minne
sota. 

Each of those States has more than half of its counties with 
active restitution projects. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Outside of your program. 
Mr. SCHNEIDER. Outside of the initiative. The State of North 

Carolina, in Raleigh, N.C., has a restitution project. In South Caro
lina, there has been legislation introduced, which, I believe, will 
result in the sponsorship of the statewide restitution project there. 
That is outside the initiative. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. CORRADA. Thank you, Mr. Williams. 
Let me ask you, when these youngsters who went to these resti

tution programs came before the judge, which were the options 
that the judge had in additioll to sending these youngsters to this 
program? 

Mr. DODGE. There are a myriad of options available to the court. 
In some jurisdictions the court can divert a child without enter

ing any kind of a delinquency finding. In other instances, if they 
make a delinquency finding, the youth can be placed on probation. 
The offenders can be given a suspended commitment. They can be 
committed to a mental institution, if there is a history of mental 
difficulties. They can be committed to the Division of Youth Serv
ices. It is that agency, in those jurisdictions which have no control 
over placement options, that would determine whether or not the 
youth is placed in a secure facility. 

Some judges have authority to make specific commitments to a 
specific, secure facility, as in the case of Pennsylvania. There are 
several options the court has available. 

Mr. CORRADA. Is there a way to determine where the youngsters 
that participated in these pl'ojects would have gone in terms of 
action taken by the juvenile judges had this program not existed? 

Mr. SCHNEIDER. In each experiment site we·have a control group. 
In all eight, except in Clayton County, Ga, outside of Atlanta and 
in Oklahoma City, there is a control group in which kids who are 
not going through the restitution project receive whatever disposi
tion they would have received if the restitution project had not 
been in existence. 

In other words, these kids will be processed just as they would 
have been had there been no restitution project at all. So we can 
look at what happened to the kids in that control group and that 
will tell us exactly what would have happened to the kids in the 
restitution groups if the restitution project had not been there. 
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Also, we can look at two kinds of data: seriousness of the offense 
and the offender. We can look at that information and make infer
ences from that as to what would likely happen to those youths. 

As I mentioned, 11 percent of all those in the initiative had three 
or more prior offenses and had committed offenses which the uni
form crime report labels very serious property or very serious 
personal offenses. There is a reasonable expectation that those 
youths would have been committed to a facilitiy or placed under a 
stringent form of probation. 

Mr. CORRADA. Would you be able to conclude, based on the point 
which you have reached in evaluating this program, how these 
youngsters who were referred to the restitution programs fared in 
terms of their rehabilitation vis-a-vis those who did not participate 
in the program, who instead just followed the regular probation 
program or of the other options available to the judges? 

Mr. SCHNEIDER. If you would give us just a few more months, we 
will have that data for you. 

Again, that is the data which is coming out of the experimental 
site. 

In each one of those sites we are following the youth, in both 
experiment and control groups, up to 18 months. We are looking 
not only at the extent of their reoffense, primary recidivism data, 
but we are also looking at the attitudes the youth have after 
completing their respective dispositions and the attitude of the 
victim. We will have that information for you in just a few months. 

Mr. CORRADA. I believe of course it would be very important to be 
able to carryon that evaluation to the point of determining reha
bilitative qualities of this program. Enough has already been in
vested to justify going through with that effort and particularly 
because so far from what we have heard and seen today, the 
results of the program appear to be quite encouraging. It would be 
worthwhile to follow through with a full evaluation, as Mr. Wil
liams suggested before, seeing to it that whatever information is 
developed from these evaluations is shared with the State agencies 
involved in juvenile justice and crime delinquency prevention ef
forts. 

Let me ask Mr. Dodge. On page 5 of your testimony, you made 
reference to some figures. You indicated that 78.7 percent of the 
youth referred are successfully completing their original or adjust
ed restitution orders and that completion rate would go up to 87 
percent if project ineligibles are removed from consideration. 

What do you mean by project ineligibles? 
Mr. DODGE. Mr. Chairman, in some of the projects, the intake 

occurs before the actual determination and order of restitution is 
issued. In some instances, a youth coming into a project may not 
clear the initial screening. In other cases, the victim may not be 
blown, the victim may refuse to participate, or, for some other 
reason, the youth does not receive an order of restitution. An 
intake form has been filed on those youth. They go to IPA so they 
are included in the statistics of that particular jurisdiction as an 
intake. 

However, no restitution has been ordered and there has been no 
failure on the part of that youth to participate. Then those youth 
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for whom an intake has occurred, but who have not received a 
restitution order, $U"e the project ineligibles. 

Of the youth that actually have received restitution orders, ap
proximately 88 percent are successful in completing their original 
or adjusted order. 

Mr. CORRADA. At what point in the process is the decision made 
about restitution? Is this at a hearirig before the juvenile court • 
judge or at some other point? When is that critical decision made? 

Mr. DODGE. The critical decision on restitution is made after the 
youth has gone through a fact-finding hearing and the court is 
determining what, if any, sanction it is going to impose upon the 
youth. 

In many of the projects, a presentence screening process occurs. 
At that point it is determined whether restitution is appropriate • 
for a youth, as well as appropriate amounts. That material is 
presented to the judge at a disposition hearing. Sometimes there is 
a hiatus between the actual factfinding hearing and disposition. In 
other jurisdictions, there is not and it is at the critical disposition 
point that the judge enters an order. 

Mr. CORRADA. So those who go to this restitution program do go 
as a result of orders in most of the cases or orders entered by the • 
pertinent authority in the State. 

Mr. DODGE. That is correct. 
Mr. CORRADA. Now, can a young person choose not to participate 

in this kind of a program, or is participation voluntary? Is the 
participation fully dependent on that decision or on the determina
tion by the judge or the pertinent authority? 

Mr. DODGE. Mr. Chairman, in most jurisdictions, it is Hot a • 
voluntary decision. 

One jurisdiction, the District of Columbia, has implemented a 
voluntary decisionmaking process. The youth can choose not to 
participate. Then he or she is subject to the other dispositions 
available to the court. We see from the data that very few youth 
are refusing to do that, in the range of about 5 percent. 

Mr. CORRADA. How and by whom is the determination made in • 
terms of how much restitution is to be paid or what form that 
restitution will take? 

Mr. DODGE. That is made by the judge based upon recommenda
tions of the project and/or probation staff contained in presentence 
reports. 

Mr. CORRADA To what extent is the youngster involved in the 
process of making that determination by the judge? • 

Mr. DODGE. It varies as to how the youth becomes involved, The 
youth are generally involved in one way or another. In some proj
ects there is mediation between the victim and the offender. The 
youth's lawyer may be involved in actual face-to-face discussion!>1 if 
the victim chooses, to determine the level of restitution. 

The youth are always represented by a lawyer at the disposi-
tional hearings, a lawyer able to address the level of loss or the • 
kind of community service. The project staff work with the youth 
in the screening process to help develop restitution recommenda-
tions. Youth are thus involved in that decision making. 
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Mr. CORRADA. Dr. Schneider, which of the various models of 
restitution programs you have evaluated or examined seems to 
work the best? 

Mr. SCHNEIDER. Well, again if I had known you were going to ask 
me that last week, I could have been here with that kind of 
information. I tried to anticipate your questions as best I possibly 
could and I did not anticipate that one. We are collecting data on 
the organization of restitution projects and, in fact, we have collect
ed that data twice to make sure that it is accurate. We have not 
yet analyzed our data with any different kind of restitution project. 
So, I am sorry I really cannot answer that. 

Mr. CORRADA. We are looking forward, of course, to your supply
ing that information to the subcommittee as soon as it is available, 
and you have finished your evaluation. Maybe my second question 
will also fall in this category. 

Mr. SCHNEIDER. I hope not. 
Mr. CORRADA. If you were asked to assign the single best restitu

tion program you could, based on your survey, what would it look 
like? Would you have an idea at this time? 

Mr. SCHNEIDER. That is an excellent question. It is very difficult. 
There is a tremendous variety of restitution programs out there. 
There are 85 different projects, and I would say that even in the 
statewide projects which have been implemented by a single 
agency, there is variation. It seems like-well, I hesitate to say. 
Based on the experience that I have, which is not refleci:ed in our 
data, but on the experience of visiting a lot of the projects and 
talking with the project directors and talking with judges, and I 
have spent quite a bit of time talking with members of the N ation
al Council of Juvenile and Family Court Judges, and it seems as if 
the major ingredient is a judge who is willing to use restitution and 
to use it for a wide range of offenders and the existence of the 
resources in that project for insuring that every youth referred to 
it has an opportunity to carry out the requirements of the restitu
tion order. Those seem to be the major ingredients rather than the 
design of th€' project itself, but we will have more information on 
that at a futUre point. 

Mr. CORRADA. We know, of course, from general experience that 
one of the problems associated with juvenile delinquency relates to 
the fact of unemployment, not having a job and so on. 

Do you have any data on whether youngsters can find jobs with 
greater ease after being in a restitution program than the average 
youngster who is in another program, such as probation? 

Mr. SCHNEIDER. We have no comparative data, but we do have, 
some information about the proportion of youth who are continu
ing to work after they have completed their restitution require
ments and the restitution program. 

This information is contained in a table which is in the monthly 
evaluation report for February 1981, and incidentally we have 
issued one each month the past 2 years. 

Because of a shortfall in our funding, we are going to have to 
limit the number of reports we are going to be doing in the future 
to one every other month. We have been putting one out each 
month. There is a table which is entitled "Status of Youth," at case 
closure, table 10, a monthly evaluation report. That table details 
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the condition of the youth after they have completed the restitu
tion requirement. 

About 30 percent do not have jobs, but do not want jobs. There is 
about another 25 percent who do not have jobs, but want jobs and 
there is another approximately 28 to 29 percent that are continu
ing to work. The remainder fall into a category which we define as 
other residual category. They are not working for a variety of 
reasons, but it looks as if more than half of the youth would be 
able to continue in their positions if they wanted to. 

Mr. CORRADA. I do not have any further questions at this time. 
The subcommittee would like to express its appreciation both to 
Mr. Dodge and Dr. Schneider for their testimony today, which will 
prove to be very informative and helpful to us. 

Thank you very much. We appreciate your appearing before us 
today. 

The next witness will be Dennis Maloney, juvenile restitution 
project manager. He works with the Division of Community Serv
ices, Bureau of Children, Youth and Families in Madison, Wis. 

Mr. Maloney, we welcome you to this hearing, and we ask you to 
please proceed with your testimony. 

[Prepared testimony of Dennis Maloney follows:] 

PREPARED TESTIMONY OF DENNIS MALONEY, JUVENILE RESTITUTION PROJECT MAN
AGER, DIVISION OF COMMUNITY SERVICES, BUREAU FOR CHILDREN, YOUTH, AND 
FAMILIES, MAllISON, WIS. 

The Wisconsin Juvenile Restitution Project is administered by the Wisconsin 
Department of Health and Social Services in the Division of Community Services, 
Bureau for Children, Youth and Families. There are twelve juvenile court jurisdic
tions participating in the project. The participating jurisdictions are spread across 
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the state and represent urban, suburban, rural and tribal demographic areas. They • 
are Ashland County, Chippewa County, Douglas County, Eau Claire County, Fond 
du Lac County, the City of Green Bay, Kenosha County, Marathon County, Meno-
minee Tribal Court, Outagamie Youth Services, Racine County and Rock County. 

The primary objectives of the project are to: (1) hold juvenile offenders account
able for delinquent acts; (2) reduce recidivism levels of participating offenders; (3) 
insure compensation for victims of juvenile offenses; (4) improve the image of the 
juvenile justice system; and (5) provide an effective means of treating juvenile 
offenders within the community. 

The project is staffed by one central office manager, one central office administra- • 
tive assistant and a total of fourteen local program staff for all twelve jurisdictions. 
The project benefits from a training and technical assistance contract with the 
University of Wisconsin-Extension Criminal Justice Institute and an evaluation 
contract with Carkhuff and Associates. In addition the Division of Community 
Services Juvenile Delinquency Prevention Consultants provide legal and juvenile 
justice system consultation. Due to the limited staffing resources of the program the 
local staff have had to rely on the involvement, cooperation and assistance from the 
participating juvenile court jurisdictions. Without exception such cooperation has 
been provided. • 

The statewide project has an annual budget of approximately $450,000 including 
technical assistance and evaluation costs. The local projects range in cost from 
$16,000 to $66,000. 

PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS 

Restitution completion 
The Project has worked with 803 juvenile offenders. Of these 484 have already 

completed restitution. The court ordered amount of financial restitution has recent- • 
ly surpassed $200,000 of which $103,000 has been paid. In addition 4,907 hours of 
community service has been provided while 554 hours of victim service has been 
fulfilled. a recent interim evaluation report illustrated that 85 percent of the par-
ticipant youth fulfill their obligation on schedule. 
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Seriousness level of participants 
. OJJDP designed the national restitution initiative to work with serious juvenile 
offenders in threat of incarceration. The Wisconsin Project has worked with 
of enders representing the following levels of seriousness. 

Percent 

Victimless ............................................................................................. ............................. 1 
Minor offenses .................................................................................................................. 1 
Minor property... . ............................................................................................................ 3 
Minor personal................................................................................................................. 1 
Moderate property ........................................................... ................................................ 24 
Serious property ........................................ ............................... .................... .............. ...... 38 

~~;~~~~:~!:!::Z::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::: 2~ 
As is illustrated the majority of offenders fall within the Serious Property to Very 
Serious Property categories. The average number of prior delinquent offenses is 3 
percent. 

Reduction in incarceration rates. 
The State of Wisconsin in involved in a major·deinstitutionalization effort. The 

state has adopted a new children's code which places more restrictions on placement 
of juvenile offenders in correctional facilities. 

In addition the state has launched a community based alternative effort entitled 
Youth and Family Aids that provides counties with the option to develop local 
programs or purchase state correctional services. The jurisdictions participating in 
the Restitution Project have reduced their incarceration placements from a total of 
242 in the year prior to initiation of the projects to 148 during the first year of the 
program. In addition the Rock County program has accepted referral of nine juve
niles who were petitioned for waiver to adult court and were in definite threat of 
placement in adult facilities. To date not one of the offenders has been incarcerated 
in an adult or juvenile correctional facility. 

Statue at case closure 
Over 80 percent of the youth are living with their family at case closure while 13 

percent have been placed in non-secure settings and only 3 percent have been 
committed to secure facilities. The percentage of youth who have committed subse
quent offenses during project participation is 7.31 percent. 

The evaluation illustrates that 37 percent of the youth maintain their employ
ment after case closure. 
System impact 

The Restitution Project has provided Wisconsin the framework for testing a skills 
based model for treating juvenile delinquents within their home community. This 
skills based approach reduces the occurance of subjective Bssessments, irrelevant 
and inapplicable dispositions, unnecessary incarceration and long lasting negative 
labeling. Instead a skill based program provides juvenile court systems with the 
capability to complete valuable and ::;trength seeking assessments, carry out practic
cal and useful dispositions, maintain and strengthen family situations and initiate 
positive community labeling and expectations. Seventeen additional counties have 
decided to initiate juvenile restitution programs under the new Youth and Family 
Aids programs. In all Wisconsin now has over 30 formal programs. 
Cost effectiveness 

The average county cost per client in the juvenile restitution project is $623. This 
compares to average annual cost of $22,000 for institutions, $14,900 for group home 
care and $4,500 for foster care. 

STATEMENT OF DENNIS MALONEY, JUVENILE RESTITUTION 
PROJECT MANAGER, DIVISION OF COMMUNITY SERVICES, 
BUREAU FOR CHILDREN, YOUTH AND FAMILIES, MADISON, 
WIS. 

Mr. MALONEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I, too, would like to thank the committee for allowing the State 

of Wisconsin to have an opportunity to provide some program 
highlights. I have put together a statement. I would think I would 
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prefer to stay away from that as much as possible and perhaps get 
at the essence of the program. 

I have worked in the Wisconsin juvenile justice system for nearly 
10 years, Wisconsin and Minnesota for two years during that time. 

I have had a chance to witness the arrival and departure of 
many trends. My current situation is that I am working with the 
restitution project in the State. 

What I would like to do is feed you some impacts about the 
program, talk about some specific occurrences that are going on in 
two of our counties and again pinpoint the essence of the program. 

The Wisconsin program is administered by the Department of 
Health and Social Services. We are currently operating in 12 juve
nile court jurisdictions. The juvenile court jurisdictions range from 
urban, suburban, rural to one tribal reservation, the Menominee 
Indian tribe reservation in Wisconsin. 

Our primary objectives are to hold the offenders accountable for 
their acts, reduce the recidivism levels, insure compensation for the 
victims of the offenses and improve the image of the system and 
provide an effective means of treating juvenile offenders within the 
community. 

I think with the large scope of the program we are rather sparse
ly staffed in that we have one central office manager, a central 
office administrative assistant and a total of 14 staff in all 12 
jurisdictions. 

We benefit greatly from a training and technical assistance con
tract with our university and a process and impact evaluation with 
Carkhuff and Associates. 

Due to the sparseness of the staffing across the State, we have to 
rely heavily on the juvenile court systems. I recall when I was sent 
out on a round-robin tour to meet with judges to explain why they 
would be interested in starting a restitution project. I met with 
approximately 25 judges and got very similar responses. They were 
interested in starting a formal project, because oftentimes it ap
peared that restitution sentences fell on deaf ears. 

As a result of that, victims' frustration levels were rising. The 
community was showing great dissatisfaction with the power of the 
court. Finally they mentioned they feared that the attitude about 
the juvenile justice system hit the streets, and the kids were in fact 
affected by that, too. The word had generally gotten out on the 
streets that if you are ordered, go along if you like, but nobody is 
going to follow through on it. 

They were very interested in somebody providing formal fol
lowthrough. We have received great cooperation with the judges. 

Personally I try to work with the courts as closely as I can. Our 
total budget is $450,000 including technical assistance and evalua
tion costs. 

The local projects range from $16,000 to $66,000. 
As far as project highlights, we have had roughly 800 offenders 

go through the program. The court ordered amount of restitution 
surpassed $100,000. I am pleased to inform you we recently sur
passed a major milestone: the kids themselves paid $103,000 in 
restitution. They have had nearly 5,000 hours of community service 
and 500 hours of victim service. 
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Our successful completion rate is 85 percent. The majority of our 
kids are serious property to very serious property offenders. Our 
average number of priors is three. As far as reduction in incarcer
ation, the State of Wisconsin is involved in a very assertive cam
paign to serve juvenile offenders as effectively as possible within 
the community while protecting the best interests of the public. We 
have had a new children's code come into effect, and the youth and 
family aid programs that provide communities with the opportuni
ty to develop local programs instead of having to send inappropri
ate referrals to correctional facilities. 

A question was asked, and I would like to inadvertently respond 
to that. Are we diverting kids from juvenile facilities who would 
need it? I would submit I do not think we are. We are getting down 
to the more appropriate referral. We had a study done in our State 
that discovered that for nearly half of the kids who ended up in the 
correctional facilities, it was their first out-of-home placement 
when supposedly many of the people in it were those who had 
exhausted all other resources. 

So, I think we are reaching a more appropriate population now. 
With these two impetuses and the restitution program providing 
the framework for the alternatives, the counties participating in 
our program the year prior to the program had 242 kids placed in 
corrections. 

After the first year of the program, that amount was reduced 
down to 148. 

I would again submit that 148 are appropriate referrals to correc
tional facilities, but that somebody in the community, hopefully the 
restitution program in many instances, has reached many of the 
kids who in fact did not need juvenile correctional facilities. 

As far as systems impact, we havf' made a major commitment 
again to community-based resources. 

Our restitution programs have provided us the framework to 
gear our juvenile justice system more toward a skilled-based ap
proach than what I would term a subjective assessment, moral 
questioning approach that involves utilizing dispositions that are 
not very applicable to the youth currently or in the future. 

In Wisconsin we started the restitution program with the OJJDP 
fund. We have now started 18 additional programs with State 
funding. 

The youth and family aid program involves $14 million per year 
of State money, non-Federal source money aimed at helping com
munities to develop alternatives to corrections. 

A question also was asked about, how does this compare with 
alternative cost? Our actual cost per client is $623. Our institution
al costs in the State are $22,000. Group homes cost roughly $15,000 
and foster care $4,500. 

Just briefly I would like to touch on two counties in the State, to 
give you a local perspective of what is going on. In Rock County 
they have made a very powerful commitment to the program. The 
judge there has in fact worked with nine kids who everybody in the 
system had put together a blue slip on. What that means is you 
would be waived to adult court and sent to an adult facility. Of 
those nine, the judge denied waiver over the kids and put them 
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into the restitution program. To date, not one of the kids has either 
ended up in an adult facility or juvenile facility. 

In addition, they have had 17 who were petitioned to be placed in 
juvenile facilities and who were allowed to remain in the communi
ty and successfully complete the restitution. The other county is 
. the Menominee Tribe court. The Menominee Indian Reservation is 
our most active program. They have had l1l kids go through the 
program and with this and other resources have been able to cut 
their incarceration in half. Judge Louie Hoptos, who often shares 
podiums with me at training sessions and statewide conferences, 
has set a future goal to allow children to remain in the community 
if at all possible. 

They have a community board there that has worked since the 
beginning of the program to supervise the staff of the program and 
provide advice and input to how the kids are dealt with within the 
program. They have examined community needs and designed a 
program that meets those needs. 

The Menominee tribal court works with kids and oftentimes 
orders restitution for them to spend x amount of hours with elders 
in the community, requiring or maintaining their homes to allow 
the elderly people in the community to remain in their homes. The 
kids are also involved in a large-scale energy program where they 
rhop wood or provide other energy-efficient services to elderly 
homeowners to help them stay in their home in the community. 

The essence of the program, again, concentrates on skills. I think 
in the past much of our juvenile justice system was subjective. It 
went from one culture to another. It was oftentimes sexist in that 
female offenders were vulner.able for more serious reactions than 
male offenders were for less serious crime. Oftentimes if you look 
at dispositions in the past, they were incapable. They often state, 
"Don't hang with these kids. Don't miss your curfew violations. 
Don't miss schooL" 

Very often that type of disposition is inapplicable. Restitution is 
goal oriented. Complete this by then, pick up these skills so you 
can secure employment and make sure that you resolve the offense 
with your victim. It is more goal oriented. 

Also, in the past with the way we dealt with kids when restitu
tion was not ordered was that the offense was unresolved. Victims 
were angry. Communities were angry and oftentimes frustrated 
with both the kids and the court system. Today when kids can 
complete their restitution, that anger gets to be resolved and in 
fact many of the victims in our State are actually providing work
sites for the kids and in many instances act as the best references 
for the kids. 

As far as systems benefits, it is tangible. It is more realistic. Staff 
can talk about, "I am working with a kid who is 75 percent on his 
way to reaching his goal," or 50 percent or whatever, rather than, 
"I still have John or Mary for 4 more months of supervision." 

As far as community benefits, we have seen increased satisfac
tion with the system. We have taken polls of opinion leaders and 
victims, and there defmitely is a growing trend with an increased 
amount of satisfaction with our juvenile justice system in the 
State. 
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In closing, I would just like to make one comment that perhaps 
my colleagues could not have made. I really feel there is need for a 
national impetus or conscience in this area. I think that Wisconsin 
is achieving many positive changes in our juvenile justice system. 
We have had the children's code, the youth age, the restitution. If 
you look at everyone of those major initiatives going on in the 
State, you will find the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency 
Prevention at the root. I am talking about more than just money. 

As I mentioned, we are now pouring in $14 million of State 
money into these initiatives. I fear that without the leadership we 
will once again wander dangerously. 

There is an old saying, if you don't know where you are going, 
any road will get you there. 

I fear that if we lose the conscience and the impetus, that that is 
what will happen in many of our local juvenile court jurisdictions. 
The most obvious example in my mind is when the restitution 
guidelines were announced I stood nose to nose with Doug Dodge, 
or rather perhaps chin to forehead, and argued over the restric
tions of the guidelines. I felt that they were asking us to work with 
much too serious a probation, that chances of success would not be 
possible. Dodge and OJJDP stood firm. We agreed to follow other 
guidelines. 

I can tell you this, if they had not stood firm, we would have 
worked with a less serious population. We would not have achieved 
the results I mentioned in reduction in incarceration and we might 
in fact have widened the meaning if we were willing to work with 
less serious offenders. We could have pulled more kids in the 
system than need to be pulled in. 

I thought in all due respect for the office and for the benefits we 
have received in our State, I would like to mention that. 

Thank you. 
Mr. CORRADA. Thank you, Mr. Maloney, for your testimony. 
Would you repeat for the record the average county cost per 

client in the juvenile restitution project? 
Mr. MALONEY. It is $613, sir. 
Mr. CORRADA. What criteria are used in your program to select 

juveniles for the restitution program? 
Mr. MALONEY. The first criteria is there has to be clearcut evi

dence that in fact the juvenile did commit the offense. The second 
criteria is that the youth be an adjudicated delinquent, and there 
has been a factfinding or voluntary counsel plea of the offense. The 
third criteria is they be more serious offenders. My feeling is kids 
do not need a whole 9 yards of a system to payoff a $30 or $40 
offense. flo we are trying to reach more serious offenders, and rule 
one is the kids have to volunteer to partake in the program. 

Mr. CORRADA. If the youth does not agree to the restitution 
program, then other alternatives would be chosen? 

Mr. MALONEY. Yes. That does not mean it could not be court 
ordered. The court will order it, but we put the question to the 
kids. Is that what you choose to do? 

Mr. CORRADA. What do the juvenile court judges in Wisconsin 
think about the restitution program when you have had the occa
sion of discussing this with them? 

79-489 0-81--3 
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Mr. MALONEY. I think quite frankly they are delighted. In some 
of the counties they consider themselves project directors. We have 
a couple of councils where they still sign the form where it says 
project director. So they have taken on a lot of ownership in the 
program. Again, as I mentioned, we are achieving impacts with 
community attitudes so they are beginning to sense their court 
systems in better light, and in fact, when courts order a child, then 
it means business. It is not a milktoast order. 

Mr. CORRADA. Have you had any contacts with the victims in 
terms of how they feel about this restitution program, and have 
you been able to ascertain their attitude toward the program, vis-a
vis a victim of juvenile delinquency who does not receive any kind 
of restitution because the youngster goes on to some other way of 
being punished? 

Mr. MALONEY. Yes, sir. Just briefly, there is a common attitude 
we find in the State that victims feel it has gotten so bad they do 
not expect restitution anymore. As· soon as they hear the offender 
was a juvenile, they say, "Well, it was a juvenile offense and I am 
not going to get compensated." It takes our court process an aver
age of 120 days between offense and referral to the program, so 
there is a high level of frustration that develops between the time 
of the offense and the time victims first get a call from the restitu
tion staff saying that the youth o~fender was referred to them. 

So the results of the survey show that that frustration rises as 
soon as they get an emphatic response from somebody in the 
system saying, "We are going to work at resolving this offense," 
that the frustration begins to decline. In those cases that are 
successfully completed, their attitudes toward the kid and the jus
tice system increase again significantly. 

So, it is like a rising and falling graph as far as their attitudes 
and emotions. As far as the ones who are uncompensated, I am 
sure they still remain frustrated. 

Mr. CORRADA. Based on your experience, is there anything you 
would like to do differently regarding your involvement in the 
restitution program of the OJJDP? Any recommendations you may 
have as to how could this be improved? 

Mr. MALONEY. Well, I think the research we have seen both 

J
f through our program and some national studies that have been 

carried on showed the best way to predict success with the program 
is the personal level of skills of the staff because kids will only 

J I approach those skill levels. If the staff are low skilled, then the 
J kids will also approach a low-skilled staff, meaning kids can' 

. become better or worse for having been involved in our program. 
If I could have done anything better with the program, I would 

have liked to have seen through OJJDP that skill training and a 
real emphasis on programmatic skills be offered to our project staff 
rather than having to necessarily go through the grant guideline 
management and that type of thing; not that we have not gotten it, 
but I think skill training is the kind of thing you just cannot get 
enough of. So I would have asked for more of that. 

Mr. CORRADA. Based on your experience, and if you were to 
assign a restitution program that would be effective, how would 
you do it? 
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Mr. MALONEY. I would locate as closely to the court as possible, 
because I think there is the air of authority that comes with the 
court that is very difficult to maintain when you get outside the 
parameters of the court. I think it is important for both the child 
and the parent to know that there is an obligation, and it will be 
fulfilled by one means or another. That is the first thing I would 
do. 

Second, I would concentrate more on objective assessment of the 
kids, basically what are their living, learning, and working skills 
currently, and whera do they need skills in order to fulfill this 
restitution obligation. 

Once the obligation has become completed, then I would like to 
see a systems reenforcement of the kids, reenforcing kids for 
having successfully completed the restitution program and even 
acting perhaps as a reference for future employment of the young
ster. 

The outcome is to have a permanent employment meaning we 
have sent them on. They have completed their obligation. They 
have compensated their victim. They have got a positive label 
rather than a negative one, and we can send them on the way with 
employment and skills they need to stay away from further crime. 

Mr. CORRADA. The Chair will now recognize Mr. Williams for 
questions of this witness. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. Maloney, do you use both monetary restitution and commu-

nity service and direct service to the victims? 
Mr. MALONEY. Yes. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Which is most common? 
Mr. MALONEY. Monetary. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Do you set up the procedures by which the person 

raises the money? 
Mr. MALONEY. You mean the young person? 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Yes. 
Mr. MALONEY. Yes; they are provided, first of all, with training 

on the job seeking skills on how to secure employment. 
If at all possible, our highest priority is unsubsidized employ

ment. They are coached on how to secure that employment and 
given time to do that. If they are not able to secure that employ
ment, then we will assist them in some means with a subsidization. 
In the private sector we subsidize up to 50 percent to the private 
business sector, not a written commitment with the hope that the 
private business sector will maintain employment of the youth 
after they have completed the restitution. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Is there money in the program to provide for the 
subsidization? 

Mr. MALONEY. Yes. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. You do not have to go outside to a CETA program 

or some such program? 
Mr. MALONEY. No; although whenever CETA is possible we will 

plug into them as much as possible, because the CETA program 
has gotten to the stage where they not only offer job employment, 
but job training and job skills, working skills. I think that is an 
optimum way to go. 
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Mr. WILLIAMS. Did I understand that in working with the Indian 
young people on or near the reservation-what reservation is that? 

Mr. MALONEY. Menominee Tribe Reservation. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. That the incarceration rate has been cut in half? 
Mr. MALONEY. Yes. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. But you indicated that those young people who 

should be institutionalized are institutionalized rather than 
brought into this program? 

Mr. MALONEY. Right. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Does that tell us that previous to this program 

half of the people on that reservation that were being incarcerated 
should not have been? 

Mr. MALONEY. I will be candid. I will say that that is true. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. How much does it cost again to incarcerate a 

young person? 

v, Mr. MALONEY. $22,000. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Do you know how many young people in a year

how many Indian young people off this reservation are placed in a 
juvenile detention facility? 

Mr. MALONEY. Yes. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. How many? 
Mr. MALONEY. Currently before the program, 23 were placed. 

After the initial program it was down to 14. One thing I want to 
clarify is Judge Hopatos has got a general philosophy of keeping 
the kids on the reservation as much as possible. We are one of the 
resources he uses. When he has used the podium he has said quite 
frankly they do not have a lot of resources on the reservation. They 
have relied heavily on the restitution program to provide them 
with one of their key resources for keeping kids in the community. 

One of the things we are working on with them currently is a 
youth planning management and employment corporation whereby 
the kid will be able to use the waste products from the timber 
industry which is the largest industry on the reservation, to pro
vide a product, because his concern was that with employment as 
bleak as it is on the reservation, restitution is one of the only 
means to get the type of job training and skills that we offer and 
meaningful employment. 

The current plan on which Judge Hopatos is working very ag
gressively is to develop a corporation, a private business operation, 
where the kids actually act in management and employment capac
ities so that you do not have to necessarily get into trouble to have 
a decent job on the reservation. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. The judge has obviously tried to find other ways 
than institutionalization to deal with crime and yet you indicate 
frankly that perhaps half of those who are sent to juvenile facili
ties in the past ought not have been so sent. 

Mr. MALONEY. Right. I would be willing to make that statement, 
sir. I have had a chance to meet many of the kids, not only on the 
reservation, but in the Rock County program, kids who were defi
nitely scheduled to go on and sit in adult facilities where they 
would have been vulnerable for increased chance of suicide, sexual 
assault, and all the other nasty things I think can happen to 16-
and 17-year-old kids in those kinds of institutions, that those kids 
who made it have in many ways demonstrated they did not need 
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those facilities, that they needed an opportunity to demonstrate 
that they could make it in the community. 

I would like to think that in many cases the restitution can 
provide both the opportunity and the skills they need to remain 
within the community. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. In Wisconsin was there a juvenile restitution 
project, or was this procedure being utilized previous to the enact
ment of this act? 

Mr. MALONEY. We had four or five formal restitution programs 
in the State before the initiative. As I mentioned, now we have 
surpassed 30 in the State. Judge Calla, who is on our supreme 
court, started one of the first restitution programs in Wakashaw 
County, and many of the programs have been modeled after his 
project. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. CORRADA. We will now recognize staff on behalf of the rank-

ing minority member to ask questions, if any. 
Mr. DEAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I just have a couple of questions. 
On page 2 of your statement, you mentioned that OJJDP has 

designed the restitution initiative to work with serious juvenile 
offenders in threat of incarceration. You mentioned that one of the 
criteria for identifying those juveniles to go into the project is that 
they volunteer for it, and I wonder whether they really have a 
choice, given that the alternative may be placement in a secure 
facility. 

Mr. MALONEY. Well, my response would be that in our State, in 
our children's code, if the youth is defined and first of all he did 
not commit the act, he is entitled to a factfinding here. Second, if 
he is arguing about the amount of responsibility, because if we are 
having one problem with the projects, oftentimes victims inflate 
their loss and they can have an offense and all of a sudden losses 
for the last 4 years will end up on that loss list, that if a juvenile is 
really arguing about that amount, by law he is entitled to another 
hearing. 

So our feeling is if the juvenile who is supposed to be coming on 
the program is saying that I did not commit the offense, or second, 
I did commit it but I am responsible for $100, not $2,000 of the loss, 
and I refuse to participate in the program, then we will not accept 
that referral, because you are taking on a kid for whom there is a 
greater increase that he is going to defy whatever is offered to him 
and is most likely going to fail within the program. 

Mr. DEAN. You mentioned that some of your program partici
pants went into CETA positions. In terms of your overall oper
ations, did you tap into any other sources of Federal funds other 
than the juvenile justice money and, I guess, indirectly the CETA 
moneys? 

Mr. MALONEY. Currently we are working with the ACTION 
office. T!le ACTION office has developed a program where retired 
citizen volunteers are provided with resources to supervise young 
people, and we are going to attempt to develop a program in the 
State where we will have the unique expertise of retired business
men working as job coaches and parent relationships with the kids. 
That is the one Federal program that comes to my mind. 
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Mr, DEAN. I guess another' question would be the number of 
offenses of the program participants, whether the rates of comple
tion of restitution vary with the seriousness of offense to the point 

Mr, MALONEY. Our evaluation with the Carkhuff firm and it 

• 

~
ha it would be very low for, say, a serious personal offense in 

co trast with the ones with minor victhnless offenses. 

surprised me too, because I thought the more serious the offense • 
the less likelihood of success. We found that seriousness level is not 
an indicator of successful completion of a program. 

Mr. DEAN. On page 3 of your statement you mentioned that the 
pe!<'centage of youth who have committed subsequent offenses 
during project participation is 7.31 percent. I was wondering what 
the nature of those offenses are, and if you could characterize it? 

Mr. MALONEY. The highest number of reoffense within the pro- • 
gram is burglary. That is the majority of crimes committed while 
still within the program is burglary. 

Mr. DEAN. From that can I gather that they are not committing 
offenses actually on the restitution program that they are working 
on, stealing from their employer. 

Mr. MALONEY. I do not believe so. We have had occurrences 
where kids have gotten involved in offenses on the worksite, but I • 
don't think it is to a great degree. I don't see any data that has 
surpassed that that is to a great degree. 

Mr. DEAN. I just have a couple more questions. Do any of the 
funds that are generated by the work in the restitution projects 
actually go back to the project to defray administrative costs? 

Mr. MALONEY. No. 
Mr. DEAN. And in the case of, say, a budgetary crunch would 

that be a feasible alternative to require 5 percent to defray those • 
administra.tive costs. 

Mr. MALONEY. We are looking into that possibility. We are look
ing into several possibilities. We do have the youth and family aid 
programs that provide localities with State funds to start these 
types of initiative. So we are looking most closely at the youth aids 
initiative. Other than that we are beginning to examine, as you 
mentioned, the possibility of administrative overhead falling back • 
into the progr:.:lm. 

Mr. DEAN. My final question here would just be an open ended 
one. Could you give a few examples of the jobs that the juveniles 
are placed in; whether they are the kinds of jobs that have a 
future; and whether they are of deadend nature? 

Mr. MALONEY. Our priority is meaningful employment. Meaning-
ful employment means that it falls within the priorities of the • 
young person himself and it does offer future employment, at least 
the hope for future employment. We have had some unique em
ployment situations. For instance, a young person in Rock County 
who was under threat of .incarceration was doing remodeling work 
with the Rock County Historical Society. After completing his resti-
tution, for instance, the Historical Society was so pleased with the 
youngster they actually made him a formal member of the Rock • 
County Historical Society. 

In the Menominee Reservation, a group of kids in the program 
assumed responsibility for the design, planning and carrying out of 
an entire pow-wow for the community where several hundred 
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people attended. They had to assume responsibility for all of the 
financial management, the arrangement of speakers, the arrange
ment of events. So I think that type of planning skill came out in 
the restitution and employment opportunity, although it was not a 
future employment opportunity. 

Mr. DEAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman . 
Mr. CORRADA. Thank you. 
Thank you, Mr. Maloney, for your excellen.t presentation to this 

subcommittee and sharing with us your experience in Wisconsin 
with this program. 

Mr. MALONEY. Thank you for having us. 
Mr. CORRADA. We will now go to a panel of youngsters, two of 

them from Wisconsin, two of them from Washington, D.C., that 
have actually participated in the restitution program. 

In order to protect the privacy of these youngsters, I will ask all 
the members of the subcommittee to address them by their first 
name and no photographs wi.ll be allowed of these witnesses during 
their testimony. 

Before we call them for their testimony, I would like to state 
that I am very pleased to have today the visit of a group of 
youngsters from Puerto Rico who are participating in the Presiden
tial classroom program here in Washington. I would like to ask the 
youngsters from Puerto Rico, who are participating in the Presi
dential classroom program to please stand up. 

It is quite coincidental that while these high school students 
from Puerto Rico come to Washington for the Presidential class
room program and to visit their Congresspersons today, we are 
holding these hearings precisely on a problem that is of great 
importance to the whole Nation and, of course, to the Common
wealth of Puerto Rico as well, dealing with juvenile justice and 
delinquency prevention. 

We will now have the opportunity of asking questions of young
sters who have participated in this restitution program, a program 
that is geared toward having the youngster restitute or pay direct
ly to the victim and to society for faults that have been committed 
rather than sending them to jail or placing them in the regular 
probation program. 

We will ask now Charles and Becky, coming from Wisconsin, and 
Jeff and Jonathan from Washington, D.C., to please come forward. 
Take a seat at the witness table. 

I would like to welcome the four of you to this hearing today and 
express to each of you the great appreciation of this subcommittee 
for your appearing before us today and allowing us to gain more 
information about the program in which you have been participat
ing and what that program has meant to you. 

Definitely your cooperation with this hearing will allow us to 
gain information that will be very valuable in examining how this 
project has worked and in determining what this subcommittee 
should do in encouraging programs of this nature. 

The witnesses do not have prepared testimony. They will respond 
to questions from the members of the subcommittee. 
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STATEMENT OF CHARLES AND BECKY, WISCONSIN, AND JEFF 
AND JONATHAN, WASHINGTON, D.C . 

. Mr. CORRADA. I would like to ask Charles here to please tell us in 
what manner or form do you believe that being ~n this restitution 
program has helped you in becoming an individual who can better 
cope with the society and the group where you live? 

CHARLES. Well, OK. After I had committed the offense I had 
heard people talking. They didn't want their kids to be around me 
because, you know, in fear that I would get them in trouble. It gave 
me a chance to show that if given a chance I could be just like 
anyone else. 

lam not one that was out looking for trouble. I just happened to 
run upon it at that time. It showed to myself that I could be 
anything that I wanted to be. It depended on what I wanted to 
make of myself. So really, it proved to the people around me that I 
could make it in the world today, not as an inmate in a prison, you 
know, but going to work every day, bringing home a paycheck. 

Mr. CORRADA. In what sense do you believe th",t a restitution 
program such as this one should be encouraged in terms of how 
other youngsters that may find themselves in the situation you 
found yourself, may use the program itseif as a way to become 
better members of society? 

CHARLES. Well, like with the job you get, you can obtain skills, 
say, like if you liked it, you could further yourself in that particu
lar thing. It gave me a chance to meet different people and talk 
with them, to see their ideas and viewpoints and really, I don't 
know. You have to ask others. 

Mr. CORRADA. Becky, how would you answer that question? 
BECKY. Could you repeat it? 
Mr. CORRADA. In what sense do you believe that having partici

pated in the restitution program would help you and other young
sters similarly situated in being able to recuperate from the situa
tion in which you found yourself? 

BECKY. OK. I am not sure if I understand the question real good, 
but for myself I got a good recommendation from that job. And I 
use it for everyone. They have called that job site every time and 
they said that they gave me an excellent recommendation. 

OK, being 15 when I committed a crime; there is no way I would 
have been able to payoff the debt that I had to pay. Who is going 
to hire a 15-year-old, especially one who is, you know, in trouble? 
OK. So it helped me get the job. It showed me that I can do it. It 
gave me some skills to help out in future jobs. It was really the 
first job besides babysitting I had had, and it showed me what job 
supervisors are like, what interviews are like. It wasn't a real 
formal interview. 

There is no way I would have been able to pay back the money 
that lowed without getting this job. And really being on social 
security there is no way that my mother would have been able to 
pay for it either. 

Mr. CORRADA. What kind of job did you get? 
BECKY. I worked at the YWCA. It was only cleaning and paint

ing. I also had to put in 50 hours of volunteer work. I did secretari
al work at the Boys Club in Green Bay. 
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Mr. CORRADA. Jeff, how would you say that this program helped 
you? 

JEFF. Well, as long as I can remember I have been getting in 
trouble with the juvenile courts, you know. The juvenile restitution 
program opened up a lot of things for me. You can get in the 
program and learn a skill and learn how to turn your life around 
from what you have been doing to being a better person. You have 
got to put it in your mind that you want to be better. 

The program offers you different opportunities and different 
skills, you know. It has helped me a lot. 

Mr. CORRADA. How old are you now? 
JEFF. I am 18 going on 19. 
Mr. CORRADA. How old were you when you participated or start

ed your participation in the restitution program? 
JEFF. I was 17. 
Mr. CORRADA. They worked out the program for you. What is it 

that you did in the program? 
JEFF. Well, I had a choice, you know. I had a choice to be in this 

program. I wasn't sure I could make it in the program. That is up 
to the judge. They gave me a choice. I could go in the program, pay 
back $600 restitution and do 175 hours community service or either 
do 4 years, you know, whatever the jail term would have been. 

Mr. CORRADA. Why did you choose this program? 
JEFF. Because it showed me-I saw something that was going to 

help me better my life. I got tired of being in trouble all my life, so 
I decided to try to better myself and this was just an opportunity to 
help me better myself, you know, start my life over and do better 
things. 

Mr. CORRADA. What did you do to repay the $600? 
JEFF. I worked at the Columbia Heights Youth Club in a pro

gram and went around fixing up parks, putting in benches, and 
fixing things like that. The paychecks from there helped me pay 
back the restitution. 

Mr. CORRADA. In what sense do you think this helped you? 
JEFF. It helped me to rehabilitate myself in a way. Ever since I 

have been in this program, the people in the program have been 
helping me find jobs and just do things I have never had time to do 
before because I was on the street getting in trouble all the time. 

Mr. CORRADA. Without the program do you think you would have 
been able to repay that $600? 

JEFF. No, sir. 
Mr. CORRADA. Jonathan, how has this program helped you? 
JONATHAN. The program has helped me because in about 1978 I 

had dropped out of school, started getting in trouble. 
Then once I went to court, the judge told me I had an opportuni

ty to get in the juvenile restitution program or be committed to 
jail. I had benefit to look at the program to see how the ideas and 
how they were going about things. So I decided to go into the 
juvenile center. Then I started realizing that I can't be out on the 
street at certain hours of the night doing crime when I know I 
have to pay for them. I started to look at my life as a better 
perspective, so then once I had got in the program, I started 
working in a warehouse for the city that helped evict the people, 
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pick up their furniture and store it for them if they can't afford to 
pay a moving company or something like that. 

So then I did my community service and then after my communi
ty service were over they hired me to work with them. 

So I feel that the juvenile restitution center helps a whole lot of 

-

people if they want to help themselves. 
Mr. CORRADA. Thank you, Jonathan. • 
I will yield now to Congressman Williams. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Jeff, what do your friends think of this program? 
JEFF. Well, you know, my friends they like the program if they 

could get into it, you know, the ones that are incarcerated now. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. What do they say about it? 
JEFF. Well, it gives you a chance, you know, to start all over, • 

turn your life around . 
. Mr. WILLIAMS. Jeff, how many of your friends have said to you, 

"I like this program because it gives you a chance to start all over 
and turn my life around.}J You tell us the way they tell you. 

Let me lead you a little bit more. Do they say, "Boy. that is a 
free ride. I wish I could get into that instead of going to jail.}J What 
do they think of this program? • 

JEFF. Well, naturally they like it instead of going to jail because 
don't too many people wa.nt to be locked up, you know. They would 
rather be in this program than go to jail because they say, like you 
say, it is a free ride for them doing something and not having to 
pay for it, but in the sense they are paying for it anyway because 
they have to pay back to the victim, you know, and do community 
service. • 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Now that you have gone through the program, 
and apparently you are a supporter of the program, you think it 
was a pretty good idea. Maybe it was a pretty good idea, because 
you did not have to be staring out of bars or maybe you think it 
was pretty good idea because you did get something really paid 
back in a real way with money to whomever, or whatever you had 
harmed with whatever you did. • 

Now you know maybe that part of it means something to Y0'l, 
too. Have you talked about that part of this program with your 
friends, the part other than the free ride? 

JEFF. Paying the people, you talking about the--
Mr. WILLIAMS. The good that you did about paying them back, 

have you and your friends discussed that part? 
JEFF. No, sir. • 
Mr. WILLIAMS. You have talked about the free ride some, though. 
JEFF. I felt that it was nice for them to let me stay on the street 

and find me a job so I could pay these people back, you know. It 
was nice of the people to offer to let me pay them back instead of 
getting me locked up for what I had done. I don't talk about it too 
much. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. I appreciate your being honest with me and with • 
the committee on that, Jeff. 

Jonathan, do you have any friends who have been in trouble, 
fairly serious trouble with the law? 

JONATHAN. Yes. 

• 
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Mr. WILLIAMS. Do you have any of those friends that you think 
ought to be in jail instead of in this restitution program? You know 
if you were the judge knowing what you know about some of your 
friends, would you say if you were the judge and you knew the 
accused "No, this restitution program is not going to work for this 
cat. He has got to go to jail," or could most or all of your friends 
that might commit a crime benefit from this program? 

,JONATHAN. Well, I think all of them wouid benefit from this 
program, because one, it would put them in the right direction and 
for another, you know, they realize what is really going on around 
them and out there in reality. So, you know, it would make them 
respect their self and others, put them in a perspective which they 
will understand what the court system is about and how the juve
nile restitution is helping them. 

Mr. WILIAMS. Charles, where do you live? 
CHARLES. Beloit, Wis. 
Mr. WILIAMS. What street do you live on? 
CHARLES. Copeland. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. When you look out the window-do you live in an 

apartment or house? 
CHARLES. House. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. When you look out the window of your house 

what do you see, the view out of your window? 
CHARLES. Another house. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Are all the houses close on your street? 
CHARLES. Yes. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Are any of the friends that live in that house or 

the house next to it or the house on the other side, in trouble? 
CHARLES. No. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Are you the only one in your neighborhood that 

has been in trouble? 
CHARLES. As far as I know. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Your friends you go to school with, Charles, have 

been in trouble? 
CHARLES. I am sure some of them have. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. I mean people you pal around with that you know 

have been in trouble and you talked to them about being in trou
ble? 

CHARLES. A few. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. What do they think about this program? 
CHARLES. I have never discussed it with anyone. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Your friends know you have been in trouble? 
CHARLES. Yes. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. They have not asked you about this program? 
CHARLES. No. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Becky, you mentioned that you seem to support 

the program on the basis that it allowed you to get a job when it is 
difficult for a person your age to find work and moreover, you 
apparently did a pretty good job where you were employed because 
those people have been able to recommend you to others. You said 
it gave you some job skills and you saw what an interview was all 
about. A couple of you mentioned that. 

You know there are many programs in this country that help 
you get a job and you can get interview skills. But this one is a 
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little different. This one says we are going to give you a job instead 
of having you go to jail. 

So set aside for me all of those other things that you said about 
why you liked this program. That is you got a job and it gave you 
skills, because we have got other programs to do those things. Set 
that aside and tell me what else it is about the restitution program 
that you think is worthwhile. Anything else? 

BECKY. I have to think about it. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. While you are thinking about that, let me ask you 

a question and maybe it will help you. 
The alternative perhaps in your case, the alternative might have 

been to go to jail. 
BECKY. Right. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. What about this program compared with going to 

jail? Do you like it for that reason? 
BECKY. Oh, sure. Of course. Who wouldn't? But even if I wasn't 

going to jail I would still do it anyway. I most definitely would. 
Even right now if I could, I would do it. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Now, if any of you wants to answer this question 
just put up your hand. 

I think everybody, all four of you, agree that there is one reason 
this program is good and that is because it keeps you out of jail. 
Right? Now, society has an idea that-at least many, many people 
in society have an idea-that if jail is tough enough and if the 
times are hard enough when you are in jail, by gosh, when you get 
out you won't commit a crime anymore. 

BECKY. They are doing it by threatening-
Mr. WILLIAMS. They are what? 
BECKY. When you go through the restitution project, you learn 

something, but when the other alternative is being locked up, what 
are you going to learn? You are just going to be threatened to be 
good. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. That won't stop you from committing another 
crime? 

BECKY. I am not saying that it won't, but you are being threat
ened. You are not learning a thing. In the restitution program at 
least you are learning stuff through it. 

Mr. WILLIAMS Charles? 
CHARLES. I don't know how true it is, but I have often heard that, 

say, you go to prison for robbery or burglary, once you get there, 
you would most likely learn how to do it and get away with it the 
next time. I mean that is what has been told to me by some people 
that have went to prison. That it is more or less a school for 
learning how to do a crime and get away with it. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. If the situation presented itself again, as it prob
ably has with some of you, presented itself again, and you thought 
it is a situation where you might commit another crime, maybe 
you are with some friends and we all know they are involved and 
so you say, oh, well, was this restitution program that you have 
been through or going through, was it difficult enough on you or 
good enough for you or something that you would say, no, no, I am 
not going to commit that crime and the reason you would think in 
your head I am not going to commit it is because you had been in 
this restitution program? Because I got a feeling if you had been in 
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jail and you came up against the possibility of this new crime, you 
would say no, I am not going back to jail. 

JEFF. I have been incarcerated a couple of times, you know. For 
some people it takes, you know-they need to be locked up at least 
once to see how it is, you know, for some people. But for some 
people the restitution program is a very good idea. It stopped them 
from going so far, going as far as I did, but I think it would help a 
~ot of people. For some people, they ought to try it and'see how it 
IS. 

Like you say, once they get down there, they have such a bad 
time they don't want to come back when they get out. The restitu
tion program is a nice program. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Charles. 
CHARLES. But if you go once, what would make you go back 

again? He said he had went a couple of times. He went there one 
time, but he also went again. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Jeff, Charles said you went once and you went 
back again. It apparently was not so tough it kept you out. 

JEFF. Well, it takes some people longer than others to really find 
out what is happening or what is going to happen. It just took me a 
little longer than other, you know, to find out how I was messing 
up my life and to straighten up. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Maybe in your schools they use this system of 
grading, A, B, C, D, and F. You all know about that system, don't 
you? A is tops and F is failure. OK. 

I want you, starting with Charles and going down the line to 
grade this program for me and I want you to grade it on just one 
part and that is whether you think it will make you think a long 
time before you commit another crime. A means this program was 
so good and I learned so much and I found out so much about what 
I did to hurt people on it, or it was so hard to get the money back, I 
am never going to commit a crime again. That would be A. 

F would be, no, it was just a free ride and I would do it again. If 
the time came up and I got helpless, I would do it again. 

Write it for me from A to F. 
CHARLES. A. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Becky. 
BECKY. I would give it a B. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Jeff. 
JEFF. I would give it a B. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Jonathan. 
JONATHAN. A. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. CORRADA. Thank you. 
Before going to the staff on the minority side, let me say this. Of 

course, when people commit a crime we have devised a system 
called the criminal justice system to make those who have commit
ted a crime pay for that crime. That is essentially the concept of 
restitution. If someone broke the law, then that person has to pay 
back to society. There must be restitution to society in general, 
restitution to the victim of that crime as a member of society. 

We for a number of years and centuries have thought that 
perhaps the only way or the best way that we are going to provide 
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restitution is by placing that person in jail. Jailing people is only a 
way to provide for restitution for paying back society. 

And, of course, a second objective in this criminal concept of 
making people pay for their crimes is rehabilitation. See how this 
person is subjected to a process that will result in making that 
person a better individual who will be able then to go back to 
society and participate fully in society without getting involved in 
problems. 

There are some who would say that anybody who committed a 
crime ought to go to jail and that is it. 

There are others who believe that there are different options to 
be considered, that jail or incarceration is one option. Probation is 
another option. Sending a person to a foster home or any other 
kind of facility is another option and that there is an option called 
restitution in this narrow sense which means allowing the person 
who committed the crime to do something more directly in restitut
ing to society or paying back to society for that crime which is by 
paying, by making some kind of monetary compensation back to 
the victim who was involved. 

Obviously, if you are a poor person or a person with limited 
resources, there is no way you can pay back to the victim what you 
owe them. If you don't have any money to begin with if you don't 
have a job, if you don't have the opportunity of paying back or 
making this restitution. 

Now, in this context, let me ask you, the four of you, do you 
believe you would have been able to pay back any money or com
pensation to the victims in your cases had you not been afforded 
the opportunity of this program? 

JONATHAN. No. 
JEFF. No, sir. 
BECKY. No way. 
CHARLES. No. 
Mr. CORRADA. Now let me ask you a second question. The fact 

that you were allowed to compensate, to pay back to the victims, 
did this mean anything to you in terms of something that you 
wanted to do because it made you feel better, did it mean anything 
in terms of your own personal dignity, or not, having that opportu
nity to pay back to the victim? 

JONATHAN. I felt better after I did it because then I felt like I 
had done my service for what I done did and it was to be repaid. 

So, you know, I felt a whole lot better, especially when I had got 
on the program because it really helped to learn and let others, 
you know, show you the way that you might never thought you 
could see until you reaize there is a way to go and there is a way 
not to go. 

Mr. CORRADA. How about you, Jeff? 
JEFF. I felt better after I paid the people back, you know. I felt 

that I didn't owe no one. I had paid back for what I had done to 
them. I paid them back. I felt that I no longer owed them anything. 
So it was a clean break. I paid them back and I helped the commu
nity. 

Mr. CORRADA. Becky? 
BECKY. After c:ompleting it you feel good about doing it, but 

before, definitely having to dominates, definitely. 
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Mr. CORRADA. Charles? 
CHARLES. I would have to go along with Jeff. I paid some back, so 

I paid my debt, but you know that doesn't mean that they owe me 
something, you know. I done what I was supposed to do and what 
was expected of me. 

Mr. CORRADA. Let me ask you. I understand that you were pro
vided with a fob, but then from the moneys that you earned by 
doing that job you paid the victims out of your accounts. Is that 
correct? 

BECKY. Yes. 
JEFF. Yes. 
CHARLES. Yes. 
JONATHAN. Yes. 
Mr. CORRADA. You took money that was paid to you from the 

work you did and gave that money to the victim? Is that correct? 
JEFF. Y(~s. 
BECKY. 'rhe check went directly to the victim. I didn't see any of 

it at all. I didn't get to give it to the victim myself. 
Mr. CORRADA. But you agreed to that arrangement. 
BECKY. You have to. That is it. 
Mr. CORRADA. What difference does it make for you to have the 

opportunity of having a job and taking money from what you 
received as compensation and paying the victims rather than put
ting the money in your pocket as you would have if instead of 
being in this program you had been on probation and gotten a job? 

Did it mean anything to you, the fact that there was this provi
sion in your program that you could do that, rather than getting a 
job, let's say, being on probation and getting a job and not having 
to pay back? 

JEFF. Well, my choice was-this program was the only thing that 
was helpful to me at the time because other than the program I 
had incarceration looking at me. That is what I knew. If I wouldn't 
have decided. to get in the program, I would have been incarcerated 
for a certain amount of years. 

Mr. CORRADA. Do you have now a better idea what it cost to 
make $600 than you had when you did whatever you did to your 
victim, that that person lost $600? 

JEFF. The victim who I-they lost much more than $600. That is 
just what a juvenile at that time would pay back, the highest in a 
restitution program that a juvenile could return. They settled for 
that $600. 

So every time I got paid I took a certain amount out of my check, 
got a money order and sent it to the victim, gave it to them and 
they sen.t it to the victim. 

Mr. CORRADA. I will yield now to the counsel for the minority. 
Mr. DEAN. Jeff, if I could follow up on Mr. Corrada's question. 

After you had deducted the amount to pay to the victim, how much 
money did you have left from your paycheck? 

JEFF. I had a choice. I could have only-all I was told to give 
them was 20 percent of each check, but I took it upon myself to 
give them 50 percent of the check so I could pay them off sooner, 
you know, and keep the job and just have the rest for myself, you 
know. 
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Mr. DEAN. Did you find that after you had begun this job you 
had more money in your pocket than you had before you had a job? 
Were you making more on the street than you were on this job? Or 
was it about the same? 

JEFF. I felt better working for a living than taking it, you know. 
Mr. DEAN. Before you got into trouble, were you in school? 
JEFF . Yes, I was in school. 
Mr. DEAN. In school, were you in a vocational education pro

gram? 
JEFF. No. I was pretty smart when I was in school. 
Mr. DEAN. But in school were you getting any training that was 

kind of oriented toward helping you get a job? 
JEFF. No, sir. 
Mr. DEAN. Since you have been in the project have they referred 

you to any sort of training to help you get a better job than you 
were already qualified for? 

JEFF. Yes, sir. Since I have been in this program I have picked 
up two or three skills. 

Mr. DEAN. What are those skills? 
JEFF. I can brick lay. I can paint, or I can lay cement, whichever 

I want. 
Mr. DEAN. Are you working now? Do you have a job? 
JEFF. Not at the moment, no. 
Mr. DEAN. The last job that you had, did your employer know 

that you had been in this project? 
JEFF. Yes, sir, he did. 
Mr. DEAN. Jonathan, did you pay money back to the victim? 
JONATHAN. I did community service. I did about 40 community 

service hours over what I was supposed to do. And I paid a little 
each way. 

Mr. DEAN. Did they pay you for that time in community service? 
And did they give you money for it? 

JONATHAN. Who? 
Mr. DEAN. When you were working in community service, did 

you just put in the time or did you actually get paid for working in 
the community? 

JONATHAN. Put in the time. Then I got placed on the community 
service job. Then after I did my community service, then they hired 
me. Then that is when I took a little. 

Mr. DEAN. But they hired you because they had seen your work 
and they liked it? 

JONATHAN. Yes. 
Mr. DEAN. So your being hired was unrelated to this program? It 

wasn't part of this program? 
JONATHAN. The program helped me get it, you know. You could 

say it is related. 
Mr. DEAN. Have you received any kind of training from partici

pation in the restitution project other than that that you picked up 
working the community service? Did they, for instance, have some
body teach you how to lay bricks or anything of that nature? 

JONATHAN. No. 
Mr. DEAN. That is all. Thank you. 
Mr. CORRADA. Do you have any further questions? 
Mr. WILLIAMS. I have another question. 
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Are any of you now in the restitution program currently? 
CHARLES. No. 
BECKY. No. 
JEFF. No. 
JONATHAN. No. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Are any of you still holding the job that you held 

in the restitution program? 
JEFF. The job they gave me when I got in the restitution pro

gram, it only lasted for a year and the year is up. Tbat is why I am 
unemployed right now. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. Charles, are you working? 
CHARLES. No. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Becky? 
BECKY. Yes. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Jeff, you said you weren't working previously, 

correct? 
JEFF. Right. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Jonathan? 
JONATHAN. No. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. How many jobs, Jonathan, have you held since 

the job you had in the restitution program? 
JONATHAN. Since the job? Two. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. You have worked two different places since then? 
JONATHAN. Yes. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. How about you, Jeff? 
JEFF. Ever since I came in the program, that was about 2 years 

ago, I have only had two jobs. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Becky? 
BECKY. Two jobs. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. How long have you had your current job, Becky? 
BECKY; Since last July. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Charles? 
CHARLES. Two jobs. 
Mr. WILLIAMS. Mr. Chairman, I suggest that we guard against 

what could be happening here and it is something that happens in 
other programs of this type that don't have to do with court cases 
and violations of the law and retribution, but rather that is this 
revolving door of Government jobs that people seem to continue. 

r used to be involved with a training and job placement program 
and we found that inadvertently once we started people into that 
job system where the Federal Government, the State government 
got them a job, they seemed to just revolve through four or five 
jobs and never able to hold a permanent one. 

I would be interested when the administrators of this program 
send us the additional material, which they are going to do, I 
would be interested in having some additional thoughts from them 
with regard to follow-on and placement in permanent or as near 
permanent as possible jobs for the people coming out of this pro
gram. 

Mr. CORRADA. I share in the concerns of Mr. Williams. 
I think it would be desirable if in submitting further information 

to the subcommittee, you would furnish information as to what 
efforts, if any, in terms of coordination have been done or might be 
done in the future with other agencies in terms of obtaining jobs in 
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the private sector for youngsters who have held jobs in this pro
gram and might need a job when they finish their restitution 
program. 

I will ask the four of you to comment on this. 
Let us assume that all of a sudden the opportunity, the chance or 

option, of paying for whatever a youngster may do through a 
restitution program like the one you went through was ended, that 
this was no longer an option. That youngsters, not you, because 
you have gone through the program successfully, you are out of the 
program now, but that other youngsters who live in your neighbor
hood or who may have the same experiences that you have had, 
had a problem and they were denied the opportunity of going 
through a restitution program, and only the other alternatives, 
incarceration or probation and so on are left. 

I would like your comments individually on whether you believe 
that stopping a program of this nature or not allowing that oppor
tunity. In what sense do you believe that would make other young
sters better or limit the opportunities to them in improving in 
their own conduct. 

Jonathan? 
JONATHAN. I feel that you catch them while they are young, you 

can avoid, you know, them going through anything like this, espe
cially at the age of 11, 12, you know, that is when crime usually 
most starts with younger kids. I feel that juvenile restitution pro
gram can benefit to them which some other programs like they 
couldn't even get in. It is certain programs in the community that 
really look out toward each other and want to help each other. It is 
an environment that has been growing constantly. I feel the juve
nile restitution program should have more help, should be involved 
with more community actions, which already they is, but I feel 
that it should be more of all this. 

So it would cut down burglaries and crime rate in your commu
nity more and more. 

Th{r.CoRRADA.Jeffl 
JEFF. Well, I feel that this program shouldn't be cut out because 

it gives hope to lots of juveniles who feel that all they ca!l do is 
resort to a life of crime because they have nothing else to ret :)rt to, 
no skills, no nothing. All they know how to do is get out and take 
or rob or whatever they do, you know. Cutting out this program 
ain't going to help. 

Mr. CORRADA. You said before that you have been twice incarcer
ated and also that you went through this program. What did you 
learn from this program that you did not learn from incarceration? 

JEFF. I didn't find out about the program until the second time 
that I was incarcerated. Since I have been in this program, I have 
learned different skills and how to be trusted. People pin a label on 
you when you are small. People tell you all you know how to do is 
steal, that is all you do. In this program you learn how to trust 
people. You learn how to do different things, make meaningful 
with your life, turn around, do things that are right. 

Going down to jail-that don't rehabilitate you. You have got to 
rehabilitate yourself. If you don't want to rehabilitate yourself, I 
don't care how many times they lock you up, you ain't going to be 
rehabilitated. You are just going to keep coming back. It is not how 

-
• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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many times they lock you up. The point is that you have got to 
make up your mind that you want to change-you want to be 
rehabilitated. If you make up your mind you want to do that, you 
can do it with the help of this program. You need a start. 

Mr. WILLIAMS. I think we have found the appropriate words now 
for the inscription over every prison door. Jeff just gave them to us. 

Mr. CORRADA. Did incarceration give you the opportunity of 
showing others that they could trust you as much as the restitution 
program gave you that opportunity? 

JEFF. No, sir. Incarceration doesn't do anything for you but make 
you worse than you are when you come out. 

Mr. CORRADA. You were saying before people put labels on you 
when you get in trouble. That means they don't trust you because 
you were involved in a problem. 

JEFF. Yes. 
Mr. CORRADA. Going to a restitution program does that allow you 

to show that you can be trusted? 
JEFF. Yes, sir, because they give you freedom. They let you do

they give you a certain amount of things to do and they trust upon 
you to do them. They can't do them for you. You have to do all this 
yourself. You have got to make up your mind that you are going to 
do it. 

Mr. CORRADA. So it would allow others to have their faith re-
stored in you and would allow you to have trust in others. 

JEFF. Yes, sir. 
Mr. CORRADA. Becky? 
BECKY. Jeff said it all. 
Mr. CORRADA. You would agree with what Jeff has said? 
BECKY. Yes. 
Mr. CORRADA. How about you, Charles? 
CHARLES. He pretty much said it. 
Mr. CORRADA. All right. I want to express again our appreciation 

for your coming here today and sharing with the members of the 
subcommittee your experience about this program, and the infor
mation about it. We are very appreciative of that, and I personally 
and I am sure that I am joined by the other members of the 
subcommittee, would wish you the best of luck in the future life. 

JONATHAN. Thank you. 
BECKY. Thank you. 
CHARLES. Thank you. 
JEFF. Thank you. 
Mr. CORRADA. The committee will now adjourn. 
[Whereupon, at 1:07 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.] 
[Material submitted for inclusion in the record follows:] 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR CJJOP RELATING TO RESTITUIIUN PROGRAMS 
NO~-BLOCK AWARCS FILE, FY 69 - 81 

STATE: ARKAhSAS 

GRANT NO. 
19DFAX0033 

AWARD A~CUNT 
$181,031 

FUNDING HISTORY 
C 19 OF $181,152 
o 19 OF $115 

AWARD DATE 
0212317S 

PROJECT M(NITOR 
SCHWARTZ, KATHY 

GRANTEE ~~~E AND ADDRESS 
COMPREPENSIVE JUVENILE SERVICES, INC 
WESTERN ARKANS~S JUV RESTITUTION PGM 
2120 wALDRON ROAD - S~ITE 106-A 
FORT SMITH, AR 12903 

TITLE: JUVENILE RESTITUTION PROGRAM 

BEGIN OATE END DATE 
03/01115 04/30/dl 

STATUS 
ACTIVE 

PROJeCT DIRECTOR 
KAREh RIGGS 

REPORT PRODUCED? N COST CENTER: CJJDP-SPECIAL EMPhASIS 

PAGE 1 
02124/81 

-

PROJEC T SUI4~ARY 

!~~~T~~~~ig~ ~~ ~~~~~I~~Ng~~E~g~~~~N!L ~~R~~~I~~E~~A~N~:~~:~gI~~!~ I~~l~EpROJECT • 
WILL SUPPORT THE COMPREHENSIVE JUVENILE SERVICES, INC. IN AN EFFORT IC PReVIDE 
AN AL TERNHIVE TO INCARCERAT ION AND TO INCREASE THE Si:I\SE: Of RESPONSI BilllV AND 
ACCOUNTABILllY ON THE PART OF JUVENILE OFFENDERS fOR THEIR DfllNIoIUf:NT BEHAVIOR. 
THIS PROGRAM hiLL SERVICE 1,000 AOJUDICATED YOUTH IN A 2 YEAR PERIOD THRCUGH 
DIRECT MCNETAR~ PAYME~T AND THROUGH SUPPCRTED CCMMUNITY SERVICE wURK TO TARGET 
YOUTH hHO kILL MAKE RESTITUTICN TO THE VICTIMS CF CRIME. THE PROJECT hiLL B~ 
I~PLEHENTED I~ SIX CClNTIES IN WHICH JUVENILE OFfENDeRS wiLL BE PLACEO AND 
TRAINED IN PUBLIC SERVICE EMPLOYMENT. THIS PROGRAM "ILL ijE ADklNISTEREO BY ThE 
COMPREHENSIVE JUVENILE SERVICES, INC A NON-PROFIT ORGANIlATION OESI~NEO Ie • 
SERVE YOUTH l~ THE SIX COLNTY WESTERN ARKANSAS REGI~~. 

TOTAL FOR ST~TE: $181,031 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR OJJDP RELATING TO RESTITUTION PROGRAMS 
NON-BLOCK AWARDS FILE, FY 69 - a1 

STATE: CAliFCRNIA 

GRANT NO. 
7aJSAXOIOO 

AWARO AMCUNT AWARD DATE 
$859,181 09/30/78 

fUND ING HISTCRY 
o 78 JS $859,181 

GRANTEE N~ME AND ADDRESS 
COUNTY OF ~ENTURA, CAllfDRNIA 
CO~~ECTIONS SERVICE AGENCY 
VENTURA, CA ~3009 

PROJECT MCN ITOR 
DODGE, DOUGLAS 

TITLE: JUVE~ILE RESTITUTION PROJECT 

BEG IN DATE eND DATE 
10/16/7& 04/15/81 

SUTUS 
AClI VE 

PRCJECT DIRECTOR 
CALVIN REMINGTC,N 

REPORT PROCUCED? N COST CENTER: CJJDP-SPECIAL EMPHASIS 

PROJECT SUMMARY 

PAGE 2 
02124/81 

THE GCAL OF ThiS PROJECT IS TO INCREASE THE JUVENILE OFFENUER'S SENSe OF 
RESPONSIBILITY AND ACCOUNTABiliTY FOR DEll~QUENT BEHAVIOR, AND AT THE SAME 
TIME, PRDVICE AN AVENUE FOR REASONA8lE REDRESS OR SATISFACTION WITH REGARD TD 
lDSS SUfFERED BY VICTIMS CF JUVENilE OFFEND~RS. THIS WIll bb ACCOMPLISHED BY 
INCREASING THE MEANS BY WHICH RESTITUTION IS PROVIDED bY JUVENILES ADJUDICATED 
OF DELINQUENT ACTS. fOR THE PURPCSE OF THIS PROJECT. RESTITUTIUN IS DEFlhEU AS 
EITHER MONETARY PAYMENT TC THE VICTIM OR DIRECT SeRVICES TU THE CCHHU~ITY. 
RESULTS SOUGHT FOR THIS PROJECT INCLUDE GREATER COMMUNITY CONfIDENCE IN THE 
JUVENILE JUSTICE 9ROCESS AND I~CREASEO EFFECTIVENESS OF THE JUVENILe JUSTICE 
SYSTEM AS IT REl~TES TO ThE VICTIMS OF JUVENilE CkIHcS. OTHER R~SUlTS EXPECTED 
FOR THIS PROJECT INCLUDE INCREASED KNOwlEDGE ABOUT THE fEASIBILITY OF 
RESTITUTICN FOR JUVENilES IN TERHS OF IMPACT IN COST bfFtCT1VtNESS AS hEll AS A 
REDUCTION OF RECIDIVISM. IT IS ESTIMATED THAT 890 JUVENilE OfFENDERS hIll 
PARTICIPATE I~ THE PROGRAM WITHIN A 24-HONTH PERIOD. 

TOTAL FOR STftTE: $859,181 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR OJJDP RelATING oro RESTHUTlON PROGRAMS 
NON-BLOCK AliARDS FILE, FY 69 - 81 

STATE: CONNECTICUT 

GRANT NO. 
19EOAX0016 

AWARD AMOUNT AWARD DATE 
$445,412 03/01/79 

fUND ING HISTORY 
o 79 ED $445,1tl2 

GRANTEE N~~E AND ADDRESS 

PROJECT MONITOR 
WClFSCN, MARK 

THAMES VALLEY COUNCIL FOR CO~H ACTION 
ONE SYlV~NDALE ROAD 
JEWETT CITY, CT 06351 

nHE: PROJECT DETOUR - RESTITUTION 

BEGIN DATE END DATE 
03/01119 02/28/61 

STATUS 
ACTl VE 

PROJECT DIRECTOR 
JOE WHO 

REPCRT PRODUCED? N COST CENTER: OJJDP-SPECIAL EHPHA£IS 

PROJECT SUMMARY 

PAGE 3 
02124/81 

TilE GENERAL OBJECTIVES OF THIS PROGRAM ARE TO: RI:DUCE THE INCARCERATlON RATE OF 
JUVENILES AGES 14-15 BY OPERATING A JUVENILE RESTlTU1l0N. PRUGR'AH. REDUCE THE 
RECIDIVISM RATE BY PROVID'~G A VARIETY OF EOUCAT!ONAl, VOCATIONAL, SOCIAL. 
FOLLOW-UP ANO SUPPORTIVE SERVICES TO All ENROllEeS. ENHANCe ThE PUBLIC'S SENSE 
OF JUSTICE AND AWARENESS Of THE JUVENILE JUSTICE SYSTEM. THE PROJECT kIll HAVE 
TkO BASE CENTER lOCATICNS. ONE SITE WILL BE IN GROTON FROM whICH PROGRAH 
SERVICES WIll BE PROVIOEO TO JUVENILE OFFENDI:RS WHO RESIDE IN THe FOUR TOWN 
AREA OF GROTON, NEW LONDON, wATERFORD AND lEDYARD. ThE OTHER CENTER WIll BE IN 
NORW ICH ANC WIll SERVICE THE TOWNS OF NORWICH, MONTVILLE, SPRAGUE AND PRESTON. 
EACH CENTER WILL BE CAPABLE OF HANOlING 30 CLIENTS. 1T 1S PROJECTED THAT FOR A 
ONE YEAR PERIOD OF OPERATION 168 YOUTH WILL PARTICIPATE. 

TOTAL. FOR ST ATE: S445,412 

., 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR CJJDP RELATING TO RESTITUTIDN PROGRAMS 
NON-BLOCK AWARDS FILE, FY 69 - ij1 

STATE: OE~AkARE 

GRANT NO. 
70EDAX01bO 

AWARD A~CUNT AWARD CAT.E 
$832,596 09/30178. 

fUND ING HISTORY 
o 78 ED $832,596 

GRANTEE NAHE AND ADDRESS 
FAMILY COURT CF DELAWARE 
90 1I0X 2359 
WIlHINGTCN, DE 19899 

PROJECT HeN nOR 
SHITH, FRANK o. 

BEGIN DATE END ~AlE 
10/01178 04/31/81 

STATUS 
ACTIVE 

PROJECT DIRECTOR 
EMMETT II PARTIN 

TITLE: RESTITUTION BY JUVENILE OFfENDERS PROJECT 

REPORT PROCUCED? N COST CENTER: CJJDP-SPECIAL EHPHASIS 

PROJECT SUHMARY 

PAGE 4 
02124/81 

THIS PROJECT IS FUNDED PURSUANT TO THE SPECIAL EMPHASIS INITIATIVE, RESTITUTION 
3Y JUVENILE OFFENDERS: AN ALTERNATIVE TO INCARCERATION. THIS PROJECT WILL 
SUPPORT ThE FAMILY COURT OF DELAWARE IN AN EFFORT TO PROVIDE AN ALT~RNATIVE TO 
INCARCERIITlON AND TO INCREASE THE SENSE OF RESPONSIBILITY AND ACCrjUNTABILlTY ON 
THE PART OF JUVENILE OFFENDERS FOR THEIR DELINQUENT ijEHAVIOR. THIS PRLG~AH kILL 
SERVE 2,448 ACJUOICATEO YOUTH IN A T.O YEAR PERIOD THROUGH PROVIDING 
RESTITUTION THROUGH COHHU~ITY SERVICE, TO THE VICIIMS A~D COURT ORDER PAYMENTS' 
TO THE VICTIMS SUBSIDIZED FORM GRANT FUNDS. THIS PROGRAM wILL BE ADMINISTERED 
BY T~E FAHILY COURT OF DELAWARE. 

TOTAL FOR STATE: $ 532 ,596 
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CATEGQRICAL AWARDS FOR OJJOP RELATING TO RESTITUTION PROGRAMS 
NON-BLOCK AWARDS FILE, FY 69 - 81 

STATE' DIS1~ICT CF CCLUMBIA 

GRANT NO. 
78.JSAX0098 

AWARD AMCUNT 
$613,660 

fUND ING HI S1 I:RY 
o 78 JS *613,660 

GRANTEE N~ME AND ADDRESS 

AWARD DATE 
09/30118 

PRCJECT MGNnOR 
SMITH, FRANK O. 

DIST OF COLUMBIA SUPERICR COURT 
DIVISION OF SOCIAL SERVICES 
613 G STREET, NORTHft£ST 
kASHINGTON, DC 20001 

BEGIN DATE 
10/01176 

~ND DATE 
04/30/81 

STATUS 
ACHV£: 

PROJECT DIRECTOR 
ALAN M SCHUMAN 

nTLE: JUVENILE RESTlTlJTlON:ALTERNATlVE TO lNCARCERATION,PROBATN 

REPGRT PRCD~CED? N ceST CENTER: CJJDP-SPECIAL EMPhASIS 

PRCJECT SU"M~RY 

PAGE 5 
02124/81 

THIS PROJECT IS BEING FUNDED PURSUA~T TO THE SPECIAL EMPHASIS INITIATIVE, 
nRESTITUTION BY JUVENILE OFFENDERS; ALTERNATIVE TU INCAHCEkATIONn. THIS PROJECT 
WILL SUPPORT THE DISTRICT OF CCLU~BIA SUPRIOR COURT I~ AN EFfCRT TO PHOVIDE AN 
AL TERNATIVE TO IIiCARCERATlON AND PROBATION ANI) TO INCRI:ASE THE SENSE OF 
RESPONSIBILITY A~D ACCCUNTABILITY ON THE PART OF JUVENILE OFFI:NDERS FOR THEIR 
DELINQUENT BE~AVIOR. THIS PROGRAM WILL SERVE 360 ADJlJOICATE~ ~OUTHS IN A TkO 
YEAR PERI CD. PARTICIPA~TS IN THE PROGRAM MAY BE ORDEHEL TO PROVIDE DIRECT MONEY 
PAYMENTS TO THE VICTIMS FROM EMPLOYMENl SUBSIDIZED FHGH GRANT FUNDS, ~ 
PRESCRIeEG COMMUNITY SERVICE fOR A DEFINED PERIOD Of TIMe, OR DIRECT SERVICES 
TO THE VICTIMS. THIS PROGRAM kILL BE ADMINISTERED BY ThE DIVISION OF SOCIAL 
SERVICES UNDER THE AUSPICES OF THE DISTRICT OF CULUMBIA SUPERIOR COURT. 

TOTAL FOR STATE: $613,660 

-

• 

• 

• 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR CJJDP RELATING TO RESTITUTION PROGRAMS 
NON-BLOCK AWARDS FILE, FY 69 - 81 

STATE: FLORltA 

GRANT NO. 
79EDAXOOIO 

AWARD AMIJUNT 
$348,751 

fUND ING H 1ST UY 
o 79 ED $348,751 

GRANTEE N~ME AND ADDRESS 

AWARD DATE 
12128178 

PROJECT MCNITOR 
SMITH, FRANK O. 

BRDWARD COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
201 SOUTHEAST SIXTH STREET 
FORT LAUDEOALE, FL 33301 

BEGIN DATE END DATE 
01/01/79 12/31/81 

STATUS 
ACT IVE 

PRCJECT 01 RECTOR 
BARRY WITHEIIS 

TITlE: BRO.ARD COUNTY JU~eNILE RESTIT~TICN PRCJECT 

REPCRT PRODUCED? N COST CENTER: CJJDP-SPECIAL EMPHA~IS 

PRCJECT SUMMARY 

PAGE 6 
02124/81 

THIS PROJECT IS BEING FUNDED PURSUANT TO THE SPECJ.AL EMPHASIS INITIATIVE 
RESTITUTION BY JUVENILE OFFENDERS: ALTERNATIVE TO INCARCERATION". THIS PROJECT 
NILl SUPPORT THE BRO\ol~RD COUNTY JUVENILE COURT IN AN EffORT IC PKOVIOE AN 
~LTERNATIVE TO INCARCERATIUN AND TO INCREASE THE SENSE OF KESPONSIBILITY AND 
ACCOUNTABILITY ON THE PART OF JUVENILE OfFENDERS fOR THEIR DELINQUENT BEHAVIOR. 
THIS PROGRAM hILL SERVE 600 ADJUDICATED YOUTH IN A £ YEAII PERIOD THRCUGH DIRECT 
MONETARY PAYMENT THROIJGH SUPPORTED COMMUNITY SERVICE WORK TO TARGET YOUTH WHO 
hILL MAKE RESTITUTION TO THE VICTIMS CF CRIME. THE PROJECT kILL BE IMPLEMENTED 
BY A COUNTY-WICE RESTITUTION PRUCESS IN WHICH JU~ENILE OFfE~DERS WILL BE PLACED 
AND TRAINED IN PUBLlC SERVICE EMPLDYMEIliT. THIS PROGRAM WILL BE ADM IN ISTERED BY 
THE BROHARD COUNTY HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT. 

$348,751 
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CATEGO~ICAL AWARDS FOR GJJDP RELATING TO RESTITUTION PROGRAMS 
NON-BLOCK AWARDS FILE, FV 69 - 61 

STATE: GEORGIA 

GRANT NO. 
79JSAXOOll 

AWARD AMOUNT AhARD DATE 
$216,335 02/26/79 

BEGIN DATE END DATE 
03/01/79 02/28/81 

FUNDING HIS~RY PROJECT HONITOR STATUS 
o 79 JS $216,335 SlO!JTH, FRANK O. ACHV£: 

GRANTEE NA~E AND ADDRESS PRDJ~CT DIRECTOR 
CLAYTON CDU TV JUVENILE COURT TO BI: NAHED 
CLAYTCN COU TY COURTHOUSE 
JONESBORO, A 30236 

TlTLE: CLAYTON CCUN1Y: JUVE~IlE JUSTICE RESTITUTIO~ FROGRAM 

REPORT PRC[UCED? N COST CENTER: CJJDP-SPECIAl EHPhASIS 

PROJECT SUMMARY 

• 
PAGE 7 

02124/81 

• 

• 

THIS PROJECT IS BEING FUNDED PURSUANT TO THE SPECIAL EMPHASIS INITIATIYE, • 
-RESTITUTION BY JUYEN ILE OFFENDERS: AL TERNATl YE TO I NCARCERA TlON". THI S PROJECT 
hIll SUPPORT THE ClAYTCN COUNTY JUVENILE COURT IN AN EfFORT TO PROVIDE AN 
ALTERNATIVE TO INCARCERATION AND TO INCREASE THE SENSE OF RESPONSIBILITY AND 
ACCOUNTABILITY ON THE PART OF JUVENILE OFFENDERS FUR ThEIR OELINQUENT BEHAVIOR. 
THIS PROGRAM .ILL SERVICE 400 ADJUDICATED YOUTH IN A The YEAR !'ERICD THROUGH 
CIRECT MONETARY PAYMEIH THROUGH SUPPoRTCO CoHHUNlfY SERVICE WORK TO TARGET 
YOUTH ~HO hILL MAKE RESTITUTICN TO THE VICTIHS O~ CRIME. THE PROJECT WILL BE 
I~PLE~ENTEO EV A CDUNTY-WleE RESTITUTION PROCESS IN hHICH JUVENILE OFFENDERS 
WlLL BE PLACED AND TRAINEO IN PUBLIC SERVICE EMPLOYMENT. THIS PROGRAH hILL BE 
ADMINISTERED EY T~E CLAYTON COUNTY JUVENILE COURT. 

TOTAL FOR ST~TE: $216,335 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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CATEGCRICAL AWARCS fOR (JJDP RELATING TO RESTITUTION PROGRAMS 
NON-BLOCK AWARDS FILE, FY 69 - 81 

STATE: IDAHO 

GRANT NO. 
19J5AX0012 

AWARD AMOUNT A~ARD DATE 
5264,848 02/26/19 

fUND ING HISTORY 
o 19 JS $264.848 

GRANTEE N~HE ~ND ADDRESS 

PROJECT MONITOR 
DODGE. DOUGLAS 

IDAHO FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 
ADA COUNTY DISTRICT COU~T 
BOISE. 10 83102 

BEGIN DATE ~NO DATE 
03/01/79 02/28/81 

STATUS 
ACTIVE 

PROJECT 01 RECTOR 
WARREN H GiLMORE 

TITlE: JUVENILE WCRK RESTITUTION IN THE fOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 

REPORT PROGUCE01 N COST CENTER: OJJDP-SPECIAL EMPHASIS 

PROJECT SUMMARY 

PAGE 8 
02124/81 

THIS PROJECT IS BEI~G FUNDED PURSUANT TO THE SPECIAL EMPHASIS INITIATIVE. 
-RESTITUTION BY JUVENILE OFFENDERS: AN ALTERNATIVI: TC INCAKCERAllON". THE 
PROJECT hILL SUPPORT IDAHC'S FOURTH JUCICIAL DISTRIC1 IN AN EFFORT TO PROVIDE 
AN ALTERNATIVE TO INCARCERATION AND TO INCREASE THE: SE~SE UF RESPONSI81LITY ANt 
ACCOUNTABILITY ON THE PART OF JUVENILE OFFENDERS fOR THEIR DELINQUENT BEHAVIOR. 
THIS· PROGRAM .ILL SERVE 1.200 YOUTHFUL OFFENDERS DUKING THE 24 MUNTHS OF THIS 
GRANT THROUGH PROVIDING DISTRICT-WIDE COURTORDERcD RESTITUTION. YOUTHS HAY BE 
ORDERED TO PAY THE COST OF DESTRUCTION. PRGVIDE DIRE~T ScRVICE TO THE VICTIM OR 
PERFCRM A CERTAIN NUMBER OF HOURS OF COMMUNITY SERVICE. THE FOURTH JUDICIAL 
DISTRICT CONSISTS OF ADA, VALLEY. ELMORE ANU BOISE CQU~TiE~. THE CENTRAL OFFICE 
WILL BE LOCATED IN THE ADA COU~TY COURT HOUSE. AND FR~~ THIS OffICE ALL ASPECTS 
IN THE DEVELCFME~T AND ADMINISTRATION WILL BE COOROINAIEO. 

TOTAL FOR STATE: $264.846 
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CATEGORICAL AwARDS FOR OJJDP RELATING TO RESTITUTION PRCGRAMS 
NUII-BLCCK ftWAR~S FILE. FY 69 - 81 

STATE; Ill1~(IS 

GRAUT NO. 
79EOA)(0014 

AWARD AMOUNT AHARD CATE 
$923,316 02/09119 

fUNDING HI STCPY 
o 79 ED $923,316 

GRANTee NAME AND ADDRESS 

PROJECT HeNITOR 
~OLFSGN, MARK 

CHICAGO DEPARTMENT Of HUMAN SERVICES 
640 NORTH tA SAllE 
CHICAGO, Il 60610 

BEGIN DATE END DATE 
03/01/79 02/26161 

STATUS 
ACTIVE 

PRCJECT DIRECTOR 
GLORIA TORRES 

RESTITUTIGh PROGRAM FOR JUVENILE OFFENDERS 

REPeRT PROD~CeD? N COST CENTER: CJJDP-SPECIAL EMFhASIS 

PROJECT SUMMARY 

PHE 9 
02124/81 

THIS RESTlTUliON PROJECT fOR JUVENILE CFFENDERS hiLL BE AOMIIIISTERED BY ThE 
CITY OF CH1CAGD, DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES. THE PRINCIPLe GOAL Or THIS 
PROJECT IS TO PROVIDE AN ALTERNATI~e TC INCARCERATILN flR luO YuUTH EACH YEAR 
BY PLACIIiG THEM ON RESTITUTION. THROUGH THE use OF UJJDP FUNDS AND Ci:TA FUNDS 
YOUTH HILL B~ PLACED IN SUPPORTED EMPLCYHENT. THEY WILL THEN BE REQUIRED TO 
REIMEURSEThE VICTIMS OF THEIR CRIMES FOR THe REASONABLE VALVe OF HIt: LOSS 
SUFFERED. WHERE THERE IS NO OUT OF POCKET LCSS CR PROPERTY HAS BEEN RETURNED 
THE ACJUDICATED DELINQUENT OFFENDER HILL BE REQUIReD Te PERFCRH A CGH~U~ITY 
SERVICE. 

TOTAL FOR STATE: $923,316 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR GJJOP RELATING TO RESilTUIION PRCGRAMS 
NCN-BLOCK ~WARtS FILE, FY 69 - 81 

STATE: KENTUCKY 

GRANT NO. 
18EOAX01l9 

AWARD AlIIlUNT 
$411 ,655 

fUNDING HISTCRY 
o 18 EO $411,655 

GRANTEE NAME ANO ADDRESS 
JEFFERSON COUNTY FISCAL COURT 
DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES 
835 WEST JEFfERSON STREET 
LOUISVILLE, KY 40202 

AWARD DATE 
09/2611B 

PRCJECT MeNITOR 
SMllH, FRAIiK O. 

BEGIN DATE 
11101178 

END DATE 
10/30/81 

HATUS 
ACTI VE 

PRGJECT DIReCTOR 
SANDY ,HLSON 

TITLE: JEFFERSCN COUNTY RESTITUTION PROJECT 

REPORT PROCUCED? N COST CENTER: OJJDP-SPECIAL EMPHASIS 

PROJECT SUMMARY 

PAGE 10 
02124/81 

THE PURPOSE CF THE PROJECT IS Tt COMPENSATE VICTIMS OF JUVeNILE CRIME BY 
REQUIRING CASH PAYMENT OR VOL~NTEER WORK BY THE GFFENUEK iN LIEU OF 
INCARCERATIC~. THE PRCJECT EXPECTS THAT 150 YOUTHS PER YEAh hILL PARTICIPATE IN 
THE PROJECT AND THE PKCGRAH IS AVAILABLE TO POST-AOJUDICAfEU YOUTH BETWEEN AGES 
14-16 CHARGED WITH PKOPERTY OFFENSES. EMPLOYMENl/ScKVI~c OPPORTUNITIeS WILL BE 
AVAILABLE THRGUGH CETA, THE CCMMUNITY ACTION AGENCY. METRUPULITAN PAHKS AND 
RECREATION, JEfFERSON COUNTY kORKS DEPAHTMENT AND METRG UNITED MAY VOLUNTARY 
ACTIGN CENTER. 

TOTAL FOR STATE: $411 ,655 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR OJJDP RELATING TO RESTITuTION PROGRAMS 
NCN-BLOCK ~WARI:S FILE, FY 69 - 81 

STATE: LOUISIANA 

GRANT NO. 
78EDA)(0159 

AWARD AMOUNT 
$499.147 

FUND ING HI SlCRV 
o 7B ED $510,046 
D 7B ED $10,899 

GRANTEE N~~E AND ADDRESS 
ORLEANS PARISH JUVENILE CCURT 
916 LAFAYETTE STREET 
NEh ORLEANS, LA 70113 

AWARD DATE 
CS/30I7S 

PROJECT MCNITOR 
SCHWARTZ, KATHY 

BEGIN DATE 
1210117b 

END DATE 
iJ9/15/al 

STATUS 
ACTIVE 

PROJECT UIRECTOk 
MEL LUWE 

nnE: ORLEANS PARISH JUVENILE COURT RESTITUTION PROGRAM 

REPORT PRODUCED? N COST CENTER: OJJDP-SPECIAL EMPHA~IS 

PAGE 11 
OU24/El 

• 

• 

• 

~~i~E~~O~~~;~~~LL SUPPORT THE CRLEANS PARISH JUVENILE COURT IN AN EFFORT TO • 
PROVIDE AN ALTERNATIVE TO INCARCERATION AND TO INCREASE THE SENSE OF 
RESPONSIBILITY ANI: ACCOUNTABILITY CN ThE PART OF JUVENILE UFFENDERS FUR THEIR 
DElINQUENT BEHAVIOR. THE MAJGR GOALS FCR THIS GRANT kILL BE: TG PROVIDE A 
COMPREHENSIVE PROGRAM OF RESTITUTION ALTERNATIVES FOR 280 AOJUDICAT~D 
DELINQUENT CHILDREN OVER A 24 MONTH PERIOD: TO CECREASE THE NUMBER OF 
CO~HITHENTS TO THE LOUISIANA STATE DEPARTMENT Of CORRECTIuNS BY 15~ OVER A 12 
MONTH PERIOD: TO PROVIDE FOR THE SCCIAL, VOCATICNAL RehABILITATION TRAINING AND 
EDUCATION OF ADJUDICATED DELIN'UENT CHILDREN THROUGH kCRK E)(PERIENCE; TO 
PROVIDE RESTITUTIGN COHPENSATICN TG 140 VICTIMS OF JUVENILE CRIME ANNUALLY IN 
NEW ORLEANS: AND TO PROVIDE THE PUBLIC WITH INFuH~ATIO~ ON THE PROGRA~ AIMED AT • 
INCRE~SING PuellC AWARENESS OF AND CONFIDENCE IN THE JUVeNILE JUSTICE SYSTEMS. 
THIS GRANT IS MADE UNDER THE SPECIAL E~PHASIS PRDGRAM INITIATIVe: RESTITUTICN 
BY JUHNllE CFFHDERS: AN ALTERNATIVE TO INCARCERA T!LN". 

TOTAL FOR SUTE: 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR CJJDP RELATING TO RESTITUTION PROGRAMS 
NON-BLOCK ~WARCS FILE, FY 69 - 81 

STATE: MAINE 

GRANT NO. 
7BEDAX0166 

AWARD AMOUNT A~ARD DATE 
5299,412 09/30/78 

FUNDiNG HISTCRY 

BEGIN DATE END DATE 
10/01/78 06/311BO 

STATUS 

PAGE 12 
02l241Bl 

o 76 ED 5299,412 
PROJECT MONITOR 
SMITH, FRANK D. ENe-DATE PASSED 

GRANTEE N~~E AND ADDRESS 
COUNTY OF CUMBERLAND 
193 MIDDLE STREET 
PORTLAND, HE 04101 

TITLE: RESTITUTION ALTERNATIVE 

PROJECT DIRECTOR 
DONNA GIl8EAU 

REPORT PRCDUCEO? N COST CENTER: CJJDP-SPECIAL EHPhASI S 

PROJECT SUMMARY 
COGNIZANT OF THE NEED FOR ALTERNATIVE COMMUNITY MODELS FOR ThE JUVENILE 
OFFENDER, THE PORTLAND PROGRAM FOR ADOLESCENT RESPONSIBILITY (TU BE KNOWN AS 
THE CUMBERLA~D CCUNTY JUVENILE RESTITUTION PROJECT) HAS u~VELOPEO A COUNTY WIDE 
RESTITUTION PROJECT BASED ON THIS RECONCILIATIVE MODEL Of CURRECTIDNS. THE 
PRCJECT SERVES TWO ClIEI\T SYSTEMS IN THAT BOTH OFfENUERS AND VICTIMS ARE 
CONSIOERED CLIENlS. THE MAJOR GOALS OF THIS PROJECT ARE: INCREASE THE 
OISPOSITIONAL ALTERNATIVES AVAILABLE TO THE COURT; INCREASE COMMUNITY 
INVOLVEMENT IN AND CONFIDENCE IN THE JUVENILE JUSTI~E SYSTEM; AND INCREASE 
OFFENDER SENSE OF RESPONSIBILITY BY HOLDING THE YOUtH ACCUUNTABLE fOR HISIHER 
BEHAVIOR THRCUGH PAYMENT OF RESTITUTIGN. THE PROJECT WiLL ACCOMPLISH T~ESE 
GOALS BY ADOP1ING A STANCE AS MEDIATORS AND BROKERS FOR BOTH CLIENT SYSTEMS. 
ROLE OF BRDKE~ M~INTAINS THE UNDERLYING ASSUMPTION THAT ~OTH CLieNTS HAY HAVE 
NEED OF ADDITIONAL RESOURCES SUCH AS SOCIAL SERVICES, LEGAL ASSISTANCE, 
COUNSELING. tt;E~NATE LIVING ARRANGEMENTS, CRIME PREVENTION EDUCA1ION, JOB 
DEVELOPMENT. ACTING AS BROKERS, STAFF ~ILL INTERvENE .ITH UTHER SE~VICE 
PROVIDERS TO SEE THAT CLIENTS RECEIVE THE NEEDED AIO. 

GRANT NO. 
BOHUAX0012 

AiiARO A~CUNT 
$286,791 

. fUNDING HISTORY 
o 80 JS $284,894 
o 80 PG $1,857 

GRANTEE N~~E ~ND ADDRESS 
MAINE DIS1RICT COURT 
THE RESTITUTION ALTERN~TIVE 

AWARD iiAi E 
09/30lBO 

PROJECT MCNlTOR 
1o0LFSON, MARK 

BEGIN DAlE eND DATE 
09/01/ao 08/31/81 

STATUS 
AC1IVE 

PROJECT DIRECTOR 
THEGUURE T TROll, JR 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR CJJDP RELATING TO RESTITUTIUN PRLGRAMS 
NCN-8LOCK ~\;ARCS fiLEr FY 69 - 81 

eUTlER STREET 
SPRINGVALE, ME D4083 

TITLE' THE RESTITUTION ALTERNATIVE 

REPCRT PRODUCED? N COST CENTER: OJJDP-SPECIAL EMPHASIS 

PROJEC T SU,.,.ARY 

PAGE 13 
02124/81 

THIS GRANT WILL CCNTINUE TO PROVIDE SERVICES TO OffENDERS ANO VICTIMS IN YORK, 
CUMBERLA"O ."'1) ANDROSCOGGIN C(UNTIES 1" THE STATE OF MAINE:. THESE SITES WILL 
SERVE AT A MINIMUM 375 YOUTH THROUGH CGMMUNITV SERVICE ANU MCNE:TARY RESTITUrICr. 
ORDERS. VICTIMS OF YOUTH CRIME wILL 8E REIM8URSEU FOR THEIR LGSStS SUFfERED AS 
A RESULT Of TliE JUVENILE OFFE~DERS CRIME. 

TOTAL fOR STATE: $586,203 2 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR CJJDP RELATING TO RESTITUTIUN PROGRAMS 
NCN-BLOCK ~WARCS FILE. FY 69 - B 1 

STATE: MARYLAND 

GRANT NO. 
77JSIl30002 

AWARD AMOUNT AkARD DATE 
$5.000 08/18/77 

FUNO ING HISTCRY 

BEGIN DATE END DATE 
08/16177 121 15177 

STATUS 

PAGE 14 
02124/81 

o 77 JS $5.000 
PROJ ECT MON ITOR 
DONAHUE, TERRY fEDERAL STORAGE 

GRANTEE N~~E AND ADDRESS 
I'ARYLAND SPA 
EXECUTIVE PLAZA CNE, SUITE 302 
COCKEYSVILLE. MD 21030 

PROJECT UIRECTDR 
JOHN DUCHEZ 

TITLE: MARYLAND JUVENILE JLSTICE TRAINING CONFERENCE 

REPORT PRODuCED? N ceST CENTER: CJJDP-FORMULA GRANT & TA 

PROJECT SUMMARY 
THE MARYLAND STATE PLANNING AGENCY IT HE GRANTEE) WILL SPONSOR A THREE DAY 
TRAINING CONfeRENCE FOR PUBLIC AGENCIES SERVING THE .JU~ENILE JUSTICE SYSTEM. 
THE TePICS F(~ THE CONfERENCE kILL INCLUDE BOTH MANAGEMENT AND PROGRAMMING 
ISSUES RELATIVE TO EFFECTIVE JUVENILE JUSTICE SERVICES DELIVERY IDIVERSIO~. 
CASE MANAGEMENT. CONTRACTING, ANO RESTITUTION). INDIVIDUAL HORKSHOPS ~ILL BE 
CONCUCTED BY A SERIES OF CONSULTANTS. hHIeH ARE 'UNSIDEREO TO SE EXPERTS IN 
THEIR RESPECTIVE AREAS. APPROXIMATELY 125 PUBLl C AGENCY PERSCNNEL I PROSECUTORS, 
PUBLIC DEFENDERS. JUVENILE COURT JUOGES, JUVENILE SEHVJCE$ ACMINISTRATION) ARE 
EXPECTED TO ATTENO THE CONFERENCE. 

GRANT NO. 
78EDA)(0158 

AWARD AMCUNT 
$863.196 

FUNDING HISTCRY 
o 78 EC SI.012,357 
o 78 ED $149,161 

GRANTEE N~ME ~ND ADDRESS 

AWARD DATE 
C9/30178 

PROJECT MCN ITOR 
SMITH, FRANK O. 

PRINCE GEORGE'S CDUNn GO~ERNMENT 
4321 HARTWICK ROAD 
COLLEGE PARK. MD 20740 

BEGIN DATE END DATE 
10/01/7ij 10/31/81 

STATUS 
ACTl VE 

PROJECT DIRECTOR 
JOH~ WRiGHTSUN 

TITLE: COMMUNITY PRCJECT FeR RESTiTUTION BY JUVENiLE OFFENDERS 

REPORT PRODUCED? N COST CENTER: OJJOP-SPECIAL EMPHASiS 

79-489 0--81--5 
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CATEGCRICAl AWARDS FOR CJJDP RELATING TO R~STITUlluN PROGRAMS 
NCN-BLDCK AWAR GS FILE, FY 69 - 81 

PROJECT SU~"'~RY 

PAGE 15 
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THIS PROJECT IS BEING FUNDED PURSUAhT TO THE SPECIAL EMPHASI~ 1~ITIATIVE, 
"RESTITUTION BY JUVENILE OFFENDERS: AN ALTERNATIVe IG INCAR~ERAIION." THIS 
PROJECT .ILL SUPPORT THC CFFICE OF THE YOUTH CCOkUINATGH IN AN EFFUKT Tu 
PROVIDE AN ALTERNATIVE TO INCARCERATION AND TO I~REASe THE SENSE OF 
RESPONSIBIlIlV AND ACCGUNTABIlJTY Ch THE PART OF JUVENILe UFF~NDERS FOr, TI1EIR 
DELI~QUENT BE~AV(OR. THE PROGRAM hILL SERVE. 600 REFtRkED JU~ENllE GFFEND~RS 
OURING THE 24 MONTHS OF THIS GRANT. PARTICIPANTS MAr BE ~uEktO BY THE COURTS 
TO PAY THE CCST OF RESTITUTION FRCH CCHMUNITY SERVICE E"'~lOYHENJ SUBSIGIZED 
RITH GRANT FL~DS. PROVIDE A DIRtCT SERVICE TO THE VICIIM UR THE COMMUNITY. THE 
PROGRAM _ILL BE ADMINISIEREDBY THE OFFICE OF THE YOUIH CUURDINATUR UNGER THE 
AUSPICES OF THE PRINCE GEORGE'S COUNTY GOVERNMENT. IhO SUBCU~IRACIOk5, THE 4-H 
CLUB AND THE EARLY LEARNI~G, I~C., _Ill PROVIDE lEAOtK5~IP IRAINING, VOCATIUNAl 
TRAINI~G AND SUPERVISION OF REFEkkED JUVENILES. 

TOTAL FOR ST~TE: $8(:8,196 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

63 l 
CATEGORICAL AWAROS FOR OJJDP RELATING TO RESTITUTICN PRCGRAMS 

NON-BLOCK AWARDS FILE, FY 69 - 81 
PAGE 11> 

OU24/Bl 

STATE: MASSACrUSETTS 

GRANT NO. 
7BDFAX022D 

AWARD AMCUNT 
$171,842 

fUNDING HISTC~Y 
o 78 OF 1171,842 

GRANTEE N~ME AND ADDRESS 

AWARD DATE 
09/30178 

PRCJ ECT MCN ITOR 
SMITH, FRANK O. 

ASSOCIATION FCR SUPPCRT OF HUMAN SRV INC 
FORTY-TWe AR~(LD srREtT 
WESTFIELD, MA 01085 

TITLE: YOUTH RESTITUTIO~ PROGRAM 

BEGIN DATE eND DATE 
10/01/78 11/30180 

STATUS 
END-OAT E PASSED 

PROJECT GI~ECTUR 
ALICE IlAKcR 

REPORT PRCDUCED? N COST CENTER: CJJDP-SPECIAL tMPHASIS 

PROJECT SUMMARY 
THE GOAL CF THE PROJECT IS TO REDUCE THE INCARCERATICN GF ADJUDICATED YOUTH BY 
USING RESTITUTIO~ AS AN ALTERNATIVE. TARGET ~OUTH wILL Bt THOSE INVOLVEO IN 
OFFENSES SUCH AS OA~AGE TC HC~ES, CAR VANDALISM, POACHINu, M~VING VEhICLE 
VIOLATIONS, rrEFT, OR CThER OFFENSES ~HICH MIGHT NURMALLY LtAU TO 
INCARCERATION. THE PRIME OBJECTIVES ARE TO REDUCE BY HALF THE NUMBER OF YOUTH 
INC.RCERATED IN 1976 AND DOUBLE THE RATE UF RESIITUTIO~ fROM 4b IN 1976 BY THE 
END OF THE FIRST FUNDED YEAR. SINCE JANUARY 1, 1978, THE APPLICANT HAS ASSISTtD 
IN COMMUNITY SERVICE RESTITUTION BY PLACING Ib VLUTH. THIS IS THE BASIS GF 
PROPOSED ACTIVITIES OF THIS P~(GRAH. T~E CRUCIAL GAP IS IN fORMALIZED LINKAGE 
BETWEEN THE COURTS AND A SPECIFIC COMMUNITY-BASED AGENCY nHICH ~UULD ALLGw A 
SHOOTH FLCW FReM ADJUCICATION THROUGH RESTITUTION. PROBLEMS OF IMPLlMc~rATION 
WOULD BE SO SLIGHT THAT 11 IS EXPECTED THAl THE SYSTtM ~wULD BE FREE-SlANtING 
WITHIN TWO YEARS. THIS PROGRAM WILL PROVIDE FOR THE ASHS TO ACT AS THE 
COMMUNITY-BASED AGENCY AND BE THE CONDUIT FOR THE AS~IG~HENT OF AGJUDICATED 
YOUTH TO OVER FCRTY AGENCIES hlTH WHOM THE APPLICANT HAS A WORKING RELATICNSHIP. 

GRANT NO. 
78EDAXD161 

AllARD AMGUNl 
$370,925 

fUND WG HI STCRY 
o 78 ED $310,925 

GRANTEE NAME AND ADDRESS 
CITY OF LYNN, MASSACHUSETTS 
LYNN YOUTH SERVICE BUREAU 
ONE M.RKET STREET 
LYNN, MA C19Cl 

AWARD DATE 
09/30178 

PROJECT MCNlTOR 
\oGLF SCN, MARK 

BEGIN DATE END DATE 
10/01/78 04/30/81 

STATUS 
ACTIVE 

PRCJECT OIkECTOR 
RiCHARD IltIJINt: 



64 

AWARDS FOR OJJDP RELATING TO RESTITUTION PROGRAMS 
NC~-BLCCK AwARDS FILE. FY 69 - 81 

TITLEt INDIVIDUALIZED RESTITUTIC~ PRCGrtAM FOR JUVENILE OFFENDERS 

REPORT PRODUCED? N COST CENTER: CJJDP-SPECIAL EMPhASIS 

PRor ... T SUMM~IlY 

PAGE 11 
02l24/Sl 

THE PROJECT IIILL SUPPORT THE ,LYNN YOUTH IlESOURCE BUREAU IN A~ EFFORT TC: 
PRD~IDE AN AL TfRNATJVE TO INCARCERATION AND TO INCKEASE THE SENSE OF 
RESPONSIBILITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY (~ THE PART OF JUVENILE OFFeNDERS FOR THEIR 
DELiNQUENT BE~AVI0R. PROVIDE SOME REDRESS OF SATISFACTION ~ITH AEGARD TC THE 
REASONABLE ~ALUE OF THE DAMAGE OR LOSS SUFFERED BY' VICTIMS OF JUVENILE 
OFFENDERS; CREATE A GREATER COMMUNITY CONFIDEr/CE ltI THE JUVENILE JUSTlCE 

• 

• 

PROCESS; ~ND ACHIEVE ~ RECUCTION IN RECIOIVISM Of PAR1ICIPATINu JUVENILES IN • 
• LYNN. T'~ .. -'lOGRAH PLANS TO SERVE SEVENTY-FIVE ¥CUHI IN YI::AR ONE MD GNE HUNDRED 

YOUTH ~ vr:i,p n,o BY PRODUCING INDIVIDUALIZED RE:'THUTI0N PLANS IoHICH ARE 
EQUlTABU, ',-1 THE OFFENSES AND PROVIDE COUNSELING OPTJOI\S AND JOB SKILLS. THE 
CASES SE~,,;;1ED FOR RESTITUTION WILl REPRESENT VARIOUS CATEGORIES OF 
MISDEMEANORS AND/OR FELCNY OFFENSES AGAINST PERSONS. 

GRANT NO. 
7BEDAX0170 

AHARD AMCUNT 
$309. Bbb 

FUND ING HISTCRY 
o 78 ED $354.575 
il 76 EO $44.709 

GRANTEE NAME AND ADDRESS 
CIT~ OF NEW EEDFORO 
JUVENILE COURT 
~UNICIPAL EUILCING 
NEW BEDFCRD. MA 

TITLE: JUVE~ILE RESTITUTION 

AWARD ilATE 
09/30178 

PROJECT MONITOR 
WCLFSCN. MARK 

BEGIN DATE 
10/011711 

END DATE 
09/30/61 

STATUS 
ACTIVE 

PROJECT DIRECTOR 
DONALO GOMEl 

!lEPORT PROCutED? N COST CENTER: CJJDP-SPECIAL EMPHASI S 

PROJECT SUMM.6,RY 

• 

• 

THE NEW BEDFCRD RESTITUTION PROJECT WILL BE DESIGNED TO PKOVIDE THE NEW BEDFORD • 
JUVENILE COU~T ~ITH SIXTY RESTITUTICN ALTERNATIVE SLOTS AT ANY ONE TAME. THIS 
WILL BE ACCOMPLISHED BY ThE ESTABLISHMENT OF A MECHANISM WHeREBY THE 
PARTICIPA~TS IN RESTITUTION-TYPE OFFENSES WHICH REACH lhE COURT WILL ENGAGE IN 
A MEDIATICN MODEL WHICH WILL IDENTIFY THE NEEDS. ASPfRATluNS. AND GOALS OF 
INCIVIDUAL RESTITUTICI\ PRCGRAMS. BY PROVIDING EFFECTIVE RESTITUTION 
ALTERNATIVES THE PROJECT WILL: REDUCE THE NUMBER UF JUvENILES COMMITTED TC DYS; 
RF.DUCE THE RECIDIVISM OF THOSE YOUTHS INVOLVED IN lHE PRUGRAM BY PROVIDING A 
COMPREHENSIVE PROCESS hHICH INCLUDES CCUNSELiNG. JOB READINESS TRAINING. AND 
ACTUAL Jce PL~CEMENTS. ACHIEVE VICTIM SATISFACTION. THE PROJECT IS uESIGNED TO 

• 

• 

• 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR CJJDP RELATING TO RESTITUTION PROGRAMS 
NON-BLOCK AWARCS FILE. FY 69 - Bl 

PAGE 18 
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ENCOURAGE VICTIM PARTICIPATION IN THE PROCESS. INCREASE THE SENSE OF 
RESPONSIBILITY AND ACCCUNTABILIH ON THE PART OF YOUTHfUL OfFI:NUERS. M,O 
ESTABLISH COM~UNITY CONFIDENCE IN THE JUVENILE J~STICE PROCESS. THE PROJECT 
WILL CONTAIN A PUBLIC INFORM~TION MEDIA COMPONENT WHICH WILL BE DESIGNED TO THE 
WORKINGS GF THE PRUJECT IN AN EffORT yo INCREASE COMMUI\nV CONfiDENCE IN THE 
~~VENILE JUSTICE PROCESS. 

GRANT NO. 
78JSAX0044 

AkARD AMOUNT 
$660.699 

FUNDING HISTCRY 
o 78 JS $510.699 
S 80 JS $150.000 

GRANTEE N~~E AND ADDRESS 
DEPARTMENT OF YOUTH SERVICES 
294 .ASHINGTON STREET 
BOSTGN. MA 02114 

AWARD DATE 
07118178 

PRCJECT MeN nOR 
WOlfSGN. MARK 

BEGIN DATE END DATE 
07/18/78 03/2B/61 

STATUS 
ACllVE 

rROJECT UIRECTOR 
EV llYN FNlEDMAN 

TITLE: MASSACHUSETTS RAILROAD RESTITUTION PROJECT 

REPORT PROtUCEO? N COST CENTER: OJJOP-SPECIAl EMPHASIS 

PROJECT SUMMARY 
THE MASSACHUSETTS RAILRCAD RESTITUTION PROJECT WILL BE A JOINTLY fUNOEO PROGRAM 
UNOER THE OFFICE OF JUVENILE JUSTICE A"D OELINQUENCYPKEVENTICN'S UNSOLICITED 
MeDEL PROGRA' CATEGORY OF FUNDS AND T~E OEPARTMENl Of lABOR. ~OUTH EMPLOYMENT 
ACT FUNDS. THE MAJOR 08JECTIVE OF THIS PROGRAM IS Tti P~CVIDc FOR THE SOCIAL AND 
VOCATIONAL REHABILITATION AND TRAINING OF COMMITTED OR REfl:RRED JUV~NIlE 
OFfENDERS. THIS hill BE ACCOMPLiSHED BY THE IMPlEMENIATIONOF A STATEWIDE MODEL 
VICTIM RESTITUTION PROCESS IN kHICH JUVENilE OFFENDERS kill BE PLACED IN 
SUPPORTED PUBLIC SERVICE EMPlCYMENT. AND TRAINED SO THAT THEY CAN SEEK FUTURE 
EMPLOYMENT. IN ADDITION. THEY kIll MAKE RESTiTUTION TO THEIR VICTIMS. THE 
PROGRAM ~ILl BE ACHINISTEREO BY THE DEPARTMENT OF YOUTH SERVICES THROUGH ns 
SEVEN REGIONAL OFFICES. A CENTRAL STAFF WILL PROVIDE G~ERALl POLICY DIRECTION 
AND MANAGEME~T FO~ THE RESTITUTION PROCESS. EACH DYS R~~ION hill HAVE A 
RESTITUTICN ceORDINATCR hHO WIll MANAGE THE RESTITUTIO" PROCESS FOR ThEIR 
REGION UNDER YHE DIRECTION AND CONTROL OF THE REGIONAL DIRECTOR. DYS PROJECTS 
SERVING 450. 1~ TO 17 YEAR Ole COMMITTED eR REfEkREu JUVENILE OFFENGERS FOR THE 
Ie MONTH PERIOD OF THIS GRANT. 
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CATEGORICAL AWAROS FOR CJJDP.RELATING TO RES1IIUll~N PROGRAMS 
NOrrBLOCK A~ARDS FILE,· FY 69 - 81 

GRANT NO. 
79JSAX0014 

AWARD AMCUNT AWARD DATE 
$88,803 03/09119 

fUNDING HISTORY 

BEG IN DATE END DATE 
03/12119 06/30179 

STATUS 

PAGE 19 
02124/81 

o 79 JS $428,607 
$341,431 

$1,627 

PROJEC T MON ITOR 
WCLFSCN, MARK END-DATE PASSED 

o 79 JS 
R 19 J5 

GRANTEE NA~E A~D ADDRess 
DISTRICT COLKT OF EAST NORFOLK 
FIVE HUNDRED CHESTNUT STREET 
QUINCY, MA 02169 

TITLE: JUVE~ILE RESTITUTION PROGRAM 

PROJECT OIRECIOR 
TO BI: NAMED 

REPORT PROCUCED? N CCST CENTER: CJJDP-SPECIAL EMPhASIS 

PROJECT SU~MARY 
THIS PROGRA~ ~ILL I~CCRPORATE A JUVENILE RESTITUTION PROGRAM AT THE DISTRICT 
COURT OF EAST NORFOLK, ~UINCY, MASS. AS AN ALTERNATIVE TO CuMMITMENT FOR ALL 
JUVENILE OFFE~()ERS WHERE OAMAGES Rr".JLTlNG FROM A JL~c~ILE' S OFfENSE ARE ~F 
MEASURABLE MOIIETARY VALlJE. THE PRe".·;T WILL ALSC OFHII ~MI'LOYMENT TO Thl:SE 
JUVENILE OFFENCERS BY EXPANDING THE PRES~NT EMPLOYMI:~T PKUJECT KNO~N AS THE 
EARN-IT PRCGRAM AT THE OISTRICT COURT eF EAST NOKFULK. A~PRUXIMATELY 320 YOUTH 
PER YEAR WILL BE SERVED. 

GRAtiT NO. 
7'lJSAX0030 

AWARO AMCUNT 
$645,236 

fU~D I~G HISTeRY 
o 79 JS 
S 80 J!> 
D 80 JS 

$341,431 
$319,015 
$15,210 

GRANi~E NP~E AND ADDRESS 
TRIAL COURT Gf MASSACHUSETTS 
fAST ~ORFClK CIVISIC~ 
FIFTY CHESTNUT SiREET 
QUINCY. MA 02169 

AhARD DATE 
C8124179 

PROJECT MeNITOR 
'CLFseN, ~ARK 

TITLE: JUVENILE RESTITUTION PROGRAM 

BEGIN DATE: 
07/0117'1 

END DATE 
12130/81 

SlArus 
AU IVE 

PRCJECT DIRf:CTOR 
CHRISHNI: CI:ANE 

REPORT PROD~CED7 N ceST CENTE~: CJJDP-SPECIAL EMPhASIS 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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CATEGORICAL £WARDS FOR OJJDP RELATING TO RESTITUTION PROGRAMS 
NCN-BLOCK ~"AR tS F lLt:, FY 69 - ill 

PROJECT SUMMARY 

PAGE 20 
021241 fl 

THIS PRDGRAM WILL INCORPORATE A JUVENILE RESTITUTION PROGRAM AT THE DISTRICT 
COURT OF EAST IIORFOLK. ,"UINCY, MASS. AS AN ALTERMTHE TO Cu~.HHHENT FOR ALL 
JUVENILE CfFEIIDERS WHERE DAMAGES RESULTING FROM A JUVcNILE'~ OFFENSE .RE OF 
MEASURABLE MONETARY VALUE. THE PRCJECT WILL ALSO UfHR EMPLOYMENT TO THESE 
JUVENILE OFFENDEkS BY EXPANDING THE PRESt:NT EMPLOYMENT PROJECT KNOWN AS THE 
EARN-IT PRCGRAM AT THE DlS!RICT COURT OF EAST ~CRFOlK. APPRuXIMATElY 320 YOUTH 
PER YE.R WILL BE SERVED. 

TOTAL FOR STATE: $2.247,311 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR OJJDP RELATING TO RESTITUTIuN PROGRAMS 
NON-BLOCK AWARCS FILE, FY 69 - 81 

STATE: MIChIGAN 

GRANT NO. 
18EDAX0143. 

AWARD AMOUNT AWARD DATE 
$538,439 09/30/7B 

FUNDING HISTCRY 
o 78 ED $538,439 

GRANTEE ~A~E AND ADDRESS 

PROJECT M(NITOR 
",CLFSCN, MARK 

COUNTY OF WAYNE, MIChIGAN 
JUVENILE DIVISION, PROBATE'COURT 
1025 EAST FOREST 
DETROIT, ~I 4B207 

TITLE: POSITIVE ACTION FOR YOUTH 

BEGIN DATE END DATE 
10/01/78 11/30/81 

STATUS 
ACTlVE 

PRCJECT DIRECTOR 
WILliAM hlbGINS 

REPORT PROCUCED? N COST CENTER: OJJDP-SPECIAL EMPHASIS 

PAGE 21 
02124/81 

• 

• 

• 

PROJECT SUMMARY 
THE COUNTY OF WAYNE, MICHIGAN JUVENILE DIVISION PROBATE COURT WILL BE THE 1It 
GRANTEE FCR THIS RESTITUTION PROJECT. TO ACHIEVE ITS GOAL OF REUUCING JUVENILE 
CRIME, ThE JUVENILE COURT IN WAYNE CUUNTY WILL 1I4PLEMENT A RESTITUTIO" PRCJECT 
AFTER ADJUDICATIGN. THE PROJECT WILL eE HOUSED IN THE ~OURT'S CLINIC SERVICES 
DIVISICN, ANC ThE DIRECTOR OF THIS DI~ISION WILL BE THE PROJECT UIRECTCH. A 
REST!TUTIO~ CCOROINATGR AND ThO VICTIM ADVOCATES AND A CLERK WILL ADMiNISTER 
THE PROJECT AND THEY WILL BE HOUSED IN THE CLINIC SERVICES DIVISION INTAKE 
UNIT. THE PRGJECT WILL IMPLEMENT A RESTITUTION PROGkAM hHICH WIll ENABLE 
ADJUDICATED J~vENILE OFfEND~RS TO MAKE MONETARY REST1T~TiuN Ok ENGAGE IN 
SERVICE TO TrE VICTIM OR THE COMMUNITY. C.E.l.A. PlACEMENT~ hIll BE USED, FeR 
ELIGIBLE YOUTH, TO ENABLE THE CFFHDER TO EARN MliNEY MD PAY HESTITUTION. WHERE • 
A YOUTH IS NOT C.E.T.A. ELIGIBLE THE YOUTH wILL Be PLACED IN COMMUNITY SERVICE 
OR VICTIM SE~VICE. THE HAYNE CCUNTY JUVENiLE COUHT ~ROJECTS SERVING 1,200 
YOUTHS A YEAR FOk THE THREE YEARS OF THIS GHANT. 

TOTAL FOR STATE: $536,439 

• 

• 

• 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR OJJDP RELATING TO RESTITUlION PRUGRAMS 
NON-BLOCK AWARDS FILE, FY 6S - 81 

STATE: KI~NESOTA 

GRANT NO. 
7BEDAX0151 

AWARD AMCUNT AWARD DATE BEGIN DATE END DATE 
12/01118 03/31/81 5443,116 09/30/78 

FUND ING HISTORY 
o 78 EO $458,690 
o 78 EO $14,914 

GRANTEE NAME AND ADDRESS 
DEPARTMENT OF COURT SERVICES 
JUVENILE PRCBATION DIVISION 
915 FIFTH STREET SOUTH 
MINNEAPOLIS, ~N 5~4l5 

PROJECT M(NITOR 
SCHWARTZ, KATHY 

STATUS 
ACTlVE 

PRCJECT DIRECTOR 
,OAV IU K STI:ENSUN 

TITlE: RESTITUTION PRGGRAH FOR JUVENILE OFFENDERS 

REPORT PROCUCED? N COST CENTER: OJJDP-SPECIAL EMPHASIS 

PROJECT SUMMARY 

PAGE 22 
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THE GRANTEE FCR ThIS RESTITUTIGN PRCGRAH FOR JUVENILE OfFENDERS WILL BE 
HENNEPIN COU~TY. THE GKANT WILL BE ADMINISTERED BY THE HeNNEPIN COUNTY, 
DEPARTMENT OF COURT SERVICES, JUVENILE PKOBATION SERVICES. THE PROJECT WILL 
IMPLEMENT A RESTITUTION PROCESS FGR ADJUDICATED DELINQUEt.r UfFENDERS wHIt'" WILL 
INCLUDE MONETARY AND COMMUNITY SERVICE RESTITUTIUN COMPONENIS. YUUTH aHO ARE 
ORGERED Te ~AKE MONETARY RESTITUTICN, AND WHO DC NOT HAVE THE MEANS 'TO HAKE 
PAYMENTS, WILL BE PLACED IN EMPLUYMENT SLOTS WHICH ARE SUPPURTED BY OJJDP 
FUNDS. THE GRANTE:E PRGJECTS SERVING 550 YOUTH PEK YEM DR 1100 YOUTH fOR THE 
Twe YEAR GRANT PERIOD. 

GRANT NO. 
19DFAX0028 

AWARD AMOUNT AWARD DATE 
$320,263 02/16/79 

FUND ING HISTC~Y 
o 79 OF $320,263 

GRANTEE NA~E AND ADDRESS 

PROJ ECT MON nOR 
SCHRARTZ, KATHY 

FOREST LAKE YOUTh S~RVICE BUREAU 
1068 SOUTH LAKE S1REET 
FOREST LAKE, MN 55025 

BEGIN DATE END DATE 
03/01/79 021Zti/HI 

STATUS 
ACflVE 

PReJECT OIRECTOR 
TOM OS.ALU 

TITLE: kASHlhGTGN COUNTY JU~ENILE RESTITUTION ALTe~NATIVE 
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CATEGCRICAl AItARDS FOR OJJOP RELATING TO R~STlTUT ION PRGGRAMS 
NON-BLOCK AkAROS FILE, FY 69 - Iii 

REPORT PRODLCED? N COST CENTER: CJJOP-SPECIAl EMPHASIS 

PRCJECT SU"M~RY 

J 
PAGE 23 

02l24/Hl 

• 

UNDER AGREEMENT WITH THE ~ASHINGTON COUNTY COURI THIS PROJECT Will BE • 
ADMINISTERED BY THE FOREST lAKE YOUTH SERVICE BUREAU. THIS PROJECT hill PROVIDE 
A RESTITUTION ALTERNATIVE TO ~O PERCENT OF THE YuUTH ADJUDICATED FGR 
SHOPLIFTING, VANUAlISM, ThEfT, PURSE SNATCHING, AND OTHER ACTS DEEMED 
APPROPRIATE FCR THE PROGRAM BY THE JUVENILE JUDGE. IT IS PRUJECIED THAT TtE USE 
OF THE RESTITUTION ALTERNATIVE WILL RESULT IN A 10 PERCENr REDUCTION IN 
INCARCERATION. WHEN A PETITION IS RECtlVEO ON A~ YOUfH, A RESTITUTIGN 
COORDINATOR WILL BE ASSIGNED TO REVIEW THE CASE TO DEr~RHINc THE VICTIM'S LOSS, 
ANO NEGOTIATE A RESTITUTION AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE ThE VICTIM ANO THt OFFENDER. 
THIS WILL BE PRESENTED TO THE COURT AT TIME OF THE COURT HEARINb. I~ A YOUTH 
EITHER PLEADS GUilTY GR IS FCUND GUILTY, THE COURT .INVS THAT RESTITUTION IS 
APPROPRIATE, ANt THE YUUTH AGREES TO RESTITUTIO~, THt LGURT hill AoePT THE ... 
NEGOTIATED CCNTRACT IN ITS CROER. PR~JECT STAFf .ilL ThEN REFER IH~ YCUTH TO 
EHPLCYMENT OR C()MMUNllY SERVICE SLOTS. THE GRANT PReJECTS SHVING 470 YOUTH 
OVER THE TWO YEARS OF THE GRANT. 

GRANT NO. 
19EDAXOOl5 

AwARD AHCUNT 
.243,453 

FUND ING HI Sf( R Y 
o 19 ED $243,453 

GRANTEE NAME AND ADDRESS 
RED lAKE TRIEAl COUNCil 
PU BOX 1~51 
BEMIDJI. ~~ 5t601 

T lTlE: JUVENilE RESTiTUTION 

AWARD CAT E 
02123119 

PROJECT ~[NlTGR 

SCHWARTZ, KATHY 

BEGIN DAlE ~NO OATE 
03/01179 au 28181 

SUTUS 
AC 11 V!: 

PRCJECT DIRECTOR 
GEDR';!: SPEAHS 

REPORT PRODLCED? N CCST CENTER: [JJDP-SPECIAL EMPhASIS 

PROJECT SlJ~""FY 
THE RED LAKE TRIBAL COUNCIL kill BE THE GRANTEE FuR THIS ~ESTITUTION PROJECT. A 
RESTITUTIDN STAFF WILL BE ESTABlISHEO UNDER THE AUSPICtS OF TRIBAL COUNCil TO 
ADMINISTER THIS GRANT. ADJUDICATED DELINQUENT YCUTH, hfC CUMfiT OFFE~SES 

... 

e 

AGAINST PROPEHTY AND PERSOr.S ... Ill HAVE THEIR CAS!::> SCREEN£O flY THt RESTITUTION e. 
PROJECT STAFF. hHERE THE STAFF OEfERHI~ES THAT RESTITUTIUN IS APPRUPRIATE THEY 
WILL ACVOCATE FOR THIS DISPOSITION WITH THE COURf. IF THE JUOGE OETERMINES THAT 
RESTITUTILN IS APPRGPRIATE, IT hilL HCLD A SERIES OF HEAkiNGS WHERE ThE 
RESTITUTICN AHCUNT AND TYPE Will BE NEGOTIATEO. AflER lhlS HEARING THE COURT 
WilL DETER~I~E AND G~OEH THE AMOUNT AND TYPE OF RESTITUTION. THE RESTITUTION 
CRCERED MAY EE IN THE fORM OF MUNETARY PAYMENTS fO THE VICTIM. MONeTARY 
PAYMeNTS TO THE COM"U~ITY, VICTIM SERVICE OR COMMUNITY ScHVICE. YDUTH GRDERED 
TO MAKE RESTITUTION Will THEN BE REFERRED TO BY PROJECT ~rAFF TO EHPlGYERS, UR 
COMMUNITY SERVICES AGENCIES. THE APPLICANT PROJE('IS SERVINb 350 Cl1~NIS D~ER 

... 

• 

• 



71 

CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR CJJDP RelATING TO RESTI1UllON PRGGRAMS PA€E 24 
. NON-EiLOCK AWARCS F lLE. FY 69 - Ell 02124/81 

THE TWO YEARS Of TH!' GRANT. 

TOTAL FOP STATE: 3 

•• 

• 

• 
\ 

• 

•• 

•• 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR OJJDP RELATING TO RESTITu110N PROGRAMS 
NCII-BLOCK ~WARCS flLE, FY 69 - 81 

STIITE: ~EVA&~ 

GRANT NO. 
79EDAX0009 

AWARD AI1(UNT 
$686,<;98 

fUNDING HISTCRY 
o 79 ED $686,998 

GRANTEE N~HE ~NG ADDRESS 

A\jARD CAT E 
12119/18 

PROJECT MCNlTOR 
GO~G~, DOUGLAS 

STATF. DEPARH.EfiT CF HUMAN RESCURCES 
YOUTH SER~ICES AGENCY, ROO~ 600 
KI~KEAD BUILDING, 505 EAST KIIIG STREET 
CARSON CITY, IIV 

BEGIN UATE END DATE 
Ol/O~I7'J 1l2l16/81 

STATUS 
ACTl VE 

PRGJECT 01 RECTOR 
MICHAEL KArL 

TITLE: RESTITUTION-AN ALTERNAT IVE TO INCARCERATlON 

REPCRT PROCUCEC? N COST CENTER: CJJDP-SPECIAL EMPHASIS 

FRCJECT SUHM~RY 

PAGE 25 
OU24Jel 

THE OEPARTMElI1 OF HUMAN RESOURC~~, YOUTH SERVICES AGENCY, WILL COORDINATE A 
STATEWIDE PROGRAM TO IMPLEMENT RESTITUTION AS AN ALIERIIATI~~ TO IfiCARCERATICN 
IN EACH OF T~E NIIIE JUOICIAl DISTRICTS IN NEVADA. DUKIIIG TH~ T~O YEAR PROGRAM, 
APPROXIMATELY 810 JUVENILE OFfENDERS hiLL MA~E RESTITUIION TO THE VICTIMS OF 
THEIR CRIMES BY PROVIDING MONETARY ASSISTANCE OR BY PERFORMING DIRECT SERVICE. 
PROJECT AC11VITIES hIll IIIClUDE J(B C(UNSElING ANU PLACEMENT, SUBSIDIZED 
EMPLOYMEIIT AIIU GE~ERAl PROBATION COUNSELING. THIS PROJECT WAS 5ELECTEU FOR 
FUNDING FRGM A lARGE NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS WHICH wERE RECEIVED IN COMPETITIVE 
RESPONSE TU T~E PROGRAM ANNOUNCEMENT RESTITUTION: AN AL1~RNATIVE fO 
INCARCERATlOf>. 

GRANT NO. 
19JNAXOO 16 

AWARD AMCLNl 
$496,113 

fUND ING HISTGRY 
o 79 JN $221,113 
S 80 JN $215,00C 

GRANTEE ~~~E AND ADDRESS 

AhARD DATE 
0"/04119 

PROJECT HeNlTOR 
BIONDI, LOUIS 

NAT CNCL CF JUVENILE, fAMILY CT JUOGES 
PO BOX 8976 
RENO, NV 89!lG1 

BEGIN DATE 
04/0117S 

END CATE 
03/31/81 

51 ATUS 
ACTIVE 

PROJECT CIRECTOR 
LOUIS ft HC.,.tKOY 

TITLE: JUVENILE COURT JUDGES TRAINING PROJECT 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS fOR OJJOP RELATING TO RESTIT~lION PROGRAMS 
NC~-BLOCK AWARCS FILe, FV 69 - 81 

REPORT PROO~CEO? N CCST CENTER: CJJOP-NIJJDP 

PROJECT SUMMARY 

PAGE 26 
02/24/81 

THE GENER~L PuRPOSE OF THIS PROJECT IS TO PROVIOE IRAl~lNG TO JUVENILE CCURT 
JUDGES AND eTHER COURT RELATED PERSONNEL IN URDER THAT THEY MAY BE ABLE Te MORE 
EFfECTIVELY CARRY OUT THEIR RESPONSIBILITIES. THE MAJO~ OBJECTIVES CF THIS 
PROJECT ARE AS FOLLOw: TO PROVIDE INSTRUCTION WhiCH EMPhASILcS THE CONCEPT OF 
DEINSTITUTIONALIZED SERVICES FOR DELI~'UENT CHILORE~; Te EXPLORE THE 
POSSIBILITY Of RESTITUTION AS AN ALTERNATIVE OISPJSITIG~AL RE'UIREMEN1 FOR THE 
YOUTHfUL OFFENDER AND AS A FULL OR PARTIAL RELIEF TO l~E VICTIM; TG PROVIDE 
INSTRUCTION FCCUSED ON DIVERSION AND DEINSTITUTIUNALIlAII0N OF STATUS OFFENDER, 
PARTICULA~LY fROM FACILITIES IN WHICH CELI~QUE~TS ARe ~ERVtO; 10 PROVIDE 
INSTRUCTION WHICh EMPHASIZES THE PRINCIPLE OF DUE PRGCESS, NOT UNLY IN COURT 
RELATED PROGRA~S BUT ALSO IN SCHOOL DISCIPLINARY SITUATIONS AND SOCIAL AGENCY 
DETERMINATIONS AFFECTING CHILDREN ANDYOUTH; AND TO P~O~IUE I~STRUCTIO~ WHICH 
URGES THAT CHILDREN NCT BE SEPVEO IN THE SAME FACILITIES AS ADULTS. DURING THE 
ONe YEAR GRANT PERIOO CCNCENTRATED TRAINING WILL aE PRCVIO~D FOR A TCTAL ~F 570 
JUVENILE COU~T JUOGES AND COU~l RELATED PERSONNEL. IN ADDITiON 500 JU~ENILE 
JUSTICE SYSTE~ PEPSONNEL WILL 8ENEFIT FRCM TRAI~ING PRCGRAHS PROVIDED IN 
COOPERATICN wiTH LOCAL, STATE, REGIONAL. ANDIOR NAllONAl ORGANIZATIONS. 

TOTAL FOR STATE: $1,183,111 2 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR CJJDP RELATING TO RESJITUTION PRCGRAMS 
NCN-BlOCK AWAReS FILE. FY 69 - Bl 

STATE: NEW ~AMPSHIRE 

GRANT NO. 
780FA~0221 

AWARO AMeUNT AkARD CATE 
$110.615 C9/30/78 

FUNDING HISTCRY 

BEGIN DATE ENU OATE 
10/01/78 Q9/30/BO 

~TATUS 

PAGE 27 
02/24/81 

a 78 OF $110,615 
PRCJECT H(NITOR 
SMITH, FRANK O. ~~D-DATE PASSEC 

GRANTEE NAME AND ADDRESS 
THE FRIENDS P~GGRAM, INCORPORATED 
PO BOX 1331 
eeNCORe, N~ 03301 

PReJECT DIRECTOR 
RICHARD MAX SEN 

TITLE: RESTITUTION PRCGRAM FCR ADJUCICATED JUVENILE CFFENDERS 

~EPCRT PReDUCED? N CCST CENTER: (JJDP-SPECIAL EMPhASIS 

PROJECT SUMMARY 
ThE FRIENDS PROGRAM HAS BEEN CGNDUCTING A RESTITUTI(~ PRLJECT FGR YCUTH T~AT 
ARE MEMBERS OF THE FRIENDS fOR THE PAST YEAR. DUE TU TH~ ~uCCESS OF THIS 
SERVICE. THE CD~CGRD DISTRICT CG~RT, PROBATle~ CfFICE AND THE CONCORD POLICE 
DEPARTMENT hAVE REQUESTED THAT THE FRIENDS EXPAND ITS ~EST1TuTION COMPGNE~TS TC 
ACCOMMODATE POST ADJUDICATED YOUTH. THE CONCORD DISTRICT CUURT HAS AGREED TO 
FEFER ~PPROXI~ATELY 00 YOUTH PER YEAR TO THE FRIENDS A~ A TeRM OF THeiR 
PROBATION. T~E PRGGRA~ HAS OBTAINEC HORE THAN E~CUGH AGREEMENTS FROM BUSINESSES 
A~D CUMMUNITY AGENCIES TO PLACE THE EXPECTEO NUHUER Of R~FERRALS. JUVENILES 
REFERRED BY ThE CCNCCRD DISTRICT CCURT Te SERVE RESTITUTION hhO ARE INTERESTED 
IN wORKING AT THE FkIENDS PROGRAM kILL BE CAREFULLY SUFERVISEC ANC Cu~NSElED. 
THEIR OBJECTI~E _ILL BE Te HAVE THE YOUTH COMPLE1E A McANINGf~L RcSlllLTlCN 
PROJECT THAT hILL MEET THE CO~TRACTUAL REQuIRE~ENTS hHILE AT 1HE SAME TIME 
PROVIDE A~ ATMOSPHERE FOR POSITIVE AND RESPUNSIBLE GROhfii. 

TOTAL FOR STAlE: $110,615 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR CJJDP RELATING TO RESTITUTIUN PRuGRAMS 
NeN-BLDCK ~WAR CS FILE, FY 69 - 81 

STATE: Nf~ JERSEY 

GRANT NO. 
78EDAX0161 

AWARD AMCUNT A_ARD DATE 
$520,375 09/30/78 

FUND ING HISTCRY 

BEG IN IJA TE 
01/15/79 

END DATE 
au 14/81 

S lATUS 

PAGE 28 
02/24/81 

o "78 EO $520,375 
PROJECT M(NITOR 
SIUTH, FRANK O. END-DATE PASSEC 

GRANTEE ~~~E AND ADDRESS 
SUPREME COUR7 Of NEW JERSEY 
AQMINISTRATI~E OFFICE GF THE CCURT 
349 STATE HOUSE ANNEX 
TRENTON, NJ 08625 

PRCJECT DIRECTOk 
EDWARD N!E~Ii:RA 

T lTLE: STATf OF NEW JERSEY JUVENilE RESTITUTIC~ PRuGRAM 

REPGRT PRODUCED? N COST CENTER: CJJOP-SPECIAL cMFHASIS 

PROJECT SUMMARY 
THE STATE OF ~EW JERSEY JUVENILE RESTITUTION PROGRAM IS 8EING I~PLEMENTED BY 
THE STATE SUPREME COURT IN 19 COU~TIES. THE PROGRAM WILL ~~ ADMINISTERED BY THE 
AOMINISTRATIVE OFFICE Of THE COURTS. THE PROJECT ADDRESSES ThE LACK CF 
MEANINGFUL DISPOSITIONAL ALTERNATIVES TO INCARCERATION .HICH RESULT IN YOUTH 
BEING MORE ACCOUNTABLE FOR THEIR BEHAVIOR. THE GOAL CF TH~ PRGJECT IS Te 
INVOLVE 2,499 YOUTH PER YEAR, AGES 14 TO 18, IN A STATEklUt RESTITUTIG~ PRCGRA~ 
AND TO PRO~IOE PARTIAL REDRESS TO VICTIMS OF JUVENILe CRIMe, tNHA~CING ThE 
IMAGE OF THE JUVENILE JUSTICE SYSTEM ANO REDUCING THe NUMtlLR OF YOUTHS 
COMMITTED 10 JUVENILE INSIIT~T!CNS BY 20: PER YEAR. CF TH~ 2,49Y YOUThS TC SE 
5ER~ED, 232 YCUTh WILL BE PLACED IN RESTITUTION IN LIEu Or INCARCERATION AND 
2,267 OTHER ~DJUDICATED YCUTH ~ILL PARTICIPATE I~ THI': PRUGRAM. ALSO, ZOl 
REDUCT IGN IN THE REC IDIVISM RATE IS A COMPANION GOAL OF hiE PIWGRAM. 

GRANT NO. 
78EDA~0169 

AWARD AMCUNT AWARO CATE 
5276,148 09/30/78 

fUNDING HISTCRY 
o 78 ED $278,148 

GRANTEE NA~.E ANO ADDRESS 

PRCJECT IICNlTOR 
SIIITH, FRANK C. 

CAMDEN COUNTY PROBATION DEPARTMENT 
?27 MARKET STREET 
CAMCEN. NJ 08101 

BEGIN DATE END DATE 
10/15/78 O~/OI/Ul 

HATUS 
ACTIVE 

PRCJl':CT CHECTeR 
KENN~TH SUSHYEAGER 

T lTLE: CAMDEN CGUNTY JUVENILE RESTITUTION PROGRAM 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR CJJDP RELH ING TO REST lTUT ION PROGRAMS 
NON-BLOCK AWARDS FILE, FY b9 - 81 

REPORT PRODUCED? N COST CENT~R: CJJOP-SPECIAL EMPHASIS 

PROJEC T SUMMARY 

PAGE 29 
02124/81 

THE CAMDEN CCUNTY JUVEN~LE RESTITUTION PROGRAM hIll BE ESTAijLISHED WITHIN THE 
CAMDEN COUNTY PROBATION DEPARTMENT AND GLOUCESTER CCUNTY AND WILL SERVE THE 
JUVENILE AND DCMESTIC RELATIONS COURT. ALTHOUGH ONE AIM ~c THE PROGRAM WILL BE 
THE RESTORATICN TO THE VICTIM, THE PRIMARY THRUST WILL BE TO CORRECT AND 
REHAEIlIlATE THE JUVENILE. upeN THE·FINDING OF DELlIIWENCY IHKGUGH A fCRIML 
HEARING, T~E JUVENILE COURT JUDGE WILL CCNSIDER THt POTENTIAL PLACEMENT OF THE 
YOUTH IN THE RESTITUTION PROGRAM. IF DEEMED APPRuPRIATE A KESTITUTIGN 
lNVESTIGATION WILL BE CRDERED. THE JUVENILE AND DOME~TIC RELATIONS COLRTS ALSO 
SERVES GLCUCESTER COUNTY, THEREFORE, A TOTAL Of 332 ADJUDICATED OElIN'UENTS 
WILL BE SERVED, 300 FROM CAMDEN ANO 32 FROM GLOUCESTER. A 40~ REDUCTICh 1/\ THE 
RECIDIVISM RATE Of DELINQUENTS PARTICIPATII\G IN THE RESTITUTION PROGRAM IS A 
CGMPANION GOAL. 

TOTAL FOR STATE: $158,523 2 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR CJJDP RELATI~G TO RESHTUT JON PROGRAMS 
NON-BLOCK ~WAR tS FILE, FY 69 - B 1 

STATE: NEW YORK 

GRANT NO. 
?BEDA~0162 

AWARD AMOUNT AWARD DATE 
$2,165,627 09/30178 

fUhDING HISTCPY 
o 78 ED $2,289,325 
o 78 ED $103,698 

GRANTEE NAME 'AND ADDRESS 

PROJ ECT MON ITOR 
SMITH, FRANK O. 

NEh ~OnK STATE DIVISION OF PRCBATICN 
TOWER BUILDI~G 
EMPIRE STATE PLAZA 
ALBANY, NY 12223 

TITLE: NEW YCRK STATE RESTITUTICN PRCGRAM 

BEGIN DATE END DATE 
11123178 10122181 

STATUS 
ACTiVE 

PROJECT DJRECTOR 
TO Bt: NAMt:O 

REPORT PRODUCED? ~ COST CENTER: CdJDP-SPECIAL EMPHASIS 

PRCJECT SUMMARY 

PAGE 3D 
02124/81 

THE "JUVENILE RESTITUTlCN PROJECT" IS BEING IHPLItMENTED BY THE. NEW YORK STATE 
DIVISION OF PROBATION IN NINE COUNTIES. THE PARTJCIPATI~G COUNTIES ARE: 
SUffOLK, NASSAU, ALBANY, RENSSELAER, SCHENECTADY, SARATOGA, fULTON, MCNTGOMERY, 
AND WARREN. THE PROGRAM WILL BE ADMINISTERED BY THE hEh YORK STATE CIVISI~N OF 
PROBATION IN THREE SITES: SITE I - SUFFOLK COUNTY, SITE Ii - NASSAU COUNTY, AND 
SITE III - REGIONAL GROUP UPSTATE CCUNTIES iNCLUDiNG ALBANY, SCHeNECTADY, 
SARATOGA, RE~SSELAER, FULTON, MONTGOMERY, AND WARkEN CLuNTIES. THE COUNTIES 
VARY IN NATURE FPOM RURAL TO ~ETROPOLITAN/SUBURBAN. THE GOAL UF THE PROJECT IS 
TO INVOLVE 432 YOUTH PER YEAR, AGES 10 TO 16, IN AN ADJLUICATEO RESTITUTIC~ 
PROGRAM, AhD TO THEREFORE PROVIDE PARTIAL OR TOTal REDRESS TO VICTIMS OF 
JUVENilE CRIME, ENHANCING THE IMAGE OF THE JUVENILE JUSTiCE SYSTEM AND RECUCING 
THE ~UMBER Of YOUTHS COMMITTEe TO JUVENILE INSTITUTIUNS. 

TOTAL FOR STATE: $2,185,627 

79~489 0-81-6 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR OJJDP RELATING T0 RESTITUTIuN p~eGRAMS 
NCI\-BLCCK ~HARCS Fill:', F't 6q - 81 

STATE: OhIe 

GRAtH NO. 
78EOAX0151 

AllARD AMOUNT 
$H<;,542 

FUNDING HISTCIlY 

AhARD CATE 
09/30118 

BEGIN OATE END DATE 
11/01176 01/31/81 

STATUS 

PAGE 31 
021241 El 

o 18 EO $T49,542 
PROJECT MeNITOR 
IoOLFSGN, MARK Et.D-DATE PASSED 

GRANTEE NA~E A~D ADDRESS 
GEAUGA COUNTY CO~MI5SIONERS 
COURT HOUSE AI\NEX 
(~ARDCN. Oh 4402~ 

PReJEC T !lHECTDR 
GLORIA TROPE 

TilLE: GEAUGA CCUNTY-JUV OFFENDER-ALTERNATIVE TO II\CARCERATlGt. 

REPCRT PRODUCED? N COST CENTER: (JJDP-SPECIAl EMPhASIS 

PROJECT SUHMAI<Y 
THIS PROJECT IS FUNDED PURSUAI\T TO THE SPECIAL EMPHASIS INITIATIVE, RESTITUTION 
BY JUVENilE OffeNDERS: AlTERNATlVE TO INCARCERATION. THIS PROJECT Will SUPPORT 
THE GEAUGA CelNTY JUVENILE COLRT 11\ AI\ EFF~RT Te PRUYI!lE AN ALTERNATIVE TO 
INCARCERATICI\ AND TO INCREASE THE SENSE OF RESPONSI~IlllY AND ACCOUt.TABIliTY ON 
THE PART OF JUVENILE OFFENDERS FOR THEIR DELINQUENT ~EhAVJOR. ,HIS PROGRAM kIll 
SERVICE 322 ACJUOICATED YOUTH IN A TkO YEAR PERIOD THRCLGH DIRECT M(j~ElARY 
PAYMENT THROUGH SUPPORTED COM'W~ITY SERVICE WORK TO JA~GcT ~OUTH .. HO IIllL HAKE 
RESTITUTION TO THE VICTIMS OF CRIME. THE PROJECT WIll e~ IMPlEMENTcC BY A 
COUNTV-hIDE RESTITUTIC~ P~OCESS IN WHICH JUVENILE OFFENUERS hIll ~E PlACEC AND 
TRAINED IN PUBLIC SERVICE EMPLOYMENT. THIS PROGRAM MIll ~e ADMINISTERED BY THE 
GEAUGA COU~T~ R(j~K PROGRAM OfFICE. 

GRA"T NU. 
19DFAX0034 

AhARO AIlCUNT 
$608,350 

fUND ING HI SlCRY 
o 79 OF $60B,350 

AWARD CAli: 
03/01119 

PRCJECT M(NITOR 
SMITH, FRANK D. 

GRANTEE N'ME AND ADDRESS 
tI~CINNATI l~STITUTE OF JUSTICE 
222 EAST CEN1RAl FARK.AY 
CI~CINNATI, eH 45202 

BEGIN DATe END DAlE 
03/01179 02l2B/81 

STATUS 
AClIVE 

PRCJECT DIRECTOR 
JAY TALbOT 

TITLE: hAM ILTON CNTY JUV COURT RESIT~TlON WORK THERAPY PRuGRAI1 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• ! 

19 

CATEGOR ICAl A'~AROS FOR GJJDP RELATING TO REST! HlIIDN PROGflAMS 
NC~-BlCCI( ~WAR CS F lL~, FY 69 - & 1 

REPORT PROCUCED? N COST CENTER: OJJDP-SPECIAL EMPHASIS 

PRCJECT SUHMARY 

PAGE 32 
OU24/El 

THIS PROJECT IS BEING FUNDED PURSUANT TO HIE SPECIAL EHPHA~IS INITIATIVE, 
"REST HUTION BY JUVENILE CFFENDERS: AN Al TERNATJVI: Ie 1""At(CERATl 01\." THIS 
PROJECT hill SUPPORT THE HAMILTON COUNTY JUVENILe COuRt IN AN EFrGRT It PRGVIDE 
AN ALTERNATIVE TO INCARCF.RATIC~ AND TO INCREASE THE ~~NS~ O~ RESPGNSIBlllTY AND 
ACCOUNTABILITY ON THE PART Of JUVENilE OfFENDERS FUR THEIR OEUfNUEhT BEHAVIOR. 
THIS PROGRAM hIll SERVICE 500 ACJUDICATEO YOUTH IN A 2 VI:AR PERIUO THROUGh 
CIRECT MONETARY PAYMENT THROUGH SUPPORTED COMMUNITY SER~ICc .URI< TO TARG~l 
YOUTH ~HC Will MAKE RESTITUTILN TG THE VICTIMS OF CRIME. IHE PROJECT .llL BE 
I~PLEMENTED f'Y A CUUNn-WIOE RESTITUTlCN PROCESS IN hhlCH JuVENilE OffENDERS 
Will BE PLACED AND TRAI~ED IN PUBLIC SERVICE EMPLOYMENT. THI~ PRUGRAM hiLL BE 
ADMINISTERED BY ThE CINLINNATI INSTITuTE UF JUSTICE. 

GRANT NO. 
79EOAX0002 

AWARD AMCUNT AhARD DATE 
$50,640 11/09/78 

fUNDING HISTUY 
o 79 ED $50,640 

PROJ ECl MON HOR 
SCHjjARTZ, KATHY 

GRANTEE ~AME AND ADDRESS 
BElMONT-H~RRISGN COUNTY JUVENILE DIST 
ROUTE ONE HA~~CND RO~D 
~AINT CLAIRS~lllE, OH 43950 

TJ HE: JUVE~IlE RESIITlTICN/hORK PROGRAM 

BEGIN DATE END DATE 
12101/18 0<:129/60 

STATUS 
END-DATE PASSED 

PROJeCT CIRECTUK 
CHET KALIS 

~EPCRT PRtCUCEO? N COST CENTER: CJJDP-SPEClAL EMPHASI S 

PRCJECT SUMM~~Y 
THIS PROJECT IS BErNG FUNDED PLRSUAH TO THE SPECIAL EMPHA!>!S INITIATIVE, 
~RESTITUTION fV JUVENILE OFFENDERS: AN ALTERNATIVE 10 I~CAflLERATION." THIS 
PROJECT WILL SUPPDRT THE BELMC~T-HARRISON COUNTY JUVENILe DISTRICT IN AN EFFORT 
TO PROVIDE ~" ALTERNATIVE TO INCARCERATION AND TO INCRI:ASE THI: SEI\Se CF 
RESPONSIBILIIY AND ACCCLNTABILITY C~ THE PART GF JUVENILE UFFENOI:R~ fOR THEIR 
DELINQUENT BEI-AVIOR. ThE PROGRAM IIllL SERVE 83 AOJUOICAICD YOIJIH IN A ONE YI:AR 
PERIOD THRCUGH PIlCVIOING RESTlTUT ICN T"~.,-l.,,"; CCMMUIHTY SEIIVICE JOBS ANO 
PAYMENTS TO THE VICT!MS SUBSIDIZED IHr~UGH GRANT FUNUS. 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR OJJOP RELAT ING TO RESTI TUTION PROGRAMS 
NON-BUICK AIiARDSFILE. FY 69 - 81. 

GRANT NO. 
79EDAXD003 

AWARD AMCUNT 
$212.071 

fUND ING HI STORY 
o 19 EO $lI2,On 

GRANTEe NtHE AND ADDRESS 
SUMMIT CCUKIY JUVENILE COURl 
650 DAN STREET 
AKRCN, OH 44310 

AIORO CATE 
11/09118 

PRCJECT MCNITOR 
SMI1H, FRANK O. 

TITLE: CHILe RESPONSIBILITY PROJECT 

BEGIN DAlE END DATE 
12101/18 H/30/81 

STATUS 
ACHVE 

PRCJECT DIRECTUR 
NICHOlAS DEL GROSSO 

REPORT PROCUCEO? N COST CENTER: CJJOP-SPECIAL EMPHASIS 

PROJECT SUMMARY 

PAGE 33 
02124/81 

THIS PROJECT AeCRESSES THE LACK OF MEANINGFUL OISPo~rTICNAL ALTERNA1I~ES TO 
INCARCERATICN RHICH RESULT IN YOUTH BEING HELD MORE AC'CUNTABLE FOR THEIR 
BEHAVIOR. THE COURT EXPEC1S 10 SER~E 300 YOUTH PER ycA~. AGES 12-17. VIA 
PLACEMENTS loiTH 31 PUBLIC ANO PRIVATE AGENCIES. ('OMPcNSATllJN FOR WOkK. PERfORMED 
WILL BE AT THE RATE OF $2.65 PER HOUR. WITH THE REsrlTUTIUN AHGUNT NOT TO 
EXCEED ACTUAL Less OR $600. 

GRANT NO. 
19EDAX0004 

AkARD AMCUNT 
$247,501 

FUND ING HIS10RY 
o 19 ED $241.501 

GRANTEE N~ME ~NO ADORESS 
LUCAS COU~lY JUVEhllF. CGURT 
429 MICHIGAN STREET 
TeLEDC. OH 43624 

AWARD eATE 
11/09178 

PReJECT "CNITOR 
SMITH. FRANK O. 

BEGIN DATE END DATE 
1210111/j 11/30/81 

STATUS 
ACTIVE 

PROJECT DIRECTOR 
DON PUMPA 

TITLE: LUCAS COUNTY JUVENILE COURT RESTITUTION PROGRAM 

REPORT PROCUCEC? N cost CENTER: CJJDP-SPEClAL EMPHASIS 

PROJECT SUMMARY 
THE PURPOSE Of THIS PROJECT IS TO INVOLVE 1.000 YOUTH AGES 14 AND OVER IN THE 
JUVENILE COURT RESTITUTION PRCGRAM. ThEREBY ENHANCING THE COMMUNlTY IMAbE OF 
THE COURT, PROVIDING REDRESS 1C VICTIMS OF JUVEhllE ~RlpE ANt INCREASlhG ThE 
ACCOUNTABILIT~ BY YOUTH FeR THEIR EEHAVIOR. RESTITUTION Will B~ HADE YIA; 
DIRECT MCNETARY PAYMENT; INDIRECT HGNETARY PAY~E~T THROUGH PERFORMAhCE OF WORK 
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CATEGORICAL AhARCS FOR CJJCP RELATING TO RESTITUTION PROGRAMS 
NON-BLOCK AWARDS FILE, FY 69 - 61 

PAGE 3~ 
021210/81 

FOR THE VICTI~ AND; COMMUNITY SERVICE JOBS. THE PROJECT DESIGN AlSO INCLUDES A 
PUBLIC AWARENESS/EDUCATION COMPONENT AND A CLIENT TRACKINb~YSTEM. 

GRANT NO. 
19J5AX0008 

Alol ARD AMOUNT 
5239,400 

fUNDING HISTCRY 
o 79 JS $239,400 

GRANTEE NAME AND ADDRESS 

AIiA{lD tATE 
02123/79 

PRDJ ECT MeNITOR 
IoOLFSON, MARK 

ADAMS COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
ADAMS CCU~TY COURTHOUSE 
WEST UNION, OH 45693 

BF.GIN DATE END DATE 
03/0117 9 OU 28/81 

STATUS 
ACTIVE 

PRCJECT DIRECTUR 
WILl1AM SHANNON 

TITLE: ADA~S-BRCwN CCUNlY JU~ENILE OFFENDER RESTIT~TICN PRCJECT 

REPCRl P~CDUCED? N COST CfNTE~: CJJDP-SPECIAL eMPHASIS 

FR[JECT SUMM~RY 
THE GRANTEE FOR THIS PROJECT IS THE ADAMS COUNTY BOARD OF CL~MISSIO~ERS THEY 
~lLL ADMINISTER THE GRANT FOR BOTH COU~TIES. THE PKOJECT, wHICH WILL BE 
I~PLEMENTED IN BOTH COUNTIES, HAS AS ITS PRIMARY GOAL THE c~TABLISHMENT OF AN 
EFFECTIVE RESTITUTION PROGRAM AS AN ADDITIONAL ALTERNATIVE TO TRADITIONAL 
INCARCERATIO~ FOR ADJUDICATED DELI~QUE~T OFFENDERS. THIS GOAL ~ILL BE 
ACCO~PLISHED BY PLACI~G COURT REFERREO AOJUDICATED YOUTH ON RESTITUTIC~. 
RESTITUTICN HAY TAKE FORM CF EITHER DIRECT MONETARY PAYMENTS, DIRECT SERVICE TO 
THE VICTIM, COMMUNITY SERVICE OR A COMBINATION CF THESE. THE APPLICANT PRCJECTS 
SERV1.NG 66 ACJUDICATED DELINCUE~T YOUTH WHO WDULD HAVE OTHERWISE BEEN 
INCARCERATEO. 

GRANT NO. 
80JSAX0008 

AWARD AMCUNT AkARD DATE 
l4B,407 03/10/S0 

fUND ING HISTCRY 
D 80 JS $48,407 

GRANTEE N'~E AND ADDRESS 

PROJ ECT MeN ITOR 
SCHWARTZ, KATHY 

BELMCNT HAR~ISON JUVENILE DISTRICT 
SARGLS JUVE~llE CENTER 
68131 HAMMOND ROAD 
SAINT CLAIRSVILLE, OH 43950 

TITLE: JUVENILE RESTITUTION/WORK PROGRAM 

BEGI,.. OATE 
03/01180 

END DATE 
02128/81 

STATUS 
ACTIVE 

PROJeCT DIRECTOR 
CHE! KALIS 
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CATEGo~ICAL AWARCS FOR OJJDP REL~TING TO RESTITUTIUN PROGRAMS 
NON-BLOCK AWARDS FILE, FY 69 - 81 

REPORT PROCUCEo? N COST CENTER: OJJDP-SPECIAL EMPHASIS 

PROJECT SUMHARY 

PAGE 35 
02124/81 

THIS PROJECT IS A CChTlhUATICN OF THE BELMONT-HARRiSON COUNTY JUVENILE 0lSTRIC1 
JUVENILE RESTHUTlON/WoRK PRoGRAH. THIS PROJECT .. AS THE UNLY RURAL PRCGRAM 
fU~OEC UNDER THE PRCGRAM ANNOUNCEMENT -RESTITUTION B~ JUVENiLE OFFENDERS: AN 
ALTERNATIVE TO INCARCERATION". THE GOALS OF THE PRUJECl ARE It INVULVE 45 
CHILDREN DURING ITS SECOND YEAR OF OPE~ATloN AND TO CUNTINUe TO PROVIDE REDRESS 
TO THE VICTIMS OF JUVENILE CRIME TO E~HAhCE THE CUMMuNITY IMAGE OF THE JUVENILE 
COURT AND TO INCR£ASE 'HE ACCOUNTABILI'Y OF YOUTHS FOR THEIR BEHAVIOR THRCUGH 
RESTITUTION VIA JOB PLACEMENT. 

TOTAL FOR STATE: 52,155,911 7 
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AWARDS FOR CJJDP RELATING TO R~STITUTIUN PROGRAMS 
NON-BLOCK AWARDS FILE, FY 69 - 81 

STATE: OKlAHCMJ.. 

GRANT NO. 
19J5AX0009 

AWARD AMCUNT AhARD DATE 
5340.3S8 02/23119 

FUNDING .. ISTDRY 
o 79 JS $340,398 

GRANTEE ~~~E AND ADDRESS 

PROJ EC T MeN ITOR 
SCHWARTZ, KATHY 

JUVENILE BUREAU DIST CT OF OKLAHO~A CNTY 
321 PARK AVENUE, ROOM 214 
OKLAHOMA CITY, OK 13102 

BEGIN DATE 
03/01179 

ENO CATE 
02l2B/81 

STATUS 
AcnVE 

PROJECT DIRECTOR 
ANNE ASPLUND 

TITLE: OKlAI'OMA CCUNTY JUVENILE BUREAU RESTITUTION PROGRAII 

REPC~T P~OCUCED1 N COST CENTER: CJJDP-SPECIAl EMPHASIS 

PROJECT SUMMARY 

PAGE 36 
02l2~/81 

THE PROJECT IS BEING FUNDED PURSUA~T TC THE SPECIAL ~IIPHASIS INITIATIVE, 
"RESTITUTION BY JUVENILE OFFENOERS: ALTERNATIVE TO II'<CARCEkATION." THIS PROJECT 
WILL SUPPORT THE CKtAHOHA COUNTY, IN AN EFFORT TO PROVIDe AN ALTERNATIVE 10 
INCARCERATION ANO TO INCREASE THE SENSE OF RESPONSIBILITY ANC ACCCUI\TABllITY ON 
THE PART OF JUV EN Ill, CFFENOERS FOR THEIR OELINQUENT BEHAVIOr.. THI S PR('GI!AM WI lL 
SERVICE l,BOO ADJUD'CAT~D JUVEhllE YOUTH IN II 2 YEAR Pc~IuO Thl!OUGH DIRECT 
MONETARY P'YHENT AND THROUGH SUPPORTED COMMUNITY SERVICE wORK TU TARGeT YCUTH 
~HO Will MAKE RESTITUTICN TO THE VICTIMS OF CRI~E. THE PRUJ~CT wIll Be 
IMPLEMENTED ev A COUNTY_IDE RESTITUTIC~ PROCESS IN ~hlCH JUVf~lLE GFf~NDE~S 
WILL BE PLACED AND TRUNE& IN PUBLIC SERVICE EMPLOYHENI. 1"H'S PRUGRAM kilL BE 
ADHlNISTEREO BY THE JUVENILE BUREAU OF THE DISTRICT LOuHT O~ OKLAHOMA CLU~TY. 

TOTAL FOR STATE: $340,398 



84 

CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR CJJDP REL~TING TO RESTITUTION PROGRAMS 
NON-BLOCK AHARCS FILE, FY 69 - 81 

STATE: CREGCN 

GRANT NO. 
77NI990005 

AkARD AMC~NT AkARD DATE 
$447,174 10/20/7b 

FUNDING HSTORY 

BEGIN DATE 
10/2017b 

END CATE 
12131178 

:o.TATUS 

PAGE 37 
02124/81 

o 77 NI $472,691 
PROJECT M[NITOR 
SWAIN, PA~ELA INACT AVAIL AUD 

o 77 NI $24,923 

GRANTEE ~AME AND ADDRESS 
INSTITUTE OF POLICY ANALYSIS 
711 HIGH STREET, SUITE 222 
EUGE~E, OR 91402 

TITLE: JUVENILE RESTITUTICN 

PRCJECT DIRE~TOR 
PETER R SCHNeiDER 

REPORT PRODUCED? Y CCST CENTER: CJJDP-NIJJDP 

PROJECT SUI'HARY 
THE PURPOSE OF THIS PROJECT IS TO EVALUATE THE RESTITUTION PR~JECTS FUNDED BY 
THE OFFICE OF JUVENILE JUSTICE AND DELINQUENCY PkEVf:NTlON. THE EVALUATION HIll 
INCLUDE PRCCESS AND II',ACT CC~PONE~TS AND kILL F[~US O~ THE RESEARCH QUESTION 
OF WHAT TYPES OF PROGRAMS ARE EFFECTIVE FOR "HAT OFFENDERS A~C UNDER WHAT 
CONDlTIO~S. THE DESIG~ PRCVIOES FOR WITHIN AND A('ROSS SHE COMPARISUNS IN FOUR 
AREAS: RECIDIVISM REDUCTION, VICTIM IMPACT, COMMUNITY IMPACT, ANO PROGRAM 
PROCESS. 

GRANT NO. 
79JNAX0009 

AkARO AMeUNT 
$1,352, E45 

fUND ING HISTCRY 
o 79 IN $702,847 
S 80 J~ Sf49,958 

GRANTEE N~HE ~ND ADDRESS 
INSTITUTE CF POLICY ANALYSIS 
717 HIGH STREET, ROOM 222 
EUGENE, OR 97401 

AllARD DATE 
01/29179 

PROJECT MCNITCR 
SWAIN, PAI'ElA 

BEGIN DATE eNO DATE 
01/29/79 12/30/~D 

STATUS 
END-DATE PASSED 

PROJECT UIRECTCJk 
PETEK k SCHNEIUER 

T1 HE: ~ATICNAL EVALUATION Cf JUVENILE RESTITUTION PRCJECTS 

REPORT PROCUCED? Y COST CENTER: CJJDP-NIJJDP 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR CJJDP RElATlhG TO RESTITUTION PROGRAMS 
Nth-BlCCK ~WARtS FlU, FV 69 - 81 

PROJEC T SUMMARY 

PAGE 38 
OU24Jel 

THIS PROJECT, TO BE SUPPORTED BV JU~ENIlE JUSTICE IJNI fUNDS, Will INVClVE THE 
SECeND PHASE Cf A NATIONAL EVALUATION Of THE OJJUP JUVENIle RE~TITUTION 
INITIATIVE. THE ~AJOR C8JECTIVES CF THIS EVALUATIUN ARE: TU DEVELOP IhFORMATION 
ON THE TVPES CF RESTITUTION PROGRAMS T~AT ARE HOST lIK~LY 10: REDUCE JUVENILE 
RECIDIVISM; IIICREASE VICTIM SATlsFACTlCN AND/OR CI HAVE rHE GREATEST IMPACT ON 
MEMBERS OF THE COMMUNITY, IN TERMS OF THEIR VIEhs OF OPERATI~NS OF THE JUVENilE 
JUSTICE SYSTE~; TO DEVELOP INFORMATION ON THE CCMP4RAI1VE tOST-EFFECTIVENEsS OF 
DIFFERENT TYPES OF RESTITUTION PROGRAMS FOR ACHIEVING eACH Of THE ABOVE 
ALTERNATIVE GeALS; A~D TO DEVELOP DESCRIPTIVE AND ANALYTICAL INFORMATION ON 
I~PLEMENTATION PROCESSES AND PROBLEMS, AND ON CHANufS IN P~OG~AH OPERATING 
PROCEOURES OURING THE fiRST YEAR CF OPERAllON. THE NATJONAL EVALUATIUN HAS 
DEVELOPED AN EVALUAfION DESIGN INCLUDIM> PROCESS AND IMPACT CLMPOI\EI\TS, IC BE 
I~PLEMENTED Al SEVEN Of TrE FCRTY-FeUR PROJECTS. 

TOTAL FOR STAlE: $1,BOO,619 2 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS fOR OJJOP RELATING TO RESTI1~TION PROGRAMS 
NC~-BLOCK _WARDS fiLE, FY 69 - 81 

STATE; SCUTh CARCLIN~ 

GRANT NO. 
78DFAX0219 

AWARD AMOUNT 
$208,235 

FUND ING HI STCRY 
o 78 OF $208,235 

GRANTEE NlME AND ADDRESS 
TRIDE~T UNITEO WAY 
VOLUNTARY ACTION CENTER 
FO BOX 2696 
CHARLESTON, SC 2S403 

AWARD CAlf 
C9130118 

FRCJECT MCNITOR 
SCHWARTZ, KATHY 

BEGIN DATE END DATE 
11/01/7d 01/31/81 

STATUS 
ACTI~E 

PRCJECT DIRECTLR 
HEREUITh HOfrORO 

nTLE: JUVEhlLE RESTITUTION PRCGRAH 

REPORT PROtUCED? N COST CENT ER: CJJOP-SPECIAL EHPHA~I S 

PROJECT SUMH~RY 

PAGE 39 
02124/81 

THE PURPOSE Cf THIS PROJECT IS Te PReVIDE FOR RESTI1UTION 8Y AUJUDICATEO 
JUVENILE OFFENDERS IN LIEU OF INCARCERATION THROUGH A CCHHUNITY SE~VICE 
RESTITUTICN f~CG~AM. THE FRCJECT EXPECTS 150 YOUTH PER YEAR .ILL PARTICIPATE I~ 
THE PROJECT AND IS AVAILABLE TO YOUTH BETWEEN THe AGc~ Cf 10 AND 17 WhC HAVE 
COMMITTED PR('PERTY OFF~NSES. COMMUNITY S~RV ICE JLJBS .. ILL Bt: COOK1HNAHD BY THE 
VOLUNTARY ACTION CENTER SUPPLIED BY PRIVATE AND PUBLIC COMHUNITY SERVICE 
AGENCIES RANGING FROH THE CHARLESTON POLICE DEPARr~ENT tu tHE UAK GRUVE 
CHILDREN'S HCP~. 

TOTAL FOR STATE: $2C8.235 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR CJJDP RELATING TO RESTITUTIUN PRCGRAHS 
NO~-BLCCK AWARDS FILE. FV 69 - 81 

STATE: TEXAS 

GRANT NO. 
18JSAX0090 

AWARD AMCUNT 
$309,3C2 

FUND ING HI STeRY 
o 18 JS 5432,096 
D 18 JS S122.194 

GRANTEE ~_ME ~ND ADDRESS 
YOUTH-GAP, I~CORPCRATEO 
214 CITV COU~TV BUILDING 
EL PASO, lX 7~901 

AwARD CATE 
C9/30118 

FRCJECT /teNITCR 
SCHwARTZ. KATHY 

BEG IN DATE ENO DATE 
11/011711 10/31181 

STATUS 
AC Tl VE 

PROJECT ul~ECTOR 
LADC~NA ~L CUNNELL 

TITLE: Y(UTH-GAP, I~C VICTI~ RESTITUTION PROGRAM 

REPORT PIIOCUCED? N COST CENTER: CJJOP-SPECIAL I:MPHASI S 

PROJECT SUMMARY 

PAGE 40 
02124/81 

IHIS PROJECT IS BEING FUNDEO PURSUA~T TO THE SPECIAL E"PHASIS INITIATIVE, 
"RESTITUTIO~ tlY JUVENILE OFFENDERS: ALTERNATIVE T& I~CARCERATIUN." !HIS PROJECT 
WILL SUPPORT THE YOUTh GAP, I~C. IN AN EFFORT TO PRuVI~c AN ALTERNATIVE TO 
INCARCERATION AND TO INCREASE THE SENSE OF RESPCNSi81llTY ANC ACCUU~TABILITY O~ 
THE PAKT OF JUVENILE OFFENDERS FUR THEIR OELlNQUl::liT BEHAVlOk. THIS PROGRA~ hIll 
SERVE 300 AOJLOICATEO YlJljTH I~ A 2 YEAP PERIOD THKOUGH CIKI:CT HONHAKY PAYMENT 
THROUGH SUPPORTI:C CUMMUNITY SERVICE WOkK TO TARGET YUUTH MHU hIll MAKE 
RESIITUTIC~ Te THE VICflHS OF CRI~E. T~E PROJECT w!lL BE IHPlfH~NTED BY A 
COUNTY-WICE RESTITUTION PROCESS IN hHICH JUVENILE OffE~OEkS kIll BE PLACEt AND 
TRAINED IN PU8llC SERVICE EMPlCYHENT. THIS PROGRAM hill BE AUMINISTERcO BY THE 
YOUTH-GAP, HC. 

TOTAL fOR STATE: $3C9,302 
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CATEGC~ICAL AWARDS fOR CJJDP RELATING TO RESTITUTION PROGRAMS 
NON-BLOCK AWARDS FILE, FY 69 - 81 

STATE: VIRGI~IA 

GRANT NO. 
79JSAX0006 

AWARD AMCUNT AkARD DATE 
. $300,785 02/21/79 

fUNO ING HISTORY 
o 79 JS 5300,785 

GRANTEE ~~ME ANO ADtRESS 
CITY OF ~EWPCRT NEWS 
COURT SERVICES 
230 TWENTY-FIFlH STREET 
NEWPORT NEWS, VA 23607 

PROJECT MONITOR 
SMITH, F~ANK O. 

BEGIN OATE END CATE 
03/01179 02/ 28/111 

SUTUS 
ACTIVE 

PROJECT DiRECTOR 
HARRY SHILLING 

TITLE: RESTITUTION BY JUV OFFENDERS: ALTERNATIVE TO I~CARCERATION 

REPORT PRODUCED? N COST CENTER: OJJDP-SPEOIAL EMPHASIS 

PROJECT SU~MA~Y 

PAGE 41 
02124/61 

• 

• 

• 

THIS PROJECT IS BEING FUNDED PURSUANT TD THE SPECIAL EMPHASIS INITIATIVE 
"RESTITUTlUN BY JUVENILE OFFENDERS: AN ALTERNATIVE: TO INCARCERATION." THIS • 
PROJECT WIll SUPPORT THE CITY OF ~EhPO~T NEWS JUVE:NiLE CUURT SERVICES IN AN 
EFFORT TO PROVIDE AN ALTERNATIVE TO INCARCERATICI, AhD Te II'.CREASE THE SE~SE OF 
RESPONSIBILITY or; THE PART OF JUVENILE OFFENDERS FOR ThElk DEllhQUENT BEHAVIOR. 
THIS PROGRAM hIll SERVE 535 ADJUDICA£ED YOUTHS IN A TWO YEAR PERIOD. THE 
JUVENILE OfFHDERS MAY BE ORDERED TO PERFORM DIRECT $ERVICES IO THE VICTIMS, 
PERFORM UNPAID COMMUNITY SERVICES. OR PERFORM PAID CCMMUNITY SERVICES wITh 
CONTRACT WAGES PAID BY THIS GRANT, AND RESTITUTIUN Til IHe VICTIMS PAID fRCM THE 
~AGES. THE PRCGRAM hIll BE AD~INISTEREO BY THE JUVEhILE COUKT SERVICe UNDER THE 
AUSPJCES OF THE CITY CF NE~PORT NEwS COURT SERUICES. 

TOTAL FO~ SUTE: $300,785 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR ~JJDP RELATING TO RESTITUTION PROGRAMS 
NOl\-BLOCK AWARCS FlU, FY 69 - 81 

STATE: WASHINGTON 

GRANT NO. 
78JSAXOOB6 

AWARD AMOUNT AftARD DATE 
$3,635,262 09/25/78 

fUND ING HISTCRY 

BEGIN DATE END DATE 
09/25/78 09/30/80 

STATUS 

PAGE ~2 
D2I24/B1 

o 1B J S 53,635,262 
PRDJ ECl MeN ITOR 
PCRPCTAGE, FRANK END-DATE PASSED 

GRANTEE .A~E A~D ADDRESS 
LAW AND JUSTICE PLANNING OFFICE 
206 GENERAL ACMIhlSTRATIDN BUILDING 
OLYMPIA, WA ;£504 

PRDJECT DIRECTOR 
.0 BI: NAMeD 

TITLE: I~PLEME~TATICN DF THE JUVEhlLE CODE IHB-3711 

REPCRT PROCUCED? N CCST CENTER: CJJOP-FORMULA GRANI & TA 

PROJECT SUMMPRY 
THE PURPCSE Cf THIS PROJECT IS TC I~PLEMENT THE STATUS OFFI:NCER AND RESTITUTION 
PORTIONS OF THE RECENTLY REVISED JUVENIle CODE IN ",ASHINGTUN. THE CODE PROVIOES 
fOR THE DEINSlITUTIONALIZATIOk OF STATUS OFFENDERS; tlVCRSION OF MANY YOUTHfUL 
JUVENILE OFFENDERS ThROUGH RESTITUTION; ANO DETERMINATE SENTENCING ~OR SERICUS 
JUVENILE OFFENOERS. THE PRGJECT WILL BE IMPLEMENIEU BY A VARIETY OF STATE, 
LOCAL AND PRIVATE NOT-FOR-PROFIT AGENCIES. 

GRANT NO. 
7BJSAX0103 

AWARD AMOUNT AkARD DATE 
SO 09/30178 

fUNDING HISTCRY 
o 78 JS $467,024 
o 78 JS 5467,024 

GRANTEE NAME AND ADDRESS 

PROJECT MDNITOR 
KE~BLE, KAY 

WASHINGTGN DEFT CF SOCIAL, HE~lTH SERV 
DB-~2-J 
CLYHPIA, W~ 1B504 

TITLE: ALTERNATIVES TO INCARCERATION 

BEGIN DATE END VATE 
11/01/78 10/31/79 

STATUS 
CANCELLED 

PROJE'T DIRE'TOR 
TO BE NAME!; 

REPORT PRODUCED? N COST CENTER: CJJDP-SPECIAL EMPhASIS 

PROJECT SUM",ARY 
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CATEGOR ICAL AWARDS FOR GJJDP '.ELATING TO RES Tl TUTION PROGRAMS 
NON-BLUCK AllAR OS F IL E, FY 6'i - 61 

PAGE 43 
OU24/81 

THE TITLE OF THE PROJECT IS "ALTERNAT IVES TO INCARCERAllUN" .. HICH WILL BE 
IMPLEMENTEO BY THE BUREAU OF JUVENILE REHABILITATION OF THE WASHINGTON STATE 
OEPARTMENT Of SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES lOSHSI. THE PkLJ~LT ADDNESSE5 THE LACK 
OF MEANINGFUL DISPCSITIONAL ALTeRNATIVES TO INCARCEHATILN WHICH RESULT IN YOUTH 
BEING HELD MORE ACCOUNTABLE FOR THEIR BEHAVIOR. THI: GOAl. L1f THE PROJECT I S TO 
ESTABLISH MODEL RESTITUTIO~ PRCGRAMS "hICH WILL REDUCE RECIDIVISM AND 
INCARCERATIUN OF JUVENILE UFFENDERS IN SIX CUUNTIES IN THE STAlE OF ftASHlhGTON. 
THE PROJ~CT EXPECTS TC SERVE 2,200 YCUTHS DURING THE fIRST PRGJECI YEAR THRCUGH 
FINANCIAL REPARATIO~, COM~UNIlY SERVICE OR A CC~BlhAlIL~ OF THE SAME. THE 
JUVENILE COURTS WILL IMPOSE RESTITUTION PURSUANT TLI THE .ASHI~GTON JUVENILE 
JUSTICE ACT OF 1977. 

GRANT NO. 
79EOAXD005 

AWARD AMOUNT 
$261,260 

FUfIO ING HISTORY 
o 79 EO $261,260 

GRANTEE ht~E ~ND ADDRESS 
SNOHOMISH COUNTY 

AhARD DATE 
1112017t1 

PROJECT MONlTOR 
GGDGE, DGU';LAS 

CCUNTY ADMINISTRATION BUILDING 
EVERETT, ~A SS201 

BEGIN DATE 
1210117<1 

END OAT E 
UI3C/tlO 

STATUS 
I;I<D-DATE PASSED 

PROJECT DlkECTOR 
JUNE lLO~O 

TITLE: YOUlH kESTITUTICNAl SERVICES PROJECT 

REPORT PRCCUCEO? N COST CENTER: CJJDP-SPECIAL I;MPHA~IS 

PRGJECT SUMMARY 
THE PURPCSE Of THIS PROJECT IS Te COMPENSATE VICTIMS OF JUVENilE CRIME BY 
REQUIRING CASH PAYMENT OR COMMUNITY SE~VICE BY THE uFFe~UER I~ LIEU Cf 
INCARCERATICN. Tl'E PRCJECTS EXPeCTS TO INVOLVE 250-3CO ~uurH PER YEAR IN 
RESTITUTICN AND IS AVAILABLE TO POST-ADJUDICATED YOUTh Au~5 12 tHROUGh 15, 
CHARGED WITh PROPERTY AND PERSUNAL OFF~NSES. EMPLUYMeNT hilL fiE PRUVIDEO 
THROUGH CCUNlY AND MUNICIPAL PARKS A~D COMMUNITY UEVtlLFMENr AGeNCIES AS hELL 
AS T~E EVERETT HOUSING AUTHORITY, CAMP FIRE GIRLS, A~D TH~ ~HERhOOU LEARNING 
CEf\TER. 
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CATEGORICAL A.ARDS FOR CJJDP RELATING TO RESTITUllCh PRCGRAKS 
NON-BLOCK AWARCS fiLE, FY 6~ - 81 

GRANT No. 
79JSAX0010 

AWARD AMOUNT AWAHD DATE 
$461,02.". 02126179 

FUND ING HlST CRY 

BEGIN DATE eND DATE 
02/26/79 07/31/80 

STATUS 

PAGE 44 
02124/81 

o 79 JS $467,024 
PROJECT ~(N1TOR 
DODGE, OCUGLAS Et.D-DATE PASSEC 

GRANTEE NAME AND ADDRESS 
LA~ ANG JUSTICE PLANNING DIVISION 
OFFICE OF FIN~NCI~L MANAGEMENT 
G A BUILDING, ROOM 206 
CLYMPIA, WA 98504 

TITLE: ALTERNATIVES TO INCARCERATION 

PRCJECT OI~tCTOH 
DANII:L GHI:EI\ING 

REPCRI PROCUCED? N COST CENTER: CJJDP-SPECIAL EMPHASI S 

PROJECT SUMMARY 
THE TITLE Of THIS PROJECT IS "ALTERNATIVES TO INGAHCI:RATluN." THE PROJECT 
AOORESSES THE LACK CF MEANINGfUL DISPOSITIONAL AlrEH~AlIVI:S TO INCARCtHATION 
WHICH RESULT IN YOUTH BEING HELD MORE ACCOUNTABLE FOR THEIR BEHAVIOR. THE GCAl 
[F THE PRCJECT IS TO ESTABLISH MOOEL RESTITUTION PROGRAMS aHICH WILL REDUCE 
RECIDIVISM ANC INCARCERATION GF JU~ENILE OFFENDERS IN SIX LuL~TIES I~ THE STATE 
OF .ASHl~GTC~. THE ~RCJECT EXPECTS TO SERVE 2.2CO YuuTh ~U~lNG THE fiRST 
PROJECT YEAR THROUGH FINANCIAL REPARATION, COMMUNITY SERVICE CR A COMBINATION 
Cf THE SAME. THE JUVENILE COURT WILL IMPOSE RESTITUTION PUR~UANT TO lHe 
~ASHINGTGN JU~ENILE J~STICE ACT Of 1971. 

GRANT NO. 
BOJSAXOD29 

AWARD AMOUNT AkARD DATE 
$520.086 081 u/ao 

fUr.OING HISTCRY 
o 80 JS S520,CB6 

PROJECT MONITOR 
OCDGE, DOUGLAS 

GRANTEE ~~~E ~ND ACCRESS 
DIVISION OF CRIMINAL JUSTICE 
OfFICE OF FIh~hCIAL MANAGEMENT 
102 NORTH QUI~CE 
CLYMPIA, kA 98504 

BEGlN DATE END DATE 
OBlellBO u1131/81 

STATuS 
ACTIVE 

PRCJECr u!RE~rOR 
DAN GREENING 

TITLE: ALTERNATIVES TO INCARCERATION:kASHl~GTG~ ~T JlJV RESTITU1N 

REPORT PRODUCED? ~ CCST CENTER: (JJDP-SPECIAL eMPhASIS 

PROJECT SU""ARY 
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PAGE 45 
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THIS IS THE SECONO YEAR A~ARO FOR A PROPOSED THREE YEAK JUVENilE RESTITUTICN 
PROJECT. THE PROJECT IS BEI~G I~PLEMENTEO IN SIX SITES IN WASHINGTON STATE. 
THEY ARE CLARKE COUNTY, CITY OF SEATTLE, KING COuNTY, BeNTON/FRANKLIN COU~TY, 
GRAY'S HARBOR COUNTY, AND ~ASG~ CCUNTY. THESE SITES ARE IMPLEMENTIN~ THE 
MONETARY ANO COMMUNITY SERVICE RESTITUTION MODELS MHICH THE COURTS ARE USING AS 
ALTERNATIVES TC INCARCERATICN AND TRADITIONAL DI)PUS!!lONS. IT IS PROJECTEO 
THAT 1,045 YOUTHS WIll BE SERVED BY THE PROJECT. 

GRANT NO. 
81JSAX0017 

AwARO AMCUNT AWARO DATE 
$499,~51 Ol/0~/81 

BEGIN DAlE END OATE 
10/01ldO 09/30/81 

fUNDING HISTCRY 
o 81 JS $499,95L 

PROJECT MCNITOR 
WAHLBERG, PAUL J. 

STATUS 
ACTIVE 

GRANTEE NA~E AND ADDRESS 
WASHINGTON DIVISION OF CRIMINAL JUSTICE 
OFFICE OF FI~ANCIAl MANAGEKE~T 
102 NORTH QUINCE GF-Dl 
CLYMPIA, ~A 98504 

TITLE. CIVERTEC RESTITUTION 

PRCJECT OlNECTUR 
DANIEL E GREENING 

REPORT PRODUCED? N COST CENTER. OJJDP-FOR~ULA GkANI & TA 

PROJEC T SU~MAR Y 
THIS PROJECT ~ILL ALLOW FOR THE CONTINUATION OF TWO DIVERTED RESTITUTION 
COMPONENTS OF A LARGER FY 78 CJJOP DISCRETIONARY PROJECT ENIITlED, 
"IMPLEMEHATlCN OF THE JUVENILE CODE (HB 3711." TH!: OkIGINAL AllARD, WHICH 
TOTALED $3,635,262, MAS AIMED AT ASSISTING THE STATE IN ME~rlNG TH~ MAN~ATES OF 
ITS REVISEC JUVENILE CODE. THE CODE MANDATES THE REHCVAl uF STATUS CFFEN~ERS 
FROM JAILS, OETE~TICN AND CORRECTICNAL FACILITIES. SPECIFICALLY, THE KING 
COUNTY COMPONENT OF THE PROJECT hiLL PROVIDE FOR, AM('NG .. l"HER THINGS, THE 
CCNTINUATIGN CF SIX RESTITUTION WORK SITES, AND THE SEATTLE COMPONENT WILL 
PROVIDE FOR COMMUNITY-BASED ALTERNATIVES TO INSIITUTIO~ALILATION, ALTERNATIVES 
TO SCHOOL SUSPENSION AND EXPULSION. YOUTH EMPLOYMENT ACIlVI TII:S, ANO BASIC 
SKILL TRAINI~G FOR THE LEARNING DISABLED. 

TOTAL FOR STATE. S5,3E3,583 6 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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STATE: WISCC~SIN 

GRANT NO. 
78JSAX0085 

AWARD AMCUNT 
$238,244 

FUND ING HI STOR Y 
o 78 JS $23B,244 

GRANTEE NAME AND ADDRESS 
COUNTY OF (JAH, WISCONSIN 
210 MONA A ~ENI;E 
MADISON, WI 53701 

AWARD CATE 
C9/30178 

PRCJECT. M(NITOR 
WOLFSON, MARK 

BEGiN DATE END DATE 
10/01/78 05131/81 

STATUS 
ACTIVE 

PRCJECT DIRECTUK 
BAREARA KA' 

TITlE: DANE COUNTY YO~TH RESTITUTIO~ PROGRAM 

REPORT PROCUCED? 1'/ CCST CENTER: eiJJDP-SPECIAL EMPHASI S 

PROJECT SU~MARY 

PAGE 46 
021241 El 

THE COUNTY OF DANE WILL BE THE GRANTEE FOR THE OANE COu~TY YOuTH RESTITUTION 
PROGRAM WHICH WILL BE ADMINISTERED BY THE DANE OUUNTY JUVeNiLE COUKT. HOwEVER. 
THE COURT WILL BE SUBCONTRACTING WITH A NOT-FOR-PRGFIT AuENCV TO IMPLEMENT THE 
PROJECT. THE PRIMARY GOAL CF TnE PROJECT IS THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A RESTITUTION 
PROCESS WHICH WILL HOLD JUVENILE OFFENDERS ACCOUNTABLE FOR THEIR BEHAVIOR AND 
PROVIDE SCME REDRESS rc VICTIMS Of JUVENILE OFFENSES. THE PROJECT WILL 
IMPLEMENT HDNETARY, COHHUNlry SERVICE AND VICTIM SER~ICE RESTITUTIC~ MODELS. 
YOUTH WIll BE REfeRRED TO THE PROJECT BY THE JUVErH LE COURT JUDGI: AFTfR 
ADJUDICATION. THE AHOUNT AND TYPE OF RESTITUTIO~ WILL eE MEDIATED BY STAFF 
eETWEEN HE VICT IH AND THE OFFENDER, AND THEN, THE CON'lNACT WILL BE SUBMITTED 
TO JHE JUDGE FCR APPRCVAL. OJJOP FUNDS WILL BE USED Tei SU~PORT THE YOUTH IN 
EHPLOYMENT SLOTS AND ALSO TO PROVIDE SOME FUNDS TO YOuTH WHO HAVE COMPLETED 
THEIR NEGOTIATED HOURS OF COMMUN1TY OR VICTIM SERVICE ktSTITUIION AND ARE 
WILLING TO WORK EXTRA HOURS. THE GRANTEE PROJECTS SEKVI~~ 120 YOUTh EACH YEAR 
CF THE GRA~T CR 240 FCR THE Tk[ YEAR GRANT. 

GRANT NO. 
78JSAX0099 

AWARD AM(UNT AWARD CATE 
SI,237,930 C9/30/78 

f.UND ING HISTORY 
C 78 JS 51,237,930 

GRANTEE N~HE ANC ADDRESS 

PRCJECT "CNITOR 
WOLfSON, MARK 

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT CF HEALTH, SOC SERV 
DIVISION CF COMMUNITY SERVICE 
ONE WEST IIlLSCN 
HAOISON, kI 53702 

79-489 0-81-7 

BEGIN DATE END DATE 
11/01l7B 02128/81 

STATUS 
ACTIVE 

PROJECT DIRECTOR 
DENNIS MALUNI:Y 
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klSCONSIN JUVENILE RESTITLTleN PROJECT 

REPORT PROCl~ED? N C[ST CENTER: eJJDP-SPECIAl ~MPhASIS 

PROJECT SUMMARY 

PAGE 41 
02124/61 

TrE WISCONSIN JUVENilE RESTITUTION PRGJECT ~Ill 8e ADMINISTERED BY THe 
hISCONSIN DEPA~TMENT GF HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICeS, COMMUNllY SERVICES 
CI~ISION. ThiS AGENCY hILL BE SU8CC~TRACTING hITH ElEVc~ CUURT~ THRCUGHuUT THE 
STATE TO ADMII\ISTER REST nUT ION P~OJECTS FOR THEIR JURI SOH: T ION. THESE 
JURISOICTIONS ARE: ASHLAND BARRON, BURNETT, CHIP~EwA, ~~UGlAS, MARATHUN, 
OZAUKEE, COUNTIES, THE CITY OF GREEN eAY ANO THE MENCMINEE lRIBAL RESERVATION. 
hHIlE SPECIFIC OETAILS CN THE I~PlE~E"TATICN FOR EACH ~ITE MAY VARY, THE BASIC 
ELEMENTS IN EACH SITE WILL BE THE SAME. THE GOAL IS TO ESTABLISH A kESrITUTION 
PROJECT THAT ~lll ENAeLE A SUeSTANTIAL PGRTION CF THE A~JUDICATED Of.lINQUENT 
CFFENDERS, RHO ARE REFERREO T[ THE PROJECT, TO COMPLETe EITHER MUNETARY 
RESTlTUTlC", ell COMMUNITY SERVICE RESTITUTION. THE SI'Etlf1t. URGANli.ATlONAl 
STRUCTURE FOR THE PROJECT FOR EACH SIT~ hIll VAR», HCw~~Ek, ~LL SITES WIll 
ESTABLISH A CO'MUNITY BOARD WHCH WIll NEGOTIATE THE AMUUNl" OR TYPE OF 
RESTITUTION eNeE THE YOLTH HAS BEEN ORtERED Te ~AKE RESIIIUTION BY THE COURT. 
THE ~EGOTIATEC CGhTRACT W ILL THEN GO SACK TO THE CUURT FUR APPROVAL. EACH SITE 
WILL ESTABLISh, EMPLOYMENl A~D CCMM~NITY SERVICE SLOTS Tu kHICH PROJECT YOUTH 
tAN EE REFERRED. THE APPlICA~T PROJECTS SERVING 540 YULlH EACH YEAR UK 1092 
eVER THE FIRST ThC YEARS CF ThE PRCJECT. 

TOlAL FOR STATE: 2 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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• 

• 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR DJJDP RELATING TO RESTITUTluN PROGRAMS 
NO~-BlGCK .~ARCS FILE. FY 69 - Hl 

STATE' PUERTC RICO 

GRANT NO. 
78EDAX0l1S 

AWARO AMOUNT AWARD DATE 
5279.620 O~/30/7a 

FUND ING HISTCRY 

BEGIN OAlC 
10/1~178 

END DATE 
12131/80 

STATUS 

PAGE 48 
02124/81 

o 78 EO $279.620 
PROJECT !'(NITOR 
CIAZ. MONSERRATE i:I>D-DATE PASSED 

GRANTEE "~~E AND ADDRESS 
PUERTO RICO OEPT OF ADGICTION SERVICES 
PO BOX fj-Y 
RIO PIEDRAS STATICN 
RIO PIEDRAS. PR 00928 

TITLE: CARISMA 

PROJECT DIRECTGR 
TO BI: NAMEU 

REPORT PROCUCED? N COST CENTER: OJJOP-SPECIAL EI1PHA~1 S 

PRCJECT SUMMARY 
CARl SMA ICOM~UNITY ACTICN FOR RESTITUTION IN SERVICE~ FOR 111~OR'S ACHIEVEMENT I 
IS BEING II'PlEHENTED BY PUcRTC RICO DEPARTMENT CF ADDICIluN SERVICES J~ TWO 
JUDICIAL DISTRICTS: ARECIeO JUDICIAL DISTRICT. WHICH INCLUDES THE 
MUNICIPALITIES OF AREClfO. BARCELCNETA. CAHUY. 'UEijRADllLAS, CIALES, HATIlLG. 
MANATI. FlCRICA. AND MOROVIS; fAYAMON JUDICIAL OISlRIGT hHILH INCLUUES BAlAMON. 
CATANC. CCRGZAL. CORACC. GUAVNABO. NARANJITO. TCA ALTA. TOA fAJA. VI:GA ALTA AND 
VEGA eAJA. THSE AREAS WERE CHOSEN BECAUSE OF THE EVIDEM:E .. HICH SHLhS A HIGH 
INCIDEhCE OF JUV~NILE DElI~QUE~CY. THE PROGRAM _tlL ijE AUMINISTI:REO BY THE 
DEPARTMENl OF ADDICTlllN SERVICES IN THE H,D SITES ALREADY MHTlUNED. THE 
MUNICIPALITIES VARY IN ~ATURE FROM RURAL TO HETROPOLJTAN/~UBLRijAN. THE GOAL OF 
THE PROJECT IS TO INVOLVE AND SERVE 166 ADJUDICATED YOulH IN THE TWC YEAR 
PRCJECT PERICC, AGES 10 TO 18. fuR ANY OffENSE k1TH THI: EXCEPTIUNS OF MURDER. 
INVOLUNTARY HCMICIDE. VIOlATICNS OF THE CCNTROlLI:O S~BSTANCES ACT. 
INCORRIGlelllTY, AND ANY VICTIMLESS CRIME. THE YUUTH ML~i fREELY ACCEPT CARISHA 
AS AN ALTERNATIVE TO INSTITUTIONALIZATION. BOTh VIGTI" AND OFfENDER SHALL AGREE 
TG MEANS OF A kRITTEN CONTRACT TO ACCEPT RESTITUTIUN A~O RESPECT EACH eTHER'S 
CIVIL RIGHTS • 
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CATEGORICAL AWARDS FOR OJJDP RELATING TO RESTITUTION PROGRAMS 
NCN-BlOCK AWARes FILE, FY 69 - 01 

GRANT NO. 
81JSAXIlD20 

AWARD AMCUNT 
$220,483 

AllARD DATE 
01/14/81 

OEGIN OATE ENU DATE 
01/01101 10/1 ... /111 

FUNDING HlSltRY 
o 01 JS $220.483 

PROJECT HCNITOR 
DIAl, MONSERRATE 

STATUS 
ACTIVE 

GRANTEE NAME ANO AODRESS 
DEPARTMENT OF ADDICTION SERVICES 
FO BOX O-Y 
RIO PIEDRAS STATION 
RIO PIEORAS. PR 00928 

TITLE: CAR ISI!A 

PRCJEC T DIIlECTOR 
VANESSA UA~ILA 

REPIlRT PROCUCEO? N COST CENTER: CJJDP-SPECIAL EMPHASIS 

PROJECT SUM'MR~ 

PAGE ... 9 
02124/81 

CARISMA (COMMUNITY ACTiON FOR RESTITUTION IN SERVICES FOR MINoR'S ACHIEVEMENTl 
IS BEING I~PLEMENTEO OY PUERTO RICO DEfARTMENT OF ADDICTION SERVICES IN T~AEE 
JUCICIAL DISTRICTS: AKECIBO JUDICIAL DISTRICT. kHICIi INCLUDES THe 
MUNICIPALITIES OF ARECIEO. BARCELCNET~, CAMUY. QUeBRADILLAS. CIALES. HATILLO. 
MANIITI. FLORlCA. AND MDROVIS; BAYAMON JUDICIAL DISIRICT \jHLCH INCLUDES BAYMCN. 
CATINO, CCRCl~L, (CRAOC, GUAYhA80, ~ARANJITO, TOA ALTA, IUA BAJA, VE~A ALTA AND 
VEG~ BAJA. THESE AREAS WERE CHCSEN BECAUSE OF ThE EYIOEhCE ~hICH Shews A ~IGH 
INCJ,DE~CE OF JUVENILE DELINQUENCY; UTUADG JUDICIAL DISliUCT IoHICH INCLUDES 
LAR'':S, ADJUIITAS AND JA~UYA. THE PR(GRAM WILL BE ADM1NISTI:I<CC EY THE DEPARTMENT 
OF ADDICTION SERVICES IN THE TIoU SITES ALREADY MENT!CNED. THE MUNICIPALITIES 
VA~Y IN NATURE FROM RURAL TO METROPOLITAN/SUBURBAN. TH~ uOAL Of THE PROJECT IS 
TO INVOLVE ANC SEKVE 120 ADJUDICATED YUUTH IN 11 MUNIH CUNIIh~ATIoN ~f A THREE 
YEAI,( PRCJECT PERIOD, AGES 10 TO 18, FOR ANY OFFENSI: "IlH lItt: EXCEPIHJNS OF 
MURDER, INVOLUNTARY HOMICIDE, VIOLATrc~s OF THE CUNTRULLED sueSTANCES ACT. 
INCORRIGIBILITY, AND ANY VICTIMLESS CRIME. THE YUUTH H~ST FREELY ACCEPT CARISMA 
AS AN ALTERNATIVE TO IIISTITUTICNALllATION. BGTH VICTl~ A~D OFfENDER SHALL AGREE 
TO MEANS OF A WRITTEN CONTRACT TO ACCEPT RESTITUlluN A~D RESPECT EACH OIliER'S 
CIVIL RIGHTS. 

TOTAL FOR STATE: $ 500 ,103 2 
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• 
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• 
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GRAND TOTAl: $27,556,565 

ITEMS RETRIEVED 54 

PAGE 50 
021210181 
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FEBRUARY 1981 

MONTHLY REPORT OF THE 

NATIONAL JlrvENILE RESTITUTION EVALUATION PROJECT 

-- SCHEDULE FOR PROJECT DATA REPORTS --

SOLE-SANCTION RESTITUTION COMPARED WITH COMBINED DISPOSITIONS 

-- LOCAL EVALUATION RESULTS FRml MAINE PROJECT 

-- ANALYSIS OF MIS DATA --

Peter R. SchneidElr, PhD, principal Investigator 

Anne L. Schneider, PhD, Co-Principal Investigator 

William R. Griffith, MA, Research Associate 

INSTITU1~ OF POLICY ANALYSIS 

777 High Street, Suite 222 

Eugene, Oregon 97401 

FUnding for this report and research was provided by Grant Nos. 
77-NI-99-0005 and 79-NJ-AX-0009 from the Law Enforcement ASsistance 
Administration, OJJDP/NIJJDP, Department of Justice, Washington, DC. 
Points of,view or opinions stated in this document are those of the 
authors, and do not necessa.rily represent the official position or 
policies of the Department of Justice. 
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HIGHLIGHTS OF THE NATIONAL RESTITUTION INITIATIVE IN JUVENILE COURTS 

Introduction and Overview 

• The documented amount of monetary restitution actually paid in the 

National Juvenile Restitution Initiative has exceeded ~l million, according 

to data submitted to the Institute of Policy Analysis through the Manage-

ment Information System. 

Monetary restitution has been collected from about 6,500 referrals, 

who have paid an average of approximately $165 each. Through November 30 

about $2.4 million in monetary restitution have been ordered. 

Beside .. the usual analyses of ~IIS data, this Monthly Evaluation Rep~rt 

also contains a summary of some recent findings regarding restitution as a 

sole sanction; Some results of a local evaluation of the OJJDP-funded project 

in Haine; and a schedule for the production of two-year Project Data Reports. 

Nearly 16,000 young offenders have been referred to restitution pro-

jects since the initiative began. More than 11,600 cases have been closed 

about 87 percent of them successfully. 

Other highlights of the initiative are as follows: 

,I Nearly 17,000 victims were invol.ved in the offenses that resulted in 

referrals to restitution projects. Documented victim loss exceeds $8.7 

million. 

,I Nearly 178,000 hours of community service, and more than 4,000 hours of 

victim service have been worked. The amounts ordered are 318,720 and 5,107 

hours, respectively. 

New Schedule for HERs and PDRs 

Evaluation reports from IPA on a mon"tnly lJasis will be discontinued 

after the Narch NER. Prom that point on, e,·aluation reports -- featuring 
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MIS data analyses and including summaries of research findings, local 

evaluations, and so forth -- will be issued every two months. 

In addition, the quarterly Project Data Reports will be discontinued. 

In their place, two more data reports will be prepared for each project: 

on!! at the end of the second year of OJJDP funding, and the other at the end 

of the third and final year. A schedule for the preparation and mailing of 

the two-year reports is included in this evaluation report. 

The decrease in the frequency of MERs and PDRs was necessitated by a 

decline in the resources available for the national evaluatjon. However, the 

number of cases has grown so large that changes in the national statistics 

are virtually imperceptible on a month-to-month basis. 

SCHEDULE FOR PROJECT DATA REPORTS 

In the upcoming months, IPA will be producing Project Data Reports 

(PDRs) for all restitution projects in the ipitiative covering their first two 

years of OJJDP funding. Since not all projects have the same two-year anni-

versary funding date, the PDRs will be produ=ed on a staggered schedule oVer 

the next six months. The PDR schedule is presented below: 

The following projects will have PDRs mailed in ~U<RCH, covering all referrals 
and closures tfirougn S"ptelliber 30, 1980. 

Delaware State 
Washington DC 
Lynn, MA 
Dane County, WI 
New Bedford, WI 
Cumberland, ME 
Prince Georges, MD 
Wayne, HI 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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The following-projects will have PDRs mailed in APRIL, covering all referrals 
and closures through October 31, 1980. 

The 
and 

The 
and 

The 
and 

The 
and 

Charleston, SC 
Ventura, CA 
Western, AR 
Camden, NJ 
Rio Piedras, PR 
Wisconsin State 
Quincy, MA 
New Orleans, LA 
Jefferson County, KY 
El Paso, TX 
Geauga Co., OH 

following £rojects will have PDRs'mailed 
closures through November 30, 1980. 

Hennepin Co., MN 
New York State 
Summit Co., OH 
Lucas Co., OH 

followin2 project will ha~e a PDR mailed 
closures through December 31, 1980. 

Broward Co. , FL 

following projects will have PURs mailed 
closures through January 31, 19in. 

Nevada State 
New Jersey State 

following projects will have PDRs mailed 
closures through February 

I-Iashington Co., MN 
Boise, ID 
Red Lake, MN 
Belmont-Harrison, OH 
Oklahoma County, OK 
Chicago, IL 
Norwich, CT 
Hamilton Co., OH 
AdamS-Brown Cos., OH 
Clayton Co., GA 
Newport News, VA 
Washington State 

28, 1981. 

in HAY, covering all referrals 

in JUNE, coverinSl, all referrals 

in JULY, covering all referrals 

in AUGUST, covering all referrals 
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IPA is encouraging all projects to submit MIS intake forms for all 

referrals received prior to the deadline dates listed above, and MIS ~ 

forms for all referrals closed prior to the deadline dates. Please submit 

these forms by the tenth of the month preceding the month that your POR will 

be mailed (e.g., if your PDR will be mailed in March, we must receive all of 

your MIS forms by the tenth of February, 1981). Your Evaluation Coordinator 

will be contacting you with further information regarding the PORs. 

SOLE-SANCTION RESTITUTION COHPAREO WITH COMBINED DISPOSITIONS 

An important issue in the use of monetary and community service 

restitution as sanctions for juvenile delinquency is whether they should 

be used alone, with no other dispositional requirements, or in conjunc

tion with other sanctions such as probation. While some model sentencing 

codes and proposed juvenile justice standards suggest that sole-sanction 

restitution is anp-opriate, it generally is used as a condition 0; pro

bation and hence an "add-onl! sentence. 

As part of the national evaluation of the O"JOP-funded juva~ile 

restitution initiative, the Institute of policy Analysis recently completed 

a study which comp~red juvenile offenders who received dispositions of 

restitution or commmlity service as a sole sanction with those who were 

given similar sentences as conditions of probation. The research indicated 

that the "sole sanction" you':f>S had higher program completion rates and lower 

reoffense rates than those who were given combined dispositions. 

The study was based on the records of approximately 7,000 referrals to 

restitution projects whose caSes had been closed. Comparisons were made 

among youth in three categories based on the degree of court control: 

those referred to projects as a sole sanctiop;, with no additional require-

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



103 

5 

ments; those referred to projects as a condition of prohation; and those 

referred to projects while under a suspended commitment to a state or local 

youth corrections agency. 

According to the data, 95 percent of the offenders who made restitution 

as a sole sanction completed their court-ordered requirements, as compared 

• with 87 percent in each of the other two categories. Similarly, youths 

ordered to make restitution as a sole sanction were less likely to commit new 

offenses. The differences among the categories continued to hold even when 

other factors -- such as socio-economic status, gender, prior police contacts, 

and other offense seriousness were taken into account. '. The complete report may be obtained by writing to the Institute of Policy 

Analysis, 777 High Street, suite 222, Eugene, Oregon 97401. 

LOCAL EVALUATION RESULTS FROH ~!AINE PROJECT 

• Offenders being referred to the OJJDP-iunded Restitution Alternative 

project in southern Maine are similar in most respects to those being in car-

cerated, according to local evaluator Gary B. Smith and Associates. 

A major goal of the study '-.Tas to determi:1e the extent to \\'hich ~,e resti-

tution project is being used as an alternative to incarceration. The study 

•. compared youth in four dispositional categories: the restitution project, 

probation, restitution plus probation, and incarceration. 

There were no significant differences among the groups with respect to 

race, gender and school stat'lS. Moreover, youth referred to the restitution 

• project tended to be similar to the incarcerated group with respect to offense 

seriousness. The data indicated, however, that incarcerated youth tend to have 

more arrests and more prior convictions. 

The success rates for youth in the restitution project parallel those of 

the initiative as a whole: they range from 74 percent for monetary restitution 

.• to 88 percent for community service. 
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More than half of the victims for whom restitution was ordered were 

private citizens. About one-third were businesses and 14 percent were 

public agencies. 

ANALYSIS OF. MIS DATA 

6 

The restitution projects submitting data through the Management 

Information System (MIS) reported a total of 15,997 referrals and 11,612 caSe 

closures through the end of November, 1980. Currently, 83 of the 85 restitution 

projects are submitting data. Information about the referrals and closures is 

contained in Tables" 1 through 14 and reflects data received by IPA as of 

January 9, 1981. 

Types and Amounts of Restitution 

Monetary restitution remains the most common type of restitution ordered, 

wi~, 67 percent of all plans involving some monetary repayment to the victim 

(Table 1). The total amount of restitution ordered is currently about $2.4 

million and averages about $247 per youth =or those ordered to pal: some 

monetary restitution. 

The total number of community service hours ordered presently exceeds 

318,000 and represents an average of 52 hours per youth for those ordered 

to complete community service. The total number of victim service hours 

ordered (5,104) averages about 32 hours for those ordered to complete victim 

service. 

Description of Closed Cases 

The 11,612 youths whose cases were closed by the end of November (Table 

2) paid a total of $1,076,200 in restitution, worked 177,935 hours in unpaid 

community service jobs, and completed 4,157 hours of direct victim service. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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The cumulative proportion of caseS in which the youth completed the 

restitution requirements as originally ordered (Table 4) is currently 72.7 

percent of all closed cases, unchanged from last month's cumulative pro-

portion. When cases closed in full compliance with adjusted requirements 

are included in the figures, and project-identified ineligibles are excluded, 

the current rate of successful completion for the initiative is 87 percent. 

Information about the status of youths at the time their restitution was 

completed is contained in Table 10. Most of the youths (85.6 percent) had 

no subsequent contacts with the juvenile courts after the offense that resulted 

in a referral to the project and prior to their case closure, although 65 per-

cent remained under some type of court supervision after the completion of 

their restitution. 

Characteristics of Offenders, Offenses, and Victims 

The characteristics of referrals to the restitution projects continue 

to sho ... · little change (Table 5). Seventy-one percent of all referrals are 

White, 76 percent attend school on a full-time basis, 90 percent are male, 

and their ages average 15.4 years. 

The total documented loss currently exceeds $8.7 million, with the 

majority of victims tending to be persons or households rather than insti-

tutions, businesses, or public property (Table 6). 

Burglary is the most common offense for which youths are ordered to 

make restitution (Table 7). Overall, property offenses comprise about 86 

percent of all referrals, personal offenses about ten percent, victimless 

offenses about two percent, and other minor offenses about two percent. 
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TABLE 1. TYPP. AND AMOUNT OF RESTITDTION ORDEREOI 

CU/llJLJ\TlVE 
INTAKE IllFORMl\TION TRANSFERS DEC JAN FE9 HAR APRIL HAY JWE JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV TIlROUGH 

80 NOV 30, 1~1 

REFERRl'.LS 

'lbtal nUmber intakes 551 670 911 908 996 902 816 800 807 616 705 652 440 15,997 

Uumher of projucts reporting 16 69 72 75 77 78 84 84 83 83 83 83 83 03 

TYPE OF RESTITUTION 

Total number of plans 529 635 734 752 707 817 721 713 714 537 581 538 392 14,605 

----
• monotarY rest! tution plans 367 358 410 463 445 401 383 401 418 300 295 208 225 8,063 

" COmtnlUlity service plnns no lR4 lql 199 242 297 
I--

251 216 225 173 210 191 125 4,499 

II victim service plans 0 0 II 4 5 6 1 2 2 4 4 1 0 90 

• with court costs, fines (only) 56 5 3 7 6 1 4 0 0 3 2 0 2 255 

• m:lnctary and community service 26 76 97 78 05 106 80 90 67 55 65 53 40 1,613 

" monetary and victim service 0 3 2 1 2 3 2 2 1 2 2 1 0 51 -------
" communi ty ilnd victim service 0 1 0 0 2 3 0 1 1 0 0 4 a 18 

• other plans 0 0 0 a 0 0 a 1 0 0 3 0 0 16 

• no plans or missing data 22 43 77 56 109 85 95 87 93 79 124 114 49 1,392 

AMOUNT OF RESTITli,TION ORDERED 

Monetary restitu'don ordered (in 
thousands of do] laJ;'s) Sn_5 S104.8 S128.7 S122.4 S133.9 S138.4 S121.0 S124.8 S115.0 S99.7 S103.1 $90.3 S74.9 S2,399.8 --

eonutlunity servIce hours ordered 6,162 1],492 14,4:!1 15,%2 17,987 22,O~5 19,114 16, B7B 10,059 12,889 15,771 13,387 8,570 318,720 .-
Victim service hours ordered - 21.5 640 177 J41 620 46 lRl 127 94 217 66 - 5,104 

~ 

lEntrles in thl! table represent HIS intake ,forms on project referrals through tlovembcr 30, 1980 that were received at IPA by January 9, 1981- Plans 
Involving eouct conts, fines, and/or 1lttorney's fees arc lIsted ::wparately under type of restitution only if no other type of monetary or non-monetary 
restitution W,lS jnvolved. tnlen court costs (flnes, etc.) were ot'uercd along with another type of restitution, then the plan was listed under the latter 
category. Tim amounts of restitution ordered do not include any court costs, fines, or attorney's fees. 
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TABLE 2. TYPE MID A/>IOlltlT OF RRSTITIITION COMPLETED FOR CrnSED CASRS

I 

-_. 
CUMULATIVE 

CWStJRE lUFORHATION TRANSFERS DEC JAU FEn lIAR APR !lAY ,nnlE JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV TJlROUGII 

NOV. 30. 19 80 

~ 
TOtal nurnlJer of closures 461 520 5S0 ~~3 621 639 567 805 876 797 642 645 543 1l.612 -----

• completed 09 originally ordered 300 373 • 401 418 413 437 406 593 654 599 435 414 350 8,411 

• completed with adjustments 35 31 32 23 33 30 34 41 71 61 51 42 29 689 - --
" closlld. for other ct.!asons 126 116 117 J 52 115 163 127 171 151 137 156 109 164 2.512 

. 
1'YPE OF RESTITI1l'ION FOR Cr.oSED CASES 

'JOti'll number of plans 443 401 4n 539 sn 555 508 7J5 821 730 568 547 442 10,552 

H monetary restitution 293 242 2Sl) 104 324 265 271 ·369 453 395 327 310 255 5.743 
.-

II commun i ty !Jorv 1 co 74 163 J 55 .l49 155 210 106 266 245 239 166 160 133 J.356 
1-' 

II victim service a 5 8 5 5 3 4 3 9 4 4 2 3 80 S 
tI with court costs, fines (only) 53 12 3 20 7 2 J 4 1 0 2 0 0 203 

If mollf:tary and community service 22 54 60 ~l 54 73 42 91 108 87 65 72 48 1,087 

• monetary and victim scrvicil 0 1 5 1 2 0 1 1 1 J 3 2 2 42 

if community fmd victim service 1 1 2 0 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 0 14 

, other plans 0 J 1 J a 1 0 1 J 1 1 0 1 27 

If no plans or missing data 10 39 58 <;4 74 03 59 70 55 67 74 98 101 1.060 

1\MOlJUT OF nl-~STITl11'IOn COMPLETED 

H()nctary restitution p .. lid (in 
thousands of dollar~) $47.2 $43.6 $12 . ., $40.3 $57.1 $48.9 $40.2 $76.0\ $96.5 $96.4 $71.0 $69.7 $64.7 $1,076.2 

Community service hours worked 4.447 8.150 9,017 6.5'0 is. 719 Lt. 460 9.269 1).434 l3,706 7.250 2,192 0.201 7,939 177.935 

vJctim service hours worked - LJo\ fi70 102 202 84 S59 129 308 104 131 75 72 4.157 

In. .. ta on caso closures include all closures through UOvcmJll~r 10, J,(}W) for which HIS closure forms were rcceiVl!d at IPA by January 9, 19B1. Court costs and 
finos are not included in the amount of restitution completed. ~1orc detailed information on reasons for closinq cases is in Table 4. 
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TABLE 3. SOURCE OF HJNHTARY IlE5TITUTION FOR CLOSED IlE5TXTU'UON CASES! 
---- - ------ -- ---- - ., 

CASES CLOSED 
HJNETARY RESTITlrrION TRANSFERS DEC JAN FED MIIRCII APRIL MAY JUNE JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV THROUGI/ 

NOV. 30, 19B 

SOURCE OF HJtlETARY RESTITUTIOI· 

, from youths 81\ 90l 80l 90\ 89\. 94' 89' 92' 93\ 96' 94' 93 89' 91\ 

, from parents 17' Ol 9' 10\ 10' sl 1\ 10' 6' 3' 5' 6 9' 8' 

, from other 1\ 2' 4' 0' 0' 0' l' l' l' 0' 0' 1 2' 1\ 

TOTAlS 99' 100 101' 100' 99' 99l 97' 103\ 100' 99' 99' 100 100' 100' 

SOURCE OF YOtrrIlS' MONETARY 
RESTITI1'rIOU 

, from employment found by 
49' 33 33' 35\ 31' 29' 38' 35' 20' 26' 30' 29 25' 30' youths 

\ from employment found by 
project 47' 62 60' 'ig" (·4\ 66\ 56' 60\ 70\ 70' 64' 64 65' 64l 

, from savings or other 
sources 5' 5' 8' 6' 5' 5\ 6' 6\ 9' 3\ 6\ 9 10' 7\ 

TOTALS IOU 100 lOll 100' 100\ 100' 100' lOll 99' 99' 100\ 102 100' 101\ 

EARNINGS lUm SUBSIDY 

Total reported earnings $21,936 $42,15 $38,070 $44,72. $50,094 $41,696 $44,669 $71,030 $99,258 101,45 $67,958 $59,976 $58,751 1,002,578 

Total subsidy from project 
$10,220 $33,88 $28,440 $34,06 $43,837 $34,465 $34,577 $56,538 $79,992 $78,70 $57,566 $49,94 $42,913 $784,409 funds 

, of earnings kept by youths 33\ 33 34\ 37 30' 24\ 30' 31\ 31\ 28 33\ 30' 29' 32\ 

-
IThc reported earnings shown in the lower portion of the table include project subsidies and any dollars earned In addition to the subsidized l1mounts that 
were known to the project. 
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TABLE 4. COHPLB'I'J()II OF ORIGINAL RESTITlrnON RF.Q.UtREHENTS 

-- -- --- -- --- ---_ .. - - - -- -- ---- ------
ALL CASES 

CUlSURE INFORHA'l'ION TRANSFERS DEC J/IN FEn 11l1R IIPRrL HAY JUNE JULY /lUG SEPT ocr NOV C/.OSEO TIIROUGII 

, NOV. 30, 1980 

REJ\SON FOR CLOSURE U of cases) 461 520 550 592 621 63B 567 B05 B76 796 63B 633 522 11,571 

'" closed with full compliance 64, 71\ 72' 71' 67' 6B' 72' 74, 75, 75' 6B' 65' 67l 72.7' 

, closed with oldjustmentS! 7' 6' 5\ 4> 5' 6' 6' 5' B' B' B' 6' 5' 6.0' 

t project identified inoliqJble 6, 10> 11\ n 13' 10' 9' 9\ 6' B' 11' 15' 16' 9.2' 

, never placed 1\ 1\ 1\ 0' U 1\ 1\ 1\ 1\ 1\ 1\ U 1\ 0.4' 

, lost pos1 tlons 1\ l' II 2' l\ 1\ 1\ 1\ 1\ 1\ 1\ 1.\ 1\ 0.7' 

, unsucces~ful in meeting 
restitotion requirements 9' 4t 3' 3' 3\ 4' 3\ 3\ 3' 3' 2\ 5' 2' 3.5\ 

, YOllths re fused to participate U l' 2' 2> 2' 2' 2' 2' 1\ 1\ l' 2' 2' 1.7' 

, clos(!d due to subsequent offense 2\ l' 2' 2', 3\ 3\ 3' H 2' l' 4' 2' 2' 2 .. 0\ 

, closed because youths committed 
to secure facility 1\ l' l' n 2' 1\ l' t> I' l' l' l' n 0.8' 

t other 8\ 4' 2' B' 3\ 4' 2' 3\ 2' I\ )\ 2' 3\ 3.1\ 

- ---
TOTlt.LS 100' 100' 100' 100> 100' 100\ 100\ 100' 100\ 100' 100\ 100\ 100' 100.0, 

PROPORTION Of" ORIGIUAL ORDERS 

~ 
, of (lallan; paid 6],\ 71' B1\ 77', 7R' 69' 81\ 7", 79\ 84' 00\ 79' an 76, 

------
, of conununlty se~vlce hour!l worked ~l\ B1\ 76' 77' 74> 74' 75' 79' 7B\ BS' 92\ 7B' M' 79, 

, of victim .service hours worked 1 - 97' )45' _ 
i---

170', 146' 153' 291' 100' 62' 79' 24' 20)' lOa' it)' 

lThcae figllres will exceed 100 percent in some instances because of adjustments in restitution o'l:d~rs 'Where more vlc~lrn. service is worked than was 
oxdcrcd, or- where victim service 1s worked in lieu of or In "deUtion to ",onetary restitution or unpaid community service. 
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TADLB 5. DI-;HCX;RAPlilC CIIARACTERISTJCS OF OFFENDERS 

CIIARACTERISTIC TIUIIlSFERS DEC JAIl rl,n MlIRCII IIPRTL HAY JUNE JULY 

- -
~ (If of cases) (540) (660) (005) (795) (B811 (BBB) (B02) (787) (797) 

White BO\ 73 71' 70> 69> 6B> 69\ 69\ 71\ 

Dlack 14\ 2H 21> 25\ 26\ 20' 25\ 26> 24\ 

Mexican 4\ 2 l' 2' 1\ 1\ 1\ 1\ n 

Hilt! vc l\.rJIr.ri can It 2' 3\ U 10 1\ 1\ 1\ 1\ 

PUerto Rican o. 1 3t n 1\ 1\ 3\ 2> 2\ 

Other I. 1 1\ l' 2> 1\ 1\ 1\ it 

TOTAL 100> 100 100. 100' 100> 100> 100\ 100\ 100\ 
-

SCIiOOL STATUS (. of cases) (407) (659) (759) (76B) (032) (053) (779) (769) (7B3) 

E'ull-tirnc 76> 76 77. 73t 77' 72\ 73\ 7B\ BO\ 

Uot in School 21\ 21 10' 22' 20' 24' 23\ 20, 17\ 

Other 3\ 3' 5> 5> 3' 4\ 4' 2\ 3' 

TOTAl. 100\ 100 laO> 100\ 100\ 100> 1.00\ 100\ 100\ 

ill (II of cases) (546) (676 1 (811) (nOS) (093) (B99) (Bll) (794) (BOO) 

Hale 92\ 89 90' 9H 90' 90' 93\ 09\ 91\ 

i"ornale 8\ 11 lU' 9' 10\ 10\ 7\ In 9\ 

TOTAL '100\ 100 100> 100> 100\ 100\ 100\ 100\ 100\ 

.. --
~ (I of cases) (539) (672) (802) (Ball (OB9) (094) (003) (793) (792) 

Average age 15.1 15. 15. ~ 15.4 ~5. 3 15.4 15.5 15.3 15.4 

~ U of canes) (337) (341) (450) (452) (504) (533) (465) (471) (516) 

Hudian incom~ $9,001 $12,OO[ $12,000 $12.00C $12,000 $14,000 S12,OOO $12,300 $12,000 

• • • • • • 

AUG SEPT OCT 

(602) (693) (64B) 

70> 66\ 67' 

25\ 29\ 2B\ 

1\ 1\ 1\ 

2' 1\ 1\ 

1\ 2\ 1\ 

1\ n 2\ 

100\ 100' 100' 

(594) (674) (625) 

B3\ B5> 7B\ 

15\ 12\ 17' 

2\ 3\ 5\ 

100\ 100\ 100\ 

(613) (703) (6511 

69\ 91' 89\ 

11\ 9\ 11\ 

100\ 100\ 100\ 

(603) (692) (630) 

15.3 15.3 15.5 

(300) (399) (343) 

S12,000 $12,000 $12,500 

• 

NOV 

(432) 

66\ 

2BO 

2' 

n 

1\ 

2' 

100\ 

(419) 

B2\ 

IH 

1\ 

100\ 

(436) 

93\ 

7\ 

100\ 

(430) 

15.3 

(276) 

$12,000 

ALL REPERRAr.s 
THROUGII 

o NOV. 3D, 19BC 

(15,697) 

71.2\ 

23.2\ 

1.4\ 

1.6\ 

1.6\ 

0.9' 

100.0' 

(15,227) 

76.4\ 

19.5' 

4.1\ 

100.0\ 

(15,922) 

89.9\ 

10.1\ 

100.0\ 

(15,772) 

15.4 

(9,2511 

$12,000 
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VIC'rIM INFORMATION TRANSFERS I DEC JAN 

Tota I number of victims 539 724 066 

TABLE 6. CIIARAC'rEniSTICS OF VICTIMS I 

FEB HAR APR MAY .Jlme 

0.J5 930 947 921 067 

• • • 
ALL REFERRALS 

JULY I AUG I SEPT I OCT I NOV I TIIRQUGII 

NOV. JO, 1980 

843 I 665 I 783 I 655 I 496 I 16,863 

Total reported victim 1059, in 
lhol1si\nds of dollars (based on 
date from 12.924 intake forms) ______________ ---,I-___ -I-IS_2_2_6_.8-1IS390.0 IS344'0--1,4.54.0 rJ29 • 2 r308 • 6 f569.1 1 S355.0 IS392.1 IS298.5 IS315.3 ISI68.9IS8 ,757.2 S221.1 

,'otal reported amount recov~red by 
vi ctim from insurance and other 
M0l1rCCS 2 (based on data from 
11,1)15 intakes) in thousands of 
dollars I $45.7 $67.7 ISI4].(' 1$110.0 IS183.0 ISOl.3 ~163.3 ~177.3 1$125.11$123.0 I $89.7 1 $98.3 1 $45.8Is3,ooo.6 

proportion of referrals involving 
personal or household victims 

proportion of referrals 1nvolving 
5chool s or olher public property 
as vict1m 

64\ 66\ 66' 

13\ 14\ 

66' 66\ 66\ 67\ 

13\ 13' 

68' 66\ 65\ 68\ 72\ 70\ 66\ 

15\ 12\ 13\ 10\ 7\ 13\ 13\ 
1-------,---

13', I 12" I 13' 
,---··-f--I--l--i--I--i--i--I--I-I---

Proportion of referrals involving 
institutional victims (s'tores or 
businesses) 29\ 26\ 26'\ :Hi1. 26\ 26\ 25\ 23\ 26\ 28\ 27\ 24\ 21\ 27\ 

IThc number of victims reported 1n Row 1 may exceed the totlll number of intakes shown on previous tables because some incidents have multi pIe victims. The 
percentages shown in .the lower portion of the table may (.n":t!cd 100 percent because some incidents involve more than one type of victim and both are coded. 

2A smLlll proportion of this--about 12 percent--is restitution from co-offenders. 
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TABLE 7. TYPES OF OFFENSES 
1 

REFERRALS 
OFFENSE TRANSFERS OEC JAN FEB HIIR APR MAY JUNE JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV THROUGH 

NOV. 30 1 1980 

TYPE OF OFFENSE (I of cases) (535) (676) (810) I (ROB) (896) (901) (815) (BOO) (B07) (616) '(705) (652) (440) (15,965) 

Burglary 32\ 34_ 36\ 34' 33. 34\ '39' 35' 35' 38' 36' 35' 35' 34.5' 

larceny 13' 1B\ 11\ 20' 20\ 19' 19' 20' 20' 19' 20' 19' 21\ 19.1' 

Vandalism 17. 14' 16' 13' 13l lsl U' 15' 14' 14' 14\ 14' 15' 13.4' 

-
f1otor Vehicle Theft 12\ U\ U\ 10\ 9' 9' 9' 10' 10l 7' 7' U\ B' 9.6' 

Assault 4\ 6\ 6' 7\ 6\ 5\ 5> 5\ 5\ 5\ 7> 6' 4' 5.4' 

-
Robbery 3\ 3l 4\ 4\ 4\ 3\ 4' 3\ 3' 2' 4\ 3\ 5' 3.2\ 

Rape 0\ 0\ 0' 0\ 1\ 1\ 1\ Ol 0\ Ol 0' 1\ n 0.1\ 

Other Personal Offenses 10 2\ 1\ n 1\ l' II 1\ 3' 1\ 2' 1\ 3' 1.4' 

Other Property Offenses U\ B\ 1\ B' 9\ B\ Bl 9' 8\ 10' 1\ 8. 5' 9.1\ 

Other Hinor Offenses 2' 2\ 1\ 2' 2' 2\ 1\ 1\ 1\ 2' 2' l' 2' 1. 7' 

Victimless Offenses sl 2' n .1\ 2' 3l 2l 1\ II 2\ 1\ 1\ 1\ 2.3' 

TOTALS 100\ 100\ IDOl 100' 100' IDOl I~Ol 100\ 100\ 100' 100' 100\ 100\ 100.0' 

lOffenses are coded by IPA personnel from the narrative description of the offense contained on the HIS form. codinq categories and rules are those used in 
the Un! form Crime Reports (VCR). Offense classifications shown in this ta!Jle reflect the actual event, 8S described on the MIS fom, end not necessarily 
the offense charged. 
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TABI.E B. SERJOUStiESS OF REFERRAL OFPEUSES

1 

REFERRALS 
SERIOUSNESS CATEGORY DEC JAN FEB HAR APR HAY JUNE JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV THROUGII 

NOV. 30, 

Number of cases 669 796 792 B61 B69 7B7 792 795 60B 700 650 436 15.106 

Victimless: Includes traffic accidents or tickets, 
S"t"atus offenses, drugs, alcohol, gambling, prosti-
tution, and prol;>ation violations. 2' 2' 1\ 2' 3\ 3' 2' 2\ 2\ 1\ 1\ 1\ 2.3\ 

Minor Offenses: Minor offenses not easily classi-
fied 85 property or personal, such as disorderly 

1\ 2' 2' 1\ 1\ l' 1\ 1\ 2\ 2\ 1\ 2' 1.6\ 
conduct. 

Hinor Propcrtl: Any prOl,erty offense wi th loss/ 
dllma9c of $10 or less, except burglary. 11' 9' 10' 15\ 12\ 15' 15' 14\ 15\ 17\ 15\ 17\ 13.1\ 

Hinor Personal: Resisting or ohstructing an officer, 
coercion, ha.?inq, other similar UCR Pllrt II offenses. 2' 1\ 2' 3' 3' 1\ I' 2\ 1\ 2' 2' 2\ 2.1\ 

Moduratc propcrt:.:, DurglarJ os with loss/damage of 
SlO or les::; and any other type of property offense 
with loss/dnmac)e of $11 to $250. 20' 2n, 26\ 20' 30\ 26\ 27\ 30' 29\ 27\ 36\ 25\ 2B.2\ 

---
Serious J'lro[!ert~: ourglaries with loss/damage of 

1 $11 to $250 and any other property offense with 
loss/damage greater than $250. 31' 31\ 31\ 20% 27' 27\ 29' 27\ 26\ 24' 21\ 23\ 2B.0\ 

--- ---
Verl:: Serious Pro~ert~: Burglaries with I09s/damage 
of $250 or moro. 15' 19' IB, 15' 17\ 1B' 17\ 16\ 1B, 16\ 15\ 20\ 17.1\ 

Serious Personal; Unarmed robberies and non-
aggravated llSSilults with loss of $250 or less. 5' 4, 5' 4> J' 5' 4> 4' 2\ 5\ 4\ 5\ 3.9\ 

Vcr~ Serious Pnr!3onal: Unarmed rohberlcs and noo-
aggr:avatcd assaults with losses exceeding $250 and 
all UCR Part I personal crimes including rape. 

4' 4\ 6\ armed robbery, aggravated assault. 4' 4' 5\ 4\ 4' 4\ 5\ 5\ 5' 3.1\ 

TOTALS 100' 100' lOOt 100' 100\ !.Ou' 100, 100\ 100' 100' 100\ 100' 100.0\ 

lOffcnses arc coded by IPJ\ personnel from the narrative description of the offense contained on the HIS forms. Coding categori-es and rules are those used 
in the t~t1form Crime Reports (UCR). Transfer cases ~ included. 
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TABLE 9. OFFENSE IIISTORY OF REFERRALS 1 
--- -

REFERRALS 
CATEGORY DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUlIE JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV TIlROUGIl 

.,,'" ,n 

PRIOR OFFENSES (I of cas •• ) (654) (77B) (766) (061) (86B) (7RO) (773) (767) (574) (646) (597) (412) (14,700) 

None 50' 54\ 49\ 51\ 49\ 51\ 51\ 52\ 57\ 56\ 53' 4B\ 51.4' 

Ono 20\ 16\ 21\ 21\ 23> 21\ 19\ 23\ 20\ 1B\ 20\ 24\ 19.9\ 

'1\010 10\ U\ 12' 10> U\ 10\ 11' 10' 9' U\ 9\ 12' 10.B\ 

Three or more 20\ 19' 1B\ 10> 17\ lB\ 19\ 15' 14' 15\ lB\ 16\ 17.9' 

TOTAL 100\ 100\ 100> 100\ 100\ 100\ 100\ 100' 100' 100\ 100\ 100' 100.0\ 
-

TOTAL OFFEtlSES/CilARGES 
(If of cases) (67B) (B10) (BOB) (096) (902) (B14) (799) (B06) (616) (704) (652) (439) (15.432) 

One B6' 89\ 90\ 91\ 91' BB' 90\ 91\ 90\ 8B\ 91\ BO\ a9.0\ 

'1\010 10' 7\ 7\ 7\ 6' 8\ 7\ 5\ 7\ 6> 6\ 8\ 6.8\ 

Three or JTJ)re 4\ 4' 3' 2' 3' 4' J\ 4' 3\ 6' 3\ 4\ 4.1\ 

TOTAL 100' 100\ 100' 100\ 100\ 100\ 100\ 100\ 100\ 100\ 100\ 100\ 100.0' 

AVF.RAGE rWHrlEn np 
PRIOR On'ENSES 1.40 1. 37 1.33 1. 26 1. 35 1. 34 1. 43 LIB 1.05 1.14 1.2B 1. 30 1.37 

AVERAGE NUHllf:R OF 
m·FEf'SP.S/CIIARGP.s 1.26 1.23 1.19 1.15 1.16 1.21 1.lA 1.19 1.19 1. 30 1.16 1.1B 1.21 

IDcfinitions and coding rules used on this table are as follows: Friar Offenses--all delinquent acts coming to the a.ttention of juvenile court intake prior 
to the Immediate offense, status offenses and traffic vi01nl tons are not included, nor are alleqations screened out due to insufficient evidence. TOtal 
Offcnses/Char2£.:!.--total number of separate criminal acts incorporated in the petition for the irrmedlate offensel no offense should be counted in th~ 
category if it was counted as a prior offense. Tram.fer cas,es ~ included in this analysis .. 
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CIiAIlI\CTERISTICS 

COURT STATUS U of cases) 

No longer under jurisdiction (\) 

On probation or sUllcrvision (\) 

Court review scheduled (\) 

OLher (\) 

LIVItlG SITiJATION (It of cascs) 

TAnI.I-: Ill. STATUS OF YOIrrllS AT CASE CLOSURE
1 

REFERIlI\LS 

RANSFERSI DBC JAn FED ~tJ\R APR ~y JUlIE .JULY AUG SEPT OCT lIOV TIlROUGII 

455 

50\ 

42\ 

J\ 

8\ 

435 

~..J9ao 

::2.... ~_! 509 fi12 637 565 802 872 787 636 641 537" 11,502 

40\ 3H 36\ 28\ 32\ 27\ 37\ 33\ 30\ 33\ 32\ 28\ 34.6\ 

50\ 53\ 54\ .61\ 57' 62\ 57\ 59\ 62' 57\ 59\ 62\ 55.5\ 

t---m- 10\ a\ 10\ 10\ 12\ 7\ 10\ 8\ 8\ 10\ 8\ 9.4\ 

13\ 1 12\ J __ ~_~-l._~_~~_L_~~ __ 9_\_I __ 7_\_1 8\ 8\ 9\ 10' 10\ 9.7\ 

507 546 579 510 631 550 789 067 790 637 639 532 11,358 

I,ivin'1 with family, CjuardiulI, relativcs (\) 82\ 89'L £17\:1 80\ £i'6t 80\ 00\ 90\ 90\ 93\ 90\ 91\ 91'\ 09.1\ 
---~--------~~------~---------~~---~~-------- ~ H(ln-Securu, out.-oE-homo plact!mcnt (\l 5% '11, 61, 4\ 4\ 31. 4\ 41. 3\ J\ 2\ )\ 3\ 3.7\ 

--- ---
Secure facility (\) 6\ 4\ 4\ 5\ 8t 6\ 5\ 4\ 5\ J' 5% 5\ 5\ 4.9'\ 

OthtJr (\) 7'\ 3\ 3\ 3\ 2\ 3\ 3\ 2\ 2\ 1\ )\ 1\ 1\ 2.3\ 

'roTAI. 100\ --wo;,-~' 100\ toO\ 100\ 100'. 100\ 100\ 100\ 100\ 100'\ 100\ 100~0\ 

===:======lI=I=I=cl =1==1==1==1==1 ' 1==I==I==I==t=== 
r-:HrrDYHBUT SITIIATION (H of cases) 461 520 'iSO 593 621 638 5(j7 805 I 076 797 642 645 543 11,612 

- - ----- -::::-1--1- ------1---
tlt)t employed (,It)(!s not want to work) '\) 19\ 36\ 28\ 30\ 33\ 29\ 30\ 22\ 29\ 33\ 34\ 36\ 36\ 28.6\ 

Unemployed (wllnts work but has no job) (\) 1)\ ~2'f, 27\ 23\ 231. 26\ 29\ 29\ 26'\ 31'\ 30\ 26\ 25\ 26.3\ --, 
Employed (\) 35't. 25\ 2Rt 2r,'t. 26\ 29\ 26\ 33\ 33\ 24\ ;:l2\ 26\ 20\ 28.1% 

--- I-
Other 1\' 33\ :;7\ 17\ 21' 10\ 16' 15' 16\ 12\ 12\ 14\ I !~, 19' 17.0' 

'1'f)1'Al~ 100\ lOO'I. 1n01, JOO'l, lOrn. 1001. ]00\ lOOt lOOt 100' 100\ 100\ IleO\ 100.0\ 

I=I=~-I 1=1 1===1 1==I==I=I===i 
RECOUTI\CT U or cases) 448 511 53n 505 600 624 553 700 OGO 7a6 623 639 SOO l.l,24l 
-Re-c-on-t-ac-t-f-o-r -Ilo--n-co-m-pl-i-an-c-e -I-\'-----~-ll-\---I -r,,- ---4-' - ---4--' -~ 0\ 8t 6\ 5\ 4\ 4\ 8\ 6\ 5.7\ 

Recontact un .ulmc'J",mt offense It, 25\ '--w,:- -13-'- J J\ 13', 14\ 11\ 9\ 9\ 10\ 12\ 0\ 9\ 10.7\ 

110 subsequent contacts (\) 60\ OS~. 041. 05% 0)\ Bl1. 83\ 86\ OR\ 89\ 86\ 97' 87\ 85.6\ 

IEntries in the "court Status" cntp..gory may excecd 100\ beCflUS(! some youths were on probation and had a court review scheduled. These youths were coded into 
both catecJorics. Similarly, thn entries under IIRccont.1r.:t \-/i th Com:t" c.," e)(ccf!(l 100\ since some youths had a recontact hoth for noncompliance wi th the 
restitution or.-ders and for a sub~eCJtU'nt offensc. 'l'ht~DC youths w~rc codnd into hath of the recontact categories. 

I-' ..., 1-

...... ...... 
1:11 
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TABLE 11. CROSSTADULATlON OF SERIOUSNESS LEVEL' AND OFFENSE IIISTORy1 
--

. Pr.IOR AND conCURRENT DELINQUEI/T OFFENSES YJlOWil '1'0 COURT OFFICIALS2 
TOTAL SERIOUSI/ESS OF REFERRAL OFFEI/SE 

0 1 2 3 4 5 PERCENT 
• 6+ 

Number 0 f Cases 6,557 3,081 1,715 1,065 636 410 909 14,373 

Victimless, Includes traffic accidents or tickets, 
status offenses, drugs, alcohol, gambling, prosti-
tution, and probation violations. La, 0.6' 0.3\ 0.2' 0.1' 0.1\ 0.1' 2.3\ 

Hillor Offenses; Hinor offenses not easily classi-
fied as property or personal, such as disorderly 
conduct. 0.7\ 0.4. 0.1\ 0.1\ O.ll 0.0' O.ll 1.6' 

Hlnor Pro~l Any property offense with loss/ 
damage of $10 or lesa except burylary and arson. 6.3' 2.5' 1. 3> 1.0' 0.5' 0.3' 0.7' 12.B' -
Hinor Personal: Resisting or obstructing an officer, 
coercion. hazing, other aimJ lar UCR PART II offenses. 0.8't. 0.5' 0.4\ 0.1\ 0.1\ 0.'1\ 0.2\ 2.1' 

~~rate Prol~: Burglaries and arsons with 108s/ 
dilmaqe of .$10 or less and any other type of property 
offense with loss/damage of $11 to $250. 12.6' 6.3' 3.4' 2.1\ 1.2' 0.70 1.8' 2B.2\ 

Serious Propcrti:: Burglaries and arsons with lossl 
damalJe of $11. to $250 and any other property offense 

lJ.7t with lOBs/damage grHatcr than $250. S.B' 3.3' 1.9\ 1.2\ O.B\ 1.5\ 2B.3\ 

vcrl Serious ProEcrt;t: Burglaries and arsons with 
loss/dama.ge of $250 or more. 6.B' ].8\ 2.3' 1.3' O.B\ 0.6\ 1.6\ 17.1\ 

Serious Personal: Unarmed robberies and non-
aggravated assaults wi th 1059 of $250 or less. 1.B'f. 0.8\ O~S, 0.3\ 0.1\ 0.1' 0.2\ 3.B' 

Very Serious Personal: lhlarmed robberies and noo-
aggravated assaul ts wi th losses exceeding $250 and 
all UCR Part I personal crimcs including rape, 

1.9> 0.7\ 0.4\ armed robbery, aggravated assault. 0.3\ 0.2\ 0.1\ 0.1\ 3.7\ 

TOTAL PERCEnT 45.6\ 21.4' 11.9' 7.4' 4.4\ 2.9\ 6.3' 100.0> 

lOffcnses are coded by IPA 'Personnel from the narratlve description of the offense contained on the HIS forms. Coding categories and rules are those used 
in the Uniform' Crime Reports (OCR). Transfer cases are not included. 

2111cse figures include prior offenses resulting 10 a court contact and concurrent offenses. No incident is counted both as a prior offense and as a 
concurrent offense. -

• • • • • • • 
.... 
00 L 

'""" '""" 0') 

• 
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TABLE 12.. NUHBER OF R-r:'ER.!:..\LS A.'l"D CASt c:.oSUR,tS, BY PROJSC:! 
19 

• 
I :'!RST MARCH AND I APRIL I JULY I i :::X:'J:.':':-.:: I 

PROJECT ---.-= EARLIER I THRU JUlIE THRlJ SEPT, OCT NOV ............ 
1"""'-'" I C I C II CiI C i IM\~ I C - C 

LOCAL GRl\NTS 

I I 
AR, Western 5/10/19 112 65 25 24 33 45 11 7 9 8 I 190 149 

CA, Ventura Co. 1/15/79 254 136 62 52 31 57 6 10 1 12 354 267 

CT, Norwich 5/7/79 110 63 35 32 39 58 7 7 15 5 206 165 

DC, Washington 5/14/79 200 107 65 71 44 52 10 22 5 16 324 268 
I • FL, Browa.::d Co. 5/1/79 191 78 53 32 34 63 8 22 0 13 286 208 

GA, Clayton Co. 6/27/79 129 58 30 44 16 28 9 9 9 4 19S· 143 

10, 4th Judicial Dist. 4/9/19 416 256 109 ll9 79 105 36 32 12 65 I 700· 621* 

IL, Chicago 7/9/79 73 9 33 9 26 22 8 II 1 1 141 52 

!cr, Jefferson CO. 2/14/19 169 ll2 38 42 47 52 17 12 26 10 297 228 

w., New Orleans I 4/11/79 75 15 43 30 I 64 55 117 23 22 14 221 137 

ME, C1Jmbe"land Co. 10/2/79 134 ll3 17 8 22 20 7 8 0 7 180 156 • 
MD, Prince George's CO. 4/2/79 391 181 109 50 73 80 29 12 37 16 I 639 339 

MA, Lynn 12/6/78 187 107 21 36 39 37 2 15 0 4 I 249 199 

MA, New Bedford 2/1/79 83 55 15 13 7 16
1 

0 5 0 0 I 105 89 

Mh, QUincy 1/1/79 374 216 105 42 90 70 17 35 11 13 1 
694· 442· 

Mh, West::ield 10/31/7 49 27 15 16 I "] 14 0 2 0 6 I 73- 67" 

!-'.l:, Wayne Co. 4/12/79 400 179 228 90 \241 174 05 93 58 48 
1
1032 584 

MIl, Hennepin CO. 3/16/79 938 556 88 173 3 70 0 8 0 6 11033
-

816* 

MIl, !led take Reservation 2/28/80 4 0 0 0 I 3 1 i 0 1 I 0 o I 7 2 

t·:rr, Washi.:'~g::on Co .. 
I 

3/15/79 1 204 15~ ;7 " I 2. :2a 110 , ! 6 I 6 1 284 2.2': 

NB, Concord
2 

1 12/1/78 15 9 0 3 \ 0 01 0 0 I 0 0 i 15 12 

~:.! • Cm:!.der.. C:J. 1/8/78 I 439 3.25 I 85 56 I 36 65 117 13 ! 9 14 I 5S5 475 
I I I i 

OH, Adams-Brown CO.s 5/1/19 14 9 
\ 

3 4 
1 

2 5i 0 1 i 1 0 i 20 19 
I i 

OB, Geauqa co. I 1/8/79 131 80 
\ 

89 58 \109 120 118 22 I 18 20 
, 

365 300 
I i , 

OB, Hamilton Co. 
\ 

5/10/79 117 55 34 16 40 25 I 6 II I 0 8 : 
I 

197 ll7 

OH, Lucas CO. 1/1/79 612 492 64 74 98 99 122 21 
1 

12 26 11021
-

919* 

Ol!, St .. Clairsville 2/23/79 33 25 I 
! 

7 12 II 5 3 0 I 3 6 , 57 48 , 

OH, Su:r.mi t Co .. 1/2/79 301 284 1 49 .. \42 45 19 6 12 15 j 423 397 

OK, Oklahoma CO. 5/3/79 I 38 22 \62 25 
1

68 37 20 8 
\ 

18 5 I 241* 132* 

PRj Rio Piedras 2/20/79 i 141 95 , 35 40 i 28 37 I 4 5 2 1 I 210 178 , ! 

SC, Otarleston \ 2/5,'79 \lBl .40 \48 46 127 40 i 10 10 273 244 

'!'X, El Paso 11/29/78\ 78 56 10 14 I 12 I 0 l25- 107-

VA, Newport Uews 1"5/29179 \ 63 31 I 27 26 I 2, I 113 93 

WA, Snohomish CO. 2 11/8/79 I 96 70 i 2 26 I 01 0 0 9a 96 

WI, Dane Co. 112/1/78 1141 101 ! 42 35 \17 27 121 0 239- 163* 

{continued) 
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(cont.inued) 

/lARCH & 

I 
i 

I 

PROJZCT EARLIER 

I APRIL i JULY i I \ c·.:X" ___ ;:-:VZ 

I THRU JUNE 1= SEPT i OCT _" NrOV ~ II ~-:;,:. C 
CII ell CII l..:..._ r. • 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
(continued) 

• 
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(continued) TABLE: 12. N1JM!lER OF REFERRALS lI!lD CASE CLOSURES BY PROJEcr 

PROJECT 
MARC! & APRIL I JULY I EARLIER THRU JUNE THRU SEPT OCT 

ICICI CI C 

NOV 

I I
c~",,~~~r:;: 

':'O':';.!. 

C ! C 

~~~~:" _____ f-::::5/7:f-~49 ..=:::" ..::_~~ __ ~ __ ~ ~ 22 ___ ~ __ :~ __ ~~:_:_~_~ New York: ~ ~ 
Suffolk Co. 3/29/79 126 72 32 14 20 25 1 10 0 0 202* 124* ----------1---- ----f------ -- ---- ------ ---------
Upstate COs. 3/22/79 110 57 30 26 31 41 1 8 2 15 178* 150* 

------------f---I---- ------ ---- --- ------- ----------
New York Totals 485 296 131 109 137 130 22 40 8 35 830* 622* 

Entries in the table represent MIS intake and closu:e forms for cases referred or closed 
through November 30, 1980 that were received a't. IPA by Janua:,y 9, 1951. 

2'!'hese p!'ojects are closed. 

* Includes transfers. 

21 
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TABLE 13. AMOUN'l' OF RESTITUTION ORDER&O, BY PROJECT
l 

- I~& I IIPRIL ; JULY i 
PE;OJZCT TYPE (S) EARIJER TIIRI1 JONEi THRI1 SEPT I OCT 

I I 

LOCAL GIWI'l'S 

AR, Western 

CA, Ventura Co. 

c:r, Norwich 

DC, W .... hington 

FL, Brcward 0>. 

GA, Clayton Co. 

IO, 4th Judl.clal Dist. 

IL, Od.caqo 

la, Jefferson Co. 

LA, New Orleans 

ME, OJmberland Q). 

MD, Prince George I s 0>. 

MA, Lynn 

MAt New Bedford 

MA, Quincy 

MA, Westfield 

MI, ~·la.yne. ~ .. 

MN, Hennepin Co. 

$$ $17,994 
C.S.Hrs. 145 
Vic.Hrs 28 

$$ $48,095 
C.S.Hrs. 6,731 
Vic. Hr. 154 

$$ $14,988 

C.S.Hr'. 2,576 
vic::.Brs. ° 

$$ $2,769 

C.S.IIrs. 13,037 
Vic.8rs. , 20 

S$ S44,309 
C.S.1Irs • 3,305 
Vic.Brs. 45 

SS $3,865 
C.S.Hrs. 1,01a 
Vie.Hrs. 

S$ I $63,629 
C.S.Hrs. 1,454 
Vic.Hrs. 565 

S$ S17,609 
C.S.Hrs. 37 
Vic.lirS. 0 

S$ S30,290 
C.S.B.rs. 1,!96 
Vic.lIrs. ::12 

I SS 
S16,246 

C.S .\!l::s. 0 
Vic.Hrs. 

$$ I S17,604 

I C.S.Hrs. 3,658 
Vic.Hrs. 86 

1 $$ I $13C.373 
C~S .. B:s. 1:.534 
Vl.c.Hrs. 

I I 
$$ I 

Ic.s.Hrs., 
Vic.Hr •• 1 

I C':~HrS" Vic Hrs 

IC'~~Hr··1 
vic.Hr', 

$S 
C.S.Hrs. 
Vic.!!::s. 

SS 
C.S.HrS. 
vic.Hr. 

I $25,233 
677 I l~ 

$23,896 I 
34 
o I 

$52,403 
5,791 

307 

$6,135 
265 

0 

$39,294 
2,298 

322 

$94,586 
13,940 

40 

MIl, Red take Reservation I $$ I 
l;i~::~'1 

$2,125 
o 

° 
MN, Washington Co~ I $$ i $13,740 

IC.S.Hrs. I 2,39l 
IVic.Hrs. { 329 

(continued) 

$1,735 
704 

0 

$16,431 
1,116 

0 

$5,701 
1,205 

0 

$875 
2,923 

90 

$9,921 
427 

0 

$2,072 
36J 

$7,383 
1,136 

35 

$7,588 
0 
0 

S7,907 
475 

0 

$7,636 
83 

$3,164 
161 

0 

$37,17-
4.821 

$4,089 
2E 
1::' 

$4,774 
o 
o 

S9,61~ 
2,4~7 

8 

S2,062 
225 

0 

Sll,698 
3,505 

0 

S7,465 
1,280 

0 

0 

° ° 
Sl,889 

580 
20 

I $2,872 
469 

8 

I 
$5,827 
1,012 

100 

$2,591 
825 

0 

$1,318 
2,435 

° 
$5,179 

475 
30 

$174 
238 

S.1,329 
688 

° 
$6,165 

0 
0 

$9,694 
156 

0 

S8,935 
458 

I 
Sl,131 

546 
3 

IS40,8';3 
1,256 

I 

I 
I 
I 

S5,955 
425 

~ 

Sl,391 
o 
o 

$9,533 
2,003 

0 

$627 
65 

0 

S4,342 
4,261 

0 

S296 
8 

° 
$625 

40 

° 
S225 

490 

° 

Sl,363 
104 

0 

$675 
326 

0 

Sl,600 
125 

0 

$20 
395 

° 
$1,201 

60 

° 
S526 

113 

$1,632 
180 

0 

1 

$733 
0 
0 

S2,291 
448 

0 

1 

S2,850 
456 

I 
$755 

40 

° 
I $9,24:; 

916 

t 
I 
I 

I 

$275 
0 
Q 

o 
o 
o 

$5'27 
360 

° 
0 
0 
0 

'$2,541 
1,800 

0 

° 
I 

0 
0 

I· 
0 
0 
0 

S80 
110 

15 

, 

I NOV 

$984 
24 

0 

$50 
0 
0 

$550 
390 

0 

° ° ° 
0 

° 0 

I 
S291 

63 
Sl,400 

190 

° 
$300 

0 
0 

S6,478 
0 
0 

$4,700 
270 

0 

° 0 

~17, 326 
ll6 

I 
'0 

° Q 

o 
o 
o 

$1,569 
418 

° 
0 
0 
0 

I $l,048 
1,004 

° , 
° 0 
0 

0 
0 
0 

S120 
60 

0 

\C!:!-!'.::"';'!':1.:-:: 

I ::-Cl'AI.S 

I 
$30,948 

1,446 
36 

$71,078 
9,185 

254 

$25,430 
5,121 

0 

$4,982 
18,790 

110 

$60,610 
4,267 

75 

Sl1,140" 
1,8°B 

$99,022* 
3,676* 

600 

S32,395 
37 

0 

I 
S56,660 

2,276 
212 

I $40,367 
1,267 

I 
$24,054 

5,011 
89 

1 $24::964 
19,843 

I 

I 

I 
I 
I 

$35,552 
1,330 

30 
$30,061 

34 
o 

$86,473-
11.,5S8* 

315 

$9,262* 
575· 

0 

$56,929 
12,668 

322 

1

$103,164" 
15,26B* 

40 

S2,7S0 
40 

S16,054 
3,63l 

363 

• 
22 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
t 
1 

• 

• 
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23 
(continued) TltllLE 13. AWJIlN'l' OF RESTITl1rION ORDERED, BY PROJECT

l 

I TYPE(S) 
Ml\RCH & APRIL I JULY I iCU ... ····_-!'":" 

PROJECT I ..• ~.-.-
EARLIER THRlJ JUNE I THRU SEPT OCT NOV '!'C:'.;:..5 

NIl, Concord
2 

$$ $1,466 0 

I 
0 0 0 $1,446 

C.S.Hr'. 113 0 0 0 0 113 
Vic " Hrs 20 0 0 0 0 20 

• 
NJ, camden 00. $$ $25,709 $6,402 $3,681 $1,305 $267 $37,364 

C.S.Hrs. 7,337 1,'580 610 255 150 9,932 
Vic.Hrs. 63 0 0 0 0 63 

OH, A4a.ms-Brown COs. $$ $7,166 $75. 5372 0 $440 $8,735 

C.S.Hr'. 560 120 80 0 40 800 

vic.Hrs. 40 a 0 0 0 40 

• OR, Geauqa 0;). $$ $27,768 $10.345 l1,26B 51,609 $625 551,615 

C.S.Hrs. 80 1,716 2,354 440 507 5,097 

Vic.Hr'. 78 325 0 32 a 435 

CH, Hamilton CO" $$ $38,282 516,078 15,803 51,939 0 $72,102 

C.S.Hrs. a 16 32 0 0 48 

Vic.B.rs. 0 0 0 a 0 0 

OH, Lucas Co. $$ $71,012 $9,486 112.922 Sl,903 53,023 $126,227· 
C.S.Hrs. 1,080 445 1,138 200 0 2,883* 
Vic.Hrs; 16 0 0 0 0 16 

OR, St. Clairsville $$ 54,538 $192 1$1,166 $535 $328 $6,759 

C.S.Hr'. 779 294 425 75 100 1,673 

Vic.Hrs" 26 0 0 0 0 26 • 
OH, SUImLit CD. $5 566,391 $15,643 13,291 56.027 53,506 $104,858 

C.S.Hrs. a 0 0 0, 9 0 
Vic.Rrs. 0 0 0 0 0 a 

. OK, Oklahoma Co. $$ $7,502 $4,092 56,992 $912 $662 $27,507· 

C.S.Hr'. 348 406 562 285 102 1,713* 

Vic.Hrs. 0 a 10 0 a 10 

PR, Rio Pilldra~ $$ Q 0 a 0 a a 
C.S.Hr'. 16,867 3,906 5,060 322 193 26,368 
Vic.Hrs. 162 a a 0 0 162 • SC, Olarles'Con $$ I 0 G a a a a 
C.S.Hr'·1 13,904 3,783 2,028 54~ 818 21,081 
Vic.Hrs. a 0 0 0 a 0 

TX, El Paso $$ 511.308 I 54.354 5~,169 $252 

I 
$3,300 

I 
$22,413* 

C.S.!i:s. 3,444 200 700 100 500 6,754-

Vic.H=s. a c 0 0 0 a 

VA, Newport News 55 I S14,517 $4,541 151.709 51,356 

I 
5977 

I 
$23,182 

C.S.P.r.. 845 361 64 120 80 1,470 

Vic.Hrs. 0 a I a 0 'a ,a 

WA, Snohomish Co" 
2 

$$ $36,446 

I 
$346 

I 
a 

I 
a 

I 
0 $36,794 

C.S.Hrs. a c a a a a 
Vic.Hrs. a a Q a a a 

• 
WI, Cane Co. $$ I $23,544 $5,773 154 ,076 IS2'222 

I 
$1,270 

I 
~37, S8S-

e.s.ars. '1,203 1,937 430 335 225 4,130 
Vic.Rrs. 0 a a a 0 a 

STATEWIDE GlWlTS 

• ~; 

Kent co. $S S20,984 S2,289 $3,521 Sl,116 $326 528,238 

C.S.Hr'. 3,064 215 235 19 200 3,733 

Vic.Bl:s. 50 a a a a 50 ;;;-.;;;;.-;;:--~~. --;;:;;;-I"'T-l "'~'" C.S.HrS. 21,462 1,92a 1,072 100 0 24,462 
Vic. Hr.. 66 a 98 a a 164 

;:;;;-;-.----- $S J $10,442 -;;:S1;1;2~- ISl,75G -I a s16-;"(1l6 

C.S.Hrs. 2,659 295 300 '" 2: 0 3,279 
Vic.Hrs. 25 a 40 O. 0 65 

------------------- ---- -----------.-----~ __ ... ___ I __ • 
(continUAd) 

• 
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PROJEcr 

Delaware Totals 

~: 

122 

~l\BLE 13. AM...I :n' Of' RESTI'I'UTION ORDERED, BY PROJECT
l 

I r.:?=:(S) MARC! & 

EARLIER 

S$ S66,290 
C.S.Hrs. 27,185 
Vie.Hrs. 141 

I : I APRIL I rlULY 
THRt! .:rUNEi THRU SEPT I 

$7,249 
2,338 

o 

$6,743 
1,607 

138 

O~ NOV 

$326 
200 

o 

f C;.::-r ... --,,'::V:: 
I TC~:.:.s 

$83,516 
31,474 

279 

Clurchill/Lander/ S$ $468 $292 $100 $40 0 $900 
Eureka Cos. C.S.Hrs. 0 100 0 0 0 100 

Vie.Hrs. 0 0 0 0 0 0 

~;~:------ --;;--11-$27' 811-- $14'747IS~' 430 S3,".i44- S'2, 337- $55.769 
C.S.Hrs. 288 192 36 0 40 556 
Vie.Hrs. 0 0 0 0 0 0 

~~------'r;;r$ -~ ---;;2t$~36 ~~;- ---$~-
C.S.Brs. 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Vic. Hrs " . 0 0 0 0 0 0 

::~a;~~;-~/--~'~~Hr:r;;::~~----~- --~5~ I -~ -g-- ---;;:~;~-
• V.te.Brs. 0 0 0 0 0 0 

,;~;.,-;;~;-;,-:: ;;--t--;;;; ---;;5-;- --$240 $4-;i--'$138-T$;;~;-
C.S.Brs. 0 0 24 64 0 88 
Vie.Brs. 0 0 0 0 C 0 

~yon;'ug~~-;;---I--;;-- --;;;~ $2,783 $2,231 $525 ----;f""$9:758 
C.S.Br'. 780 26C 465 200 0 1,705 
Vie.Hr.. Q 0 30 0 0 30 

;~;~--3---$$ $2,228 $328 $802 \' $462 [-'0- $j:a20 
C.S.Hrs. 20 0 0 0 0 20 
Vie.Hrs. COO 0 0 0 

;~~~----- -;;-- --;zei7--1-$4~44 ~-I$l;OSO- f$1-'-504-1Si6~;5-
c.s.Hrs'l 0 160 184 0 240 584 

_______ ~ ___ +~-'--O---_O-- __ O_...!... _____ ~_ 
White Pine/Lincoln CosJ H' J $2,:39 I 0 I $5,187' 0 ~ I $7,,326 

C.S.Brs. 0 0 16 I 0 0, 16 __ --_________ :::::::r~' ___ ~ __ . ___ ~.:. ___ ~_I ___ ~ ___ ..:. __ ~ __ I ______ ~ __ 

C.S.Hrs. 1,06S 712 e81 264 28'0 3,225 
Nevada'l'ctals $$ I $45,560 I S23, i7l I'S20'866 \$6,067 \ $3,979 I $100,243 

\'ie.Hr., I 0 0 30 0 0' 30 

Atlantic Co. 

New Jersey: , ' I L 
$$ I $2;741 I $974 $1, 572 ~ 0 I 0 $5,287 

C.S.Hrs. 416 30 75 0 ~ 0 521 
Vie.Hrs. 0, 0 0 0 0 0 

;~Co-:------ -;-$--r;~~--'-I' -;;:;;:;-r;2,7;-- $;:;;;- $;~O-;;:--l $27,~--
C.S.Hrs. 1,560 1,300 2,140 340 200 5,540 
ie.Hrs, 100, I 0 0 0 0 100 

;~-;:~;:-Co-:-----~' -;:;---1' $~~;;--li·;;::;;;--I $2. ;;;-r-;;;;---;---o --I ~9-;g27-
.S.Brs. 418 265 L 285 l SO I 0 1,016 
it:: .Brs. 28 160 40 L 0 0 228 

~-;-HaY Co-:-----~-$;---I-$~~;;---f-$~;--~-- ;--, --o---r--o--r--s;;iii-
.S.Hrs. 30 I 0 0 I 0 0: 30 
ie.Hrs. I 0 0 0 I 0 O! 0 

~~~:--b.f:Hrs. T--rn~--il~--f -fr-rr--~---I' -S16~-
/lie.Hrs. ! 0 0 I 0 1 0 0 0 

---------------'------" -------;..------~ _____ ' ____ I ______ !. _______ _ 
Essex Co. I $$ I 54,387 i 52,203 : $6,294 1$:,484 $230! 51~,59E 

!=.S.Hrs. I 312 I 100; 0 I 104 0 \ 51E 
pie.Hrs. , 0, 0 I O! 0 I 0 f C 

(C~;~~-d)-------r---~------t----t---------' -----t------

-. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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TABLE 13. AMOUNT OF RESTI.TUTION ORDERED, BY PROJECT
l 25 

(continued) 

, C~:'("_-:';'.7:·."E 
ocr NOV I ,:,.:':';..:.s 

Hudson Co. $S· $8,560 1 S6,035 1 S5,274 
C.S.Hrs. 100 713 484 
Vic.Hrs. 0 0 0 

$2,40: $1,383 $23,654 
U 0 1,297 
0 0 0 

~:t~~~~. -_~~- ;E:~: ~ -~IT~~~1 
Mercer CD. $$ $11,942 $4,785 S2,893 ~llf;;;;;-- m,l29 

--------
0 0 S312 
0 0 0 
0 0 0 

C.S.Hrs. 133 243 35 76 15 502 
Vic:.Hrs. 0 0 10 2 0 12 

~-;;~~~~~--- $$ $-2,051-- -S;~i67 ---$5150 $583- $35;;--f-;~5~9-
C.S.Hrs. 100 0 155 170 110 535 
Vic.Hrs. 0 0 0 0 0 0 

---------- - ----- -- --- ----
Monmouth CD. $$ $1,678 $4,094 $2,852 I 0 0 $8,624 

C.S.Brs. 2,132 6,129 2,757 1,520 345 12,883 
Vic.firs. 0 0 0 0 0 0 

OCean Co. 

Passaic Co. 

sa1emc<>. 

Sussex Co. 

$$ $473 $115 I $920 0 0 Sl,508 
o 0 0 0 0 0 C.S.Hrs. 

Vic.Hrs. 

$5 
C.S.Brs. 
Vic.Hrs. 

$$ 
C.S.li:s. 
vic.Hrs. 

o 0 0 0 0 

$7,062 
500 
150 

o 
520 

80 

S3,150 
150 

o 

S1,853 
217 

o 

$624 
o 

o 
20 
o 

---- ----- ----

- ------ -------
$19 0 $10,855 

o 0 6m 
o· 0 150 

---- -------
o 1 $1.853 o 757 
o 80 

Vic.Hrs. 0 0 0 ____ L_=~rl~ __ ~~[~ 
$9,993 I S6,550 I $13",5e9 
2,260 6iO 2':,2<;9 

2 0 570 

OJ S476 
C.S.Hrs. 0 0 _j 0 

Ne~-;;:;-;~;-------;;---I-S-5S:-;i~ I$~~~~ rn~ 266 
C.S.Bra. 6,221 9,1';; 5,951 
Vic.Hrs. 358 160 50 

Nassau 

I

I $$ 1 554,876 $8,912 1'$:2,359 153 ,365 \1 51 ,184 I' $86,044* 
C.S.Hrs. 128 63 50 0 0 2.:1 
Vic.H:s. 0 C 0 c b I ') _________________ l ______ ~-------------~---------------_L ________ _ 

Suffolk Co. II 5$ I $23.235 IS11'036 I 57,161 11 S300 I 0' 547,679* 
C.S.fIrs. . 0 0 0 0 0 0 
vic.Hrs. 121 0 a 0 0 I 121 

_:-;t::~-~:.--=~ ~~;~::t· "2p_i~~~6~~I~~ ---1IT~t 
New York Totals $S $102,315 S27,036 522,157 1$3,693 $1,329 I S169,944* 

C.S.F.rs. 370 123 SO I 0 0 5';3 
Vic.Hrs. 121 0 37 0 0 158 

Washington: 1 I 
Benten/Franklin Ols. $S S9,Osl 52,321 $2,002 0 $1,023 S13,i31* 

___________ ~i~:;~ ~---::~ __ 15g ___ ~ __ ~~_1 __ :~:~* 
Clark Co. I S$ $17,662 1$12'671 I 53,324 1$1,070 I 5197 1 534,924 

C.S.Hrs. 2.545 750 0' 0 130 3.425 
Vic.firs. 0 0 O· 0 0 0 

~;:;.-a:;~ Co. ----r;--- --;i1-'-;;;-r-S99T-, 5-3., 405 T;;5~----I' -;S;;-Tsie:6~;:-
le.s.Mrs. 7,045 1,52:J 2,410 l 490 370; 13,5.5* 

(C~~~;;:-d)------ ;Vic·~:i---~-i---~i-~---~-T--v---i-----~-



(continued) 

King Co. 

Ashland Co. 
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TABLE 13. AMOUNT OF RESTITUTION ORDERED, BY PROJECT
1 

i ..... ';1':"«); HARCH & 
! .•. -- !EARLIER NOV 

C.S.Hrs. 306 0 70 25 25 426 
$$ $2,677 $267 I $50 $165 $3,159 

';~-:;~2----tV~~HrSI' ~-;i~-- -----~--I--~-JI----~-l-----~--I---;~~;~;-
C.S .Hrs. 0 0 0 0 0 J 0' 
Vic.Hrs. 0 0 0 0 0 0 

~;::~~:-------- =~~:~f;~~~g--l--~~~J---;;:~~~---'~:;;~----'; ;~:;~g--rl--;~;~~~1-
Vic.P.rs. 147 90 16 0 0 253 

;;'-:'-;:;~:---~----l--~--- ~~-;"-;---I-~~~; I-~:;~;-J--;~~---""I-;~;;-- --;~~;;~ 
C.S.Hrs. 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Vic.Hrs. 325 0 1 0 0 0 325 

;;-~~;:-~~--- -;;--r---o--p:i;3"i(r-~-~3:07r '----li---r-s6crii--r-sr;~o.sr ________________ J~~:~~L __ ~ ___ L ____ ~ __ L ___ ~_l ___ ~_~ _____ ~ _________ ~_ 
Fond du Lac I $$ I O! $753 I' $674 1$3,738 I $373 I $5,738 

Ic.s.Hrs" 0 0, 0 0 0 0 
IVic.P.:s. I 0 I 0 I 0, 0 0 I 0 

----------------~------~-----------!---------~--------...:...---------------..!...---------
IC.s.Hrs. 1,330 I 116 645. 300 ,100 2,493 

Green Bay I $S I $11,902 ~ S5,87E ! $3,557 ; $463 :l,705 II $23,503 

__________________ ...!~=:=:~ _____ ~ ___ ~ _____ ~_~ _____ :: _ __:.. __ ~ ___ 1 _____ ~ ________ 16_ 

Kenosha co. i S$ i S8S -I $5,363 $5,886 l$2,572 ! $:;:,~37 I S16,341 

Ic.s.HrS·i 376 1,155 1,527 I 300 'I 140 ,. . 3,496 
vic.Hrs. ,0 0 0 17 17 

I • • • t 

~;-~;-~~------tl;]~::: 1-$2-;;92r-r$i-'::flSi~89rrS91---f' --$82rl-$28~~:f 
~~-:;-;:~;:;;~~:- -;;---'1'Si.1.96'j'--'1 -S6-i2"-TS3'22-I---O-- ---$i7-lr-$i279i~-

C.S .Hrs. 158 137! 356 0, 1.0 661 
Vic.Hrs. I 28' 0: 0 0 0 28 

;:~~;;;~:-------il-$;---;I-;9,-i06----I-$-i,O-26--I' ~~S9S---I~2.496--I--$377---:--$ia;iOO-
C.S.Hrs, 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 

_____ . _________ 2:::~=::1. ___ ~ _______ ~ __ ..:. ___ ~ _____ ~ ____ ~ ___ --~--L-----~~ 
Racine Co. I ss 0: S2,446 i $473 I 5793 I S369 I $4,081 

C.S.Hrs. I O! O. 0, 0 ,0 0 
IVic.Hr •• ~ 0 , 0 ' 0 I 0 

;;.,~;-Co-:-----------!-;;--llli~j;j'-I$-1-0-,-870---$7-:-:;j5---~5:09'Q----s3is---j-$j9;363 

!C.S.H:'s. ; 222 I 0 0 0 0 I 222 
Vic.Hrs. " 35 i 0, 0 0 i 35 

----.------------.-----.--------.--------.. ---------------------------------------
Wa.lwonh co. 

(cont.inued) 

; $$ , 
C.S.Hrs. 
Vic.Hrs. ' 

S9,265 
o 
o 

$200 
170 

o 

$8~5 

o 
o 

o 
o 
o 

o 
o 
o 

$10,310 
170 

o 

• 
26 

• 

• 
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(continued TABLE 13. AMOUNT OF RESTI!!l!:ION ORDEjy;D BI 2BQJI:!:I 

I T'!P!;(S) I MARC!! & APRIL I JULY I i .:::!.:"_':';:-:",'Z I pj\c.n:c: 
EARLIER TP.RU .1om: THRIl SEPT i OCT I NO\' ,:,::-.;:..2 

Wiscl?nsin Totals SS S99,331 S34,121 I $33,122 

I 
S18,401 $9,274\ $194,249 

C.S.Hr.; 2,472 1,580 2,759 625 275 7,711 
'Jic.firs. 599 193 32 17 a ~,41 

lEntries in the table represent MIS intake and closure forms for cases refe!:'red or closed 
through November 30, 1980 that were received at IPA by January 9, 1981. The abbreviation 
"C.S.Hrs.1I Eefers to unpaid corranunity service hours; "Vic.Hrs." refers to unpaid victim 
service. 

2These projects are closed . . 
Includes transfers. 

79-489 0-81-9 

27 
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TABLE H. AMOON'l' OF RESTITtrrION PAID AND WORKEJ) BY PRO.JECTl 

PRQ.n:C'l' 'l'YP!:(SII MAROI & 

!:ARLIER 

= GRANTS 
AR, Western SS S5,017 

C.S.Hr'. 130 
Vic.Hrs 25 

CA, Ventura Co. SS S13,819 
C.S.Hr •• 2,154 
Vic. Bra 245 

CT, Norwich SS S5,558 
C.S.Brs. 868 
Vic.Hrs. 

OC, Washington SS S67 
C.S.Hrs. 2,358 
Vic.R--s. 0 

FL, Brcward 0>. SS S4,138 
C.S.Hrs. 1,284 
Vic.Hr •• 60 

GA, Clayton 0:>. I SS S830 
C.S.Hr •• 601 
Vie.Hrs. 0 

!D, 4th Judicial Dist. SS S14,791 
C.S.Hrs. 744 

Vic.Hrs. 402 

IL, Olicago SS $333 

C.S.Hr •• 0 

Vic.ars. 0 

rt, Jefferson co. SS SlS,595 
C.S.Hra. 833 
Vic. firs .. 0 

!A, New orleans SS S3,777 

C.S.Hro. 0 
Vic.Rrs. 0 

ME, o..:>berland 0>. 
SS I S8,542 

C.S.Hrs. 1,660 
Vic.Hrs. 23 

!om, Prince George's Q:l>. I SS S18,797 
C.S.Hro. 5,531 

'Vic.Brs. 0 

!-!At Lyn."'l 
5S I $5,428 

I C:S.Hrs. 331 
Iv~c.Hrs. 8 

M, New Bedford IC:~~Hrs·1 $9,828 
34 

V~C Rrs 

MA, Quincy S$ S13,020 
C.S.Hro. 2,813 
Vic.Hrs. JOi 

!lA, Westfield SS S2,116 
C.S.Hrs. 185 

'Vic.Hrs. 0 

MI, liayne 0). I SS 
S9,488 

C.S.Br •• 234 
Vic.Hrs 30 , 

MN, Hennepin Co. 

I 
S5 I S28,67S 

C.S.Hrs.. 8,66"= 
Vic.Hrs 40 

lIN, Red Lal<e Reservation I SS 
C.S.Hrs. 
Vic.Rrs· 

lIN, Washington 0:>. 

(ccntinuedl 

~ 

I I 
APRIL ~ JULY I 

TaRU JUNE HRU SEPT OCT NOV','\. 

I 
Sl,494 S5,253 

I 
. S413 S425 

0 656 24 121 
0 8 0 0 

S4,683 S8,138 Sl,638 S4,809 
1,045 1,366 140 240 

0 0 0 0 

$840 S4,939 S247 0 
1,038 1,536 255 105 

S640 S497 S60 S562 
2,297 2,856 1,802 423 

0 10 0 0 

S4,478 S5,15S S2,716 Sl,743 
603 518 240 200 

0 0 '" " 
Sl,328 $833 S101 S130 

267 267 79 110 
0 0 0 0 

S5,492 S7,373 $2,990 Sl,299 
437 498 35 203 

45 42 0 0 

S410 Sl,707 $629 0 
10 0 0 0 

0 0 0 0 

$5,919 S9,332 S2,S14 S2,05'} 
420 154 0 40 
106 .27 n n 

53,777 S5,992 152 ,844 52,315 
0 155 80 122 
0 0 0 0 

1 

51,296 S:,847 

I 
S289 

I 

$2,178 
0 455 245 0 
0 0 3 0 

I 

I I 
57,943 1$16,266 1$2,646 $1,703 

643 1,898 50 336 
0 0 0 0 

52,967 $4,706 1$3,674 51,459 
lSi 64 , 114 

0 16 
, 

0 0 

i 52,20~ $2,281 C;;,832 0 
0 0 0 

S6S4 

I 
S5,154 I S6,038 Sl,884 

667 1,580 832 342 
208 0 40 0 

$1,816 

I 

Sl,501 

1 

0 Sl,004 
75 146 6 17 

0 0 0 0 

I 

S5,034 

I 

S7,296 152
'097 I 

S3,302 
359 1,783 474 219 

0 0 0 0 

S5,324 S760 S903 
968 120 8 

0 0 0 

0 S40 Sl71 0 
0 0 0 0 
0 0 0 0 

52,394 Sl,495 0 0 
(75 415 110 0 
IH 20 0 0 

i,..,~",_ .. _ ... tT 

I~"~;~'-

I 
S12,602 

931 
33 

$33,007. 
4,945 

245 

Sl1,584 
3,802 

Sl,808 
9,736 

10 

S18,230 

2,8:~ 

$3,222 
1,324 

0 

543,314* 
1,945 

489 

53,079 
10 

0 

S35,419 
1,447 

'" S18,70S 
357 

0 

S15,154 
2,360 

26 

I' S';7, 355 
I 6,456 
I 0 

: S18,434 
! 696 
I 24 
I 
f $17,149 

! 34 

$33,928" 
6,595* 

555 

56,S!7* 
I 4~9* 

I 0 

I S27,217 
3,069 

30 

I 
S46,331" 
12,419* 

40 

S211 
o 
o 

S6, ':J~ 
2,751 

356 

• 
28 

• 
. 

'" 
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• 

• 

• 

• 
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• 
(continued) 

PROJECT 

• NB, COncord
2 

NJ I Camden Q:I. 

CH, Adams-Brown Q)s. 

• OH, Geauqa co. 

OB, Hamilton Co. 

OH, Lucas Co. 

• CH, St. Clairsville 

OH, Summit'. ~. 

OK, Oklahoma Co .. 

PR, Rio piedras 

• SC, Olarleston 

TX, El PaSo 

VA, Newport. News 

• WA, Snohomish Co .. 2 

WI:, Dane CO .. 

STATEWIDE GRAmS 
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TABLE 14. AMOUNT OF RESTITtrrION PAlO AND WORKED BY PROJECT
1 

T'!PE(S) MARCIl & I APRIL JULY 
EARLIER ~HRU JUNE !mRO SEPT 

SS 
C.S.Hrs. 
Vic.RrS 

SS 
C.S.Hrs. 
Vic.Hrs. 

$S 
C.S.Hrs. 
Vic.Rrs. 

$279 
70 
o 

$9,833 
5,551 

30 

$4,H4 
288 

40 

$$ S10,846 
C.S.Mrs. 0 
Vic.Hrs. 78 

SS $6,404 
C.S.Hrs. 0 
vic.ars. 0 

$$ $37,071 
C.S.Hrs. 1,030 
Vic.Hrs. 16 

$$ $2,493 
C.S.Hrs. 612 
Vic.Hrs. 16 

$$ $57,299 

C.S.P.rs. 0 
Vic.ars. a 

5$ $1,599 
C.S.Hrs. 26 
Vic.Rrs. 0 

S$ 
C.S.Hrs. 
Vic.Hrs. 

$S I 
C.S.Hrs. i 
Vic.HrS~ I 

10,254 
213 

o 
e,08S 

o 

SS $15,488 
C.S.Hrs. 0 
Vic.HrS. a 

$$ S12,827 
C.S.Hrs. 299 
Vie.Hrs. 56 

S100 I 
42 
o 

$3,206 
965 

o 
$845 
160 

o 
54,949 

772 
o 

$2,526 
o 
o 

5H,073 
, 40 

o 

51, 286 I 
255 

o 

o 
o 
o 

52,160 
1,279 

o 
S2,364 

200 
o 

$19,559 
1,854 

126 

$6,645 
o 
o 

S13,722 
557 

o 
$HO 
175 

o 
$14,601 $14,350 

o 0 

a 0 

S1,631 $2,066 
56 276 
o 0 

3,648 

o 
2,880 

o 
$2,082 I 

62D 

$4,505 
145 

I "' 

I 

S';'91~ I 
I 

S3,350 
828 

o 

o 
4,067 

o 
o 

2,683 
o 

S2,623 '1 
300 

S7,886 
246 

o 
o 
o 

$3,667 
1,190 

40 

OCT 

o 
o 
o 

$813 
138 

o 
S136 

40 
o 

$363 
390 

o 
52,913 

o 
o 

S4,182 
210 

a 
0' 
o 
o 

$1,348 
O. 

o 
$752 

60 
o 
o 

898 
C 

o 
397 

o 
$370 

o 

S921 
205 

C 

o 
o 
o 
o 
o 
o 

NOV 

o 
o 
o 

I Ct-:-:-::...;~: •. ~ 
TC:,n:..5 

$379 
H2 

o 
$1,401 

180 
o 

S17,431 
8,H3 

30 

o 
o 
o 

$1,244 
806 

o 
53,048 

o 
o 

$3,603 
284 

o 
5694 
175 

a 

$7 ,459 
688 

40 

536,961 
3,822 

204 

S2,3,535 
o 
o 

$89,963* 
2,121· 

16 

S4,583 
1,217 

16 

54,186 $91,78, 
o 0 

o 0 

$63 S9,232-
20 450 

1 l' 

o 0 
20 18,887 
o 213 

o 0 
724 14,772 

o 0 

o I $12,070' 
o :,041* 

5365 I S16,019 
156 1,352 

o I 'C 

$504 S12,82'" 
340 2,657 

o 9E 

e ~: 

• 

• 

Ken't Co. $S S4,725 
c.s.ars. 1,137 
Vic .. Rrs. 75 

S831 
200 

o 

S2,350 
324 

o 

Sl,800 
285 

o 

$1,155 
140 

o 

$10,861 
2,086 

75 

~~~~~----- -;-- sS:;;;-ls;:m---1 S;'-8-:;;:-I--si72-1-~25r~i4.i24-
C.S.Hrs. 5,046 2,578 l,739 75 70 9,508 
Vic.Hrs. 89 0 25 0 0 H4 

~;:;:;;:------ -;-J-""S3."5361--;:SO-1 S853--T-S8&i""-I---S41BI-s6:-ii9 
C.S.Hrs. 1,O~~ \ 395 335 I' 115 0 1,925 
Vic.Hrs. 25 I C 40 0, 0 I 65 _____________ L-___ _ ___________ ..... _____ ' _____ :.. ______ -l..-____ _ 

(continued) 

29 



(continued) 

ProJECT 

Delaware Totals 
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TABLE 14 l\MOUNT OF RESTITUTION PAID AND WORKED BY PROJECT
l 

r.:n(s) MARCH & 
El\RLIER 

$$ S16,553 
C .. S .. Hrs. 7,263 
Vic.Hr.!. 189 

APRIL i JIJLY I 
THRU JUNE fl'HRU SEPT 

$4,042 
3,173 

o \

' $6,077 

2,398 
65 , 

OCT 

.S2,834 
475 

o 

NOV 

$1,598 
210 

a 

I c~y"-:;,=:\" TO.;.r.s 

$31,104 
13,519 

254 

30 

~: ~ Olurchill/Lander/ S$ 0 $234 $109 0 
Eureka Cos. C.S.Hrs. 0 0 100 a 

vic.Hrs. a 0 0 a 

~~------ $$ SU:~G;8 -;4;"39'7-- -$-1-0-:i98 $3,28"6-

C.S.Hr.. 16 224 97 a 

$40 $383 
o 100 
a 0 

-----------$2,439 $34,988 
o 337 

Vic.Hrs. 0 a a a o 0 

----------f---- ---- ---- -----:---I---.i------
Elko Co. $$ a $230 $900 $110 0 $1,240 

C.S.Hrs. 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Vic.Hrs. 0 0 0 0 0 0 

---------------- --_.--:---1--- --I--:, 
Esmeralda/Mineral/ $$ $1,242 0 S750 I 0 ----0 $1.992--
Nye Cos. C.S.Hrs. 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Vie.Hr.. 0 0 O. 0 0 0 

--------------~----~---------.~~----~----+-.------• Bumboldt/pershing Cos. $$ o $88 $1,426 $175 S84 51.773 
C.S.Hrs. o 0 24 0 0 24 
Vic.Hrs. o 0 0 0 0 0 

~88 5586 $2,419 S780 --S-i8~-S6.-:i53--
210 151 500 83 0 944 C .. C.Brs. 

Vie.Hra. 0 0 0 0 30 30 

-----.-------+---~~--~----+-----~--~--. 
Storey Co. 1 H $648 J' S430 $1,161 I $40 $4-15 -$~~;--

C.S.Hrs. 20 0 0 0 0 20 
_____________ ~~ ___ ~_ _ ___ ~_ _ __ O _____ ~ 0 0 

Washoe Co. ~I $$ II 53.375 153 '053 1.4 '813 I $241 1--"-:;0;-1-;1;:;~;---
C.S.Hr.. 0 0 344 0 I 0 344 
Vic.Hrs. 0 0 0 0 0 0 

~;;-;~/LineOln Co0j-S-$-' -I---~~T 570e I 0 I 0 --I---;;;;-'-;2~i3-e--
C.S.Hro. 0 0 0 a lOt 0 

Ne~-;~~;;:;-------1~;;~~:1-;~;~i;~~~--~, ;ll~;~~--I 5;;~~-r-;4;M~-~-;64~-:4~---
;C:S.H:"s. I 246 I ,J/~ 1/Oe!) 03 I 0 I 1,/6. 
'V~c.Hro. I 0 O! 0 0 30 i 30 

-------------+-,----
Lyon/OOuglas eos. $$ 

Ne:t:::!,eo. . ~ 5$ \i '$7511 S60 'I 563 0 ~I 0 \' $198 
C.S.Hro. 0 0 0 0 0 0 
ie.Hro. 0 0 0 0 0 0 

~-rg-:;-;,,-:-------r;-$---I---~- -:;:-]-~~ ;:;;- ---;L 54-:0:;--
~:S.Hrs. 0 50 1,190 0 580 1,820 

;:'lington ;,,-:----~':;~r-I-~~~~--l-553: - ~-;58: -r--S33: 1 -;;:-;6: -
.S.Hrs. 0 113 135 40 60 I 34e 
ic.Hrs. 0 0 40 0 0 40 

~-;-IIa-;-;:----c~~o. . sl~--~-Si.~02r--~-~T-il---fT--f-I-S'i~i.jf-
fie •Hrs • 0 0 0 ~ I 0 0 

~rland Co. U~lIr~.1 -~-- ~- -~-r,--~--------~r---~--
fie.Hro. , 0' 0 0 0 I 0 I 0 

;"-;~-----1~~Hrs. -Ii ---g~--2~ ---I -$:?;~ I' Sl~~ --I---f~-- $1~; ---
p~e.Hrs. 0, 0, , 0 0 i 0 -1---'------------,- ------------

(continued) 
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(continued) 

PRO..iECT 

Hudson Co. 
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TABLE H. AMOUNT OF RESTITUTION PAID AND WORKED BY PROJECT
1 

TYl'E(S) MARCH & APRJ:L • JULY I IcU!-r::.;.-::'.;: 
EARLIER THRU JUNE THRU SEPTI OCT NOV T:::':'h:..s 

$$ 
C.S.Hrs. 
Vic.Hrs. 

o 0 0 0 0 0 
o 0 0 0 0 0 

$835 I $1,030 I $1,666 $478 $779 $4,810 

;~~-do:-;;'-:------ -;;--- ----0-- ----o-------ci----0-- -----0- ------0--
C.S.HrS. 0 0 0 0 0 0 
vlc.Rrs. a 0 0 0 0 0 

~-;~;-~~------- -;;-- -S264- r--rna- -$i;iOO --;2Ta- $136 '$i:996---
C.S.Hro. 31 190 89 36 20 366 
Vic.Hrs. 0 0 0 2 0 2 

-----------r----~------ ---------f..-----f....--- --------
Middlesex CD. $$ $310 $300 $76 0 $83 $771 

C.S.Hr'. 0 0 0 0 0 
Vic.!!:'. 0 0 0 0 O. 0 

;;"-;"-:;-Co~----'--;;--I---;- $47

1 
S604 $140 $50~-~'1' 7-;;--

C.S.Hr.. 0 549 4,119 766 460 5,936 
Vic .. Rrs. 0 0 0 0 0 0 

---------- '---- ---- --- - --1-------
OCean CD. $$ 0 0 0 0 0 0 

C.S .!!:.. 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Vic.Hr.. 0 0 0 0 0 

--------- ---f-'-- ---- - ----------
pa,saic Co. $$ $66 0 $63 0 $129 

C.S.H:!'s. 0 0 ° 200 0 ';:10 
Vic.Hrti. a 0 0 a 0 ') ------------ ----- - --- ----.--

Salem Co. $$ 0 0 0 0 0 0 
C.S.!!:.. 45 179 0 0 0 224 
Vic.Hr.. 0 0 0 0 0 0 

----------- ----- ----- ----- - '- ---------" 
Sussex Co. $$ 0 0 0 0 0 0 

C.S.Hra. 0 0 0 0 0 
Vic.Hr', 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Ne:-;;;;';;-;~;--- -;;---"1-;;;-171- --$j~;;n·--;;:;23T$-2-:O;5---I--;i. 629--1 $i7~420---
C.S.Hrs. 76 1,104 5,533 1,163 1,140 9,016 
Vic.!!:.. 0 0 40 2 0 42 

Nassau $$JI $17,21e S9,162 11 S6,477 \ S3,329 n,408 \ $40,350' 
C.S.Rrs. 0 24 2.. 0 0 46 

_________________ ~~~:Srs. _____ :.: _ ____ 2_J.. ____ ~_J.. _____ .:..~ ______ ~ __ L _____ ~~ ___ _ 
Suffolk Co. $$1 $;,286 52,2:5 II $1,244 I $779 I 0 I $12,416' 

C.S.Hr'. 0 0 0 I 0 . 0 I Q 
Vic.!!:.. 0 0 0 0 0 0 

~~~;~------ --;;- -;;:-;;;;;----;;;;;-..-1 S;'43~--I-~;--l~--$-3-'-0-3-2-r$24-:457:--
c.s.!!:.. 0 0 122 ~ 0 I 122 
Vic.!!:.. 0 0 8 0 16 24 

;~;~;-;~~~~----- -;;----1-;;;:;3' -;i4:O~51;i77s;--I-;4' 41;-- --$6'-4-.jO--1$7;~ii3-'--
C.S.P..rs. 0 2~ 146 0 0 170 
vic.Hr', 38 0 8 0 16 62 

Washin'iton: ~ [ L' LJ Benton/Franklir: CD.. $$ $2.449 $2.225 $2.421 0 $182 n.531' 
C.S.Mrs. 593 ';95 318 0 0 1,506* 
Vic.Urs. a a a 0 0 

~..;;-~~------ -;;--r-S%:li $1~991 I $2.ll2 I $6.494-l S47l-r$U~03-2-
C.S.Hr'. 286 L ~25 1l0~ 90 30 943 

~;:;.-a:;~;~----~~~~~~i'--;~~~;--J $~~~--I ~~ '--;;~--l--s~-s: r~~~:: 
c.s~Hrs. 3,313 1,66~ 1,367 235 I 422 8,237· 
Vic. Hr •• , 0 599 0 i 0 O! 599 

(c~~~;;:~~------ ----i-----,------T----'------,-------[-----

31 
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(continued) TABLE 14. AMOUN't OF RESTITOTION PAID AND WORKED BY PROJECT
l 

" APRIL ; JUL":! ~ . C:::·:-,;:;'.::·.~ 
THRlJ Jt1NEi'l'HRU SEPT: OCT ,NOV ':',:::'.~ 

Kinq CO. SS S3,525 \ $3,360 '$1,616 l $300 i 0 I S8,801 

~-;:~~ ________ ~~:~:i: -$::~~: -;~~~--tl::~: l'--~~~---I---~~~-----;;~;;~;-
C.S.Hrs. 1,943 1,515 590 0 0 5,233" 
Vic.Hrs. 0 0 0 0 0 0 

~;~-------- SS ---s-;~--1--$;6-;-1--;;---1- S16;-----;~- ----;;;;-
C.S.Hrs. 64 1,056 568 235 190 2,113 
Vic.B!:" 0 0 0 0 0 0 

wa;hin--gt·-o-n-To-tal--S----'-:~--5-$--4·-5-lc-'-;;--lm~~--I$;,~-- ~~59 -- $l.;~;-- -;;;:;;-
.C.S.Brs. 9,826 6,883 4,587 794 936 25,549* 
Vic.Hrs. 37 599 0 0 0 636 

• 

• 
5$ $1,174 $1,203 S398 a I a 52,775 

C.S.Hrs. 56 40 0 50 a 146 
Vic.Hrs. 47 0 a a a 47 

----2------- ---l-----------1-------------Ilanon 0>. SS S164 a a a a $164 
C.S.HrS. a a a a a a 
Vic.Hrs. a a a a a a 

~;;':~:----j-;;--" "l ,-;:rn--;;:rn----;;;;'b' --0-- -SiO:04~-C.S.HrS. 30 a 25 74 42 171 
Vic.Hrs. 135 a 106 a a 241 

;,~-;:~~---- -_;;_- _. S150 S"JQ4 $69-2-----0 - $-.98- Sl.644-
C.S.Hrs. a a a a a a 
Vic.HrS. a a 9 a a 9 

~~:ir:-~:-----I :.~~Hrs.I~-----i-r-"-·-~-·r---·~-·-l-$iorl----~-·l---$io~--

;;~~-~~------lVi:;~~:ll'---~---I-----~-I- $9: -T---$-2-7~--T-s50~-I---Sa7;--
C.S.Hrs. a a a a I a a 
Vic.Hrs'i 0 ~ 0 0 I 0 l 0 1 • 0 

~~~-;;-----I:~~:~1--;5;~~:--I--;3;f~Tl-$3T~T-T--~1TTsl~~~r-T, $i~:~:r 
IVic.HrS. 0, a a a I 16 16 _____________________ .J ________ .l... ______ l. _____ ...:.. ______ ..!... ________ ...:.. _______ _ 

Kenosha CO. II 5$ I 0', S716' $2,379 ' $364 i $343 I', 53,822 C.S.Hrs. ! O. 591! 635 354 I 100,' 1,680 
,Vic.ars.l O! O! o. . 0 t 0 

Ashland 0>. 

• 

• 

• 
;;;;;~:-;;,-:-:------I' :1~~~l-;~9~ -T-;~;;i-T;;~;~--r--S-;8-~--I' --~~--TI ~~-:;~~-

Vic.Hrs. a I a I 100 I a a 100 
~;;;~~~~;:;:;~;_,..I-;;--i-;;~;;;-r--;~;~-T;~;;--,,--;;;;--r-~-;;5--T$-;~;4S 

C.S.Hrs. : 52! C' 320 114 I 145 I 631 
Vic.Hrs. I 6' a I 6 I 0, a I 12 ______________ --., ____ ~-_------..!...-_---·--_---.. -_---L--_---__ !.. _______ _ 

OUeaqamle 0>. I ss I $3,029 i S1,530 i 52,851 I- 566 I' 563S I; $8,lil C.S.Hrs. I a I 0, a 0 a a 
____________ .Vic.Hrs.: 17 0: 0, a a 17 
Racine CO. 'S5 I a I $108 ~ 5~, a;;--,o-r-;916--'",--5-2-,'9-20--

Ic.s.Hrs. a 'I 0,' a! a I a a _ ,Vic.Hrs. I a o. a i a I a i a 
;;"c;;,-:---------1-;;--I-;:l85~1-$l~866-~i;99;-~ETI $i~-83T519"".269-

C.S.lIrs. 152 30 a i 0 a I 182 
ie.Jirs. ; 3S I 0: 0 i C: 0 1 35 

~~:~;;-;~-----~-;;_--; -s4:553---r------------O------O--:..------O---~-s-4-,-55j-

• 

• 
C.S.Hrs. 0 C· 0 0 0 0 

___________ ~~:~~=_~ ____ ~ _________ ~ ____ ~ ______ o ______ ~ ________ -.: __ 

(continued) 

• 
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AN OVERVIEW OF RESTITUTION PROGRAM MODELS 

IN THE JUVENILE JUSTICE SYSTEM 

INTRODUCTION 

A recent survey of 133 randomly selected juvenile courts indicates 

that many of them occaGionally or even frequently require offenders to make 

monetary restitution to the victims of their offenses. l Only a few juris-

dictions, however, have developed the procedures, resources, and capacity 

that would permit restitution to become a major alternative to the tradi-

tional dispositions of probation or incarceration. In jurisdictions that 

have institutionalized the use of restitution by juvenile offenders, the 

process goes far beyond a simple requirement that offenders return stolen 

property to the victim or, if they are financially able to do so, pay for 

damages or loss of property that could not be recovered. The purpose of 

this paper is to describe in some detail the alternative approaches to 

restitution developed by a selected group of juvenile courts. The finding, 

in many of these courts, is that restitution by the offender to the victim 

has become an integral part of the administration of justice and the reha-

bilitation of juvenile offenders. 

The study was undertaken by the Institute of Policy Analysis at the 

request of the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention in 

preparation for a major initiative by OJJDP to implement and expand the 

use of restitution in juvenile courts. 

From the original group of 133 courts included in the IPA survey, and 

lThis survey was conducted by the Institute of Policy Analysis as part of 
the restitution evaluation. The results are reported in "Restitution Re
quirements for Juvenile Offenders: A Survey of the Practices in American 
Juvenile Courts," in Juvenile Justice. 

• 
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• 
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from other information concerning locations that have developen restitu-

tion programs, lS jurisdictions located in 12 states were selected for 

site visits, observation, and in-depth interviews. These jurisdictions 

are nota random sample, but were carefully selected in order to gather 

information from persons who have had considerable experience with re-

qui ring juveniles to make restitution to victims. 

ORGANIZATIONAL DIMENSIONS OF RESTITUTION PROGRAMS 

In formation frcm the IPA survey and the visits to lS juvenile courts 

has been used to identify seven major organizational dimensions of resti-

tution programs. These dimensions are: 

·the goals and purposes of the program; 

·the types of restitution that are available; 

·the scope of eligibility for the restitution program; 

·the procedures for developing the detailed ~estitution plan; 

·the number of services available to offenders from the program; 

·the number of services available to their victims (other than 
restitution itself); and 

·the source of control over the restitution process. 

As shown in Table 1, each dimension is a continuum, representing the 

fact that a restitution program could be located at any point on the con-

tinuum from. one extreme to the other. The dimensions have been selected 

not only because programs differ on these, but also because they repre-

sent the types of decisions that a jurisdiction would have to make if it 

were intending to implement a restitution program. 
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TABLE l: ORGANIZATIONAL DIMENSIONS OF RESTITUTION PROGRAMS 

1- GOALS, PURPOSES lictim- Jth offender-' • 
oriented accountability 

lao Offender Treatmt !social services deterrencJ 

2. TYPES OF RESTITUTION/ 
'financial 

I I I 
al~ ~lPLOYMENT :2 3 4 

types types types types • 
3. SCOPE (ELIGIBILITY) 

'limited broaJ 

4. DEVELOPMENT OF THE 
RESTITUTION PLAN 

4a. Victim Role ~i9h loJ 

4b. Corranunity Role ~igh loJ • 
4c. Victim/Offender 

'hOi9h nonJ Interaction 

4d. Amount of 
~i9h nonJ Negotiation 

5. OFFENDER SERVICES 'reqUired avadabl~/ nonJ • 
voluntary 

6. VICTIM SERVICES lmany onlY 
restitution 

7. S?URCE OF CONTROL 

7a. Case Management I 1 

by otheJ Coordination 'by restitution dual • 
program control 

7b. Court Control 'in the court: independen~ 
of the court 

7c. Administrative 
~i9h loJ Aut:onomy • 

• 

• 
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Goals and Purposes 

Selection of the major goals and purposes of a restitution program 

is perhaps the most important decision the jurisdiction will make. This 

choice provides guidance for the program components and the methods of 

implementing various parts of the restitution process. As shown in 

Table 1, the goals can range from a victim-oriented program to one that 

4It is more heavily offender-oriented. It is generally the case, however, 

• 

that no restitution program can be exclusively offender-oriented because 

the payment of restitution or even unpaid community service work has some 

benefits for the victim and/or the community. 

Programs that have an offender orientation could lean either toward 

the "social services" side of the second continuum or toward the "deterrence" 

side. A program that provides a wice range of social or psychological ser

vices to offenders and does not focus as much on repaying the loss to 

the victim would be considered near the "social service" side. A deter-

~ rence program would avoid the appearance that offenders receive positive 

rewards from the justice system and, therefore, would avoid providing 

services that are unavailable to youths who did not break the law. 

• 

• 

~ 

• 

Types of Restitution/Employment 

Restitution programs will have to establish a procedure to facilitate fi

nancial transactions from offenders to victims and also will have to deciae 

what other types of restitution or employment (if any) will be arranged for 

offenders. The types of assistance that might be provided include, 

Community Service: Community service refers to unpaid work for a non

profit or government agency. Programs that use community service should ar

range for placements of offenders in the agencies and work out a procedure 

for supervising and monito%lng the youths while they work there. The "amount" 

of community service restitution is measured in hours. 



164 

5 

Job Assistance: A program has a job assistance capacity if there are one 

or more persons on the staff whose primary responsibilities are to locate job 

openings, usually in the private sector, and notify restitution program clients 

of these openings. The youths are not "placed" in these jobs and, in fact, 

must compete with other persons who might apply for the same openings. 

Job Development: Job development differs from job assistance in that 

jobs are "reserved" for the restitution program youths and they do not have 

to compete with other persons for the openings. 

Subsidized Employment: The program could arrange placements in the 

community service aoencies and pay the youth the minimum wage for working 

there. The youth repays the victim from these funds. A program could or

ganize its own community service work detail and pay youths for each hour 

spent in the work detail. 

Victim Service: When the victim is a public or non-profit agency (such 

as a school, church, and so on) the youth could be assigned to work for 

them in much the same way as a community service placement would be handled. 

But programs also could attempt to place youths ,dth personal victims. 

(Only a few of the programs included in this study had much success with 

this effort. Cincinnati prohibited it after initially making it a part 

of the program.) 

Scope of Eligibility 

Determining which juveniles should be included in the restitution pro

gram is another major decision that must be made by the project. Some pro

grams have eligibility requirements that greatly limit the number and types 

of offenders who can be included (such as requirements that the youths be 

first offenders, below a minimum family income level, have committed minor 

offenses, etc.). Other projects are willing to accept a wider range of 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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clients and have. the capacity to handle both pre and post adjudicated youths, 

• serious and minor offenders, and so on. 

Development of the Restitution Plan 

The activities involved in developing the restitution plan provide a 

major basis for distinguishing among restitution programs. The victim's 

• role can range from none at all (other than a letter asking for documenta-

tion of the loss) to a series of involvements in developing the plan. Pro-

grams could conduct personal interviews with victims during the time when 

the details of the restitution plan are being developed, could encourage 

victim participation in face-to-face meetings with the offender to nego-

•. tiate the amount, and could hold a special accountability hearing attended 

by the victim. 

Although most programs have no activities that permit community in-

volvement in the restitutive process, a few have developed mechanisms to 

accomplish this. One procedure is to identify and trai..., a gro',' )f com-

• munity volunteers who attend a·special accountability hearing with the 

offender and persons from the restitution program (and sometimes the vic-

time) to establish the amount, type, and schedule of restitution. 

victim-offender intera.:tion can vary from none at all to face-to-face 

• meetings, joint negotiation of a "fair" restitution agreement, working for 

the victim, and so on. 

programs that have the dual goals of victim assistance and offender 

rehabilitation tend to engage in more arbitration and negotiation than 

do programs·~hich are exclusively offender-oriented or exclusively victim-

• oriented. In't.he latter, the amount of restitution generally is equal to 

the l~ss. In the former, the amount is constrained by the youth's ability 

• 

• 
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to pay. Programs which have a dual objective of serving victims and offen-

ders have to negotiate and arbitrate the amount of restitution. 

Offender Services 

The diagr&~ in Table 1 shows how offender services can vary: They 

may be required, available but volW1tary, or alto.gether absent from the 

\ 
restitution program. Included are services such as cOW1selling, special 

education, job training, and family therapy. 

Victim Services 

Victim services that could be provided as a part of l:.he victim's 

role in developing the restitution plan include assistance in documenting 

the loss, property ret~un, advocacy, and so on. In addition, a program 

conceivably could provide social services or referrals for victims. 

Case Management Coordination 

The case management dimension varies in relation to · .. hether pdrsons 

responsible for developing the restitution plan are able to monitor, track, 

and close the restitution part of the case. A highly coordinated program 

would be one in which persons who develop the restitution plan have th~\ 

sole responsibility for monitoring this part of the youth's disposition 

and have the ability to make their recommendation concerning compliance 

(or lack thereof) directly to the juvenile court judge or referee. The 

other end of the continuum is represented by programs in which persons who 

develop and implement the restitution plan are not responsible for monitor-

ing it. Instead, o~~~r persons in the system have the ability to vacate 

the restitution requirements (or to recommend to the judge that the require-

ments be vacated). 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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Court Control 

This is an organizational dimensi.on referring to the physieal location 

of the program and to its administrative ~~d financial independence of the 

juvenile court. A restitution program could be entirely within the juvenile 

court system (physically located there, financially dependent on the court, 

administratively dependent on the court) or it could be entirely independent 

(located elsewhere, financially independent, administratively independent). 

Programs, of course, could be quasi-independent as well. 

Autonomy 

The degree of autonomy for a restrtution program refers to whether it 

is part of a traditional court department (intake or probation) or whether 

it is a separate unit. For programs that are not a part Qf the juvenile 

justice system, autonomy refers to the administrative independence wi~~in 

the parent agency. 
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MODELS OF RESTITUTION • 
using the dimensions presented above, it is possible to construct 

dozens (even hundreds) of different restitution program models. Hypothe-

tically, one could combin& every point on each of the dimensions until all 

possible combinations have been exhausted. By changing the program's • 
position on just one dimension, a slightly different model would be created. 

Even though it is somewhat arbitrary to select any particular set of 

characteristics and describe these as "models ll of restitution, we have 

chosen to discuss seven general models of restitution programs. These • particular ones illustrate the range of models that might be used and 

illustrate the models which have the closest fit to the 15 sites that 

were included in this study. It should be emphasized that these seven 

do not exhaust the models that could be developed and jurisdictions inten-

ding to implement restitution programs could mix and coIDbine these in a • 
variety of ways. (Additional combinations are presented in Appendix A.) 

Basic Restitution Models 

In the most basic model, the restitution program consists entirely • of a procedure for handling financial transactions from offender to vic-

tim. The victim is notified (usually by letter or by the police officer) 

that he or she may be able to cbtain restitution by sending a statement 

to the court documenting the losses from the offense. Prosecuting attor-

neys (and/or the judge) ask for restitution in cases where the loss was • 
documented by the victim. The offender makes payments to the court, which, 

• 

• 
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in turn, reimburses the victim. In one variant of this type, the financial 

• office of the court is responsible for notifying the probation officer or 

the judge when the full amount has been paid. In another version, proba-

tion officers act as the intermediaries, monitor the payments, and notify 

the court of the youth's progress in complying. In either type, the pri-

mary characteristics of the program are the absence of activities which 

,. provide assistance to victims (other than restitution), the absence of 

activities that would accentuate the therapeutic value of restitution to 

the youths, and the absence of activities that would permit a greater num-

ber of youths to participate. These models normally would be expected to 

have goals which place about equal emphasis on offender rehabilitation and • victim assistance. 

Expanded Basic Restitution Models 

This model is identical to the previous one except that the program 

develops the capacity to assist youths from low-income families in finding 

• employment and/or provides subsidized employment for them. The basic goal 

of the program is to provide as much compensation as possible (but not to 

exceed the documented loss) for as many victims as possible through the 

juvenile court. The employment capacity is viewed primarily from this 

• perspective, although the therapeutic value of restitution to the offender 

is not overlooked. 

victim Assistance Models 

A victim assistance model provides for a nleans of making financial 

... transactions, has subsidized employment or job assistance for youths from 

low-income families, and greatly increases the court's capacity to assist 

victims in obtaining full restitution. The additional activities could 

include victim assistance in documenting losses; assistance in property 

• 

• 
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recovery; victim advocacy during the court proceedings when the amount of 

restitution is being established; and information to the victim about the 

availability of civil court remedies. Other services might also be pro

vided to victims, such as transportation from the scene of the crime, 

transportation to court to appear as a witness, and so on. 

Victim Assistance/Offender Accountability Models (Arbitration Models) 

11 

This model (VA/OA) differs from the victim assistance model by a 

marked increase in the types of activities that could maximize the thera

peutic value of restitution. The VA/OA model differs from the basic resti

tution model in that the former has more activities intended to help both 

the victim and the offender. In order to maximize the potential impact _.1 

youths, jurisdictions using this model would focus considerable attention 

and resources on victim-offender interaction: face~to-face meetings; 

reaching an agreemE::!nt with both concerning what is a' "fair ll and "equitable" 

amount of restitution; encouraging the victim to permit the offender to 

work off the restitution for the victim; encouraging the offender to apolo

gize to the victim, and so on. Because of the dual goals (victim restitu

tion and offender accountability) these programs often must negotiate and 

arbitrate the amount of restitution. If it is too high, then the youth 

will not be able to make restitution to the victim and much (perhaps all) 

of the therapeutic value would be lost. Assistance to youths in finding 

employment would extend to all offenders, not just those from low-income 

families. In addition, the program normally would arrange for community 

service placements so that offenders who cannot make financial restitu

tion (because they are unable to find a job or are too young to work) can 

participate in an indirect restitutive process. When the property is re

covered immediately and returned to the victim, the offender can be 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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assigned community service hours to "make restitution" (indirectly) for the 

offense itself, not just for the monetary loss. In relation to the social 

services versus deterrem:e dimensions, programs could lean either way. A 

variant of this model could be called offender accountability/victim 

assistance model. It would differ from the VA/DA only in that offender 

accountability is slightly more important. 

Employment/Restitution Models 

The employment/restitution model differs from previous ones in that its 

primary focus is on finding employment for "rr ,cars with the dual purpose 

of (a) permitting the offender to make restitution to the victim and (b) re-

e duci~g the unemployment among youths and thereby (theoretically) reducing the 

likelihood of recidivism. The rationale for this approach is that unemployment 

is a major cause of juvenile crime. Programs fitting this model would be ex

pected to expend considerable resources in job assistance and job development. 

• 

• 

Job placements would have the potential for long-term employment or for the 

development of job skills which would result in permanent employment. 

Social Services/Restitution Models 

A social services/restitution model is defined as one in which restitu

tion is viewed as therapeutic for the offender but, in additiou,the youths 

would be requi=ed to participate in other social services, such as counsel

ling, special education, or job training. The focus in jursidctions using 

this model has shifted substantially from the victim toward the offender 

and much less emphasis is placed on obtaining restitution or providing 

• victim assistance even during the restitution process. 

Commtmity Accountability/Deterrence Models 

A community accountability/deterrence program is similar to some of 

• 

• 
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the others in that one of the primary objective! .s to hold juvenile 

offenJers accountable and responsible for their actions through proce

dures in which the offender is made aware of the personal consequences 

of the crime for the victim. The model differs from others in the follow

ing ways: 

1. The program is physically located within the neighborhood or 

small community in which the juvenile lives, 

2. The procedure for establishing the amount, type, and schedule 

of restitution involves participation by a panel of community volunteers 

who are trained and coordinated by a restitution counsellor, 

3. Offenders are made aware of the consequences of their acts for 

the victim (who, therefore, must be repaid) and are made aware of the 

fact that persons within the neighborhood believe that crime detracts 

from the quality of life in that area of the city. Thus, the community 

also must be repaid for the offense through community service work. 

4. The program objectives are more toward the offender than the 

victim and are oriented primarily toward deterrence rather than social 

service approaches. Specific deterrence is to be achieved by the resti

tution process combined with community services. General deterrence is 

to be achieved through the use of a highly visible, community-oriented 

response to juvenile crime that does not permit participation in social 

services or psychological counselling to be a substitute for offender 

accountability and responsibility for the crime itself. 

Source of Control 

The seven modelS were described in relation to their goals and acti

vities without consideration of whether they are within the juvenile jus

tice system or independent of it, without consideration of the amount of 

13 
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control the program has over the restitution process from beginning to 

• closure; and without consideration of whether the program is relatively 

autonomous or entirely incorporated within a traditional court department 

such as probation or intake. By adding these three additional dimensions, 

one produces even more models of restitution. These dimensions are ex-

tremely important but were omitted from the general descriptions for the 

• sake of brevity. 

OVERVIEW OF THE 15 PROGRAMS 

Table 2 shows each of the seven general models and the programs that 

ct have at least a fair degree of similarity to the model. 

Three programs that are aimilar to the basic model (Alameda County, 

Santa Fe, and Topeka) are all much older than the more elaborate programs 

described in the lower section of the table. In Alameda County and Santa Fe, 

the probation officers handle the restitution process. Judge William Honey-

• man and his secretary handle the program in Topeka, Kansas (with assistance 

from the prosecuting attorney and the guardian ad litum who know they will 

be asked to document the victim's loss and assess the offender's ability 

to·pay). Denver has two restitution programs: One is located in the court 

and is managed by the probation officers; the other is admillistered as a 

part of the district attorney's diversion program for juveniles. 

Cincin~ati, one of the oldest programs in the nation, is a good example 

of an expanded basic model. The restitution department is located within 

the financial office of the juvenile court in Cincinnati and they handle 

the financial aspects of restitution. In addition, the court has a paid 

and an unpaid work detail primarily for youths who are from low-income fami-

lies and/or who have been required to do community service work. These are 

79-489 0-81-12 



TABLE 2: OVERVIEW OF THE 15 PROGRMIS 
BEGIIN 

LOCATION NAME IN ., 

1- Basic Restitution Models Alameda County, CA none 1963 

Santa Fe, NM none 1953 

Topeka, KN none ----

Denver, Co none ----

2. Expanded Basic Ci:1cinnati, OH none 1959 
Restitution Models Salt Lake City, UT 1977 none 

3. Victim Assistance Models Las Vegas Victim Assistance ----
Dorchester, MAl Urban Court, 1975 

Victim Assistance 

4a. Victim Assistance/ Oklahoma County, OK Victim Assistance/Restitution 1975 
Offender Accountability Models 

Tulsa County, OK Victim Assistance 1975 

Rapid City, SD Victim Assistance 1973 

4b. Offender Accountability/ Aline Arundel County, MD Community Arbitration 1973 
Victim Assistance 

Quincy, MA Earn-It 1976 

5. Employment/Restitution Model Lowell, MAl Juvenile Restitution Program 1977 

6. Social services/ 
. 1 

Dorchester, MA Urban Court, 1975 
Restitution Model , 1 

Lowell, MA Juvenile Restitution Program 1977 
., 

7. Community Accountability model Seattle, WA community Accountability program,1974 

Dorchester, ~IA 1 Urban Court, 1975 
Community Disposition Panel 

, 1 I 
Lowell, MA Juvenile Restitution Program 1977 

lThese programs are listed more than once because they are mixed models. 

• • • • • • • • 
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administered separately from the financial aspects of restitution. 

Salt Lake city's restitution program is located with the probation 

department and is supplemented by subsidized work for indigent youths ad

ministered through a non-profit community agency. 

The best example of a victim assistance model probably is the program 

in Las Vegas. Although the victim assistance coordinator is, t~chnically, 

a pr~bation officer, her primary role is to act as a victim advocate and to 

provide victim assistance. Probation officers handle the case management 

and act as advoca~es for the youth's interests. 

Dorchester, Massachusetts, has a highly developed program, called the 

Urban Court, which has a quasi-independent relationship with the District 

Court from which its referrals corne. This program is primarily for adults 

but they have had about 30 juvenile cases since expanding the program to 

include juveniles. The Urban Court has several components and, for that 

reason, is l.isted next to several of the restitution Inodels shown in Table 2. 

The victim assistance component provides victim services, including victim 

advocacy and representation during the time when the details of the restitu

tion plan are being developed. 'Xhe disposition panel consists of a group 

of highly trained community volunteers who accept cases from the court, con

duct a non-judici~l hearing that is attended by the victim or victim advo

cate, the offender, the restitution coordinator, and a person who is the 

social services counsellor or "associate probation officer" for the youth. 

The amount, type, and schedule are negotiated at this panel hearing. Thus, 

Dorchester has one unit that fits the victim assistance model and another 

(the disposition panel) that fits the community accolmtability model. In 

addition, however, the Dorchester program involves the development of a 

social service plan for every offender that, at a minimum, requires one 
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hour of counselling each week. Thus, the Dorchester program also has 

characteristics similar to the social services/restitution model. 

No program has a particularly good fit with the employment/restitu

tion model although it is possible that the Lowell, Massachusetts, juve

nile restitution program will develop into this type. This program was 

funded late in 1977 and had received only seven cases at the time of the 

site visit. It was modelled after the disposition component of the Urban 

Court in Dorchester, but a preliminary assessment of its operations indi

cates that it may place more emphasis on long-term employment than the 

other programs. Because the Lowell program intends to require counselling 

and other services for every offender, it also has been listed next to the 

social services/restitution model. 

17 

The victim assistance/offender accountability programs have been 

divided into two groups. In the first group, the emphasis probably is more 

toward offenders than victims and, therefore, the double-name of this 

model has been reversed. The Anne Arundel County, Maryland, program serves 

as an alternative to court intake. A lawyer/arbitrator meets with the 

offender and the victim to screen the case and, if the evidence warrants, 

to establish the amount, type, and schedule of restitution. There are no 

other services for victims, but the field coordinators who monitor the 

case can provide other services to the youths. 

The "Earn-It" program in Quincy, Massachusetts, has a better-developed 

program for finding jobs than any of the others. Businesses are asked to 

"donate" 100 hours of work for the program clients. It might be argued 

that the Quincy program should be considered an employment/restitution 

model, but because most of the jobs are provided on a temporary basis for 

the purpose of enabling the offender to earn e~ough money to pay restitu

tion and because of the emphasis on victim-offender interaction, it seems 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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more reasonable to classifY the Quincy program as an offender accountability/ 

, • victim assistance approach. 

• 

The second group of victim assistance/offender accountability programs 

all started as victim assistance models but evolved into programs with a 

balanced approach toward offenders and victims. All three programs (Okla

homa County, Tulsa County, and Rapid city, south Dakota) emphasize victim-

offender interac~ion and the provision of sufficient job assistance or 

co~~unity service work so that no youths are excluded from the program due 

to an inability to pay restitution. 

The Seattle Community Accountability Program is virtually identical 

'. to the accountability model described previously because that model was 

derived from the approach taken in Seattle. 

• 

• 

DISCUSSION OF PROGRAM CHARACTERISTICS 

The characteristics of each program are shown in Table 3 and are 

discussed below. 

Organization and Administration 

Three programs are completely independent of the juvenile justice sys

tem (Seattle,AnneArundel, and Lowell). Dorchester and Quincy, Massachusetts, 

are administratively independent of the court, physically separate, but 

their funding is channeled through the court. 

The rationale for establishing restitution programs independent of 

the juvenile justice system differs to some extent among these sites. In 

• Seattle, one of the major assumptions upon which the Community Accountability 

• 

• 

Program (CAP) was established is that a high percentage of juvenile crime 

is "attributable to the failure of the existi!,g system to hold youths 



• • 

PROGRlIMS 

I. BASIC ~10DELS 

1. Alameda County 

2. Santa Fe 

3. Topeka 

4. Denver 

II. EXPANDED BASIC MODELS 

1. Cincinnati 

2. Salt Lake City 

III. VICTIM ASSISTANCE MODELS 

1. Las Vegas 

IV. VA/OA ~10DELS 

1. Oklahoma County 

2. Tulsa County 

3. Rapid City 

V. OA/VA MODELS 

1. Anne Arundel County 

2. Quincy 

VI. COMMUNITY ACCOUNT. MODELS 

I,. Seattle 

2. Dorchester 

3. Lowell 

TABLE 3: CHARlICTERISTICS OF PROGRAMS 
1 

DEVELOPMENT OF THE PLAN 

Court control 
& Autonomy 

Probation 

Probation 

judge & intake 

DA & probation 

Several 
court units 

probationI' 
non-profit 

Court admin. unit 

Court admin. uni t I 
Court admin. unit 

Court admin. unit I 

Independent I 
Quasi-independent 

Independent 

Quasi-independent 

Independent 

Special 
victim 

Interview 

letter 

usually 

no 

no 

letter 

no 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

usu'allY 

yes 

yes 

yes 

Negotiation 
of Plan 

no 

usually 

no 

no 

no 

no 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

not 
usually 

yes 

yes 

yes 

Encourage 
Face-to 

-Face 
Meeti,!g_ 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

yes 

yes 

yes 

no 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

Community 
Account. 
Panel 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

yes 

yes 

yes 

Case 
~lanagement 

by 

probation 

probation 

judge/secretary 

DA staff/probation 

RC/probation 

probation 

probation 

RC 

RC 

RC 

RC 

RC 

RC & panel 

YC 

YC 

lRC refers to a restitution coordinator or person with similar title whose major responsibility is restitution. 
YC refers to a youth counsellor other than probation officer or the restitution coordinator. 

• • • • • • 
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PROGRlIM 

I. BASIC MODELS 

1. ~lameda County 

2. Santa Fe 

3. Topeka 

4. Denver 

II. EXPIINDED BASIC HODELS 

1. Cincinnati 

2. Salt Lake City 

III. VICTIM ASSISTANCE MODELS 

1. Las Vegas 

IV. VA/Oil MODELS 

1. Oklahoma County 

2. Tulsa County 

3. Rapid city 

V. OA/VII MODELS 

1. Anne IIrundel County 

2. Quincy 

VI. COM~IUNITY ACCOUNT. MODELS 

1. Seattle 

2. Dorchester 

3. Lowell 

• • • • 
TABLE 3 (continued) 

I 
TYPES OF RESTITUTION 

Encourage 
Property Work for 
Return 

court 

court 

court 

court 

court 

court 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

no 

no 

no 

yes 

no 

Victim 

no 

yes 

yes 

? 

no 

? 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

Financial 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

EllPLOYMENT CAPACITY OF PROGRlIM 

Community 
Service 

no 

some 

no 

no 

yes 

no 

no 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

Subsidized Job 
Employment Assistance 

no 

no 

no 

no 

1 
yes 

yesl 

yes 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

yes 

no 

yes 

no 

no 

no 

no 

yes 

no 

yes 

yes 

no 

no 

no 

yes 

no 

yes 

no 

• 
Job 

Development 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

yes 

no 

no 
1 

yes 

IJobs limited by parental income requirements. In Cincinnati approximately 25 percent of the funds for subsi
dized employment have no parental income limitations. 

'" o 

•• 
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PROGRAM 

I. BASIC MODELS 

1. Alameda County 

2. Santa Fe 

3. Topeka 

4. Denver 

D. EXPANDED BASIC MODELS 

1. Cincinnati 

2. Salt Lake City 

III. VICTIM ASSISTANCE MODELS 

1. Las Vegas 

IV. VA/OA MODELS 

1. Oklahoma County 

2. Tulsa County 

3. Rapid City 

V. OA/VA MODELS 

1. Anne Arundel County 

2. Quincy 

VI. COMMUNITY ACCOUNT. MODELS 

1. Seattle 

2. Dorchester 

3. Lowell 

TABLE 3 (continued) 

OTHER SERVICES FOR 1 
OFFENDER FROM PROGRAM! 

OTHER SERVICES FOR VICTIM FROM PROGRAM 

Program Social Services: 
Required Available 

none 

none 

none 

none 

none 

none 

none 

none 

none 

none 

none 

none 

none 

yes 

yes 

none 

none 

none 

yes (diver
sion only) 

none 

none 

none 

none 

none 

none 

yes 

none 

yes 

yes 

yes 

Assistance 
with Prop. 

Return 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

ro 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

no 

no 

no 

yes 

no 

Victim 
Advocacy 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

no 

no 

yes 

yes 

Asst.inDevlp. 
Documentation 

of Loss 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

yes 

yes 

yes 

yes 

no 

no 

no 

yes 

yes 

Others 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

no 

yes 

yes 

yes 

few 

no 

no 

no 

yes 

yes 

IThis is defined narrowly and means that the restitution program (as distinct from the court) provides or re
quires social services. Many of the courts require or make available social services, but the restitution 
component does not. In Denver, social services are available from the diversion restitution program • 

• • • • • • 
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accountable for their offenses through the prompt and appropriate applica-

.... tion of social sanctions on the local level" (City of Seattle Criminal 

Justice Plan, 1977, page 258). Thus, the city established three CAPs, 

• 

• 

each located within a geographically confined neighborhood, for the purpose 

of returning juvenile offenders to their own communities for the develop

ment of the restitution plan. The community-based program also is consis-

tent with the fact that the Seattle program seeks not only to rehabilitate 

offenders, but also to deter juvenile crime through the swift, certain, 

and highly visible application of the restitution sanction by an organiza

tion within the neighborhood itself. 

The Dorchester Urban Court program attempts to maintain a relative 

degree of independence in order to increase community participation in the 

administration of justice. Due to its independence, the Dorchester pro

gram is able to handle a number of functions that are not a traditional 

part of the justice system, including restitution, victim assistance, and 

... community mediation. 

... 

The three victim assistance/offender accountability programs (Oklahoma 

County, Tulsa County, and Rapid City) are located within the juvenile court 

but are administratively independent of intake and probation. The estab-

lishment of a separate administrative unit for these programs was intended 

to improve the visibility and coordination of their functions and to avoid 

the problem of victim assistance/restitution being considered of secondary 

importance to traditional court activities. In Las Vegas, the victim assis

tance coordinator and staff are, technically, probation officers, but do 

... not have a regular probation case load and are physically located several 

blocks from the juvenile court. 

The six basic restitution programs differ in terms of how the restitu-

tion activities are organized. In some, there is nn -

... 
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group of ~ersons who handle all -the activities normally associated with 

restitution. The restitution "program" is very hard to find when some 

activities are handled by intake, some by probation, others by the prose

cutor and defense attorney, some by the judge, and some do not exist at all. 

It should be noted that the independent and quasi-independent programs 

are no more likely to be juvenile diversion programs than are the court

administered ones. Dorchester and Lowell (Massachusetts) accept only 

adjudicated cases. The Anne Arundel County program accepts only diverted 

cases. All the others have a mixture of diverted and adjudicated 

youths. 

It should also be pointed out that all programs can have problems 

in coordinating their activities with other parts of the juvenile justice 

system. The independent programs require well-developed agreements or 

arran~ements with the court if they expect to receive any cases. The first 

Seattle program began with considerable support from the neighborhood 

where it was located and from the Law and Justice Planning Office, but due 

to a lack of coordination with the court it received only 17 cases in the 

first nine months. The victim assistance coordinator in Oklahoma City 

said that her program could not possibly have worked without the full 

cooperation of all the court units (intake and probation), the juvenile 

bureau director, and the juvenile judges. Most of the VAloA programs 

at one time or another have had problems in obtaining notification of 

cases which they should be working on. Cases can "fall through the cracks" 

if arrangements are not made with intake, probation, and the judge to 

routenize the notification procedure. 

The basic models risk a different type of coordination problem. 

If the various activities required in a restitution program are 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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divided among many persons, most of whom have major responsibilities for 

other court functions, there is a danger that restitution will be of secon

dary importance or will be used sporadically rather than as an integral 

part of the court's justice system. 

Development of the Restitution Plan 

The restitution plan typically includes the amount of restitution, 

the type (fin~ncial, community service, or both), the payment schedule, 

and supplementary information used to justify that the agreement is a 

fair and reasonable one. All programs except the basic models use very 

similar procedures in developing the plan. Typically, the victim and 

offender are both intervie'~ed by the restitution coordinator. The 

purposes of the interview are (1) to establish the" amount of loss, 

(2) to assess the offender's ability to mnke restitution, (3) to discuss 

with the vi.ctim whether the offender can work for him or her to make resti

tution, (4) to determine whether the victim would be willing to meet face-

• to-face with the offender, and "(5) to determine whether (or how) the victim 

• 

wishes to be involved in other aspects of developing the restitution plan. 

Most of the accountability programs invest considerable resources in this 

part of the restitution process and attempt to develop (or negotiate) a 

plan th~t both the offender and victim accept as fair and equitable. In 

most of these programs, it is considered ve~' :~portant that the offender 

and victim meet face-to-face, but program personnel acknowledge that this 

is difficult and that ~c requires time, discussion, and persuasion to con

vince victims that some purpose will be served by their future participation 

". in the restitution process. 

• 

• 

The efforts to reach a restitution agreement acceptable to-both the 

victim and offender stem from trying to accomplish the dual goals o~ 
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offender rehabilitation and victim satisfaction. Since juveniles often 

are unable to make full financial restitution, it is important to con-

vince the victim that the agreement represents all that the youth can • 
reasonably be expected to accomplish. P'Jrther, many programs believe it 

is quite important that the youth be successful in his or her efforts to 

restitute the victim. As one restitution counsellor said, "We must not 

just set the youth up for another failure. It is very important that, • when the restitution plan is complete, the youth will know that the victim, 

the court, and the community believe the debt has been paid." 

In the VAlDA models the details of the restitution plan are developed 

by program personnel, but in the three community programs (Seattle, Lowell, 

and Dorchester), a very different approach has been used. In these, a • 
panel of community volunteers (trained and coordinated by the restitution 

officer) meet with the offender and conduct a non-judicial "hearing" of 

the case to establish the amount, type, and schedule for restitution. 

In Seattle, Dorchester, and Lowell, the community panel and hearings • are the heart of the restitution program. The major purpose of all three 

prograMs is that the offender must accept responsibility for the crime 

and must be held accountable for it by the community. The community mem-

bers and the victim or victim advocate attempt to insure that the juve-

nile recognizes the personal consequences of the crimes for victims and • 
others in the community. In Anne Arundel, the arbitration hearing is 

the heart of the restitution program. Its purposes and procedures are 

virtually identical to a community panel hearing except that the hearing 

is conducted by a community arbitrator who is a lawyer. 

The process in Tulsa, Oklahoma City, and Rapid City is very similar • 
to that used by the community panel and the arbitrator, except that they 

rely upon the e~~erience, skill, and persuasion of the restituti?n 

• 

• 
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connsellor rather than a community panel or arbitrator. One program 

• administrator said that the program works only because of the experience 

and skill of the restitution counsellors. "You cannot send inexperienc;:ed 

people out to do these jobs," she said. 

• 

• 

• 

The basic models differ from the others in that there usually is no 

personal interview with the victim (a letter is sent) and there is no per

son or group that seeks to negotiate with the victim and offender until a 

plan is agreed to by both. Instead, the information upon which the plan is 

based is collected by one or more persons in the juvenile justice system 

as a part of their responsibility as intake officers, probation officer&, 

prosecuting attorney, and so on. 

Case Management 

After a restitution plan has been developed for a youth (and approved 

in accordance with the laws and procedures of the court) it has to be im-

plemented, monitored, and closed. Jurisdictions which have full-time staff 

for the restitution program normally permit the person or group who devel

oped the plan to implement, monitor, and close the restitution require- , 

ments. In Dorchester, however, three persons from the program are involved 

in developing the plan: the restitution coordinator, the youth advocate, 

• and a representative from the victim assistance unit. The panel not only 

• 

• 

• 

establishes the amount of restitution, but also is responsible for devel-

oping the entire.sentence, including all the conditions of probation and 

a "social service" plan for the youth. It is the youth advocate (called 

an associate probation officer) who implements and monitors the plan. 

In Seattle the restitution coordinator monitors the case and deter

mines when the youth has complied with the restitution agreement. Anne 

Arundel's Community Arbitration program has several field restitution 
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coor~{nators who implement the restitution plan (and any other require

ments established by ~he la~~er/arbitrator). 

The three VA/OA programs have a case management plan in which the 

restitution/victim assistance counsellor is responsible for monitoring 

the case. These caseS sometimes are staffed both by the. restitution 

counsellor and probation officer, but this is not always true. It appar

ently is the practice in Oklahoma County, Tulsa County, and Rapid City 

that when dual staffing exists for a case, the restitution requirements 

are primarily the responsibility of the restitution program and would 

not be vacated by the probation officer. In most of the basic models 

the restitution requirements are administered as a part of informal or 

formal probation. 

How the restitution requirement is enforced by the jurisdiction 

varies a great deal among the different sites and on a case-by-case basis 

within each site. Enforcement, however, was not reported as much of a 

problem by any of the programs (with the possible exception of Las Vegas 

where probation officers sometimes vacate the requirements without noti

fying the victim coordinator). Only in two sites is restitution always 

a condition of probation or a part of the sentence (Dorchester and Cin

cinnati). If the youth does not comply, the case is returned to the 

judge. In Tulsa County, restitution is not a condition of probation, 

but is a "strong inference" made by the judge at the disposition hearing. 

One restitution coordinator said, "If a juvenile is not making payments, 

we meet with him and the victim and try to figure out what's wrong. 

Usually we can resolve the problems and get the restitution. The juve

niles who are totally unwilling to make restitution usually are messing 

27 

up on other things as well and are in violation of probation." .In Seattle 

if the youth does not comply the case is returned to the source of referral 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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which is either court intake, probation, or the judge. 

• Types of Restitution/Employment Options 

The types of restitution and/or employment alternatives made available 

by the program3 are shown in Table 3. 

The first type of restitution .. -return of stolen property--is a pro-

• 9ram responsibility in. Dorchester, the three VA/OA programs, and in Las 

Vegas. In the others, the court or police handle property return and this 

is not considered to be an activity of the program. All of the programs 

except Cincinnati encourage work for the victim, but none report any spec-

tacular success in achie.ving this type of restitution. 

• Cincinnati originally encouraged work for the victim or for other pri-

vate persons, ;,ut discontinued the practice entirely because of victim 

reluctance, toe court's fear that victims might retaliate against the 

youthful offender, and because of the cost of providing on-site supervi-, 
sion of the work (the court requires on-site supervision of all court-

ordered work details) • 

. Most programs act as an intermediary for financial restitution: The 

offender pays the program ~r the court which, in turn, reimburses the vic-

tim. In TUlsa, however, the offender is supposed to pay the victim direct-

ly and obtain a receipt. The TUlsa program will act as an intermediary 

when necessary but the check or money order has to be made out to the victim. 

All of the programs except the basic models arrange for community 

service work. Seattle, Lowell, Cincinnati, and Salt Lake City make subsi-

dized employment available to restitution clients. 

A program is considered to have a "job assistance" capacity if there 

are one or more persons on the program staff whose primary responsibility 

is to identify job openings and provide information to offenders about 
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potential jobs in the private sector. Job development, as defined here, 

refers to the capacity to actually create or arrange for paying jobs that 

serve as placements for juvenile offenders in the restitution program. 

The Quincy, Massachusetts, program has arranged for local businesses to 

"donate" a certain number of hours each year as placements for restitu

tion clients. The business pays the offender for work that is done and 

a portion of the earnings is returned to the victim as restitution. Al

though the businesses have the right to refuse cases, the program is able 

to reserve job placements for the offenders and they do not compete with 

other applicants for the positions. 

One of the major distinctions between the more fully developed pro

grams and the basic models is in the capacity to make it possible for 

offenders to make res~itution to victims. Most of the programs, including 

the basic models, require some effort by the youth in making restitution 

to the victim even when ~ll property is recovered and returned or when 

the youth can pay the amount out of savings. 

When all of the stolen property is returned immediately, some of the 

programs require community service hours. One program sometimes deals 

with shoplifting cases (in which the property usually is recovered undam

aged) by having the youth place the items on lay-away and work until they 

have sufficient funds to buy the items that were stolen. Vandalism is 

often handl~d by having the youths repair the damage and, in addition, 

do other types of cleanup or repair work on items of the same type that 

were damaged. 

virtualll' all the programs included in the study are aware of the 

Problems created by a lack of job placement capacity. When the program 

does not have community service arrangements, job assistance, job develop

ment, or subsidized employment, the youths who are financially unable to 

29 
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make restitution cannot be included in the program. It is common procedure 

~ that, if the youth has the funds in savings or has a job, he or she is per

mitted to pay restitution from these funds but will be required to do some 

community service work. It also is common procedure in most programs to 

discourage parents from paying the restitution, or, if parents pay, the 

• restitution counsellors attempt to have the offender work for the parents 

and repay them. They say this is difficult to do and impossible to en-

force. In Seattle, the community panel asks the parents to agree not to 

pay the restitution and they may refuse to take the case if the parents 

will not agree to this condition. Some programs, however, are much more 

• victim-oriented and are more inclined to take payment from whatever source 

is most conducive to immediate victim compensation. One of the objec

tives of the Cincinnati program is to shift financial responsibility 

from parents to the youth, but the restitution can be paid by parents. 

• 

• 

The Seattle program differs from the others in that they often re

quire restitution to both the victim and to the community on the grounds 

that crime has consequences for the victim (who, therefore, should be re-

paid) and that crime detracts from the quality of life in the neighbor-

hood. Thus, the community also should be repaid by the offender. 

Most of the programs develop employment options so that youths can 

be included in the restitution program who otherwise would not have the 

financial capacity to make restitution. In some jurisdictions, however, 

employment itself is considered to be of considerable value in preven

tion of future delinquency. The Hassachusetts programs all consider the 

• lack of employment to be a major source of juvenile crime and, therefore, 

the provision of jobs is viewed as having a potential rehabilitative ef-

fect. Program personnel acknowledge that there are severe problems with this, 

• 

79-489 0-81-13 
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however, because it is almost impossible for the program to find enough 

permanent positions for the youths. 

other Services for the Offender 

Many of the restitution programs do not provide social services or 

require offenders to participate in treatments such as counselling, spe

cial education, and so on. Host of the basic models are considered as 

having no social services available because, even if these are avail

able or required by the court, they are not associated with t.he restitu

t;.on function. 

The Dorchester and Lowell programs require all clients to participate 

in counselling sessions and often require other types of social service 

treatments. In Anne Arundel County, the arbitrator can require other 

"treatments" in conjunction with restitution. The VA/OA programs and 

the victim assistance models do not provide or require these types of 

services because it is not considered a part of their function but is 

more appropriately handled by probation. 

The Seattle program has articulated an interesting position in rela

tion to the provision of social services by the juvenile justice system. 

It is the contention of this program that the juvenile justice system's 

first response to juvenile crime should be to hold the youth responsible 

and accountable for the offense. The second response should be to inform 

the youth of the types of so~ial services that are available from the 

program or in the community. These, however, should never be requi1'ed 

and when made available by the program they should be kept distinctly 

separate from the restitutive function. Thus, a client received by the 

community accountability program from the juvenile court must first parti

cipate in the panel hearing, agree to a restitution plal', and only after 

• 
31 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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these activities is the CAP counsellor to interview the youth, assess his 

~ or her social needs, and advise the person of the types of counselling and 

special education programs available from the community accountability pro

gram. This approach was prompted by the belief that a community accounta

bility program could have a deterrent effect on juvenile crime (as well as 

~ 

.' 
• 

a rehabilitative effect) but only if youths in the community recognized 

that the commission of an offense would result in repayment and work rather 

than in required counselling, special tutoring, and unenforceable behavior 

requirements (such as curfew). 

Other Services for Victims 

Las Vegas, Dorchester, and the three VA/OA programs provide a number 

of services to victims. All of these provide assistance to victims in re

covering property, development of written documentation for the losses, 

transportation to court, and other similar services.· Victim advocacy is 

difficult to define, but generally means that the program has someone who 

speaks on behalf of the victim during the time that the restitution plan 

is being developed. Dorchester has a victim assistance unit which is 

staffed separately from the restitution unit. Thus, persons who advocate 

for the victim are not involved simultaneously with balancing the needs 

... of the youth. In Oklahoma County, Tulsa County, and Rapid City, the 

• 

• 

restitution counsellor assumes the role of an arbitrator or negotiator 

to balance the victim and offender points of view. In spite of the dual 

role, persons we interviewed did not view this as a problem or a conflict 

of interest. In Las Vegas, the victim coordinator has the primary role 

of victim advocate and probation officers tend to be advocates for the 

youth. 
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APPENDIX A 

The restitution models discussed in the text are derived primarily from 

three of the dimensions: victim-oriented activities; offender-oriented 

activities; and the type of offende~ activities (service-oriented or deter

rence-oriented). 

As shown in Table Al, the basic restitution model (far right on the 

diagram) is derived from victim-oriented activities being confined to finan

cial restitution only; offender-oriented activities being confined to finan

cial restitution only, and no assistance of any type to the youths. The 

expanded basic model differs only in that the type of activities for the 

youths include assistance to those from low-income families. 

There are three models in which victim-oriented activities are limited 

to financial restitution, but offender-oriented activities are more exten

sive. If these are social service oriented, then the resulting model is 

the social service/restitution model. If the activities are employment

oriented (e.g., long-term employment, job skills, etc.) thp.n the model is 

called employment/restitution. The third one of these (offender accounta

bility) is a result of the offender activities being deterrence-oriented 

(such as special panels or hearings focusing on accountability/responsibi·· 

lity and explicit prohibition of "positive" activities until restitution 

agreements have been reached). 

On the left side of the diagram are models in ~hich victim-oriented 

activities are high. These models carry the same generic naJnes except that 

"victim assistance" is inserted in front of the other name. Thus, there is 

a victim assistance basic model, a victim assistance expanded model, and so 

on. 

The ten models would be expanded to 20 by placing the word "independent" 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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in front of each to indicate that the program is independent of the juve-

• nile court. Any other dimension listed in Table I of the text could be 

used in conjunction with the ten mocels shown. For example, a community 

accountability model would have the characteristics of the accountability 

model shown in Table Al but would be "high" on the amount of community 

involvement in the restitution process. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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INTRODUCTION 

An often-expressed complaint in the literature on juvenile restitution 

... concerns the lack of information about the extent to which restitutive sanc

tions are employed by juvenile courts. l Experts appear to disagree: while 

... 

... 

... 

... 

some view restitution as a common or even necessary part of the juvenile court 

structu~'e, others--particularly writers of proposals seeking funding for res

titution programs--stress the unique and innovative character of the practice. 2 

There is, moreover, confusicA over the purposes of restitution, i.e., whether 

it is victim-oriented or directed toward the rehacilitation of the offender. 3 

Finally, there exist no or only very sketchy operational data concerning such 

things as compliance rates and methods of enforcement. As interest in the 

concept of restitution among juvenile justice policy planners increases, more 

information clearly will be required. 

Previous Surveys 

Reliable information concerning the effectiveness of restitution as a 

preventative of future crimes and delinquency must await the completion of 

systematic evaluation efforts. 4 However, some very useful information on the 

operation of selected restitution programs already has been compiled. The 

Minnesota Restitution Center, a program for adults established in 1972, is 

perhaps the best documented. 5 In addition, comparative surveys were conducted 

by Herbert Edelhertz (1975); the American Institutes for Research (1976); and 

Joe Hudson, et al. (1977)6. These surveys focused on the best known of exist-

ing restitution programs andd~cussed them in a~cordance with a number of 

dimensions such as major goals and procedures for reaching and enforcing res-

.. titution contracts. Edelhertz analyzed seven programs in this fashion, Hudson 

• 

• 
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discussed 19 programs, and the American Institute of Research, which confined 

its survey to juvenile restitution programs, dealt with 11. 

While the surveys were appropriate for some purposes--such as the identi

fication of major issues and common problems through the description of a 

limited number of illustrative examples--they clearlY were inappropriate for 

others. First, no effort was made to sample courts or court officials to 

determine the extent to which restitution requirements ar.e imposed. Edelhertz 

sought to obtain such information by writing state planning agencies, but 

found that several agencies could not identify even well-known and federally 

funded restitution programs in their states. "Perhaps the most significant 

finding from the survey was the lack of knowledge concerning the innovative 

programs which have been developed," Edelhertz wrote. "It is clear that res

titution programs have not been well publicized or circulated among agencies 

responsible for the planning of criminal justice innovations."? This problem 

must have hampered the A.I.R. and Hudson surveys as well. Conducted by tele

phone, the surveys apparently employed a procedure whereby the questioner would 

ask the interviewee if he knew of any other restitution programs. "We do not 

know the total number of restitution programs," Hudson reported, "but our tele-

phone survey clearly did not reach all of them."S A second but related defi-

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

ciency of the surveys concerns the non-generalizability of the findings. Since ~ 

no sampling procedure was employed, the information generated by the surveys 

is necessarily limited to the programs contacted. "Thus," Hudson continues, 

"the information we gathered reflects tendencies which mayor may not apply 

to all such programs. ,,9 A third problem is tha~ the data produced by the 

surveys is descriptive, qualitative rather than quantitative, and thus unsuited 

for more rigorous statistical analysis. Finally, no attempt was made to 

assess the attitudes of court personnel, such as judges and probation officers, 

• 

• 

• 
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toward the use of restitution as a sanction or rehabilitative treatment. 

Most of these deficiencies were absent from a study conducted by Steven 

Chesney in the state of Minnesota. Chesney, deploring the lack of systematic 

efforts to gather information on restitution, surveyed judges, court clerkS, 

probation officers, victims and offende~s in an examination of restitution as 

a condition of probation. IO While characterized by strict adherence to sci

entific procedures and data analytic techniques, the Chesney survey, too, is 

of limited value: it was confined to the state of Minnesota, and it specific-

ally excluded an examination of restitution as a sole sanction or treatment. 

However, as a pilot study or prototype for future efforts, the study was 

.. instructive. It tapped attitudes toward restitution among the different 

• 

groups s~veyed, examined compliance rates, and broke out restitution require

ments by type of offense. 

Purposes of the Study 

The survey upon which this paper is based differs from those previously 

conducted in at least two important respects: first, it was undertaken to 

serve informational needs for a national evaluation of juvenile restitution 

programs, and consequently waS limited to juvenile courts: and second, it is 

• based on a national sample of all juvenile courts in the United States, and 

thus the results of the study may be generalized to the population from which 

the sample was drawn. To the writers' knowledge, this study constitutes the 

• 

• 

• 

first national survey of juvenile court personnel on questions dealing with 

the use of restitution. 

Experts have identified at least four major groups of issues pertinent 

to the use of restitution. II These include the nature of the restitution 

requirement: the amount of restitution ordered: the relationship of restitution 
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to other criminal sanctions: and the involvement of the victim in the determin

ation of the requirement. Using these basic issues as a guide, the survey 

instrument (see Appendix A) was designed to elicit responses on the following 

sets of questions: 

1. Scope and History of Restitution: What proportion of juvenile courts 

use restitution? How long have courts used this type of requirement? What pro

portion of juveniles involved in different types of offenses is restitution 

ordered? Of courts which have used restitu~on in the past, how many no 

longer do so and why? 

2. Types of Restitution: What types of restitution are used? To whom 

is the payment made and what is the form of payment? Who determines the 

amount of restitution and according to what criteria? What is the role of the 

victim? How is the requirement enforced? What is the rate of compliance 'with 

the restitution order? Are parents permitted to assist in the payment of 

restitution? 

3. Penetration into the System: Does restitution increase or decrease 

the amount of contact between the offender and the court? At what point after 

intake is the requirement made? Are youths who pay restitution more likely 

than others to be formally adjudicated? 

other requirements? 

Is restitution usually combined with 

4. Program Goals: Is the major purpose of restitution to rehabilitate 

the offender or assist (compensate) the victim? Are there other goals? 

5. Attitudes and Expectations About Restitution: Is restitution per

ceived as an effective strategy in the reduction of recidivism? Are victims 

who receive restitution believed to be more satisfied with the operation of 

the criminal justice system? To what extent--in the opinion of court officials 

--would the introduction of restitution be supported by police, judges and 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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'the, community? Are the opinions on these issues in jurisdiction which use 

restitution different than those in jurisdictions which do not? 

PRESENTATION OF FINDINGS 

Sampling Procedure and Response Rates 

At the outset of the study, the decision was made to draw a relatively 

small sample and concentrate efforts upon obtaining a high pxoportion of com

pleted questionnaires. 12 The population from which the sample was drawn con

sisted of 3,544 courts on the mailing list of the National Council of Juvenile 

.. ' Court Judges. 13 The list is ordered geographically (rather than alphabetic-

ally) by states, and a Jmple of 197 juvenile courts was drawn by selecting 

every 18th court. 

Questionnaires were sent by mail and followed by telephone calls approx

imately 30 days later to those who had not yet responded. A total of 133 

completed questionnaires were obtained for a response rate of 68 percent. 

This included 69 courts which returned the questionnaires without a prompting 

call, 55 courts which were interviewed over the telephone, and nine courts 

which returned questionnaires after a telephone prompt. Of the 64 courts for 

which no responses were obtained, 22 explained that the appropriate official 

was not available, 20 promised to mail the questionnaire at a later date, and 

seven refused to participate in the study. Interviewers were unsuccessful 

in repeated efforts to contact the remaining 15 courts. Virtually all of the 

courts contacted were highly cooperative and a fair percentag: accompanied 

their questionnaires with thoughtful letters, copies of state legislation con

cerning restitution, and so forth. 
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Juvenile court judges constituted the largest single block of respondents, 

with a total of 106 (77 percent) completing questionnaires. Thirteen (nine 

percent) of the instruments were. signed by juvenile probation officers, and 

four (three percent) identified themselves as social case workers. other 

court personnel made up the remaining 14 (10 percent) of the respondents. At 

least one, but no more than six, completed questionnaires were obtained from 

each of the 50 states. The frequency of responses by geographic region is 

given in Table 1. 

Use of Restitution 

Two questionnaires were sent to each of the courts drawn in the sample, 

one to be returned by courts which do not use restitution, and another, some

what longer and more detailed, to be returned by courts which use restitution. 

For purposes of the survey, restitution was defined'as any type of monetary or 

non-monetary payment that the youth is asked to make directly to the victim 

or indirectly through "community service" or other similar activities. 14 

A rather surprising finding was the extent to which restitution is used 

by juvenile courts in the United States. The use of restitution was reported 

by 114 courts, or 86 percent of all respondents. 15 Moreover, only one of th~ 

restitution programs identified in previous surveys--the Victim Assistance 

Program in Las Vegas (Clark County), Nevada--was drawn in the sample. Of 

the 19 courts in the survey ,.hich do not use restitution, seven 

indicated they plan to introduce the practice at some point in the future. 

Six of the remaining 12 reported they lacked th~ statutory power to impose 

restitution, and three expressed opposition to the concept on the grounds that 

offenders usually are unable to pay. Five of the 19 said that restitution 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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• 
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Region 

New England 

Middle Atlantic 

East North Central 

West North Central 

South Atlantic 

East South Central 

West South Central 

Mountain 

Pacific 
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TABLE 1: 

RESPONSES BY REGION 

Frequency 

12 

7 

22 

19 

15 

7 

10 

11 

.J:L 
114 

Percent 

10.5 

6.1 

19.3 

16.7 

13.2 

6.1 

8.8 

9.6 

9.6 

:99.9* 

7 

• *Percentages do not sum to 100 due to rounding error. 

had been used in the past, but that the practice had been discontinued. 

Clearly, the imposition of restitutive requirements is a common practice 

in juvenile courts and is not as innovative as some proponents seem to believe. 

Nor is it new: as seen in Table 2, courts have used restitution for an average 

of 16.9 years, with 80 percent having used it for m?re than six years, and 

10 percent for more than 26 years. It is interesting to note that the rest i-

tution programs identified in previous surveys tended to be newer, typically· 

having begun in 1973 or later, and usuUlly were funded by the Law Enforcement 

Assistance Administration (LEAA).16 The greater notoriety of the federally

funded programs probably is associated with the fact that the funding process 

generally involves the ciruclation of proposals for review and public announce

ment of awa'rds. Nonetheless, the lack of knowl"dge concerning some large and 

well-established programs is surprising. One noteworthy exrunple of a program 

overlooked in previous surveys has been operated by the Hamilton County 
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TABLE 2: 

NUMBER OF YEARS RESTITUTION HAS BEEN USED 

Years Frequency 

1- 5 20 

6-10 40 

11-15 18 

16-20 10 

21-25 2 

+26· 10 

Total N = 100 X 16.9 
N = 100 

TABLE 3: 

PROPORTION OF CASES INVOLVING DIFFERENT 
TYPES OF OFFENSES FOR WHICH RESTITUTION IS ORDERED 

Types of Offense 

Property 

Robbery 

Assault 

Sexual 

x 

69.7 

45.3 

24.4 

10.4 

Median 

89.6 

31.0 

4.4 

.13 

N 

105 

92 

95 

90 

8 

(Cincinnati), Ohio, juvenile court since 1959. The Restitution Department 

in that jurisdiction handled nearly 1,500 restitution cases in 1976, with 

1,250 being successfully terminated. 

Table 3 presents data on the proportion of cases involving different 

types of offenses for which restitution is ordered. It is apparent that 

restitution dispositions are most co~~on for cases involving property loss, 

including property offenses and robbery, and used far more sparingly in cases 

involving attacks on the person. In this table, the proportion of cases in 

each offense type for which restit.ution is ordered was averaged over all 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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courts using restitution. Since averages can be misleading without knowing 

the qistribution of the variable, the median was calculated and is presented 

as well. The median clarifies these data considerably: for example, courts 

on the average ordered restitution in 10.4 percent of all sexual cases; how

ever, in at least half the courts restitution was ordered in less than one 

percent of sexual cases. In other words, restitution for sexual offenses and 

• assault is even more rare than the averages would indicate. 

• 

Type of Restitution 

Virtually all of the courts (lOg out of 114) provide for some sort of 

monetary payments directly or indirectly to the victim as a part of the res

titution order, with about half (52) requiring restitutive work. APparently, 

courts prefer to limit the juvenile's contact with the victim: as shown in 

Table 4, only 14 courts specified that monetary payments are made directly to 

the victim, and only five specified that work is performed directly for the. 

victim. The more common procedure, when monetary payments are required, is 

for the youth '0 make the payments to the court or a probation officer for 

disbursement to the victim. When work is required, it most frequently involves 

commll!1ity service (such as work in hospitals or at recreation centers) or some 

combination of community service and work for the victim. As an example of 

the latter, a court in Rockland, Maine, reported that false fire alarms always 

result in restitution to the city for the cost of answering the alarm--usually 

at the Fire Department "where supervision is abundant". 

Data relating to the determination of the ~ount of restitution ordered 

are presented in Table 5. The amount of loss suffered by the' victim appears 

to be the most important criterion in determining the amount of restitution to 

79-489 0-81-14 
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TABLE 4: 

* TYPE OF RESTITUTION 

Monetary (109) 

To Victim 14 

P.O. For Victim 14 

Court For Victim 17 

Not Specified 63 

10 

Work (52) 

For Victim 5 

Community Service 19 

Community/Victim 10 

Offense Related 2 

Not Specified lB 

* Note: Data in this table were coded from an open-ended question 
(Question No.3); many respondents did not specify where restitution 
payments are made or work performed. Obviously, a number of courts 
use both monetary and work restitution. 

be paid, with only 10 percent of the respondents indicating that the offender's 

ability to pay was more important. This finding should be interpreted with 

caution, however, as it is probable that ability to pay may be critical in 

determining the youth's eligibility for a restitution requirement in the first 

place. In his study of restitution practices in Minnesot~, Chesney noted 

that restitution was most frequently ordered for middle class whites, and that 

few probation officers believed the restitution requirement constituted a 

hardship for the offender and his family.17 Chesney concluded:. "It is clear 

that the most important determinant of whether an otherwise eligible defendant 

was ordered to make restitution was his presumed 'ability to pay' •••. Clearly, 

a large group of offenders, in whom the courts had little faith that restitu

tion would be completed, were not ordered to make restitution."lB As also 

shown in Table 5, judges have the predominant role in determining the amount 

of restitution, with probation officers given the responsibility l.n some jur-

isdictions. Victims are given the right to determine the amount of restitution 

in only 14 percent of the jurisdictions--due, apparently, to suspicions that 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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TABLE 5: 

DETERMINATION OF THE AMOUNT OF RESTITUTION REQUIRED 

How N .. Who N % 

Victim Loss 55 50 Judge 74 66 

Ability to Pay 11 10 Probation Officer 22 20 

Both 45 40 Victim 16 14 

111 100 112 100 

victims may inflate their claims. 19 

The manner in which restitution requirements are enforced, when it is 

• made a condition of probation, is shown in Table 6. As one would expect, 

probation officers are responsible for enforcing the order in about two-

• 

• 

• 

• 

.. 

thirds of the jurisdictions, while about one-third of the jurisdictions provide 

for some sort of follow-up by the court. The reluctance of juvenile courts 

to place young offenders in institutions is indicated by the fact that only 

11 jurisdictions reported they resort to incarceration if the restitution 

requirement is not fulfilled. However, 25 courts say that noncompliance' can 

result in revocation of probation, and it often was unclear whether revocation 

of probation meant institutionalization or merely modification of the conditions 

of probation so that the offender was removed from the restitution program. 

Extension of the probationary period results from noncompliance in 21 of the 

jurisdictions and five courts would issue contempt citations. 

Only two courts reported they would attach the youth's salary for failure 

to pay restitution, which probably indicates the extent to which this strategy 

is viable. Employment problems among young people are well known, and of 

course are worse for juveniles who have had contact with the criminal justice 

system. While it is likely true that "jobs are the best deterrent. to crime," 
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as a·Texas judge wrote in returning his questionnaire, finding and holding 

jobs are very difficult. "At this time our major problem has been in the 

area of youth employment," an officer in the Clark County (Nevada) victim's 

Assistance Program wrote. "We have had some success in getting youth jobs, 

but to date have had only a 35 percent success rate in keeping these youth in 

jobs for longer than a month." 

While only four of the courts reported that the restitution orders are 

never enforced, it should l:e pointed out that only 68 of the 114 courts using 

restitution responded to the question in a direct fashion. Some simply skipped 

it, while others avoided a direct answer by listing the positive and/or 

negative incentives for compliance. 

The data in Table 7 indicate that the rate of compliance with restitution 

orders is very high. About 70 percent of the respondents reported compliance 

rates of greater than 90 percent, and only two of the courts said that more 

than 50 percent of offenders required to pay restitution fail to do so. While 

these data are impressive, it should be mentioned that they refer only to the 

track records of juveniles for whom restitution was considered an appropriate 

disposition. There was no indication by any of the courts that restitution 

was ordered for all offenders, or that youths were assigned to restitution 

programs on a random basis. If restitution were required regardless of whether 

the offender appeared to be a "safe bet," the rate of noncompliance might be 

greater. 

The role of parents in the payment of restitution is shown in Table 8. 

In the majority of cases the courts apparently do not prescribe a role for 

parents, which results in the parents paying (and the court encouraging the 

youth to repay the parents) or the parents assisting the youth in making pay

ments. In 15 courts the parents are required to pay whatever restitution is 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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TABLE 6, 

ENFORCEMENT OF RESTITUTION AS CONDITION OF PROBATION 

Who How 

Probation Officer 42 Revocation 

Court 26 Extension 

Attach Salary 

Contempt 
N 68 Incarceration 

Never Enforced 

TABLE 7, 

COMPLIANCE WITH RESTITUTION ORDERS 

Percent Who Fail to Comply Frequency 

Less than 5 27 

5 - 10 46 

11- 25 18 

26 - 50 10 

More than 50 2 

103 

TABLE 8, 

PARENTS' ROLE IN PAYING RESTITUTION 

Parents Required to Pay 

Parents Pay and Juvenile 
Encouraged to Pay Parents 

Parents Sometimes Help 

Parents Prohibited 

Don't Know, Not specified 

N 

15 

14 

40 

29 

~ 
109 

13 

25 

21 

2 

5 

11 

4 
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TABLE 9: 

WHERE IN COURT SYSTEM RESTITUTION REQUIREMENT IS MADE 

A1ways at Intake 

At or After Informal Hearing 

At or After Formal Hearing 

After Either Informal or Formal Hearing 

N 

1 

8 

40 

57 

14 

8 

36 

51 

.01 

ordered, and in 29 courts they are specifically prohibited from paying. While 

the survey did not assess the reasons that the courts instituted the require

ments, it is possible the courts are acting in accordance with competing 

theories of delinquency control. One theory, which would be reflected in the 

requirement that parents pay, holds the parents responsible for the behavior 

of their children: the other theory would focus on e'fforts 'to make the youth 

accept responsibility for his actions. The latter theory frequently is cited 

as a goal of juvenile restitution programs. 20 

Penetration into the System 

The predominant model for courts using restitution is to combine the 

requirement with supervised probation: only six of the courts reported that 

restitution is ever used as a sole sanction. As restitution requirements 

generally take some time to complete, one consequence of this procedure is 

that. it tends to lengthen the youth's contact with the criminal justice sys-

tern: 48 percent of the respondents said restitution increases the juvenile's 

length of contact with the system, 30 percent said they perceived no change, 

and only 19 percent said the length of contact was decreased by restitution. 

Table 9 shows where in the court system the restitution requirement is 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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made. Because restitution almost always is a condition of probation, the 

requirement rareiy is made prior to a formal hearing before a judge or other 

court referee. While only one of the courts indicated that juveniles are 

diverted to a restitution program at the intake stage, this almost certainly 

does not accurately represent the amount of pre-adjudicatory diversion involv

ing restitution that actually takes Place. 2l At ~~e police level, restitution 

is a routine part of a policeman's job, and it greatly reduces the number of 

cases brought to court. 22 Although diversion has long been practiced infor-

TABLE 10: 

PROPORTION OF JUVENILE COURT CASES WHICH ARE FORMALLY ADJUDICATED* 

Restitution Non-Restitution 
X Median X Median 

Formal Hearing by Judge or Referee 

Informal Hearing by Judge 

67% 

14% 

19% 

80% 

.2% 

.5% 

58% 

16% 

26% 

60% 

.3% 

10% Informal Hearing by Other Personnel 

* Formal adjudication is defined as a disposition made by a judge, or a dis-
position made after a fact-finding hearing presided over by the judge or 
other referee of the court. 

mally in the juvenile justice system, there is a growing trend toward formal-

izing the practice through the use of restitution. Five of the 11 restitution 

programs identified by the A.I.R. survey, none of which were begun prior to 

1973, were designed as diversion programs.
23 

The relationship between formal adjudication of juvenile court cases and 

the use of restitution is shown in Table 10. Again, the data reflect the 

tendency of restitution to be made a condition of probation--probably due to 

• the potential legal problems involved in'· ordering restitution· (or imposing any 

other sanction) prior to a judicial hearing. In cases involving restitution, 

an average of 67 percent had been brought before a judge or 

• 

• 
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other court referee for a disposition, and, in half the courts, more than 80 

percent had been dealt with formally. Cases not involving restitution were 

less likely to have been formally adjudicated, and more likely to have been 

disposed of through an informal hearing presided over by someone other than a 

judge or court referee. 

Program Goals 

A major issue concerning restitution is the extent to which progr~~ are 

designed to assist victims or reduce recidivism, i.e., aid in the rehabilita-

tion of the offender. Edelhertz suggests that the current popular interest 

in redressing wrongs done to victims has stimulated support for restitution, 

but that "this factor is necessarily subordinated to offender-related consider-

ations simply because of the limited capacity of most offenders to adequately 

atone to their victims in a material way." Consequently, "the political impetus 

for restitution programs is thus victim-oriented while the programs which are 

actually established are invariably focused on correction or rehabilitation of 

offenders." He adds: "No restitution program has corne to my attention which 

has the delivery of benefits to victims as its primary or even very important 

operational goal. ,,24 

Asked to characterize their programs as being designed to assist victims 

or reduce recidivism, nearly three-quarters of the respondents (82 out of 114) 

said that both goals were equally important. Twenty-one (18 percent) said the 

primary purpose of their programs was to reduce recidivism, while eight (seven 

percent) reported that their major goal was to provide assistance to victims. 

Of the remaining three, one court volunteered the observation that the major 

goal of restitution was punishment, another said it was to deter other juven-

iles from delinquent acts, and the third said the primary purpose was to 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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promote greater involvement of parents with their children's activities. 

Attitudes and Expectations About Restitution 

Attitudes towards restitution held by respondents from both the courts 

that use restitution and those that do not are depicted in Table 11. Consis-

tent support for and belief in the effectiveness of restitution would be 

indicated by agreement with statements numbered one through four, six, and 

nine through 10, and disagreement with the statements numbered five, seven and 

eight. As is evident from the table, large majorities of both users and non-

users tend to support restitution, but larger percentages of users support 

the practice than non-users. Of course, it is impossible to infer from these 

data whether support for restitution generates use, or use of restitution 

generates support. 

While the two categories of courts differed significantly on most of the 

statements in their support for restitution, they were remarkably similar in 

their pattern of responses. It should be noted, for example, that statements 

referring to victim satisfaction drew more support from both sets of courts 

than statements referring to the reduction of recidivism; however, both res-

titution and non-restitution courts perceive differences with respect to 

property offenses and personal offenses. Apparently, the respondents believe 

that juveniles who commit personal offenses (such as assault and sexual 

offenses) would be less susceptible to the rehabilitative aspects of restitu-

tion. In addition, the respondents believe the victims of personal offenses 

would be less likely (in comparison with the victims of property offenses) to 

• be satisfied with the oper~tion of the criminal justice system if their case 

received a restitution disposition. Interestingly, the differences between 

the two sets of courts on the statements dealing with personal offenses were 

• 

• 
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not significant, indicating agreement between both users and non-users of 

restitution on the issue. 

Predictably, the two sets of courts differed to the greatest extent on 

the question of suppor:t. for restitution among juvenile court judges. Only 

nine percent of the courts which use restitution believe other juvenile court 

judges would not support re~titution, while 47 percent of the non-restitution 

courts believe it would not be supported by other judges. Differences between 

users and non-users on this question are perhaps symbolized by the volunteered 

comments of two judges from Missouri and Ohio. The Missouri judge, who stated 

that he has imposed restitution requirements on every court day for the past 

• 

• 

• 

four years, expressed the opinion that "if all juvenile judges used restitution, • 

it would soon reduce delinquency." The Ohio judge told an interviewer that 

the use of restitutive sanctions is "inappropriate." He gave two reasons: 

First, it assumes that parents are responsible, which, in his experience, is 

not usually the case, and second, it leaves the judge with no choice but to 

incarcerate the juvenile if he--or his parents--does not pay. 

Further analysis of the data was directed toward identifying the types of 

programs and communities that seem to facilitate a greater belief in the 

effectiveness of restitution and a higher compliance rate by the youths. Belief 

in the effectiveness of the program was measured by creating an additive index 

of the attitudinal questions, excluding those calling for an assessment by the 

respondents of the extent to which restitution is supported by the community, 

police, and other juvenile jue.ges. The compliance rate was based on responses 

provided on the survey questionncire. This varjable represents esti~ates of 

the compliance. rate rather than cn actual objective measure of compliance. 

The independent (predictor) variables of int.erest included the social 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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TABLE 11: 

COMPARISON OF ATTITUDES TOWARD RESTITUTION 

Percenta2e of Respondents in Agreement 
Restitution Non-resti-

Statement (114) tution (19) Probabilit~· 

l. Restitution reduces recidivism 
among property offenders. 87 72 <.10 

2. Restitution reduces recidivism 
,among offenders who have com- 61 56 ns 
mitted personal offenses. 

3. Restitution to victims of prop-
erty cffenses increases victim 99 84 <.01 
satisfaction. 

4. Restitution to victims of personal 
offenses increases victim satis- 88 77 ns 
faction. 

5. Restitution would increase the 
18 16 

victim's fear of future offenses. 
ns 

6. Restitution would increase the 
offender's sympathy (or empathy) 47 18 <.05 
with the victim. 

7. Restitution would encourage 
future offenses because it is 07 22 <.05 
an easy sentence. 

8. Restitution requirements would 
make victims less satisfied with 
the criminal justice system becaUse 21 47 <.01 
they seldom receive the full amount 
they were supposed to receive. 

9. Restitution for juvenile offenders 
would enjoy widespreau support . 96 83 <.05' 
from the community. 

10. Restitution for juvenile offenders 
would enjoy widespread support 90 79 <.10 
from the police. 

1l. Restitution for juvenile offenders 
would enjoy widespread support 91 63 <.01 
from juvenile court judges. 

* Refers to the probability that the observed differences in percentages could 
be due to chance. Probability levels are based on the t-test with N-2 degrees 
of freedom. 
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and demograpbic characteristics of the :,.t=isdiction, the scope of the program, 

ahd the type of program. 

The socio-economic characteristics of areas served by the juvenile court 

were included in order to determine whether thebelief in restitution or the 

estimated compliance rates differs in accordance with the overall social class 

of the area served. 

The scope of the program refers to the proportion of cases in several • 
offense categories for which restitution is used as a part of the disposition. 

It is reasonable to presume that courts which use restitution only for a 

small proportion of the cases would select the persons who are the "best risk" 

and, therefore, would have higher compliance rates and a greater belief in the • effectiveness of restitution. As jurisdictions increase the proportion of 

youths eligible for the restitution disposition, they would begin to use this 

disposition for juveniles who are "poorer risks" and, therefore, would have 

less belief in the effectiveness and lower compliance rates. 

The type of program refers to its operating characteristics. Of particu- • 
lar interest waS whether the court used restitution in a programmatic fashion 

or whether the use waS more casual and simply a disposition sometimes required 

by the judge. It was, however, quite difficult to make a clear distinction 

between courts that take a programmatic rather than a casual approach to res-

titution. Five of the better known federally-funded restitution programs • 
were selected and a copy of the questionnaire was sent to them. The comparison 

of operating characteristics for these programs and those in the original 

sample revealed only a few differences and several of the non-funded programs 

were operated in virtually the same way as the federally-funded ones. • In order to construct an index of organizational development (e.g., a 

programmatic approach to restitution), we identified the operating charact.,-

• 

• 
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istics that were common to the five federally funded programs and which were 

',. found less frequently in the non-funded programs. The additive index of 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

programmatic development used the following variables: the use of restitu-

tion in assault cases, the availability of work restitution, the availability 

of community service work, the willingness to use restitution at the pre-

adjudicatory stage, and the enforcement of restitution by the court rather 

than by probation officers. 

The data shown in Table 12 are the zero-order correlation coefficients 

(r) between each of the independent variables listed on the left and the two 

* dependent variables. 

The social and economic characteristics of the community are generally 

unrelated to the strength of belief in the effectiveness of restitution and 

to the compliance rate. There is no evidence in the data that court personnel 

in white, middle class areas are any more or less likely to believe in the 

effectiveness of restitution than are court personnel in other types of areas. 

Likewise, the social and economic characteristics of the community are not 

associated with the compliance rates. 

* T .. chnical Note: 

For readers unfamiliar with regression analysis, it should be explained 
that the correlation coefficient "r" represents the strength of the relation
ship between two variables, while the regression coefficient "beta" indicates 
in addition the impact of the independent variable on the dependent variable. 
Both coefficients range in value from +1.0 (perfect positive relationship) to 
-1.0 (perfect negative relationship). A correlation of 1.0 would indicate that 
two variables are perfectly related, while a beta of 1.0 would indicate that 
a unit change in the independent variable is accompanied by a unit change in 
the dependent variable. In multiple regression, the beta measures the effect 
of a given independent variable with all other variables in the equation held 
statistically constant. The other 20efficient in Tables 13 and 14 is the 
multiple correlation coefficient "R " which represents the amount of variance 
in the dependent variable which is explained, or accounted for, by the inde
pendent variables collectively. 
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The proportion of cases in which restitution is used also has no rela-

tionship with the dependent variables. Courts which use restituion for a 

larger proportion of the offenses do not differ from those that use it in a 

small percentage of the cases in terms of compliance rates or belief in its 

effectiveness. 

TABLE 12: 

CORRELATES OF BELIEF IN RESTITUTION AND ESTIMATED COMPLIANCE RATES 

Demographic 

% population black 
% below poverty 
Median education 
% unemployed 
Population of area 

Scope of Use 

% property offenses 
% robbery offenses 
% sex offenses 
% assault offenses 

Type of Programs 

Payment direct to victim 
Work restitution available 
Community service available 
Enforced by court 
After formal adjudication 
Parents prohibited 
Shortens CJS contact 
Number of years used 
Program goal to benefit youth 
Program development 

* Significant at or beyond .05. 
** Significant at or beyond .001. 

Belief in Restitution 

-.06 
.01 
.05 

-.11 
.01 

.07 

.06 
-.01 

.08 

.19* 

.16* 

.22** 

.19* 

.02 

.03 

.18* 
-.16* 

.20* 

.30** 

Compliance Rate 

.10 
.• 11 
-.13 

.02 
-:11 

.09 

.01 

.05 

.04 

-.12 
.09 
.01 
.00 

-.10 
.02 
.32** 

-.01 
.11 
.02 

The variables that are associated with greater belief in restitution all 

fall into the general cateogry of "type of program." Belief in the effective-

ness of restitution is greater for programs characterized by: 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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(l) Direct payment to the victim rather than through an intermediary! 

(2) The availability of work restitution (in addition to monetary 

restitution! 

(3) The availability of community service work (in addition to monetary 

restitution)! 

(4) Enforcement of the restitution order by the court rather than by 

individual probation officers! 

(5) The program goal for restitution is to benefit the youth rather 

than to provide compensation to the victim. 

In addition, jurisdictions in which the restitution requirement tends to 

shorten the youth's contact with the system tend to have more belief in its 

effectiveness than do jurisdictions where the requirements lengths contact. 

The courts that have newer restitution programs tend to hold somewhat stronger 

beliefs in its effectiveness. It should be noted as well that belief in res

titution effectiveness is not related to whether the parents are prohibited 

(or required) to pay and is not related to whether the requirement is made 

after a formal or informal hearing. 

The data in Table 12 also indicate that the estimated compliance rate is 

not associated with the type of program, except for the length of contact, 

with the youth • 

As shown at the bottom of Table 12, the index of program development is 

the single best predictor of belief in effectiveness but is not related to 

the estimated proportion of youths who comply with th~ restitution order. 

In order to examine the combined impact of several independent variables 

... on belief and compliance rates, a multiple regression analysis was performed 

and the results are shown in Tables 13 and 14. 

As indicated by Table 13, the composite variable, program organization, 

• 

• 
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TABLE 13: 

PREDICTORS TO BELIEF IN EFFECTIVENESS OF RESTITUTION 

Relationship of Belief To: 

Program organization 

Program goal to benefit youth 
rather than victim 

Shorter contact 

Years of restitution 

Payment direct to victim 

* Significant at or beyond .05. 

r 
(zero-order) 

.30 

.20 

.18 

-.16 

.12 

N = 84 

Beta 

.25* 

.17 

.12 

-.07 

.07 

24 

R2 

.09 

.12 

.14 

.14 

.15 

is the most potent for explaining belief in the effectiveness of restitution, 

as it accounts for the bulk of the explained variance. Two explanations for 

• 

• 

• 

• 

this finding are likely: either courts which support the concept of restitution .. 

are more likely to administer it more programmatically, or more programmatic 

administration results in better experiences for the courts and thus generates 

more support. If better experience were measured only in terms of compliance 

with restitution requirements, then the latter explanation would have to be 

eliminated as those variables are virtually independent (r = .02). The only • 
other variable having much explanatory power is the one labeled "program 

goal." The direction of the relationship suggests support for restitution 

is greater in courts whose programs are intended more for the reduction of 

recidivism than for assistance to victims. The remaining three variables in .. 
the equation add little in terms of explanatory power; however, the direction 

of the relationship of belief with the number of years the court has used 

.. 

• 
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TABLE 14: 

PREDICTORS OF COMPLIANCE WITH RESTITUTION REQUIREMENTS 

Relationship of compliance To: 

Length of contact 

Recipient of payments 

Primary purpose 

Years of restitution 

Organization 

* Significant at or beyond .05. 

~ N = B4 
r 

(zero-order) 

.32 

-.12 

.11 

-.01 

.02 

Beta 

.31* 

-.OB 

.08 

.02 

-.02 

25 

.10 

.11 

.12 

.12 

.12 

restitution is interesting. It indicates that courts which have adopted 

restitution most recently are more likely to believe in its effectiveness. 

The relationship of belief in the effectiveness of restitution to compli-

ance with restitution requirements is very slight (r = -.06). In an effort 

to determine the types of programs th~ most likely to result in the completion 

of requirements, compliance was substituted for belief as the dependent vari-

• able in the regression equation. The results are displayed in Table 14. As 

may be seen, only one variable--"length of contact"--has much explanatory 

power. The coefficients indicate (unsurprisingly) that compliance is greater 

in those courts where restitution requirements lengthen the juvenile's contact 

• with the criminal justice system. The second variable in the equation--

recipient of restitution payments--contributes little in terms of explained 

variance, but suggests an interesting possibility: apparently, courts which 

require offenders to make restitution payments directly to the victim may 

have compliance rates greater than those in which payments are made indirectly . 

• 

• 79-489 0-81--15 
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SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS 

The study reported upon in this paper was undertaken primarily because 

of the paucity of information about restitution in general and, in particular, 

about the manner in which restitution was practiced in juvenile courts. 

Previous studies have been of two types: Either they were based on descrip

tions and comparisons of a relatively small number of programs (mostly new 

and federally-funded) or they focussed on the practice of restitution in a 

single state. This study is based on data drawn from what apparently is the 

only nationwide systematic survey on the operation of restitution programs in 

juvenile courts ever conducted. As a consequence of the survey, restitutive 

practices and requirements in courts across the country were subjected, for 

the first ,time, to systematic measurement and quantitative analysis. 

An important aspect of the survey was that it captured the variety of 

restitution programs which have been implemented while revealing, at the same 

time, regularities and similarities across the different approaches. In spite 

of the lack of information most jurisdictions have about programs in existence 

across the country, few programs are operated in a manner that other courts 

would find surprising. There exists, for example, considerable agreement on 

the purposes of restitution, how it should be combined with other sanctions, 

where in the court system it should be ordered, and what criteria should be 

used in establishing requirements. Even the levels of compliance across the 

courts are remarkably similar. On the other hand, programs vary greatly with 

respect to such things as the type of restitution ordered, methods of enforce

ment, and the role of pare~cs in paying restitution. 

The data suggest the following conclusions: 

First, restitution seems to be in more general use than previously was 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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suspected. While a number of writers have suggested that restitution was in 

• "coImllOn use" in juvenile courts, none went so far as to indicate that it was 

used in all but 14 percent of the courts, or that it was required in such a 

high percentage of property offenses or robbery cases. Moreover, courts have 

used restitution for Some time, with the average program in existence for 

• almost 17 years. 

Second, there exists among judges and other juvenile court officials a 

large reservoir of support for restitution and belief in its effectiveness. 

While courts which use restitution are more supportive than those which do not, 

a majority of courts in the latter category view restitution favorably and 

• many apparently plan to implement programs in the future. The number probably 

would be even larger were it not for the restraint of statutes. The most 

frequent reason given for not using restitution was the lack of legal authority. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Third, the problem of enforcing restitution requirements may not be as 

critical as many tend to believe. When made a condition of probation, resti

tution becomes subjected to the sarne enforcement machinery that is used for 

any other probationary requirement. Moreover, in the experience of a lc+ge 

majority of courts, the history of compliance with restitution orders has been 

very good. Courts run greater risks, however, when they require that a 

juvenile obtain and keep a job in order to meet the requirements of monetary 

restitution. 

Fourth, belief in the effectiveness of restitution for reducing recidivism 

and improving victim attitudes toward the system is high and is not confined 

to court personnel from white, middle class areas who use restitution only 

in a limited number of cases. The degree of belief in restitution effective

ness is greater for courts that use it than for those that do ~ot and tends 

to be higher in courts that have more types of restitution available, including 
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work restitution and community service. 

Fifth, the estimated extent of compliance with restitution requirements 

does not differ with the socio-economic characteristics of the area nor with 

the proportion of cases in which restitution is a requirement. The estimated 

proportion of youths who successfully complete the restitution requirement 

also is not related to the type of program used in the court. Of particular 

interest is the finding that the proportion of youths who successfully comply 

with the requirement is as high for courts that use restitution frequently as 

it is for courts that use it only in a small number of cases. It is also of 

interest to note that courts in which the parents are prohibited from paying 

have approximately the same compliance rates as those in which parents are 

required to pay if the youth is unable to do so. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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FOOTNOTES 

• Isee, for example, Burt Galaway, "Issues in the Use of Restitution as a 
Sanction for Crime," presented at the National Institute on Crime and Delin
quency, Minneapolis, June, 1975; Steven L. Chesney, "An Assessment of Restitu
tion in the Minnesota Probation Services," in Joe Hudson (ed.), Restitution in 
Criminal Justice, St. Paul, Minn.: Minnesota Department of Corrections, 1975, 
and the American Institutes for Research, "Juvenile Restitution," paper pre
pared for the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention, LEAA, 
1977. 

-e 2For an expression of the former view, see Richard E. Laster, "Criminal 
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• 

• 

Restitution: A Survey of Its Past History and an Analysis of Its Present 
Usefulness," univers.ity of Richmond Law Review, Vol. 5, No. 71, 1970, pp. 
71-98. The latter view is commonly held by the media as well as expressed 
in proposals. 

3Herbert Edelhertz, "Legal and Operational Issues in the Implementation 
of Restitution with the Criminal Justice System," in Hudson (1975). 

4TwO nationwide evaluations of experimental restitution programs are 
currently underway. The Criminal Justice Research Center in Albany, N.Y., 
is evaluating adult restitution programs, and the Institute of Policy Analysis, 
Eugene, Ore., is evaluating restitution programs for juveniles. The principal 
author of this paper is directing the latter project. Both the evaluations 
and the programs are funded by LEAA. 

5Arnong the numerous publications concerning the work of the center are 
David Fogel, Burt Galaway and Joe Hudson, "Restitution in Criminal Justice: 
A Minnesota Experiment," Criminal Law Bulletin, Vol. 8, 1972; Joe Hudson· and 
Burt Galaway, "Undoing the Wrong," Social Work, Vol. 19, May, 1974, and Joe 
Heinz, Burt Galaway and Joe Hudson, "Restituticn or Parole: A Follow-Up Study 
of Adult Offenders," Social Service Review, March, 1976, pp. 148-156. 

6Herbert Edelhertz, Restitutive Justice! A General Su.rvey and Analysis, 
Law and Justice Study Center, Battelle Human Affairs Research Centers, Seattle, 
Wash., January, 1975; The American Institutes of Research, "A Preliminary 
Survey 0-: ':uvenile Justice Restitution Programs, II June, 1976, and Joe Hudson, 
Burt Gaiaway and Steven L. Chesney, "Wnen Criminals Repay 'rheir Vict.irns: A 
Survey of Restitution Programs," Judicature, Vol. 60, No. "7, February, 1977. 

7Edelhertz, Restitut.ive Justice, p. 49. 

BHudson, at al., "When Criminals ... ," p. 314. 
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Restitution. Retribution and Law, Center for Libertarian Studies, Harvard Law 
School, March, 1977. 

lSMailed surveys suffer from non-response bias to a greater extent than 
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if non-respondents tended to be courts that are less likely to use restitution, 
then the estimates concerning the proportion of courts which do not use it 
would be biased. In order to test for non-response bias. we assumed that the 
interviews obtained over the telephone would not ha~e been obtained" without 
the telephone follow-up and, furthermore, that the interviews which were never 
obtained were similar to the telephone interviews rather than to the original 
sample which mailed the questionnaire back to us. The analysis indicates that 
courts which did not respond probably do not differ from those that participated 
in the survey. The data show that 86 percent of the total sample use restitu
tion and 88 percent of the telephone sample use restitution. 

16American Institutes for Research. "Preliminary Survey ...... 

17chesney, "An Assessment •••• " p. 168; p. 162. 

18Thid., p. 168. 

19Hudson. et al.. "When Criminals ••• ," p. 316. 

20The proposals leading to the establishment of victims' assistance pro
grams in Las Vegas and Rapid City both cited this goal. This theory also is 
propounded in a pending propos,al for the establishment of a restitution pro
gram in Milwaukee County. Wise. 

2lpaul Nejelski states that diversion takes place at every stage in the 
juvenile justice system and is practiced by virtually every official in the 
system. See Nejelski, "Diversion: The Promise and the Danger," Crime and 
Delinquency, Vol. 22, October, 1966, pp. 393-410. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



:. 

• 

•• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

227 

31 

22Laster. "criminal Restitution ...... p. 85 • 
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INTRODUCTION 

Policy Implementation 

Policy expectations in criminal justice often are imperfectly realized 

or not realized at all. The high expectations held out for each new genera

tion of social reform--whether in criminal justice or in other human services 

fields--all too often are replaced eventually by an awareness that the reform 

failed to achieve its intended goals. In some instances, it appears as if 

• the reform may even have been detrimental to the clientele who were to have 

benefitted. 

• 

• 

• 

Although social policies can fail for many different reasons, there are 

two primary explanations for failure that immediately come to mind. One of 

these, most commonly put forth by practitioners and program advocates, is 

that there were inadequate resources committed to the operation of the pro

gram. Failure to meet policy expectations, then, is not believed to be due 

to a poorly conceived program strategy, but to the lack of commitment by 

political leaders and a lack of resources. 

A second commonly designated explanation for policy failure, more often 

cited by researchers and evaluators, is that the theory or rationale under

lying the program was incorrect. Thus, projects based on inaccurate or 

irrelevant theories would fail to meet policy expectations no matter how 

strong the investment of resources might be. 

The enormous number of great society programs produced in the 1960s, 

and the magnitude of their presumed failure to alter the problems they were 

intended to solve, prompted considerable rethinking of what had gone wrong. 

Claims that there were too few resources--spread too thin--were juxtaposed 

• against claims. that social science and behavioral theories were too poorly 

developed to produce viable and effective programs. Similar types of 

• 

• 
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arguments could be made about programs sponsored by the Law Enforcement 

Assistance Administration. One could argue that LEAA has failed to bring 

about significant changes in the criminal justice system and in the crime 

rate because its resourceS constitute only a small proportion of the dollars 

spent by states and local areas on criminal justice programs. Others, of 

course, have argued that the theories of crime and delinquency are inadequate 

to produce viable crime reduction or crime prevention programs. 

The rethinking prompted by policy failures of the past years has produced 

still a third major explanation which currently is gaining adherence from 

both the research and practitioner communities: This approach suggests that 

the'program models are appropriate and are based on adequate theories, but 

that failures to implement them so that they reflect the underlying concepts 

have contributed in a substantial way to the failure of at least so~e public 

policies. ' Walter Williams, one of the editors of Social Program Implementation, 

says: 

The greatest difficulty in devising better social programs is not 
determining what are reasonable policies on paper, but finding 
the means for converting these policies into viable field opera
tions that correspond reasonably well to original intentions. 2 

Malcolm Klein, a long-recognized scholar of the juvenile justice system, 

says that neither diversion nor de-institutionalization has been adequately 

tested--in spite of the millions of dollars the federal government has in-

vested in those programs and their evaluation--because neither program has 

been adequately implemented. In Klein's words: 

It is the basic contention of this chapter that juvenile diversion 
and de-institutionalization, two major reform movements in juve
nile justice, have seldom in fact been implemented. This failure 
of implementation has occurred for both diversion and deinstitu
tionalization despite their impressive pedigrees, the po~erful 
theoretical rationales which underlay them, and the strength of 
the social and political movements to which they are a response. 
TlLis failure in implementation has been characterized by programs 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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being located where they were not needed, in ways that effects 
could ,not be objectively assessed, or in ways that have not 
properly operationalized the basic tenets of diversion and 
deinstitutionalization. 3 

During the past year, we have been the co-directors of the national 

evaluation of a major federal initiative in restitution programming. Most 

of the programs funded as part of that initiative have been implemented in 

3 

• the previous six months and we E .. ce in the very early phases of the national 

evaluation of them. Many aspects of the national evaluation are reported 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

elsewhere in this volume, but the purposes of this paper are two-fold: 

first, to report on certain aspects of the implementation of the juvenile 

restitution initiative and, second, to examine (albeit in a rather speculative 

manner) the factors that seem to have contributed to the degree of difficulty 

experienced by the projects in implementing different aspects of the restitution 

4 programs. 

The Juvenile Restitution Initiative 

In February, 1978, the Office of Juvenile J.ustice and Delinquency 

Prevention (O~TDP) began soliciting proposals for a major initiative entitled 

"Restitution by Juvenile Offenders: An Alternative to Incarceration. 00 The 

policy expectations held ou't for this program include: 5 

1. A reduction in the number of youth incarcerated. 

2. A reduction in recidivism of those youth involved in restitution 

programs. 

3. Provision for some redress or satisfaction with regard to the 

reasonable value of the damage or loss suffered by victims of juvenile 

offenses. 

4. Increased knowledge about the feasibility of restitution for juve-

niles in terms of cost effectiveness, impact on differing categories of 
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youthful offenders, and the juvenile justice process. 

5. An increased sense of responsibility and accountability on the part 

of youthful offenders for their behavior. 

6. Greater community confidence in the juvenile justice process. 

In addition to these policy expectations, it has become quite clear 

that officials from OJJDP are intent upon preventing certain unanticipated 

(negative) consequences from occurring. At both the first and second post

award conferences, officials of the funding agency emphasized that projects 

should make every effort to avoid "widening the net" and to avoid any type 

of social class bias. Within the context of this initiative, "widening the 

net" refers to a process in which youths who would have been diverted are, 

instead, processed on through the adjudication hearings in order to make them 

eligible for the restitution program. The avoidance of social class bias was 

of partic~lar concern to the federal agency because--if the initiative were 

used as an alternative to incarceration and if a social class bias existed--

charges would be made that the initiative was permitting middle class offenders 

to "buy their way" out of institutions. 

Research Questions 

The research reported in this paper is based on preliminary information 

about 'the implementation of projects funded as part of the 1978 OJJDP ini

tiative. Of the many issues that could be covered in an examination of pro-

gram implementation, the one to be given major attention here might be called 

"program integrity." 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

From a broad perspective, program integrity refers to whether the opera- • 

tions of the local projects are sufficiently consistent with the intent of 

the federal initiative that it is reasonable to expect the broader-range 

goals of the initiative to be accomplished.6 

• 

• 
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MOre specifically, the analysis will focus on the following questions: 

1. TO what extent are the project components and operations consistent 

with the theory linking restitution to improvement in juvenile behavior 

(e.g., reduced recidivism)? 

2. TO what extent are the project components and operations consistent 

with those one would expect are needed in order to increase victim satisfaction 

• with the juvenile justice system? 

• 

• 

• 

3. Do the clients of the restitution projects meet the criteria for 

the target population, as specified in the OJJDP guidelines for the initiative? 

This question is of particular concern because of the emphasis placed on 

reducing incarceration rates of juveniles through the use of restitution as 

an alternative to incarceration. The success of the initiative in reducing 

incarceration almost certainly depends on projects receiving referrals who 

otherwise would have been incarcerated. 

Data and Method 

Data for the analysis are from the Management Information System that 

we established in each of the 85 sites as part of the national evaluation 

effort. Data from each site, on each intake and closure, are forwarded to 

the Institute of Policy Analysis on a regular basis? Additional information 

about the characteristics of the projects has been obtained from a content 

analysis of the grant applications and from the "Characteristics of Projects" 

surveys~ These surveys are conducted by IPA. evaluation specialists either 

by mail or telephone with project personnel. 

The first grant a"'ards were made in September, 1978, and some projects 

• began intake during the last few months of that year. Most projects, however, 

• 

• 

did not begin accepting referrals until 1979. Data used in this paper include 

referrals to the projects through the end of July, 1979. At that time, there 
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were 55 projects reporting data to the national evaluators at the Institute 

of Policy Analysis. A total of 3,403 referrals had been made and form the 

basis for most of the analysis in this paper. It should be emphasized that 

these cases represent about 20 percent of the number expected at the end of 

the first full year after intake. Thus, the results of the study reported 

here should be viewed as a preliminary indication of the extent to which 

the projects have been implemented in a manner consistent with the intent 

of the initiative. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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PRELIMINARY RESULTS OF THE IMPLEMENTATION STtlDY 

, • Proql:am tlationale 

• 

The rationale and theory which links restitution to an improvement in 

the behavior of juvenile offenders -has been discussed elsewhere and will only 

be revie",ed briefly here~ It is usually believed that the process of "making 

restitution" should increase the youth's sense of accountability and respon-

sibility. This, in turn, is expected to promote t!1e moral development of 

the juvenile and to encourage law-abiding behavior. The exact mechanisms 

through which the process of "making restitution" operates to achieve these 

expected results are, of course, not known. One could speculate, however, 

• that youths who pay restitution are more aware of the human consequences of 

their offenses than are youths who do not pay restitution. Thus, they would 

be more cognizant of the full costs of delinquent behavior--including the 

monetary and psychic costs to victims--and for this reason would be less 

• likely to commit delinquent acts in the future. In addition, it has been 

proposed that paying restitution gives the youthful offender a feeling of 

accomplishment which could improve his or her self image. The negative 

effects of contact with the juvenile justice system perhaps would be minimized 

through restitution dispositions in comparison with most other dispositions 

• due to the positive sense of accomplishment for youths who successfully meet 

the restitution requirements. 

• 

• 

The process of making restitution, per se, would not be associated 

necessarily with either the deterrent or labelling theories of delinquency. 

Nevertheless, restitution dispositions could indirectly influence subsequent 

delinquent behavior (according to labelling theory) if it shortened or 

lengthened the juvenile's contact with the system. Statements in the OJJDP 

guidelines clearly indicate that the federal officials wanted to shorten 
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contact with the system. 

The rationale linking restitution to an improvement in victim satisfaction • 

with the juvenile justice system is rather straightforward: victims who 

receive some redress for the offense 'are more likely to be satisfied with 

the way the system handled the case than are victims who do not. Furthermore, 

it is quite possible that the degree of satisfaction realized by victims 

depends not only on monetary repayment, but on other services and/or infor-

mation received from the project. 

One of the most important objective's of the initiative is to reduce the 

incarceration rates of juvenile offenders. The process through which the 

federally funded projects are expected to accomplish this goal is hy using 

restitution as an alternative diJposition for juveniles who otherwise would 

have been incarcerated. Thus, it is critically important that the projects 

maintain compliance with both the letter and the spirit of the guideline 

statements concerning the target population of the initiative. 

TYPes of Restitution 

Three types of restitution generally are recognized as being consistent 

with the theories which suggest that restitution will increase a youth's" 

sense of res.'onsibility and accountability, reduce recidivism, and have other 

positive effects on the behavior of a young offender. These types are: 

1. Direct victim service. (The youth works for the victim.) 

2. Monetary restitution. (The youth pays the victim, directly, or pays 

the proj'2ct/court who then pays the victim.) 

3. Community service. (Unpaid work for a public or non-profit agency; 

of benefit to the community.) 

Of these three ~ypes, the most popular with theoreticians probably is 

direct victim service because it more explicately holds the yOuths accountable 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

237 

9 

and, presumably, would more vividly portray to the youth the human consequences 

of the offense that was committed. 

Through the end of July, 1979, the projects funded by the initiative 

had implemented the various types of restitution in ways seendngly quite 

consistent with the rationale underlying restitution programs: 65 percent 

of the cases had monetary restitution orders or monetary ~ community service 

~ orders; 40 percent of the referrals had community service orders but less 

• 

than one percent had victim service orders. 

The information in Table 1 includes the proportion of referrals involved 

in each of the major types of restitution components, the amount of restitution 

ordered, and the average amounts per case. Some of the possible reason for 

the low incidence of victim service restitution will be examined later in 

the paper. 

A few referrals to the projects have been involved exclusively in "non

restitution" components of the projects. Although all of the projects funded 

• as part of the initiative have restitution components, some of them also 

provide other services to the offenders. Less than one percent of the 

referrals have been involved solely in the non-restitution part~ of the 

programs. In addition to these, however, about five percent of the total 

• 

• 

• 

cases have not been ordered to pay any restitution at all but instead have 

court requirements to pay fines or court costs (or in some instances, fees 

for publically provided attorneys). The number of referrals for whom no 

restitution had been ordered who were required to pay court costs and fees-

rather than restitution--has declined dramatically over the months since the 

initiative began (see Figure 1), and information from the projects indicates 

that they are making efforts to avoid or refuse these referrals. 

Fifteen percent of the referrals during the first three months of the 

initiative (December through February) were not paying restitution or doing 

79-489 0-81-16 
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TABLE 1 

TYPES AND AMOUNTS OF RESTITUTION ORDERED1 

TYPE OF AMOUNT OF NUMBER AVERAGE 
RESTITUTION PLANS NUMBER PERCENT RESTITUTION ORDERED OF PLANS TOTA!. PER CASE 

Honetary 1,785 54% Honetary Restitution 2,176 $513, H)O $236 

Honetary and Community Service 
Community Service 373 11% Hours 1,342 $ 65,294 $ 49 

Honetary and Victim Service 
Victim Service 18 Hours 38 $ 1,119 $ 29 

Community Service 964 29% 

Community and 
Victim Service 5 

victim Service 15 

Court Costs 
and/or Fines 159 5% 

TOTAL 3,319 100% 

lEn tries in the table reflect information on project referrals through July 31, 1979 received by the 
national evaluators at the Institute of Policy Analysis as of September 10, 1979. 

• • • • • • 
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FIGURE 1 

CHANGE IN PROPORTION OF REFERRALS INVOLVED 
EXCLUSIVELY IN "NON-RESTITUTION" COMPONENTS OF THE PROJECTS
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service work but instead were paying fines, paying court costs, or receiving 

other (non-restitution) services. By July, 1979 however, only two percent 

of the referrals were in this category. Figure 1 shows the downward trend 

and gives the actual percentages in the footnote. 

Types of Victims 

Some of the earliest experiences with victim assistance prograrns--and 

with restitution components of these--indicated that more victims than 

expected were institutional victims (such as stores, businesses, insurance 

companies, etc.). The preponderence of these victims quickly destroyed the 

idealized image of a youthful offender having'a meaningful encounter with a 

highly sympathetic victim and being "reformed" by the realization that victims 

are people, too. It is reasonable to expect that the process of making 

restitution is more likely to improve the youth's behavior if the victim is 

a private citizen rather than a company lawyer, insurance representative, or 

store detective. 

Information from the projects shO'."s that 66 percent of the incidents 

referred to the projects had individual victims (or "households" for burglary 

and vandalism offenses); 30 percent had stores or businesses as victims; '13 

percent had schools or public property as victims, Less than one percent 

of all victims have been insurance companies. There has been no noticeable 

change in the types of victims since the initiative began. 

Source of Funds 

One of the issues discussed during the development of the federal guide

lines for the initiative was whether the projects should be required to pro

hibit payment of restitution by the parents. No provision of ~his type was 

included in the guidelines for a variety of different reasons, but the 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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possibility that parents would pay the restitution remained a major concern 

4It of the federal officials. Payment by parents, of course, could thwart the 

impact of restitution on the youth's behavior since it would undermine the 

• 
accountability/responsibility aspects of paying restitution and detract from 

the punishment aspects of restitution. 

Of the total dollars paid in restitution through the end of July, 88 

percent of it has been provided by the youth; 11 percent from parents; and 

one percent from other sources. The information in Table 2 shows that the 

proportion paid by parents was rather high the first two months of the 

initiative but has declined to a much lower level during the more recent 

tt months. Some of the projects that have experienced instances of parents 

paying the restitution have accepted the referral and sought to insure that 

• 
the youtr repay the payment. The extent to which this technique has been 

effective is not known at this time. 

In order to avoid a social class bias in project clientele, the federal 

guidelines did not prohibit projects from subsidizing employment of the 

juveniles. (A prohibition against use of grant funds for employment subsidy 

was included in an early version of the guidelines but later was excluded.) 

Two-thirds of the projects funded by OJJDP have at least some dollars set 

.. aside for employment subsidies. By the end of July, $70,314 had been paid 

.. 

• 

• 

in subsidized funds. Approximately 24 percent of the subsidies is kept by 

the juvenile for the work performed, and 76 percent is paid to the victim 

as restitution. At this time, 80 percent of the funds earned by the youths 

has been from subsidized jobs • 

Although one might argue that subsidized restitution is not consistent 

with the philosophy and intent of the program, we do not think this is the 

major issue. In the projects that provide employment subsidies, the youth 
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TABLE 2. sounCE OF t400ETI\RV RESTITUTION ron C"'"...03EO RESTJTllrIctl CASES l 

-
HOJlt:TARV RESTI'I1JTIOH TRAnSFERS' DEC JJ\N F~8 HlIReI' APRIL HJ\Y JUHR JULY QSES 'CLOSED 

AS OP .JULY 31 

AHQUtl'r OF HOIIETI\RY n£sl'ITtrrION $13,179 $1,127 $2,174 $2,745 $6,659 $8,520 $15,130 $20,858 $29,006 $99,396 

.. Crom yout;hs 78\ 36\ 53\ 98' 94\ 89\ 90\ 06\ "96' 88.0t 

~ ft"o,ft ('Ii'lrelltn 16\ 65\ 47\ 2\ 5\ 11' 9\ 14' 4' )0.7' 

, frol:l oth~r 6' 0 0 0 D 0 1\ 0' 0' 1.3' 

TOTALS 100\· 100' 100\ 100, 99~ 100' 100\ 100\ 100' 100' 

QUnCE of YOUTIIS' HOtlIrrl\RY RESTITUTIOII 

, from employmont found by youths 53' 26' 0 5, 11' 26\ 24' 24\ 12\ 22\ 

" tram employment found by project 45\ 73' 87' 94' 07' 72\ 75' 65\ 86' 74\ 

" trom sftvJn9s or other sourceo 2\ 1\ U' n 2\ 2. 1\ 1U 2t 4' 

TOTALS 100\ 100\ 100' IC;. 100\ 100\ 100\ 100\ 100' 100\ 

1 The r~portQd e81'ning9 shown In the lower portion of the tl!llble include project subsidies and poy dollars ezuned In addition to 
lhe nuhsJdhcd amount9, thnt were knO\ln to the project. 

• • • • • • 
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works in a work detail, public agency, or private place of employment at the 

• minimum wage. The wages are paid from project funds either to the youth 

directly (in the case of work details) or to the public/private agency who 

pays the youth the wages. The restitution payments, then, are made by the 

youth from income earned through legitimate employment. Many victims undoubtedly 

are totally unaware that their restitution payments are from federal funds, 

• and even those who know the source of the money probably are not concerned 

about it. Thus, from the offender and victim point of view, subsidized 

restitution is not substantially different from any other type of monetary 

restitution and should qualify as "true" restitution. 

• The critical issue is that the operation of the projects, and the 

characteristics of their clients, may change substantially when the subsidized 

funds are exhausted. The restitution programs that are continued after 

the federal grant ends may not represent the congept and theory of restitu-

tion to the same degree that they do at this time, and the fears of social 

• class bias might be more justified. 

Contact with the Court 

One of the issues that almost always arises when discussing restitution 

programming pertains to its impact on the ~ dispositions used by the 

• juvenile and its consequences in relation to the total amount of time a 

juvenile spends within the jurisdiction of the court. 

Of the 85 projects funded by the initiative, only two permit the use of 

restitution as a sole sanction (Oklahoma County, OK and Jefferson County, KY). 

• In all of the other projects, restitution requirements are one of several 

conditions of probation and, in this respect, constitute an "add on" to the 

probationary requirements. 

• 

• 
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Those who believe that a more lengthy contact with the system increases 

the negative labelling of the youth and, therefore, the likelihood of 

recidivism are particularly concerned about the consequences of restitution 

requirements on the terminat: )n of probation. Of the projects in the initia

tive, 38 percent indicated in their grant applications that probation auto

matically would be reviewed or ended when the restitution requirements were 

complete, and 13 percent said that completion of restitution would have no 

effect on the probationary term. The other projects indicated that the 

procedures concerning termination of probation would vary from one case to 

another or did not yet have a policy developed on this point. 

By the end of July, 1979, there were 1,320 juveniles whose cases had 

been terminated by the restitution projects. Of these, 35 percent were no 

longer under tlle jurisdiction of the court, and 15 percent had a court hearing 

scheduled to review the case and possibly terminate the youth's contact with 

the court. The remaining youths were still on probation and no review 

hearing had been scheduled. 

Completion of Restitution Orders 

There have been many "fears" expressed at one time or another about the 

viability of restitution projects in the juvenile court sett.ing. Among the 

more common concerns are whether the youths will comply with the restitution 

requirements, whether restitution orders will be "adjusted" by probation into 

noro-existence, and whether the total work load on the court might be increased 

due to hearings about noncompliance and/or subsequent offenses while the 

juveniles are under the jurisdiction of the restitution project. 

The evidence shown in Table 3 indicates that most of the original 

restitution requirements are being met in full (82 percent), and a few are 

being adjusted (usually downward) prior to closure as "successful" cases 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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. TlIBLE 3. COMPLETION OF ORIGINAL REST+TUTION REQUIREMENTS 

CLOSURE INFORMATION TRANSFERS DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY 

REASON FOR CLOSURE (H of cases) 186 10 26 46 93 1M 183 

\ closed with full compliance 72% 60% 92% 83% 81% 84% 82% 

'" closed with adjustments 7% 20% 4% 4% 3% 2% 3% 

Other reasons for closures: 

'" ineli9ible 3% 0 0 2\ 12\ 4% 3% 

, never placed 1% G 0 0 1% 2% 1\ 

'" lost positions 1% 0 0 0 0 0 1% 

, unsuccessful in meetings 
5% 0 4% 0 0 2\ 4\ restitution re~irements 

'" youths refused to participate 1% 10\ a 7% a 3% 2% 

'" closed due to subsequent 2% 10\ 0 2\ 1% a 1\ offense 

'" closed because youths 
1% 0 a a a a 2\ committed to secure facility 

'" other 7% a a 2% /.% 3% 1\ 

TOTALS 100~ 100\ 100\ 100% 100% 100% 100\ 

PROPORTION OF ORIGINAL ORDERS 
COMPLETED 

\ of dollars paid 74\ 83% 100\ 86% 69% 87% 79% 

'" of community service hours worked 85\ 95. 68\ 100\ 80\ 46. 69% 

, of victim service hours worked -- -- -- 100% lOa'll 0\ 100\ 

• 
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(four percent). Of the remaining 14 percent of the cases, three percent 

were determined to be ineligible after initial intake, screening, documentation 

of loss, and other similar functions were performed by the project, and four 

percent were closed due to miscellaneous reasons that should not be considered 

"failures"--such as the youth moved away. Thus, of the cases closed through 

July, about seven percent have been terminated due to non-compliance with the 

restitution requirements. 

Re-contact with the juvenile court for non-compliance with the restitu

tion orders or for subsequent offenses is quite low at this time. For cases 

closed by the end of July, 1979, four percent had been referred back to the 

court for noncompliance with the restitution orders, ~~d eight percent of 

the youths had come into contact with the court on a subsequent delinquent 

offense. 

Services to Victims 

The project components that one would expect to contribute to the 

degree of victim satisfaction--in addition to the actual payment of restitu

tion--include mediation/arbitration s~ssions, property return, victim advo

cacy, counselling, and so on. In general, these types of project elements. 

are much less evident than are those designed to enhance the impact of 

restitution on the offender. For example, only about one-third of the 

projects planned to implement mediation or arbitration sessions, and some 

have dropped this component. Only nine percent of the cases have involved 

face-to-face negotiation between offend~rs and victims. Less than one-fourth 

of the projects intended to include victim services such as property return, 

advocacy, counselling, and the early evidence is that these aspects of the 

programs have not been emphasized much at all. At the individual level, the 

data show that 67 percent of the victims have been sent a letter requesting 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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information about victim loss or explaining the restitution project, and 39 

percent of the victims have been contacted personally (either by telephone 

• or in person) by project representatives. 

On the brighter side (from the victim's perspective), the data show 

that juvenile courts have ordered $513,000 in monetary restitution to be 

paid by project referrals. And, as mentioned before, almost $100,000 in 

.- restitution has been paid by juveniles whose cases have already been closed. 

This represents about 80 percent of the total dollar amounts ordered in the 

cases that have been finished at this time. 

Target Population 

• Many--perhaps most--federally sponsored service delivery programs have 

trouble with the definitions of "target population" and have difficulty in 

obtaining compliance with the definitior.. The Office of Juvenile Justice 

and Delinquency Prevention certainly has had its share of problems in enforcing 

the target population specifications for its initiatives, and the juvenile 

• restitution one has been no exception.10 

Two issues dominated the discussion about target population. The first 

of these was whether the restitution projects could be u~ed as a diversion 

from formalized adjudication. That issue was debated extensively prior to 

• the issuing of the guidelines and was discussed throughout the application 

phase of the initiative. The non-adjudication issue was settled prior to the 

submission of the final applications: prospective applicants were told that 

no pre-adjudicated cases were eligible. Furthermore, specific definitions 

of "adjudication" were provided by OJJDP, and in a number of instances the 

• practices of juvenile courts were reviewed extensively to determine whether 

certain procedures met the definition of "adjudication" that had baen adopted 

by the agency. At this juncture, it appears as if the efforts to insure 

• 

• 
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that. only adjudicated youths be referred to the projects have been quite 

successful. The data received from the projects indicates th~t only a handful 

of non-adjudicated youths were handled by the projects, and those were in the 

very early months of the initiative. 

The second issue was that the initiative was billed as "an alternative 

to incarceration." The program guidelines, however, do not define this term, 

and even though project personnel questioned OJJDP officials about the defi-

nition of the phrase, no officially promulgated definition was forthcoming 

prior to the submission of final applications. A rather simple definition 

(youths who could, legally, be incarcerated) was not considered a good choice 

by OJJDP officials because this would permit--in some jurisdictions at least--

almost any juvenile to be included in the initiative no matter how trivial 

the offense might have been. The agency preferred that the target population 

consist of youths who would have been incarcerated if not referred to the 

restitution project, but no guidelines were developed as to how project per-

sonnel could demonstrate that incarceration would have been the disposition 

in the absence of the restitution project. The target population is defined 

rather broadly in the program announcement, without reference to the 

flalternative to incarceration U issue: 

The target population is youth who have committed misdemeanors 
and/or felony offenses and are adjudicated delinquent as a result 
of a formal fact-finding hearing or a counseled plea of guilty. 
It is expected that projects will include juvenile offenders 
with varying categories of misdemeanors and/or felony offenses, 
including property offenses and offenses against persons. This 
excludes victimless crimes and the crime of non-negligent homocide. 
Using data on the nwnber of youth adjudicated in 1975 and 1976, 
each community will define the target population by precise 
criteria, and develop action proiects which provide for restitution 
by offenders as described above. 1 

After the guidelines were issued, statements by OJJDP officials have 

made it clear that projects must accept as referrals juveniles who would have 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

j 

• 

• 
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been incarcerated unless referred to the project, but they have not insisted 

4t that all project clients meet such a stringent standard. 

• 

As mentioned previously, the concern in this paper is that a major goal 

of the initiative--reduction in incarceration rates--is not likely to be 

achieved unless the projects accept as clients youths who would have been 

incarcerated. Thus, the type of analysis that is appropriate for a study at 

the implementation phase is to examine the characteristics of the referrals 

in order to ascertain the proportion who might have been incarcerated.12 The 

approach we have taken is to define an "appropriate" target population as 

one which consists of "serious offenders," including (a) juveniles without 

• an extensive criminal history but whose referral offense is of a serious 

nature, and/or (b) chronic offenders whose referral offense is either a mis-

demeanor or felony, but not necessarily one that is especially serious. 

It would be difficult--perhaps impossible--to reach agreement on an exact 

• definition of an "appropriate" referral based exclusively on the seriousness 

of the current offense and the pattern of prior delinquent behavior of a 

youth. Therefore, five alternative standards have been developed, and the 

results of applying these to the initiative's referrals are shown in Figure 2. 

Each diagram in Figure 2 shows the se:ciousness categories in the left-hand 

... margin and the number of prior and/or concurrent offenses across the top. 

The shaded areas represent referrals that would be inappropriate, using the 

criteria given by that particular standard. 

The categories of seriousness are defined as follows: 

Victimless: Includes traffic accidents or tickets, status offenses, 
drug, alcohol, gambling, prostitution, and probation violations. 

Hinor Offenses: Hinor offenses not easily classified as property or 
personal, such as disorderly conduct. 

Hinor Property: Any property offense with loss/damage of $10 or less 
except burglary. 
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Minor Persona~~ Resisting or obstructing an officer, coercion, hazing, 
other similar UCR Part II offenses. 

ie Moderate Property: Burglaries with loss/damage of $10 or less and any 
other type of property offense with loss/damage of $11 to $250. 

Serious Property: Burglaries with loss/damage of $11 to $250 and any 
other property offense with loss/damage greater than $250. 

Very SerioUs Property: Burglaries with loss/damage of $250 or more. 

Serious Personal: Unarmed robberies and non-aggravated assaults with 
loss of $250 or less. 

Very Serious Personal: Unarmed robberies and non-aggravated assaults 
with losses exceeding $250 and all UCR Part I personal crime~ including rape, 
armed robbery, aggravated assault. 

The first stwldard is the most lenient and most of the referrals to the 

initiative thus far would have been eligible. This standard specifies that 

victimless offenses are not appropriate for referral to the projects.and that 

first offenders (i.e., zero priors/concurrents) are not appropriate unless 

the immediate offense is at least at the "moderate property" seriousness 

level or higher. Using these criteria, 91 percent of the referrals would 

'. have been appropriate. 

The second standard, called "serious offenders," simply specifies that 

no youths whose immediate offense is less serious than the "moderate p:roperty" 

category would be appropriate, regardless of the number of prior/concurrent 

offenses. Thus, inappropriate referrals would include offenses such as 

property crimes with a loss or damage of less than $10, disorderly conduct, 

harassment, obscene language. thefts or larcenies of items valued at $10 or 

less, and other similar types of minor offenses. If this standard were used, 

85 percent of the referrals to the initiative would be considered appropriate. 

The third standard, "serious and/or repeat offenders,lI contains even 

more stri.ngent criteria that must be met by a referral in order to be con-

sidered appropriate. As shown in Figure 2, first offenders (youths with 

zero prior/concurrunt offenses) would have to have comrnci,tted offenses in the 
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serious property or higher range in order to be eligible for the project; 

youths with only one prior/concurrent offense would be eligible only if their 

offense were in the "moderate property" range or higher; and youths whose, 

offense was in one of the "minor tl categories would have to show three or 

more prior/concurrent offenses in order to be considered appropriate referrals. 

Victimless offenses, as in all of these standards, would not be eligible. 

Using the "serious and/or repeat offender" standard, 75 percent of the ini

tiative referrals would be eligible. 

The fourth standard is one of the simplest yet most demanding. It 

specifies that first offenders are not appropriate referrals, regardless of 

the seriousness of the instant offense, and that victimless offenses are not 

appropriate. Using this standard, slightly more than half the referrals to 

the initiative at this time would be considered appropriate. 

The most stringent standard is the last: "chronic and very serious 

offenders." As diagrammed in Figure 2, this standard not only prohibits 

referral of first offenders and victimless offenses, but it requires an ever

increasing number of prior/concurrent offenses as the instant offense becomes 

less serious. Thus, youths whose immediate offense is in one of the minor 

categories must have six or more prior/concurrents in order to be considered 

appropriate under this standard. If the immediate offense is a moderate 

property level of seriousness, then the youth must have three or more priori 

concurrents in order to be eligible. Using these criteria, approximately 

one-third of the referrals to the initiative would be considered appropriate. 

Unfortunately, there is no nation-wide information system from juvenile 

courts that would permit us to estimate the probability of incarceration for 

juveniles with each of the various combinations of "seriousne,ss" of offense 

and number of prior/concurrent offenses. Nevertheless, this analysis indi-

• 

• 

• 
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cates that almost one-third of the referrals to the initiative meet the quite 

stringent standards set forth in the last diagram of Figure 2, and only a 

small proportion of the referrals are in the truly minor categories o.f offenses. 

Thus, it is reasonable to believe that the projects are accepting youths who 

would have been incarcerated and, for the most part, are avoiding the accep-

tance of referrals for youths who--in many juvenile courts--would have been 

diverted rather than adjudicated. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 79-489 0-81-17 
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DISCUSSION 

The evidence presented in this paper suggests that restitution is a 

concept that can be implemented within the jrrJenile court setting. The • ( 

theory of restitution--particularly the offender oriented concepts--appears 

to be ~derstood by and acceptable to the local juvenile justice agencies. 

local restitution projects, funded by OJJDP, are operating at this time 

without any evidence that some of the major unintended consequences (and 

fears) have occurred. 

For example, judges ~ ordering restitution, at the ~-adjudication 

phase, for serious offenders. probation officers ~ ignoring the 

requirements and/or adjusting the orders downward thereby thwarting the 

intent of the initiative. Parents are not paying the bulk of the restitution • 
dollars. Victims are not confined mainly to insurance companies, store 

detectives, and company lawyers. The local areas are not spending the 

federal dollars on non-restitution "add-ons" to the projects. There are 

often potential negative consequences for which we have no information at • this point. We do not know whether there are social class biases in the 

referrals, for example, and we do not know what will happen when the subsi-

dized work components end. 

Although many aspect~ of the restitution projects (and the OJJDP guide-

lines) were implemented without undue difficulty by most of the local areas, • 
other aspects presented considerable problems. 

The victim-oriented concepts inherent in the philosophy of restitution 

are not represented as well in the project components as are the offender-

oriented concepts. We would suggest the following as potential reasons, • 1. The initiative guidelines were from an offender-oriented agency 

(OJJDP) rather than a victim-oriented agency. 

• 

• 
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2. The guidelines did not emphasize the victim orientation as much as 

the offender orientation. 

3. The application process was a competitive one. 

4. The victim components are expensive to operate. 

5. The agencies responding to the OJJDP solicitation tended to be those 

which--traditionally--have been more involved with offenders than with victims. 

Implementation of the guideline specifications on the target population 

presented more problems than any other single aspect of the initiative and 

the reasons for this contain a number of important implications for our under

standing of the implementation process. Among the possible reasons for the 

greater difficulty in implementation of the target population specifications 

than of the specifications concerning the restitution components are the 

following: 

·1. Degree of philosophical/ideological agreement. It seems that there 

is substantial agreement at both. the local and federal levels concerning the 

• types of program components that represent "restitution." On the other hand, 

the use of restitution at the pre-adjudicated phase for minor offenders (who 

otherwise would have been diverted) would represent a harsher response by 

the system--reflective perhaps of a "law and order" ideological stance. Use 

of restitution as an alternative to incarceration for serious offenders 

represents a less harsh disposition--reflective of a less punitive ideolog~cal 

stance. In general, restitution seems to be a concept that is supported by 

the liberal and conservative forces in juvenile justice, but these forces 

may well disagree on who the appropriate target population is. It should be 

pointed out that OJJDP is under considerable pressure from Congress to expend 

its dollars on serious offenders (rather than minor offenders) and to target 

its resourCes in a way that avoids excessive expenditure of funds on white, 

~ddle class youths. Thus, the target population requirements were intended 



256 

28 

to insure that this initiative would benefit socially disadvantaged youths, 

who have committed serious offenses and who would otherwise be incarcerated. 

Local jurisdictions may not be under this same kind of pressure nor have the 

same ideological stance as the federal officials. Thus, one would expect 

greater disagreement on the target population than on the utility of resti

tution as a dispositional alternative. 

2. Convergence of local/federal neec3. Another potential explanation 

for the disagreement about the target population is based not on an ideological 

disagreement but simply on differences between the local and federal perceptions 

of what is needed. Federal officials obviously wish to reduce the incaraeration 

of juvenile offenders and, from a federal perspective, there are a huge 

number of incarcerated juveniles. From the perspective of any specific 

juvenile court jurisdiction, however, the number of youths incarcerated is 

much smaller. In many instances, the number is too small to justify a full

fledged restitution program if the eligible population had to consist entirely 

of the "would have been" incarcerated group. 

3. Definition, measurement, evidence. Concepts that are clearly 

defined and measurably undoubtedly are easier to implement in a manner con

sistent with their intent than are concepts which defy definition or measure

ment. The OJJDP guidelines provided clear and measurable definitions of 

"restitution." Ac:- mentioned previously, the concept lIadjudication" was 

clearly defined--in legal terms--and questionable practices were reviewed 

by OJJDP to determine whether or not they constituted "adjudication" for the 

purpose of the guidelines. 

In contrast, the meaning of Il alternative to incarceration" was not 

clearly set forth in the guidelines, and the relationship of this concept 

to the target population was not spelled out. The subsequent definition-

offenders who would have been incarcerated--is a behavioral rather than legal 

• 

• 
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concept and is almost impossible to measure on a case-by-case basis. The 

standard of evidence that OJJDP eventually used consisted of a requirement 

• that each project demonstrate a percentage reduction in incarceration. 

Although this might seem to be a reasonable solution to the problem, trained 

researchers will recognize the extraordinary difficulty (or impossibility) 

of demonstrating in a reliable and ~ manner that a project reduced incar-

• cerat~~:'-particularly given the general absence of adequate time series data 

and/or comparison court jurisdictions. Furthermore, the evidence that this 

aspect of the initiative had been implemented properly would not be forth-

coming for two or three years, whereas the evidence that offenders had been 

adjudicated and were paying restitution (or doing community service or victim 

4t service) would be available immediately as part of the national evaluation 

information system on a case-by-case basis. 

It seems reasonable to suggest that implementation of a concept is 

hampered considerably by ambiguity in definitions, lack of specificity in 

• measurement, and lack of immediacy in the measurement and feedback mechanisms. 

And, it seems reasonable to believe that these factors become particularly 

important when there is a lack of ideological agreement between the federal 

and local levels and/or when there is a difference in the perceptions of 

what needs to be done. 

• In spite of the problems that have occurred with the definition of target 

population, it seems as if the considerable verbal emphasis on the intent of 

the initiative combined with regular reports from the national evaluation on 

the seriousness of the offenders and o=fenses has resulted in a substantial 

• degree of compliance with the intent of the initiative concerning the appro-

priate target population. 
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FOOTNOTES 

1. Although "implementation" is relatively new--as a field of study-

there are several worthy articles and books in this area, including: Walter 

Williams and Richard F. Elmore, Social Program Implementation, New York: 

Academic Press, Inc., 1976; Jeffrey L. Pressman and Aaron B. Wildavsky, 

Implementation, Los Angeles: University of California Press, 1973; Eugene 

Bardach, The Implementation Game: What Happens After a Bill Becomes a Law, 

cambridge, MA: The MIT Press, 1977; L. A. Gunn, "Why is Implementation So 

Difficult?", Management Services in Government, Vol. 33 (4), November, 1978; 

Donal,! S. Van Meter and Carl E. Van Horn, "The Policy Implementation Process, 

A Conceptual Framework," Administration & Society, Vol. 6, No.4, February, 

1975; Richard F. Elmore, "Organization M:Xiels of Social Program Implementation," 

Public Policy, Vol. 26, No.2, Spring, 1978; Paul Berman, "The Study of 

Macro- and Iucro-Implementation," Public Policy, VoL 26, No.2, Spring, 

1978. 

2. Williams, page xii. 

3. Malcolm W. Klein, "Deinstitutionalization and Diversion of Juvenile 

Offenders: A Litany of Impediments," p. 4. (To appear in Norval Morris and 

Michael Tonry [ed.], Crime and Justice, 1978, University of Chicago Press, 

1979. 

4. For additional information about the juvenile restitution initiative, 

see Peter R. and Anne L. Schneider, "The National Juvenile Restitution 

Evaluation: Experimental Designs and Research Objectives," Institute of 

Policy Analysis, September, 1979. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



,.' 259 

31 

s. The expected results of the initiative and other information about 

it can be found in the program announcement, "Restitution by Juvenile 

• Offenders: An Alternative to Incarceration," OJJDP, LEAA, u.s. Department 

of Justice, Washington, DC, February 15, 1978. 

6. Klein (see note 3) uses the phrase "program integrity" and defines 

it as follows: "How well and directly do the program activities artiCUlate 

~ and flow from the rationale, i.e., how well satisfied are we that these 

activities represent the operational meaning of the ideas behind the program?" 

(page 17) 

7. Data from the MIS forms are reported in the "Monthly Report of the 

• National Juvenile Restitution Evaluation Project," Institute of policy 

Analysis. These reports began in March, 1979, and have been produced 

regularly ,since that time. 

8. Information from the Characteristics of projects Survey was reported 

• in Peter R. and Anne L. Schneider, "Implementation and Policy Issues in the 

National Juvenile Restitution Initiative: A Six Month Evaluation Report," 

Institute of Policy Analysis, Eugene, Oregon, August, 1979. 

9. See Peter R. and Anne L. Schneider, "Continuation Proposal for the 

• National Evaluation of Juvenile Restitution Programs," September, 1978, 

Institute of Policy Analysis, Eugene, Oregon. 

10. See Klein (note 3) for a discussion of target population problems 

in the status offender and diversion initiatives of OJJDP. Also see'Anne L. 

• Schneider, "Final Evaluation Report on the Spokane project to Deinstitutionalize 

Status Offenders," Institute of Policy Analysis, August, 1978: 
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11. "Restitution by Juvenile Offenders," p. 101. 

12. This discussion is a summary of materials presented in the six 

month evaluation report, "-':,nplementation and Policy Issues ••• ," pp. 33-35. 
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ABSTRACT 

Thir report examines the rate at which juveniles referred to restitution 

projects successfully complete the court-ordered requirements. Based on data • 

from more than 7,000 youths who were admitted to and later terminated from 

restitution projects, the rate of successful completion is estimated at 88 

percent and forecast to continue at about that same level. The analysis 

indicates that the youths most likely to successfully complete the restitution 

requirements are those who are white, in school, have higher family incomes, 

fewer prior offenses, and whose current offense is of a less serious nature. 

In addition, youths whose restitution payments were subsidized and those 

with comparatively smaller orders were also more likely to complete. Finally, 

offenders required to make restitution as a sole sanction, and who were not 

placed on probation or given a suspended commitment, were more likely to 

complete restitution successfully. 
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INTRODUCTION 

In September, 1978, the Office of J~venile Justice and Delinquency 

4t Prevention issued its first grants for juvenile restitution programs under 

the federal initiative "Restitution by Juvenile Offenders: An Alternative 

• 

• 

• 

to Incarceration." As of April 30, 1980, over 80 projects had become opera-

tional, handling a total of over 10,000 :eferrals of which about 7,000 had 

been closed out by the projects. This report focuses on these 7,000 project 

closures. The specific objectives of this report are: 

1. 'To estimate the current rate of successful completion of juveniles 

in the restitution initiative and to forecast the final rate of successful 

completion; 

2. To examine the background characteristics of juveniles as predictors 

of successful or unsuccessful completi~n and to asSess who the high and low

risk juveniles might be for, a restitution program; and 

3. To assess preliminarily the effectiveness of certain program vari-

ables in generating greater successful completion rates. 

ESTIMATING THE FINAL SUCCESSFUL COMPLETION RATE FOR THE INITIATIVE 

Successful Completion Defined 

Upon termination from restitution programs, information on each youth 

• is collected by IPA through the Management Information System (HIS) on the 

• 

• 

• 

reaSOnS for case closure. If a youth has completed all restitution within 

the allotted time period and has not violated any other parts of the resti

tution order, the project will indicate that the youth has been closed in 

full compliance with the original restitution requirements. Such a case is 

coded as a successful completion. Noreover, any case in which the youth 

fully complied with an adjusted restitution order--i.e., one where modifi-

cations in the order Were agreed -Co once the youth began making restitution--
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would also be classified as a successful completion for the purposes of this 

analysis. As of April 30, 1980, about 74 percent of all case closures were • 
closed in full compliance with their original restitution requirements, and 

an additional five percent were closed in full compliance with an adjusted 

restitution requirement. 

Unsuccessful completions, on the other hand, are less easily defined, • primarily because of differences across projects in restitution plan develop-

ment and implementation procedures. In the simplest case, a youth who failed 

to complete the restitution requirements would be classified as an unsuccessful 

completion. For example, a youth might have been dismissed from a job because 

of consistent tardiness or unexcused absences; he or she would then be unable • to pay any further restitution and thus prevented from completing the resti-

tution requirements. In another instance, a youth might commit a subsequent 

offense while in the restitution project which would be a violation of the 

restitution order and would result in unsuccessful termination from the 

project. This case would also be classified as an unsuccessful completion. • 
In some instances, however, closed cases will be neither successful 

nor unsuccessful completions. This occurs frequently when a youth is referred -_ .. - .. 
to a restitution program prior to disposition for the purpose ?f the develop-

ment of a restitution plan. When a plan cannot be developed because, for • example, th" lctim coufd not be located in order to document the loss, such 

a case would be closed by the restitution project. The case would not, 

however, be classified as an unsuccessful completion because no plan was 

ever developed for the youth to complet~.; nor would it be classified as a 

successful completion since no restitution plan was ever finished. For the • 
purposes of this analysis, caseS closed because no restitution plan could 

be developed will be classified as project-identified ineligibles and will 

be treated separately from the successful and unsuccessful completions. A 

case is classified as a project-identified ineligible only when the case is • 

• 



·.", ' 
, .~ 

265 

3 

closed prior to the development and implementation of the restitution plan. 

tt Cases closed after the plan is developed or after the youth begins the resti

tution service are not included in the project-identified ineligibles. 

Table 1 presents the distributions and types of successful completions, 

unsuccessful completions, and project-identified ineligibles for all cases 

closed through April 30, 1980 •. Of the 7,002 closed cases, about 79.5 percent 

were closed successfully, 10.7 percent were closed unsuccessfully, and 9.7 

percent Were project-identified ineligibles. With project-identified 

ineligibles removed from the data, the current rate of successful completion 

in the initiative is 88.1 percent . 

• The Successful Comoletion Estimate 

In order to estimate with reasonable confidence the final rate cf 

successful completion for the initiat~ve, we must determine whether open 

cases differ from closed cases in-any significant ways which might affect 

tt 
the completion rates. Failing to take into account these differences (if 

any exist) might produce a substantial over- or underestimate of the final 

successful completion rate for the initiative. 

The method used in assessing these differences is a time-series model 

where the previous 15 months of re=errals and closures are examined on a 

tt month-by-month basis (see Figure 1). The purpose is to assess, over time, 

whether cases which are open at time point "A" affect the ove!"all successful 

completio,,- rate when they finally close at time point "B." 

Along the horizontal axis of Figure 1 is the minimum number of months 

that a referral has been in the initiative. For month 1, all referrals 

tt 
which have been in the initiative for one month or more (i.e., those referred 

on March 31, 1980 or earlier} are included. For month 2, all referrals 

which have been in the initiative for two months Dr more are included; ~, 

month 2 includes many of the cases which were included under month 1 

tt 

tt 
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TABLE 1. FREQUENCY DISTRIBlJ'l'ION OF SUCCESSFUL COMPLETIONS, 
UNSUCCESSFUL COHPLETIONS, AND .PROJECT-IDENTIFIED INELIGIBLES 

~Ee of ComE:letion Reason for CO!!!Eletion ~ 

Successful Full compliance with original requirements 74.1 
Successful Full compliance with adjusted requirements 5.4 

Unsuccessful Youth never had posi ticn 0.4 
Unsuccessful Youth lost position 1.0 
unsuccessful Unsuccessful in meeting restitu"t!on requirements 3.2 
Unsuccessful Youth ran away 0.6 
Unsuccessful Youth reoffended 1.2 
Unsuccessful Youth reoffendad and was committed 0.7 
Unsuccessful Parent refused to make restitution 0.1 
Unsuccessful Youth quit program 0.9 
Unsuccessful Youth committed on curreJ"t offense 0.9 
unsuccessful Terminated due to y~vth " health 0.2 
unsuccessful Judge withdrclol restitution requirements 0.4 
unsuccessful Youth unable to pay rest! tution 0.1 
Unsuccessful Time in securo facility in lieu of restitution 0.1 
Unsuccessful Youth paic fine in lieu of restitution 
unsuccessful Resti tution held in abeyance 
Unsuccessful Part of order completed independent of project 0.7 
Unsuccessful Youth's insurance paid restitution 0.1 
Unsuccessful Victim pursuing civil action 0.1 
Unsuccessful Youth no longer a juvenile 0.1 
Unsuccessful Terminated due to psychological problems 0.2 
Unsuccessful Youth I 5 probation expired 

Project Ineligiblel Inappropriate for project services 1.7 
proj ect Ineligible No restitution ordered, no victim loss 2.3 
Project Ineligible Petition dismissed 0.9 
Proj ect Ineligible Youth not guil ty 0.1 
Project Ineligible Victim could not be located 0.3 
Project Ineligible not adjudicated 0.1 
Project Ineligible Youth committed to mental institution 
proj ect Ineligible Youth refused to participate 1.3 
project Ineligible Youth moved out of jurisdict'::m 1.4 
proj ect Ineligible Court officer withdrew referral 
Project Ineligible Vict:i.m \U1willing to document loss 0.8 
Project Ineligible Youth committed on pending charge 0.4 
project Ineligible Judge denied restitution recommendation 0.2 
project Ineligible Youth I s attorney refused restitution 0.1 
Project Inelig:tble Parent denied youth I s participation 
project Ineligible Youth and victim unable to reach agreement 
proj ect Ineligible Victim dropped restitution order 

*Less than 0.1 percent. 

4 

Number 

~ 

5,192 
376 

28 
68 

226 
41 
82 
51 

4 
60 
60 
12 
26 
10 

6 
2 
1 

46 
6 
4 
5 

13 
1 

119 
163 

61 
6 

20 
6 
2 

90 
96 

3 
56 
28 
16 

9 
3 
2 
2 

lA closed case is classified as a project-identified ineligible only when the case is 
closed prior to the development and implementaticn of the restitution order. Cases 
closed for any reason after the restitution order is implemented are classified as either 
successful or unsuccessful completions. 

~.------~---------------------------------
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FIGURE 1. SUCCESSFUL AND UNSUCCESSFUL COMPLETION RATES FOR THE JUVENILE RESTITUTION INITIATIVEI 
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laased on the data available at this time, the estimated successful completion rate for the juvenile restitution' 
initiative (after all caseS have actually closed) is expected to reach 88 percent of the eligible cases. If 
project-identified ineligibles.are included in the total, the successful com!>letion rate is expected ,to reach 
about 81 percent of all referrals. 
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(i.e., it includes all those which were referred on February 29, 1980 or 

earlier). As or,,,, continues from month 3 through month 15, the number of • cases decreases as progressively fewer cases meet the "minimum number of 

months in the initiative" standard. 

Along the vertical axis of Figure 1 is the proportion of cases which 

Were closed successfully (the solid line), closed successfully and unsuccess-

fully (the dashed line), and closed successfully and unsuccessfully including • 
project-identified ineligibles (the dotted line). The remaining casas (100 

minus the dotted line) is the proportion of cases open for any particular 

minimum number of months. 

The important point to keep in mind when reading Figure 1 is that many • cases will shift from open to closed as one progresses along the horizontal 

axis, and that these shifts will allow us to estimate how previously open 

cases affect the overall successful completion rate as they are finally 

closed. Cases shift from open to closed once the lag time from :raferral to 

closure is within the minimum number of months in the initiative. The • 
examples below will serve to illustrate how cases are counted in Figure 1. 

Case Referral Closure Referral to ~~nimum Number of Months in ~he Initiative 
~ Date Date Closure Lag __ 1 _____ 2 _____ 3_._ 4 

1 2-15-80 3-30-80 45 days Open Closed Hissing Missing • 2 1- 1-80 3-30-80 90 days Open Open Closed Hissing 

3 3-30-80 4-14-80 15 ciays Closed Missing Missing Missing 

Case #1 (above) was referred on February 15, 1980 and closed 45 days 

later.. It was declared open for month 1 because it was referred prior to 

March 31, 1980 and did not close within 30 days. It was declared closed • 
for month 2 because it was referred prior to February 29, 1980 and it closed 

within 60 days. It was declared missing for month 3 and all other months 

because it was not referred prior to January 31, 1980 and therefore it had 

• 

• 
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not been in the initiative for a minimum of three or more months. 

• Case #2 >!as referred on January 1, 1980 and closed 90 days later. It 

was declared open for months 1 and 2 because it was referred prior to 

March 31, 1980 and prior to February 29, 1980, and it did not close within 

eittier 30 or 60 days. It was declared closed for month 3 because it was 

referred prior to January 31, 1930 and it closed within 90 days. It was 

• declared mi~sing for months 4 thro'Jgh 15 because it was not referred prior 

to December 31, 1979 and therefore had not been in the initiative for a 

• 

• 

minimum of four or more months. 

Lastly, case #3 was referred on ~Iarch 30, 1980 and closed within 15 

days. It was declared closed for month 1 because it was referred prior to 

March 31, 1980, and it closed within 30 days. It was declared missing for 

month 2 and all following months because it was not referred prior to 

February 29, 1980 and had therefore not been in the initiative for a minimum 

of two or more months. 

The results of this analysis suggest that as previously open cases are 

closed, the ratio of successful completions to all closed cases for any 

particular minimum number of months remains very stable >!hen project-

identified ineligibles are removed 'Table 2). Across the 15 different time 

points reported in Table 2 the ratio of successful completions to successful 

and unsuccessful completions 's ! u1 varies by only 2.6 percent. However, 

S 
if one includes project-identified ineligibles 's + U + PI) the range over 

the 15 time periods increases to 11.6 percent, with most of the differences 

being accounted for in the first two months where project-identified 

ineligibles compris~ a larger share of all closed cases since eligibility 

is usually determined early. 

Based on the assumption of continued stability in the data when the 

project-identified ineligibles are removed, these data suggest that the final 

successful completion rate for the initiative will be about 88 percent; 

79-489 0-81--18 
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TABLE 2. SUCCESSFUL COMPLETION RATES 
BY MINIMUM NUMBER OF MONTHS IN THE INITIATIVE 

• ~linimurn Number 
of Months in the _S_ S 

Initiative S + U S + U + PI 

1 90.3% 72.6% 

2 90.5% 77.1% 

3 90.4% 80.1% • 4 90.3% 81. 3% 

5 89.9% 81.8% 

6 90.0% 82.4% 

7 90.0% 82.7% 

8 89.9% 82.9% 

9 89.8% 82.7% • 10 89.7% 83.2% 

II 90.2% 83.8% 

12 89.6% 83.4% 

13 89.6% 83.5% 

14 87.9% 83;-2% 

15 87.9'1. 84.2% • 
S = Successful Completions 

U= Unsuccessful Completions 

PI : Project-Identified Ineligibles 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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how~ver, the possibility of a lower final successful completion rate cann?t 

be dismissed. Our data show a mild decline in the completion rate for 

months 14 and 15 when project-identified ineligibles are removed (Table 2). 

If this pattern of decline were to continue or accelerate throughout the 

later months (months 16 to 30), the final successful completion rate would 

be lower than our forecast. 

PREDICTORS OF SUCCESSFUL COMPLETION 

Through the Management Information System (MIS) background data are 

collected at intake on each youth who enters a restitution project. The 

• background information collected include: age (at intake), race, sex, annual 

ho~sehold income, school attendance, and number of prior delinquent offenses. 

Moreover, information is collected on the type of referral offense and its 

seriousness, the amount of documertted victim loss, t~e t~pe and amount of 

restituti~n ordered, and the type oi restitution employment arranged. These 

background variables will first be examined in this section with two purposes 

in mind: First, to describe the relationships between the background charac

teristics of juvenile offenders and their successful completion of restitu

tion orders, and second, to assess the types of offenders who are high and 

low-risk offenders for juvenile restitution programs. 

Background Characteristics and Successful Comoletion 

Table 3 presents the bivariate frequency distributions for the rates of 

successful completion by background characteristics. Of these background 

characteristics, school attendance appears to be the most strongly related 

to successful completion. Youth who were in school on a full-time basis at 

the time of referral to a restitution project had about an 11 percent higher 

successful completion rate than youth who were not in school. Youth who 

wer~ in alternative schools, GED programs, vocational schools, .and secure 
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TABLE 3. SUCCESSFUL COI-lPLETION RATES BY BACKGROUND CHARACTERISTICS 

PERCENT PERCENT NUMBER • CHARACTERISTIC SUCCESSFUL UNSUCCESSFUL TOTAL OF CASES 

~ 
14 and YOWlger 89 11 100 1,461 
15 87 13 100 1,353 
16 88 12 100 1,468 
17 and older 89 11 100 1,503 

n.s. • Y = -.00 

Race 

White 90 10 100 4,342 
Non-white 85 15 100 1,387 

Cl < .00l 
Y = ~;22 

Income (Annual) • 
Less than $6,000 83 17 100 671 
$6,000-$10,000 88 12 JOO 649 
$10,000-$14,000 89 11 100 676 
$14,000-$20,000 92 8 100 607 
Over $20,000 92 8 lOa 796 

Cl < .001 
Y = .20 • School Attendance 

Full-time 91 9 100 4,247 
Not in school 80 20 100 1,111 
Other 82 18 100 242 

Cl < .001 
Y = -.38 

Total Number of Priors/Charges • 
a 92 8 100 2,743 
1 89 11 100 1,092 
2 87 13 100 644 
3 81 19 100 407 
4 81 19 100 228 
5 86 14 100 159 
6 and more 77 23 100 347 

Cl < .001 • Y = -.29 

(Continued) 

• 

• 
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TABLE 3. SUCCESSFUL COMPLETION RATES BY BACKGROUND CHARACTERISTICS (Continued) 

CHARACTERISTIC 

Seriousness 

vic;tim1ess 
Minor General 
Minor Property 
Minor Personal 
Moderate Property 
Serious Property 
Serious Personal 
Very Serious Property 
Very Serious Personal 

~ 

a < .001 
Y = -.25 

Male 
Female 

n.s. 
y = .06 

PERCENT 
SUCCESSFUL 

92 
90 
90 
91 
92 
87 
86 
82 
84 

87 
88 

PERCENT 
UNSUCCESSFUL 

8 
10 
10 

9 
8 

13 
14 
18 
16 

13 
12 

TOTAL 

100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 

100 
100 

NUMBER 
OF CASES 

180 
98 

755 
131 

1,688 
1,643 

208 
879 
159 

5,525 
749 
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facility schools had only a two percent better successful completion rate 

than youth who were not in school. 

12 

The second most strongly related background characteristic to successful 

completion is the total number of prior delinquent offenses and additional 

delinquent charges at the time of referral. Here the completion rates 

ranged from 92 percent for youth with no priors or additional charges to 77 

percent for youth with six or more priors/charges. Moreover, with the 

exception of youths with five priors/charges, the pattern is one of reasonably 

steady decline, with each additional prior/charge accounting for about a two 

percent reduction in the successful completion rate. 

Offense seriousness, which is estimated by combining the type of 

referral offense and the total documented victim loss, is also moderately 

related to successful completion, although the pattern is less clear. Youth 

who committed victimless offenses and moderate property offenses had the 

highest rates of successful completion (92 percent), and-youth who committed 

very serious property offenses had the lowest rates. Dichotomizing the 

offense seriousness scale reveals that low seriousness offenses (moderate 

property and lower) had a successful completion rate of 91.3 percent while 

high seriousness offenses (serious property and higher) had successful com

pletion rates of 85.5 percent. 

Race and family income of the offender are also mildly related to 

successful completion. Non-white offenders and low income offenders tend 

to have lower successful completion rates than white offenders and upper 

income offenders. The successful completion rates differ by five percen~ 

between white and non-white Offenders, and by nine percent between low income 

(less than $6,000 annually, including those on public assi&tance) and higher 

income (above $20,000) groups. Further analysis examined the relationShip 

b~tween race and successful completion after controlling for income and 

offenders' total n,~er of prior delinquent offenses and additional 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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delinquent charges. The partial gamma coefficien't between race and com-

4It pletion status after controlling for annual income dropped slightly to -.15, 

while after controlling for priors the gamma was -.19 between race and 

• 

• 

successful completion. Thus, in neither instance did the p~tterns dis

appear after controls were utilized, although in one instance they did 

diminish somewhat. It is clea~ that substantial additional analysis is 

necessary before conclusions can be drawn about these relationships. 

Specifically, project characteristics and the unequal proportion of non-

white referrals. coming from a small number of projects could possibly be 

affecting these patterns. 

Little or no difference was revealed for age or sex of the offender and 

the rate of successful completion. Both the youngest and th~ oldest 

offenders produced B9 percent successful completion rates, while males had 

a one percent greater successful completion rate than females. 

These patterns, taken in combination, suggest who the high and low-risk 

• offenders 'might be for a juvenile restitution program. The low-risk 

offenders tend to be w~ite, average or higher family income youth with no 

prior offenses who are in school on a full-time basis and who have committed 

minor or moderate seriousness offenses. High-risk offenders have a high 

• number of priors, are school dropouts, are non-white, low-income youth who 

have committed high seriousness offenses. While these characterizations are 

perhaps expected, they do suggest some important program and policy implica-

tions. At the individual program level they suggest that project resources 

might be utilized best when they are disproportionately targeted toward the 

• high-risk offenders. The low-risk offenders' completion rates are so high--

well over 90 percent--that because of a "ceiling effect" any additional 

project efforts directed toward these youth could potentially produce only 

a small gain in the overall successful completion rate. High-risk offenders, 

On the other hand, have a successful completion rate of about ten percent • 

• 
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less than the low-risk youth; therefore, project re~ources directed at 

these high-risk youth could, potentially, yield greater benefit for youth, 

victims, and programs. 

In a similar manner, these characterizations suggest that any assess

ments of program effectiveness must take into account the distribution of 

high and low-risk offenders within a program and the amount of resourceS 

available for these youth. Program resources could, however, depending on 

their type and quality, produce deleterious effects for these offenders. 

Labeling theorists might argue that youth who have minimal contact with the 

courts and these programs have a greater probability of completing their 

restitution orders successfully. Others argue that additional program 

resources that result in greater requirements for the youth c~Jld produce 

lower successful completion rates, while program resources that result in 

additional assistance to the youth could produce higher rates of successful 

completion of. restitution orders. 

Program Components and Successful Completion 

In order to examine the effect of additional restitution requirements 

on successful completion rates vis-a-vis the effect of greater project assis

tance, two program characteristics will be probed--sole sanction restitution 

and employment subsidies. In addition, we will examine the impact of 

different types of restitution and the effects of the size of restitution 

orders on successful completion rates. 

Forty-four projects in the restitution initiative have some sole 

sanction restitution plans in their caseload, and 16 projects have over 

10 percent of their caseload with sole sanction restitution, according to 

the Management Info~ation System data. Table 4 present, ~e successful 

completion rates by the program and restitution plan variables we will 

examine in this section. The successful completion rates for three different 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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TABLE 4. SUCCESSFUL COMPLETION RATES 
BY PROGRAM AND RESTITUTION PLAN CHARACTERISTICS 

• PERCENT PERCENT NUMBER 
CHARACTERISTIC SUCCESSFUL UNSUCCESSFUL TOTAL OF CASES 

Restitution Order Resuirements 

Sole Sanction Restitution 95 5 100 939 
Restitution and Probation 87 13 100 3,862 
Suspended Commitment 87 13 100 282 

• a < .001 

Employment Subsid:t 

Yes 87 13 100 1,789 
No 89 11 100 4,070 

a= .03 
y = .09 

• Percent of Earnin2s Subsidized 

o - 75% 88 12 100 93 
76 - 100% ~ 8 100 ~ 
Total 91. 9 100 1,842 

n.s. 

!Xpe of Restitution 

• Monetary 89 11 100 3,680 
Unpaid Community Service 90 10 100 2,577 
Victim Service 98 2 100 88 
Monetary and Community Service 85 15 100 706 

Size of Monetar:t Restitution Order 

$1 - $41 95 5 100 866 
$42 - $90 94 6 100 881 
$91 - $165 89 11 100 839 • $166 - $335 85 15 100 760 
$336 - $12,500 76 24 100 617 

a < .001 

Y -.40 

Size of Community Service Order 

1 - 16 hrs. 97 3 100 673 
17 - 25 hrs. 95 5 100 608 

• 26 - 40 hrs. 91 9 100 566 
41 - 74 hrs. 85 15 100 468 
75 - 468 hrs. 74 26 100 476 

a < .001 
Y = -.50 

• 

• 
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types of restitution order requirements--"conventional ll restit ... ·. 

probation, sole sanction restitution, and suspended commitment r, 

., " . 
t~ 

reveal a statistically significant difference between sole sanctl ,~. 

tution and the other two types, while it displays no difference be'. 

16 

G 

n--

restitution plus probation and suspended commitment restitution. T:. T. 

percent higher successful completion rate for sole sanction youth is 

tively large, especially given the absolute success rate of 95 percen" 

these youth. 

Factors other than sole sanction restitution might, however, be pro

ducing these differences. Using the characterizations presented earlier, 

sole sanction caSes might be low-risk youth; they might have fewer priors, 

less serious offenses, higher family incomes, and so forth. Additional ana

lysis revealed, at least tentatively, that this appears not to be the case. 

Sole sanction restitution was not significantly related (at the .05 level) 

to race, income, school status, or number of priors; it-was, however, 

significantly related to offense seriousness. Coding sole sanction resti

tution as a dichotomous variable (1 = sole sanction, 0 = no sole sanction), 

the gamma coefficient between offense seriousness and sole sanction resti

tution was ,14. (The gamma between the dichotomous sole sanction variable 

and successful completion was .40.) Controlling for offense seriousness 

did not, however, reduce the relationship between sole sanction restitution 

and successf~l completion, nor did controlling for prior offenses. In each 

instance the partial gamma coefficient remained about .40. hdditional, 

more extended analysis of sole sanction restitution and successful com

pletion is clearly needed, but these preliminary results suggest that sole 

sanction restitution does generate higher successful completion rates. 

Employment subsidies are aimed at assisting the youth in complying with 

his or her restitution order. One hypothesized effect of employment subsidies 

is that they should produce higher successful completion rates than non-

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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subsidized restitution. Two measures of employment subsidy are included in 

Table 4. The first is the number of closed cases where subsidized employ

ment was indicated in the youth's initial restitution plan; 31 percent are 

subsidized and 69 percent are not. The successful completion rate for the 

subsidized group is 87 percent, while it-is 89 percent fo~ the non-subsidized 

group, with these differences being statistically significant beyond the 

.05 level. 

The second measure of job subsidy examines successful completions by 

the proportions of the youths' earnings which are subsidized. The differences 

are not statistically significant between the low percentage subsidies' and 

the high percentage subsidies' completion rates; however, the overall 

successful completion rates for these youth is 91 percent, or about three 

percent higher than the initiative-wide succ!,ssful completion rate. 

These two findings taken in conjunction suggest that the expectation of 

subsidized employment does not produce positive differen~es in successful 

completion rates, but the actual presence of a subsidy does. Moreover, the 

amount of the job subsidy appears to have an effect upon the rate of 

successful completion; high subsidy youth have successful completion rates 

about four percent higher than low subsidy youth, but, due to the small 

number of low subsidy cases, the differences are not statistically signifi-

• cant at the .05 level. 

• 

• 

• 

Another requirement of restitution orders, in addition to the court 

actions discussed earlier (i.e., sole sanction, restitution plus probation, 

and suspended commitment), is the type and amount of restitution the youth 

is ordered to complete. While three possible types of restitution are 

available--monetary restitution, unpaid community service, and direct 

victim service--only monetary restitution and unpaid community service 

(either singly or in conjunction) are used with any great frequency by 

projects in the initiative. The completion rates for these major cypes of 
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restitution are presented in Table 4. In general, monetary restic ·io· -d 

unpaid community service have similar completion rates, while plan. ,i 

combine monetary and community service restitution tend to have sli 

lower completion rates. Direct victim service restitution plans are 

at a higher rate, although they comprise only about one percent of a: 

completed cases so far in the initiative. 

v 

The most likely explanation of the lower successful completion rate 

the combination restitution plans is that they tend to have larger resti-_

tion orders. A typical combination plan will have an order for $171 in 

monetary restitu~ion and 46 hours of unpaid community service, while the 

typical single unpaid community service restitutidn plan will have about 

48 hours ordered and the typical single monetary restitution plan will have 

about $250 ordered. Thus, the youth with an average combination restitu

tion plan is required to do about the same amount of community service as 

the youth with a single community service plan, plus the'combination-plan 

youth is required to pay a significant amount of monetary restitution. 

This is supported by the finding that larger restitution orders appear 

to result in lower rates of successful completion (Table 4). Youth with 

monetary restitution orders of between $1.00 and $41.00 had successful com

pletion rates 19 percent higher than youth with orders of $336 or more. 

For community service restitution orders the diffe~ences in completion rates 

for small and large orders were even greater than fo= monetary restitution; 

small community service orders had completion rates as much as 23 percent 

higher than large orders. 

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS 

This report was intended to be a preliminary description and analysis 

of the current rate, the projected rate, and the correlates of successful 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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completion of restitution requirements in the juvenile restitution initiative. 

The findings can be summarized as follows: 

1. The current rate of successful completion for the initiative, after 

project~identified ineligibles are removed, is 88.1 percent. Given the 

observed stability of the successful completion rate over time, the data 

presented here suggest that the final rate should also be about 88 percent. 

There is, however, a possibility that the rate will decline toward the end 

of the initiative as programs terminate" and problem cases are closed out. 

Any decline is only weakly suggested by the current data. 

2. The strongest background predictors of successful completion cur-

~ rently appear to be school status, number of priors, offense seriousness, 

• 

• 

• 

• 

'. 

race, and family income. Unrelated to successful completion were age and 

sex of the offender. 

3. Two program components--sole sanction restitution and the provision 

of employment subsidies--were examined, and both were significantly related 

to successful completion. 

4. Completion rates for monetary restitution orders were not signifi

cantly different from community service orders; however, combined monetary 

and community service orders were slightly lower than the single restitu

tion plans. Size of the restitution order was strongly related to successful 

completion; large orders had completion rates about 20 percent lower than 

small orders. 



TABLE A. NUMBER OF CASF~" SUCCESSFULLY CLOSED FOR 1 TO 15 IIONTIIS BEYOND REFERRlIL 
1 

Months Referral Han til 
Deyond Totnl 

Referral 79()1 7902 7903 790~ 7905 7906 7907 7909 7909 7910 7911 7912 9001 A002 a003 800~ CARP.9 

1 40 20 ~5 53 58 6~ 94 90 49 59 56 ~3 53 52 52 34 954 

2 26 29 62 12 121 106 90 66 59 B7 60 55 65 OJ 67 7J 1,125 

14 26 61 92 102 100 75 60 49 73 66 94 67 56 59 6~ 1,037 

4 19 16 ~5 56 101 65 62 67 49 76 76 37 65 49 40 026 

5 9 22 30 30 3~ 49 44 51 3B 43 54 4~ 43 23 12 525 

6 14 12 25 22 35 30 25 43 25 37 ~2 30 31 9 379 

7 9 13 38 21 29 22 23 26 29 32 19 2"9 
t-:) 

9 9 5 15 12 24 16 9 19 17 19 14 159 00 
~ 

9 12 10 10 14 14 9 9 11 105 

10 4 6 B 10 11 11 12 6 7~ 

11 2 0 6 5 9 9 12 52 
i;j 
b:l 
t>l 

12 5 4 6 10 ~ 5 0 41 :z: 
0 
H 

n 4 8 7 9 13 3 2 ~6 ~ 

!I" 
14 2 0 0 9 

15 0 0 0 1 

TOTAL 154 167 329 404 5GG 500. 452 450 326 435 403 313 327 271 230 176 5,503 

lNlIrrOcrs In thn cel1& Dhow how many of the caReR r,.rr.rrec1 in each month (see column headings) were snccp.ssful)y clo!lu'!d wi thin (me month (Honth 1). 
two mr.mthR, three'rnonthfJ, ami fiO forth 011 up to 15 months. For examp~ef 40 case::l referred in January 1979 Were closed successfully within one 
month, 26 were closed in the s~<:ond month, and so on . 
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TAD/.E B. NUHlIER OF CASES UNSUCCESSFULLY CLOSED FOR 1 TO 15 MONTIIS BEYOND REFERRAL 
1 ,'>.,' 

'-':> 

Months A9ferral Month 
Beyon,) Total 

'Referral 7901 7902 "/903 7904 7905 7906 7907 7900 7909 7910 7911 7912 0001 11002 0003 8004 Cases 

0 0 4 0 11 4 6 9 6 7 6 1 B 12 6 92 

2 6 6 B 7 10 6' 7 13 9 10 10 6 B 122 

3 0 14 5 12 6 10 B 12. 6 9 B B 5 114 , 
, ' 

4 0 J 6 14 9 11 J 10 9 9 9 0 6 104 

6 2 14 0 5 13 9 9 10 4 86 

6 1 5 5 4 '6 9 0 45 

0 5 4 8 3 6 5 0 42 

8 0 2 6 2 5 11 0 30 
l\:) 
00 
~ 

9 0 7 0 27 

10 0 3 6 0 5 0 0 0 17 

11 2 0 2 i 0 13 

12 6 2 1 2 q 16 

13 0 18 

14 9 0 15 

15 0 0 0 0 0 0 

TOTAL 16 30 46 44 70 55 74 56 46 63 60 43 46 35 36 21 749 

1 . 
HunllJ~cs in the cella show hoW many of the cases referred tn each month (see c:ulumn headings) were unsuccessfully closed within one month (Month 1), 
two monlhs, three months, aml .50 011 up to 15 monUls. 
6 were closed in the !lecomJ lII(ml"h, ami so forlh. 

For example, four CAses referred in March 1979 were closed unsuccessfully with,!n one month, 
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TIIBLE C. NlIImER 01' PROJECT-IOENl'IFIEO INELIGIBLE CIISES FOR 1 TO 15 HONl'US BEYOND REFERRIILI 

"Months Referral Month 
Reyond Totfll 

Referral 790l 7902 7903 7904 7905 7906 7907 790B 7909 7910 7911 79J2 B001 B002 ~003 8004 CaRes 

9 19 22 17 B 9 13 9 15 16 26 15 3D 21 231 

3 5 B 11 14 16 12 10 17 14 25 17 l~n 

.3 0 5 7 7 3 9 6 13 11 5 6 05 

'4 0 2 2 5 9 1 14 6 5 1 (,5 

5 0 3 5 4 4 0 44 

6 0 0 3 0 0 0 J7 

7 0 0 0 1 0 20 

8 0 0 0 3 0 1 2 0 1 0 12 ~ 
00 
~ 

9 0 0 1 0 0 2 0 9 

10 0 0 a 0 0 0 0 0 0 

11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

12 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 3 

13 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

H 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

J5 0 [) 0 0 0 0 

'forM. 6 9 26 43 46 46 40 41 44 52 4B 43 62 44 67 45 662 

Innmbr.l'EJ in tht! CQl1s show how mitny or thn cases referred in r.!(lch month (sec column headings) were closed as project-InentJ fico :J.neliglblc9 within 
on" mrmlh (Month 1) # two mnnthn, :11111 ron 011 up to ]5 monthn. For nxnmpl!!, 2 C1HU"S referred in January. 1979 werc cloned #19 pr:-ojer.t-idcntl.fiecl 
innligiblc5 withJ" ono month, 1 (!;1!;n wm. c:los(!d in the second month, ani1 so forth . 

• • ~' • • • • • • 
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TIIBLE D. NUMBER OF CIISES REHIIINING OPEN FOR 1 TO 15 ~IONT/IS DEYotm REPERRIIL 
1 

.L 
00 .., 

Months Referral Month 
0 beyond Total 
I Referral 7901 7902 7903 7904 7905 7906 7907 790B 7909 7910 7911 7912 0001 0002 8003 8004 C;jses 

r ') 
0 194 219 453 555 8lJ 719 656 676 558 767 752 619 741 G83 739 111 9,855 

.., 
1 152 196 395 475 722 632 558 568 490 692 67.5 559 650 60B 645 650 8,615 

2. 124 162 J23 393 582 511 441 489 411 576 594 404 5(i01 501 547 552 1,260 

3 110 133 254 303 461 399 358 420 346 492 501 3RO 475 426 475 411 6,024 

4 92 112 201 244 344 320 207 333 294 392 416 337 3QO 3r.n 422 t169 5,029 

5 00 89 169 203 305 256 228 275 240 332 349 202 342 341 406 3,90'; 

6 65 76 130 170 263 221 ·196 227 216 291 298 246 309 333 3,057 
l\:) 

SA 66 lZJ lJ2 234 189 162 198 185 255 263 222 JOr, 2,.193 00 
t11 

9 48 59 105 1J.4 201 170 148 160 164 236 244 220 1,877 

9 46 45 98 103 191 151 126 155 150 220 241 1,516 

10 43 30 90 94 165 138 110 143 144 217 1,102 

11 39 37 01 85 154 131 99 lJO 142. MO 

12 33 30 68 75 143 125 92 lJO 696 

lJ 28 15 SA 64 129 110 90 502 

14 17 13 54 (,) 124 lIO 309 

15 17 lJ 52 63 123 268 

INurm~t"S 1n the cells show how mllny of the cases r~fcrrcc.l in each month (see column headings) were open for ono month CHonth 1), two months, lind 
80 on up to IS month!l. For c~<1mple, 194 Ciln~s were referrerJ in JanuarY,1979 (7901). Of thene 152 were Rtill open In the fi.rRt full month After 
rcf.erral (Honth 1), 124 were still opell In the second month, and so forhh. (Decause the Hrm",gom~nl:. Information System filea are updated on it 

rnonth1y basia, thesc figurc!) wJll 'vory acronR dIfferent technical reports.' 
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ABSTRACT 

An analysis of in-program reoffending rates for more than 9,000 

4t juvenile offenders referred to B5 different restitution programs is 

reported in this paper. The major findings are summarized below. 

1. 'An estimated B.4 to B.B percent of the youths referred to the 

restitution projects reoffend during the time they are under the auspices 

4t of the projects. The average amount of time spent in these programs 

• 

4t 

• 

is 6.2 months. 

2. The likelihood of reoffending is higher for youths who had a 

history of prior criminal acts than for first offenders. The proportion 

expected to reoffend within six months of referral is six percent for 

first offenders, ei~ht percent for youths with one prior offense, nine 

percent for those with t~~ priors, and 13 percent for those with three 

or more prior offenses. 

3. The likelihood of reoffending is not related to the seriousness 

of the immediate offense. Youths committing the more serious offenses 

were no more likely to reoffend than those committing minor offenses. 

4. An analysis of the relationship between reoffenses and the 

sex, race, and age of the youths revealed only minor differences and no 

differences substantial enough or consistent enough to warrant concern 

in terms of program operation. 

5. There were some ci=fe~ences in the reoffense ra~es 0= youths 

in different income categories with the persons in the lower income 

4t groups reoffending at a rate of about eight to ten percent in six months 

compared with reoffense rates of seven to eight percent for persons in 

the higher income groups. 

6. Youths attending school on a regular basis are slightly less 

1 
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likely to reoffend than those who are not in school. The six month reoffense 

rate of the former is 7.5 percent compared with nine percent of the 

latter group. 

7. Comparisons of the reoffense rates for youths under three different 

types o~ sanctions from the juvenile court were undertaken. Juveniles 

for whom restitution was the sole sanction reoffended at a rate of 5.7 

percent in six motlths; those with restitution plus probation as the 

disposition reoffended at a rate of 8.1 percent in six months; and those 

with restitution and suspended commitments reoffended at an even higher 

~ate--13.2 percent in six months. This relationship could be due to the 

• 

• 
fact that youths with suspended commitments tend to be more serious offenders 

than those who are on sole sanction restitution. Even though controls 

for prior offenses did not diminish the observed relationship, more 

analysis should be undertaken before drawing any definitive conclusion 

about the relationship between reoffending and the juvenile court 

disposition. 

2 

• 

• 

• 
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INTRODUCTION 

This paper contains preliminary information about the frequency and 

tI type of offenses committed by juveniles who were participating in a 

restitution program for juvenile offenders at the time the offense 

was committed. The analysis includes an examination of the reoffense 

patterns, controlling for time at risk, for more than 9,000 juvenile 

'41 offenders referred to restitution programs funded by the Office of 

Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention (OJJDP).l 

• 

• 

The first grants for the juvenile restitution programs were issued 

in September, 1978, and most of the 85 projects were operative by 

mid-1979. 2 Referrals to these programs between January, 1979 and April~ 

1980 are included in. this analysis. The specific objectives of this 

report are: 

1. To describe the reoffense rate of juveniles in the restitution 

projects and to estimate the eventual proportion of referrals who can be 

expected to reoffend while in the restitution projects; 

2. To estimate the probability of reoffending for groups or 

individuals who have been in the project for different lengths of time; 

and, 

3. To determine whether differences in the characteristics of 

juvenile offenders are related to differences in the probability of 

reoffending while under the auspices of the restitution projects. 

One of the major goals of the federal initiative was to encourage 

tI local juvenile C0urts to use court ordered restitution and/or community 

tI 

tI 

\' 

service as dispositional alternatives for the more serious offenders 

in the community and, thereby, to reduce the incarceration rates for 

these youngsters. 3 Among the many issues raised by the inclusion of 

3 
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s~rious offenders in the target population was whether serious offenders 

would reoffend at an unacceptably high rate, thereby damaging the 

credibiiity of the restitution projects. For this reason, one of the • purposes of the report will be to compare the reoffense patterns of serious 

juvenile offenders with less serious offenders in order to determine 

wnether differences in seriousness are associated with differences in the 

reoffending rates. 

Other characteristics of juvenile offenders--age, gender, race, • 
family income, and so on--will be examined in relation to the probability 

of reoffending in order to describe the characteristics of youths who 

are most (and least) likely to reoffend. A final portion of the report 

includes a very preliminary assessment of the relationship between the • 
degree of court control over the juvenile and the reoffense rate. In 

this analysis, comparisons will be made among three groups: 1) those 

ordered to pay restitution who also were placed on suspended commitment, 

2) those ordered to pay restitution who are on normal probation, and • 
3) those ordered to pay restitution as a sole sanctio~. 

This study differs in several significant ways from most other 

research and evaluation repor~s on delinquency programs. First, the 

report does not ·include a comparison of the effectiveness of restitution • 

programs with nonrestitution alternatives but, instead, examines one 

indicator of the effectiveness of restitution--reoffense rates--for 

several subgroups of juveniles under several different program conditions. 4 

Second, the measure of program effectiveness used here is in-program • reoffending rather than the more familiar post-release measures of 

recidivism. 

Third, the evaluation report has been prepared approximately midway 

• 4 
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through the restitution initiative rather than after the conclusion of 

.the program. This approach has many advantages in the sense of providing 

timely information to program managers but it permits only a short follow-

up period and the findings must be viewed as preliminary and tentative 

rather than final. 

The somewhat unusual aspects of the evaluation present a number of . 

complex conceptual and methodological issues that will be dealt with in 

• the next two sections of the paper. Following a discussion of these 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

issues, the overall in-program revffense rate for the initiative will 

be presented. The fourth· section contains the reoffense rates, controlling 

for time at risk, of various subgroups in the initiative. 

5 
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IN-PROGRAM REOFFENDING .AS A MEASURE OF PROJECT PERFORMANCE 

It is generally acknowledged that the primary purpose of evaluation 

research is to produce knowledge which can be used to guide policy 

decisions and it is equally well recognized that many evaluations--

including both "outcome" and "process" approaches--fall short of this 

goal. 

Outcome evaluations, such as those that focus exclusively on long-

term recidivism rates, have been criticized on the grounds that they do 

not produce useful information during the time when most of the critical 

programmatic decisions are being made. In addition, some have argued 

that treatment effects may wear off as more time elapses during the 

• 

• 

• 

follow-up period and the impact of the program will be underestimated.
S 

• 

Another criticism of evaluations that focus exclusively on longer-term 

recidivism rates is that the linkage mechanisms between treatment and . 

recidivism are not examined. It is risky and perhaps invalid to 

attribute responsibility for client recidivism (or the lack of .it) to • 
treatment programs without an understanding of the linkage between 

treatment, client attitudes and behaviors while in the project, and later 

client behavior. 

Process evaluations that are limited to descriptions of project • 
operation and/or to quantitative data on activity levels (such as the 

number of clients) also can be criticized as irrelevant to most kinds of 

policy decisions other than those having to do with the competence of 

project managers. In particular, these kinds of process evaluations • are not useful for diagnosing the appropriateness of various project 

components or for analyzing the effects of treatment on different kinds 

of clients. 

6 • 
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No effort will be made here to argue that studies of in-program 

reoffending should replace either the longer-term follow-up studies of 

client recidivism or the more descriptive approaches to process evaluation. 

We will argue, however, that there are substantial payoffs from studies 

of in-program reoffending and that these kinds of studies should become 

a ~tandard part of· the evaluatio~ model for delinquency prevention 

programs. 

Value of In-Program Reoffense Studies 

One of the most obvious advantages of using in-program reoffending, 

rather than post-release recidivism, as a measure of project performance 

is that data on in-program reoffending are available shortly after 

program start-up and,analysis can proceed in time to be of value in 

shaping project operations. Analysis of the probability of reoffending 

for various subgroups of juveniles, for example, should provide program 

managers with a useful diagnostic tool. By identifying subgroups with 

special needs and wit.h higher than normal likelihood of reoffending, 

program personnel can target their resources and efforts more intensely 

on the high risk youths. Analysis of the relationship between program 

components or operating procedures and the risk of reoffending can point 

to needed modifications and/or to ways of reallocating resources in order 

to reduce the reoffense rate. 

Treatment programs generally are viewed as more directly accountable 

for youths currently under their supervision than for youths who have 

• already passed through the program. Thus, in-program failure rates 

should be monitored carefully and continually in order to serve as an 

early warning device. Programs with unacceptably high reoffense rates can 

be modified or abandoned. 

• 7 
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It should be emphasized that in-program reoffending alone is not 

a 'sufficient device for a~sessing program performance and impact. Rather, 

it is one of several measures of program performance that should be 

analyzed on its own merits. 

The value of' studying in-program reoffending would be greatly 

enhanced if 1) all delinquency prevention programs measured reoffending , 

and did so in a manner that permits comparison acros~ programs, and 

2) studies relating in-program reoffending to longer-term recidivism 

rates were undertaken. 

The first point above is not simply wishful thinking, although 

difficulties inherent in achieving comparability are considerable.' 

Process evaluations often are limited to qualitative examination of 

program components and/or quantitative analysis of activity levels on 

the grounds that the project does not have the resources to engage in 

long-term follow-up. Data on in-program reoffending (and other similar 

types of short-term performance measures) are not expensive to collect 

and do not require a long-term commitment. 

The second point mentioned above--the need for studies linking 

in-program reoffending to longer-term performance measures--is important 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

in order to give the proper areQunt of weight to the results from studies • 

utilizL.g in-program reoffending or other kinds of shc~t-term measures. 

If in-program reoffending is highly predictive of long-term recidivism 

rates, then considerable weight could ,be given to the results from an 

evaluation report produced during the life of the project. ,As noted 

previously, a common criticism of evaluation research is that the results 

are not known at the time they are needed for shaping project operations. 

It seems imperative that evaluators seek methods to shorten the amount of 

8 
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time that elapses between program start-up and the first reports of pre-

liminary results from the evaluation. Analysis of in-program reoffense 

• rates is one step in that dir>ection. 

Previous Studies of Reoffending 

There has been little reported analysis of in-program reoffending 

in' community treatment or delinquency prevention evaluations. When in-». program recidivism rates are reported, it often is only parenthetically 

and the important issues surrounding measurement and interpretation of 

the rates are treated in a cursory manner. In-program reoffending does 

not appear to have been used very often as a measure of program perfor-

• mance, nor as a linkage variable between treatment program characteristics 

and future recidivism. 

It has not been possible to find reports of the reoffending rates 

in other delinquency programs that could be used to establish a standard 

of comparison or benchmark for assessing the in-program reoffending • rate of the juvenile restitution programs. A study by Pond (1970), 

for example, reports a reoffense rate of 75 percent over the course of 

15 months of project involvement whereas a study by Empey and Erickson 

(1974) reports a reoffense rate of 48 percent for a program thclt had an 

• average length of follow-up of about 12 weeks. The considerable 

variation not only in the reoffense rate but in the length of follow-up 

is, alone, reason to forego ~ttempting to compare these programs with 

restitution. In addition, and perhaps even more important, the character-

• istics of youths involved in other progr~~s and the methods of assessing 

in-program reoffending vary so greatly as to make all comparisons across 

programs meaningless at this time. Community treatment programs for 

juveniles differ in terms of the seriousness of offenders, the length 

• 9 
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of exposure to treatment, the intensity of supervision, and so on. 

Data on failure rates will'vary depending on the way reoffending 

is measured, the selection of c~ntrol variables to adjust for differences 

when comparing subgroups within programs, the method of dealing with 

program dropouts, and, for programs still in progress, the method of 

de.aling with cases not yet terminated from treatment. 

Data and Measurement Issues 

Reoffense data for this paper are taken from management information 

system (MIS) forms completed for each y~utrt by restitution project staff 

at 'che t;me a youth is terminated from a restitution project. 6 These 

forms are forwarded to IPA on a regular basis for editing, processing, 

and analysis. The reoffense variable is derived from an item which asks 

whether the youth had any ne~ juvenile court contacts since program 

intake for a new offense and, if so, for what offense. If a youth had 

more than one recontact (an extremely rare event) or if the recontact 

is part of a multiple charge, the most serious offense is coded. 

ProbRtion violations, which constitute about five percent of the 

recont~cts, were counted as reoffenses. Al~~ough their inclusion is 

debatable, it generally is. believed that new offenses are a common reason 

for the probation officer to return the case to court as a probation 

violation. Furthermore, inclusion of these "offenses" is a conservative 

approach because it produces a slightly higher reoffense rate. 

The use of court recontact as a measure of in-program reoffending 

raises several concerns. In measuring reoffenses, there are a wide 

range of options and studies have varied from those using self report 

data to those using incarceration for a new offense.
7 

While the measure 

used in a partic1J.lar study should depend upon the research questions 

10 
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being asked, it is generally recognized that the closer the researcher 

can get to a me "sure of the actual delinquent behavior, the better the 

measureinent will be. In the absence of self report data from all 85 

restitution sites and given the practical restraints on obtaining police 

arrest inforIna'tion since the projects generally do not have access to 

PQlice records, court contact data seemed to afford the least contamination. 

One major source of error in the use of court contact data is in 

making comparisons across projects. There may be a great deal of 

variation among jurisdictions in standards for re-referral to the court 

for an offense or probation violation. And, projects may vary in the 

extent of knowledge they have about new contacts with the court. Thus, 

cross-site comparisons should be made with great caution and are not 

presented in this report. 

Neither the number of multiple recontacts nor the seriousness of 

recontacts are included as part of the dependent variable in the analysis. 

Number of contacts adds texture and power to group comparisons, but it is 

not as relevant in the restitution initiative because one reoffense 

generally is grounds for termination from initiative projects. Seriousness 

of return offenses is not incorporated into the dependent variable due 

to the measurement and methodological problems involved.
8 

TWO additional measurement issues pertain to the procedures for 

handling cases that have not yet closed anc the method 0= dealing with 

program dropouts. Those reoffenders whose cases have not yet closed are, 

of course, generally unknown to us at this time. The estimation procedures, 

explained in the next section, are based on the expected probability of 

reoffending and the expected probability that a case will be "at risk" 

(i.e., open, rather than closed, =or each 0= many time lags beyond referral 

11 
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date). This technique permits us to use cases that have closed for 

estimates of the expected-reoffending rates of the open cases. As 

mentioned before, cases generally are closed whenever a new offense occurs. 

Thus, there is no lengthy time lag between reoffending and case closure 

that could confound the analysis. 

Lerman (1970)·, Empey and Erickson (1974), and others have criticized 

some research on reoffense rates because of an exclusion of cases that did 

not complete the treatment. Exclusion of these cases is generally believed 

to bias the reoffense rates so that they favor the program being evaluated. 

-rn the restitution initiative, all cases that are referred to the program 

either are open (active) cases, or are closed cases. Program "dropouts" 

are in the latter category and are included in the analysis. 

A crucial problem in interpreting in-program recontact rates centers 

on the methods (if any) used to control for variation in exposure to 

treatment or "time at risk." Some studies report in-program reoffense 

• 

• 

• 

• 

rates with no apparent attempt to account for differences in risk time. 9 • 

Others adjust the mean delinquency _scores for comparison groups depending 

on average time at risk for the group, and still other studies have used 

a total group estimate based on the number of offenses per group divided 

by the total time of exposure of each group to treatment. lO Because • 

of the centrality of this issue in providing proper measurement and 

interpretation to reoffense rates, it ~ill be discussed extensively in 

the next section. 

• 
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ALTERNATIVE METHODS FOR ANALYZING REOFFENSE DATA 

Certain.characteristics of the reoffense data from the restitution 

projects make the analysis of reoffending a relatively complex procedure. 

In particular, the referrals to the projects are observed (tracked) only 

until the case is closed and case closures occur at variable lengths of 

time beyond referral. Some cases close within one month of referral and, 

therefore, are tracked for only one month. Youths whose cases close 

within the first month have only one month of "time at risk." Some cases 

close two months after referral, some three, and so on. A small proportion 

of the cases are still open after 15 months beyond the referral date. The 

second "problem is that this analysis is being conducted before all the 

cases have closed. Referrals from January, 1979 through April, 1980 are 

included in the analysis. Thus, the length of follow-up varies on the 

open cases, as well as the closed ones. (More information on referrals, 

closures, and tracking time is in Appendix A.) 

Total Group Reoffense Rates 

One of th~ purposes of the analysis is to describe the in-program 

reoffending rate for the total group of juveniles referred to restitution 

projects, but there are serious problems in obtaining unbiased estimates 

of the total g~oup reoffense rate prior to the time when all cases have 

closed. For example, the in-program reoffending rate could be calculated 

by dividing the total number of youths who have reoffended by the total 

number of referrals to the programs. For the restitution initiative 

there have been 9,255 referrals from January, 1979 through April, 1980 

and·504 of them had reoffended by the end of April, 1980. This is a 

"reoffense rate" of 5.5 percent. 

13 



300 

Although commonly used, this calculation is highly inappropriate 

for the restitution initiative •. All cases have not yet closed and this 

measure'of reoffending does not·take "time at risk" into consideration. 

If the reoffense rate for the initiative were calculated this way, it 

would increase from one month to the next simply because more youths 

haye been "at risk~1 for a longer period of time in each subsequent month. 

The total amount of person-days of risk time increases each month, as do 

the number of offenses, even when the number of individuals remains 

constant. Unless the amount of time at risk is taken into consideration, 

~e in-program reoffense rate will be underestimated until all cases 

actually have been closed by the projects included in the inititative. 

Another procedure is to consider only the cases that actually have 

closed and to calcul~te the reoffense rate as the proportion of all 

~ cases which were closed with a subsequent referral to the juvenile 

court. In the current data, there have been 504 offenses committed by 

the 5,202 juveniles whose cases have been closed--a reoffense rate of 9.7 

:?ercent. This procedure also will ~ield biased and unstable estimates 

of the reoffense rate until all cases actually have been closed by the 

programs because of the fact that a reoffense usually is sufficient 

cause to justify closing a case prior to its normal termination time. 

Thus, the proportion of c'losed cases that close because of a reoffense 

\\'ill be too high, especially for recent referral months which have had 

very short follow-up periods. 

In addition to these kinds of problems, a calculation that does not 

take time at risk into consideration will net generate useful data for 

comp,aring the restitution initiative to other progr~~s which have different 

average amounts of time under program jurisdiction. And, comparisons 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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within the restitution initiative of individuals or groups will be 

meaningless unless the amount of time at risk is the same for the persons 

or groups that are being compared. It is known, for example, that serious 

offenders tend to spend more time in restitution projects than do the 

less serious offenders. Thus, the serious offenders have had more 

op~ortunity to reoffend and comparisons of their reoffense rates with 

those of less serious offenders are not interpretable unless time at 

risk has been controlled or held constant in some manner. Similarly, 

comparisons of the reoffense rate of the restitution initiative with other 

OJJDP programs is not appropriate unless the other programs have the 

same average amount of time in the program as do restitution referrals or 

It unless time at risk is controlled in the analysis of the data. 

An analogy to these kinds of problems can be found at the individual 

level when the analysis treats reoffending as a dichotomous variable, 

with each individual receiving a score either of zero (nonoffender, for 

example) or one (offender). When the individuals have not been at risk 

for the same amounts of time, the dichotomous scoring system has serious 

deficiencies. A score of zero (nonoffender), for example, might be given 

to all nonoffenders, including those who were observed for one month and 

those who were tracked for 12 or 15 or even 24 months. Clearly, youths 

who were at risk for 24 months and did not reoffend should be considered 

to have "done better" than youths who were at ris}; for only one month 

and did not reoffend. Similarly, juveniles who reoffend the first day 

should not be considered equivalent to juveniles who reoffend after 2~ 

months of crime-free time. ll 

There are several different techniques that can be used to control 

for differences in time at risk but the fundamental task is to identify 

15 

79-489 0-81-20 



302 

the probability of reoffenses occurring within one month, two months, 

three months, and so on. For example, suppose the researcher established 

that the probability of reoffending was .10 for juveniles who were at 

risk for six months and was .15 for juveniles who were at risk for nine 

months. A project with an average time at risk of six months and a 

repffense rate of .10 would be equivalent to another project with an 

average time at risk of nine months and a reoffense rate of .15. It is 

the establishment of these types of equivalencies that would permit 

comparison of projects, or groups within projects, when differences exist 

in the amount of time at risk. 

If suitable estimates of the probability of reoffending, per unit 

of time, can be developed, these could be used to adjust individual-level 

reoffense scores as a function of the amount of time the youth was at 

risk. And, if such estimates were available, it would be possible to 

predict the proportion of the referrals expected to reoffend while in the 

restitution projects simply by combining information on the probability 

of reoffending within one month, tW9 months, three months, and so forth 

with estimates of the probability that the case will be a~ risk for one 

month, two months, three months, and so on. 

Several of the techniques that could be used to develop estimates of 

the probability of reoffending, as a function of time, are discussed below. 

Cumulative Probability of Reoffending 

One procedure that could be used to estimate the extent of in-program 

reoffending, per unit of time, is an elaboration of the methodology 

Berecochea (1972) called "survival cohort" analysis. This technique is 

similar to the one used by witte and Schmidt (1979). 

The data in Table 1 show the probability of reoffending during each 
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TABLE 1. CUMULATIVE PROBABILITY OF REOFFENDING
1 

Months Number Number of Reoffense Cumulative 

• Beyond of Cases Offenses Rate Probability of 
Referral at Risk. Committed for t Reoffending 

(t) in ~ in ~ (P T (P
t

) 
m 

% % 

< 1 9,255 71 .77 (1.53) .77 • 1-2 8,156 105 1.29 2.06 

2-3 6,473 94 1.45 3.51 

3-4 4,931 86 1. 74 5.25 

4-5 3,572 40 1.12 6.37 

• 5-6 2,713 47 1.73 8.10 

6-7 1,988 24 1. 21 9.31 

7-8 1,441 9 .62 9.93 

8-9 1,078 15 1. 39 11. 32 

• 9-10 799 4 .50 11.82 

10-11 594 3 .50 12.32 

11-12 415 3 .72 13.04 

12-13 214 2 .93 13.97 

13-14 120 1 .83 14.80 

14-15 42 0 .00 14.80 

15-16 _.--ll --..Q .00 14.80 

Totals 37,186 504 

1The number of cases at risk during each time unit is L~e number of open 
cases. The first time unit encompasses only two weeks. T"ne reoffense 
rate, l?m' is interpreted as the probability of reoffending in a particular 
time unit such as durina month 12-13. T.~e cumulative probability of 
reo~fending, Pt. i~rpreted as the probability of having reoffended 
at any time from referral to a particular time unit. 
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month beyond the month of referral for juveniles in the restitution 

~nitiative. The first column shows time lag since referral. In the 

second column of Table 1 are the number of juveniles actually at risk 

during the month shown in the row. The number of offenses committed by 

the juveniles during each month is shown in the third column. The 

pr~bability of reoffending during each month (Pm) is shown in the fourth 

column and is calculated by dividing the ~umber of offenses by the number 

of juveniles "at risk" during each time lag: 

P 
m 

k m 

N 
m 

v/here: P 
m 

k 
m 

N 
m 

Probability of reoffending during 
the time unit m (such as month 
one or month sIx) 

Number of offenses committed during 
the time unit m 

Number of juveniles "at risk" during 
the time unit m 

The probability of reoffending begins at less than one percent for 

the two week time period just beyond referral. When corrected to a 

monthly rate, this is 1.53 percent.' The probability of reoffending, per 

month, follows 'a relatively uneven pattern between one and 1.75 percent 

per month unti'l about nine months after referral at which time it seems 

to drop rather substantially only to rise again (to .93) at the twelfth 

month. The figures for later months are, of course, based on ccnsiderably 

fewer cases than in the early months. Furthermore, the cases were thOSe 

referred to the restitution projects in early 1979 at a time when not all 

of the projects were operative. Thus, part of the apparent unevenness in 

the data is "noise" produced by the nature of the initiative and the 

inherent problems in ccllecting these kinds of data from the projects. 

In the last column of Table 1 the cumUlative proportion of juveniles 
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reoffending is shown. These figures show the proportion of juveniles 

who would be expected to have reoffended by each succeeding time lag if 

all cases had been at risk through that time lag. The cumulative figure 

4t also represents the probability of reoffending for any particular juvenile 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

if his or her case remains open for that length of time. For example, 

th~ estimated probability of reoffending for cases that are open for three 

months is .035; the estimate climbs to .0931 for cases open through the 

sixth month beyond referral and to almost .15 for cases open 13 to 16 

months beyond referral. The estimated probability of reoffending for 

juveniles whose cases have been open for varying lengths of time can be 

expressed as follows: 

m 
l: P

mi i=l 
Where: 

P . 
ml. 

The estimated probability of 
reoffending if "at risk" for 0 to t 
amount of time (such as one month, 
two months, 15 months) 

The estim~ted probability of 
reoffending in month one, month two, 
month 15, etc. 

The estimated proportion expected to reoffend by each time lag is 

graphed in Figure 1. 

The Stollmack-Harris Model 

Another method for estimating the probability of reo::fencing--per 

unit of time--has been developed by Stollmack and Harris (1974). Their 

model draws upon failure-rate analysis from operations research and is 

expressed in th& following form: 

Where: Pt Probability of failure during the 
time interval 0 to t 

a = The failure rate 

t Number of months at risk 

19 
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The value of ~ is calculated by summing the offenses and then 

dividing by the total number of days at risks (or months, years, or other 

time unit). The time at risk actually is the number of "person days" 

(or "person years"). For example, one juvenile who is in a restitution 

project for 365 days contributes 365 days "at risk" to the total. In a 

similar way, 365 juveniles, each of whom spent only one day in a 

restitution project, contribute 365 days at risk to the total. An 

estimated yearly reoffense rate can be calculated utilizing cases that 

have been tracked for only one day or one month. The formula for 

calculating ~ is: 

k 
a a 

k 

N 
1 

N 
2 

The failure rate 

Number of offenses in the group 

NU1lIber of "person days" betl.'een 
referral and failure for those who 
fail 

Numbe: of "person days" between 
referral and follow-up for those 
who have not failed 

The figures needed to calculate reoffense rates using the Stollmack-

Harris procedures are shown in Table 2. The last column of the Table 

shows the estimated probability of failure at each time lag beyond 

referral, fo= cases that \o.~e=e "at risk tl u;: to each particular time lag. 

For cases that were at risk fo: less than o~e mo~~h (row one), the 

probability of failure is less than one percent (.68 percent); the 

probability of failure for cases remaining open for two months is 1.35 

percent. For cases that remain open through the sixth month, the 

probability of failure is estimated to be 7.81 percent and rises to 

about 15 percent for cases open a full year. 
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Months 
Beyond 

Referral 

< 1 

1-2 

2-3 

3-4 

4-5 

5-6 

6-7 

7-8 

8-9 

9-10 

10-11 

11-12 

12-13 

13-14 

14-15 

15-16 

Totals 

TABLE 2. 

Number of 
Offenses 

at Each. Lag 

·71 

105 

94 

86 

40 

47 

24 

9 

15 

2 

1 

o 

o 

P
t 

= l-e -at a = .0136 
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STOLLMACK-HARRIS REOFFENSE RATE FOR ALL REFERRALS
l 

Cumulative Cumulative 
Number of Number of Risk Time 
Offenses Open Canes in Months 

71 9,255 4,627 

176 8,156 12,783 

270 6,473 19,256 

356 4,931 24,187 

396 3,572 27,759 

443 2,713 30,472 

467 1,988 32,460 

476 1,441 33,901 

491 1,078 34,979 

495 799 35,778 

498 594 36,372 

501 415 36,787 

503 214 37,001 

504 120 27,121 

504 42 37,163 

504 23 37,186 

504 37,186 

Estimated 
Failure

2 
Rate (~) 

(.0153) 

(.0138) 

(.0140) 

(.0147) 

(.0143) 

(.0145) 

(.0144) 

(.0140) 

( .0140) 

(.0136) 

(.0137) 

( .0136) 

(.0136)' 

(.0136) 

(.0136) 

(.0136) 

.0136 

Probability 
of Failure 

(P
t

) 

.68 

2.67 

3.98 

5.28 

6.55 

7.81 

9.05 

10.28 

11.46 

12.68 

13.85 

15.01 

16.15 

17.28 

18.40 

IThe Stollmck-Harris failure rate (i.e.,. the value of ~) is calculat.ed by dividing ~,e 
cumulative number of reoffE"nses by the cumulative time at risk, utilizin; all 0: the 
available data. In the Table, the m:::Jnth 0 lag beyond re!erral is calculated as .5 of 
a m::::mth. 

2m this column are the estimates of the failure ra~e ~ ut.ilizing only the data 
available at the time lag shown in each row. For example, using only the data 
available at the end of the month in which the cases were refe:::red (month 0), the 
estimated failure rate is .0153. Using only the cata available at three months 
beyond referral (month ':), the estimated failure rate is .0147. After the full 
follow-up, the estimated failure rate is .0136. 
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The chief criticism of this technique for estimating reoffense 

probabilities is that the method assumes the probability of failure is 

the same during the first month beyond referral as it is for the second, 

• third, fourth, and all subsequent months. If this assumption is correct, 

then all individuals eventually will fail if one forecasts far enough 

"into the future. Stollmack and Harris point out that there are ways of . 

testing whether the assumption of a constant failure rate is appropriate 

• for the data and there are a number of techniques ~'hich could be used to 

decrease the failure rate ~ as a function of time, if it were necessary 

to do so. 

The Maltz-McCleary Model 

• Maltz and McCleary (1977) developed a model for the analysis of 

recidivism data which does not assume that all individuals eventually 

will fail. Their model contains two parameters to ~e estimated from 

the data: E which is the estimated proportion of all referrais who 

• ultimately will reoffend and a which is a parameter expressing the speed 

• 

• 

of failure. The formula is: 

-at r(l-e ) Probability of failure during the 
time interval 0 to t 

r Proportion of incividuals who 
ult.imate1:· y;ill fail 

a The speed of failure 

In contrast to the Stollmack-Harris approach, the estimation 

procedures for ~ and r are not simple and "the resulting values do not 

have a straightforward substantive interpretation. The formulae for a 

and rare: 
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-1 (au) - au -1-(e - 1) = t / u Where: u The maximum follow-up time 

k The total number of 
failures 

t The average time to 
failure for those who fail 

k r = ____ _ 

As in the Stollmack-Harris model, the parameter ~ governs the height 

of the curve but it is not interpretable as the probability .that a juvenile· 

will reoffend within a designated time unit (such as, from referral to 

three months). Rather, the value of a reflects the probability that a 

juvenile who reoffends will do so within a particular time unit. The 

Stollmack-Harris model also has one other important advantage over the 

Maltz-McCleary approach: the latter requires the same amount of follow-up 

time for all cases in the analysis whereas Stollmack-Harris utilize all 

the cases, regardless of how short or long the follow-up has been. 

Th~ Maltz-McCleary model has been used to generate estimated reoffense 

probabilities for juveniles in the restitution initiative and the results 

are shown in Table 3. 

The total time between re=erral and reoffense, for those who fail, 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

is 1,444.5 months. The average time to failure (t) is 1,444.5 divided • 

by 504 offenders which equals 2.87 months. ~~e value of k (number of 

offenses) has to be estimated from the raw data because of the fact that 

the Maltz-McCleary technique requires that all cases be tracked for the 

same length of time--a situation which does not exist with these data. • 

However, the raw data from the restitution initiative can be used ts 

generate the probability of reoffending at each particular time lag 
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TABLE 3. ~lALTZ-McCLEARY ESTn!llT.E:5 OE' REOE'E'ENDING
1 

Month 
Beyond 

Referral 

.5 

1 

2 

3 

4 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

II 

12 

13 

14 

15 

Total 

Number of 
Offenses 

71 

105 

94 

86 

40 

47 

24 

lS 

o 

o 

S04 

Time' to 
Reoffend 

35.5 

105 

188 

258 

160 

23S 

144 

63 

120 

36 

30 

33 

24 

13 

0 

0 

1,444.S 

t = 1,444.5 / S04 2.87 

k = (.148) (9. 2SS) = 1,370 

Reoffense 
Rate (P

t
) 

2.31 

4.26 

7.31 

9.48 

11.03 

12.14 

12.93 

13.49 

13.90 

14.18 

14.39 

14.S3 

14.64 

14.71 

14.77 

1';.81 

u = lS 

-at 
P t = r(l-e) 

r = .1490 
a = .3371 

IThe value of a and r were found utilizing f.cT.Iii.ulae and prog:.-amming developec by 
Jerry Eagle of the Institute of Policy Analysis (see Appendix .h). 'rne "time to 
reoffend" figures are the produc't of the fiOr.~hs beyond rEfe::-ral anc the nUIt'ber of 
offenses. The value of k is an estimate, basee on the r&\o.' data, 0: the pro:Jortion 
expected to reoffend by Is months if all cases were open and tracked for 15- moths. 
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beyond referra~ (the value of Pm discussed previously) and, from these 

figures, the value of P
t 

(the probability of reoffending between time 

zero and each future time point) can be determined. The probability of 

reoffending, if,all cases were tracked through 15 months beyond referral, 

is expected to be .148 and, therefore, the estimated value of k is 

.148 x 9,255 = 1,370 offenses. 

The values of u (15), t, and k constitute the input data for calculat

ing the values of ~ and E. A program, for the Hewlett-Packard 33 hal.d 

calculator, bas been written by Jerry Eagle of the'Institute of Policy 

Analysis and is described in Appendix A. 

The third column of Table 3 shows the probability of reoffending 

• 

• 

• 

(Pt ) at each time lag beyond referral--utilizing the Naltz-NcCleary model. • 

Comparing the Three Nethods 

The data in Figure 2 show the estimated probability of reoffending 

generated by each of the three techniques for measuring the reoffense 

rate of juveniles in the restitution initiative. The solid line in 

Figure 2 shows the estimated reoffense probability based on the cumUlative 

proportions of the raw data from the initiative. It should be recalled 

that even though these figures are based on "raw data" they, too, are 

estimates of the likelihood that a juvenile would reoffenc if his/her 

case remains in the initiative for one month, two months, and so on up 

to 15 months. The estimate is produced by cumulating the probabilities 

of reoffending in month one, month two, month three, and so forth. 

The P.altz-NcCleary model does not yield -estimates close to the 

other two procedures. It is based on the average time tc reoffense, for 

those who reoffend, and the proportion who actually have reoffended at 

26 
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the maximum follow-up period. From that data, the rather marked 

curvilinear pattern in Figure 2 is produced. It should be emphasized 

tllat values produced by the Maltz-McCleary method are not clearly 

interpreted as the probability that a juvenile will reoffend by time x. 

The Stollmack-Harris model yields estimates quite similar to the cumulative 

proportion approach. The key parameter in the Stollmack-Harris model is· 

the "failure rate" (the parameter ~) which is found by dividing the total 

number of offenses by the total amount of "person days" of risk time. 

The correlation (r) between the cumulative proportion reoffending and the 

~tollmack-Harris estimates is .98 (Y = 1.90 + .80X, with X being the 

Stollmack-Harris data and Y the cumulative proportion). 

Implications 

Perhaps the major implication of the foregoing discussion is that 

there is no clearly superior method for measuring "the" reoffense rate "for 

juveniles in the restitution initiative. 

The total group reoffense rate (i.e., the proportion of al~ referrals 

who reoffend during their time in the restitution projects disregarding 

time at risk) is of interest but the utility of this information is 

limited strictly to descriptive purposes. The total gro';;: reoffense rate 

of the restitution initiative cannot be compared to other initiatives; 

the rate for one project cannot be compared to that of another; the rate 

for one group cannot be compared with the rate for another group, unless 

time at risk is the same across the aggregations that are being compared. 

Furthermore, the calculation procedures that could be used at a time 

prior to when the bulk of the cases actually have closed contain potentially 

serious biases. 

28 

• 

• 

• 

• 

•• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



315 

TWo of the techniques for estimating the probability of reoffending, 

as a function of time, seem to have considerable promise for resolving 

.. analysis problems at both the individual level and the group level. The 

cumulative proportion reoffending at time lag zero through the maximum 

time. at risk is a potentially useful way of describing the reoffense 

pa~tern for the initiative as a whole as well as for groups within the 

• 

• 

• 

initiative. The cumulative proportion estimates make the fewest assumptions 

about the data and, in a sense, are closer to raw data than are any of 

the other techniques. The cumulative proportions approach does not assume 

a constant failure rate (as do Stollmack and Harris) and does not require 

equal tracking time for all cases (as do Maltz and McCleary). The key 

disadvantage of the cumulative proportion estimates is that the number 

of cases declines rapidly in the longer follow-up periods and, when sub-

groups within the initiative are to be compared with each other, the amount 

of usable data results in only six to eight months of time at risk. 

The chief disadvantage of the Stollmack-Harris method is the assump

tion of a constant failure rate. A.re-examination of column four, Table 1, 

shows that the monthly failure rate appears to be declining with longer 

follow-up periods. Yet, the reader should notice that there are almost 

• 400 cases which are still open as of the twelfth (and later) months in 

the initiative. Undoubtedly, some of these youths will close with a 

reoffense ther(~y pushing the monthly rates up to a level similar to those 

observed in the earlier months. 

• This problem, plus the fact that there is no stable downward trend, 

means that a constant failure rate probably is a better assumption than 

is any other. If the failure rate is not assumed to be constant, then 

we have no good estimate of the pattern which it is following. Further 

• 29 
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buttressing the adequacy of assuming a constant failure rate is the marked 

similarity between the reoffense·rate estimates from the cumulative propor

tion methodology (which does not· assume a constant rate) and the Stollmack

Harris method (Figure 2). For these reasons, the analysis presented in 

subsequent sections will utilize the Stollmack-Harris methodology and, 

wh~n appropriate, will compare the results of it with the cumulative propor

tion estimates. 
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PROJECTIONS OF IN-PROGRAM REOFFENSE RATES 

FOR THE JUVENILE RESTITUTION INITIATIVE 

The estimates of the proportion of juveniles who will reoffend during 

the time they are participating in one of the restitution projects depends 

on two factors: the probability of reoffending if "at risk" for one 

month, two months, and so on; and, the probability of being "at risk" for 

one month, two months, and so on. As explained in the previous section, 

seemingly simple and straightforward ways of calculating the in-program 

reoffense rate are inaccurate because of the fact that not all of the 

cases have been closed. Of the cases that had closed by the end of 

April, 1980, 9.7 percent had reoffended, but this estimate is probably too 

high because reoffen!'iing is sufficient cause to justify early termination 

of a case. Thus, case closures (as of this date) will contain more 

reoffenses than one would expect to find after all the cases have reached 

a normal termination period. 

• Another way of estimating the reoffense rate is to divide the total 

• 

• 

• 

• 

number of offenses by the total number of referrals. This yields a 

reoffense rate· of 5.5 percent--a figure that is too 1m,> because many of 

the cases have not had much follow-up time yet. 

Because of these problems, an alternative technique for estimating 

the in-program reoffense rate will be used. It is based on a relatively 

simple calculation procedure: the number of cases expected to be at 

risk, in each time lag, is multiplied by the proportion of cases expected 

to reoffend in that time period. The sum of these represents the total 

number of referrals expected to reoffend while in the restitution program. 

Two estimates are needed to make the calculation: the proportion of 

cases expected to reoffend and the nQ~er of cases expected to be 
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"at risk" in each time period beyond referral. 

Data needed to estimate the· number of cases at risk, for each time 

period beyond referral, is in Table 4. The first column shows the 

number of youths in the "entry cohort" for each of the different lag times • 

beyond referral. For ~~ample, the group that was tracked for less than 

on~ month beyond referral contained 9,255 cases; the group tracked for 

one month beyond referral originally contained 8,726 cases; the group 

tracked for three months originally contained 7,546 cases; and so on. 

(These figures also are contained in Table 1 of Appendix A.) 

The second column of Table 4 shows the number of cases still in the 

project after each lag time. And, the third column shows the proportion 

of the entry group that are still in the project at each lag beyond 

referral. 

These data are graphed in Figure 3 (the solid line) and a curve has 

been fit to the data in order to smooth it and remove unnecessary error 

variance (the dotted line). (The model used is Y = aebt .) The final 

column in Table 4 shows the predict~d proportion of cases still in the 

program at each time lag beyond referral. 

The second estimate that is needed in order to project the reoffense 

rate is the proportion of cases expected to reoffend at each time lag 

beyond referral. Techniques of estimating the proportion reoffending 

were discussed extensively in the last section and two of these (the 

Stollmack-Harris method and the cumulative proportion method) can be used. 

It should be noted that both techniques generate a reoffense proportion 

• 

• 

• 

• 

pp.r unit of time (the value of~) as well as reoffense ~~oportions for • 

-at time zero to time! (Pt = 1 - e ). For the current e>:srcise, it is 

the value of a that should be used, rather than the value of Pt. 
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TABLE 4. CASE CLOSURE RATES1 

Proportion Predicted. 
Number of Number of of Cohort Proportion • Months Cases In Cases Still Still In Still In 

Since Cohort At In Project Project Project 
Referral Entry At LAG t At LAG t (p ) 

c 

0 9,255 9,255 100 102 

1 8,726 8,156 93.47 87 

• 2 8,130 6,473 79.62 74 

3 7,546 4,931 65.35 63 

4 6,862 3,572 52.05 53 

5 6,269 2,713 43.28 45 

6 5,547 1,988 35.84 38 • 7 4,794 1,441 30.06 33 

8 4,240 1,078 25.42 28 

9 3,584 799 22.29 24 

10 2,933 594 20.25 20 

• 11 2,230 415 1B.6 17 

12 1,424 214 15.0 15 

13 87l 120 13.B 12 

14 417 42 10.1 10.5 

15 197 23 

• 
lThe p!:edicted proportion was found using the formula Pc 

bt The ae 
values of ~~e parameters are ~ = 101.79, b = -.16. T"ne correlation 
with the observed proportion (r) is .99. 

• 
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Calculations needed to develop the reoffense estimates are shown in 

Table 5. The first column contains the eA~ected number of cases at risk 

(Pc) in each time lag; the secorid column contains the Stollmack-Harris 

estimate of the proportion reoffending in each time lag (Pm = .0136 x Pc); 

the third column shows the cumulative proportion estimates of offending 

(P. = .0118 x P ); and the final two columns show the estimated number of 
m c 

youths expected to reoffend ~n each month. (See Appendix A for additional 

details on how the monthly reoffense rate for the cumulative proportion 

method was calculated.) 

A summary of the in-program reoffense rate is in Table 6. The 

Stollmack-Harris model indicates that 780 of the original 9,255 referrals 

eventually will reoffend before their cases are closed by the programs. 

This is a reoffense rate estimate of 8.44 percent. The cumulative 

proportion method indicates that 820 of the original 9,255 youths will 

reoffend prior to case closure for a reoffense rate of 8.86 percent. And, 

as shown in the summary figures of Table 6, the expected average time at 

risk is 6.19 months and the median time at risk is expected to be 4.25 

months. 

Although the estimated in-progr~~ reoffense rate is of considerable 

interest, it is not advisable to compare the reoffense rate of the 

restitution initiative ~ith si~ilar data from other programs ~ecause the 

amount of time ir:. the progra':1s varies consic.e:::-2.!::ly. .L.S discussed pre~;iously I 

programs in which the juveniles spend more time will tend to have higher 

.• in-program reoffense rates than programs in which the youth spend less 

time • 

. In order to compare the restitution initiative with other programs, 

it is necessary to estimate the rate of in-progr~~ reoffending for each 

• 35 
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TABU: 5. ESTI!'A~ IN-PROGRA.'! P.!:O!TE:NSE :RATEl 

Stollmack-
Harris Cumulative 

Expected Predictions Proportion Stollmack- Cumulative • proportion of Proportion Predic:-:.ions Mar-is Proportion 
Months of CUes Reoffending of Reoffendinq Estimates Estimates 
Beyond &t Risk Per IIonth IP ) Per lion:';' IP ) of Offenses of Offenses 

Referral IP
e

) 1.0136 pc)m 1.0118 pc)m 19,255 " Pm) 19,255 " Pm 
+ 9,255 x .0155) 

11(3) 

0 102 .014 .0120 (65) ISS) 

1 97 .012 .01e3 111 95.3 • 74 .010 .0087 92.5 60.5 

3 63 .0096 .00" 79.6 68.5 

53 .0072 .OOEZ 66.6 56.3 

5 45 .0061 .0053 56.5 49 

6 39 .0052 .0045 46.1 41.6 

33 .0045 .0039 41.6 35.1 • 
29 .0036 .0033 35.2 30.5 

9 24 .0033 .0028 30.5 25.9 

10 20 .0027 .0024 25.0 22.2 

11 17 .0023 .0020 21.3 16.5 

12 15 .0020 .001S 16.5 16.6 • 13 12 .0016 .OOl~ 14.E 12.9 

14 10.5 .0014 '.C01:! 12.9 11.1 

15 9.2 .0012 .0011 11.1 10.2 

16 1.9 .0011 .0009 10.2 e.3 

17 6. , .0009 .0006 E.3 7.4 

19 5.7 .00077 .aOC7 7.2 6.S • 19 4.9 .00066 .Oooe- 5.5 5.5 

20 4.1 .0005E .COC: 5.2 4.E 

21 :l.5 .00047 .OOC·..; 4.3 3.7 

22 3.0 .00041 .0004 3.B 3.7 

23 2.6 .00035 .0003 3.2 2.9 

24 . 2.2 .0003 .0003 2.6 2.S • 
Totals 760/9,255 ~ 920/5,255 • 

E." E.86 

lp c re!:ers to the prec.ictec. propcr:.ior:. o! cases rer..aini:1C: open at each -eimo- point 

(Fe. 101. 79 ;.16t). 'l"he Stollt!lack-Herris predictec m.:::ber of offenses is Pea' .... ·here 

!. is the failure rate, pernonth, of .0136. '!'he ctmu!ative propor-=ion predictec nur.6er 

is P co + a ",here .£ is the expectec failure rate, pe= t:lOnth, 0: .0116 and!. is a constant • 0: .0155 (se~ Al'?endi>< k) •• 
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TlIBLE G. SUMMI\RY OF IN-PROGRAM REOFFENSE ESTIMATES AND TIME AT RISK ESTIMATF:S

1 

Stoilmack-llarris 
Expected In-Program 
Rcoffenscs 

Cumulative Proportion 
Expected In-Program 
Reoffenses 

Number of 
Re"ferrals 

9,255 

9,255 

Expected 
Number of 

Offenses 

780 

820 

'Ii Reoffending 

0.40 

8.06 

Average 
Time at Risk 

6.2 Months 

6.2 Months 

Median 
Time at Risk 

4.25 Months 

4.25 Months 

'e< '\' 

"' ••• <~ ~ 

CI.:) 

~ 
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of several different amounts of time at risk. By holding constant the 

amount of time spent in the programs, one can compare the reoffending 

rate of different projects or groups as if each spent the same amount of 

time in the programs. 

The Stollmack-Harris reoffending rate of 1.36 percent per month 

was used to generate estimates of the probability of reoffending for 

time lags of one month, two months, three months, and so on up to 15 

months. The results of this analysis (see Table 7) show that the expected 

reoffense rate is about four percent for programs in which the cases are 

?pen for three months; 7.8 percent if cases are open for six months; and 

slightly more than 15 percent if youths stay in the i~itiative for a year. 

These figures are obtained with the formula Y = l_e-at where ~ is 

the reoffense rate, per month, of .0136 and ~ is the n~1r of months in 

the initiative. This formula is simply a calculation procedure that 

removes cases from the population when the case reoffends. 

For example, the proportion who reoffend in the first month (1.36 

percent) are removed from the population so that, in the second" month, 

98.6 percent of the cases are "at risk" and 1.36 percent of these (1.34 

percent) are expected to reoffend. This, in turn, leaves 97.25 percent of 

the original cohort at risk for the third month. (Hand calculations will 

not exactly reproduce the results obtained from the formula because time, 

in the formula, is treated as a continuous variable.) 

Although the figures in the first column of Table 7 are appropriate 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

for some purposes, it also is useful to calculate the proportion expected • 

to reoffend at different time lags as if reoffenaers were not removed 

from the population when they reoffend (see the second column of Table 7). 

These figures are found by =.ultiplying the monthly reoffense rate of 

• 38 
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TABLE 7. IN-PROGRAM REOPPENSE RATE ESTIHATES 1 
FOR VARIABLE LENGTHS OP TIHE IN THE INITIATIVE 

Number of Months From 
Referral to Closure 

<1 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

Estimated Proportion 
Reoffending (If Cases Close 

Due to Reoffending) 

% 

.68 

1.35 

2.67 

3.98 

5.28 

6.55 

7.81 

9.05 

10.28 

11.48 

12.68 

13.85 

15.01 

16.15 

17.28 

18.40 

Estimated Proportion 
Reoffencing (If Cases Do Not 

Close Due to Reoffending) 

.68 

1.36 

2.72 

4.08 

5.44 

6.80 

8.16 

9.52 

10.88 

12.2~ 

13.60 

H.96 

16.32 

17.68 

19.04 

20.40 

IFigures in the first column are found ~ith the formula Y = l_e-at where a ~ .0136 and 
t is the number of months to closure. Figures in the secone column are found with 
the formula Y = at where ~ ; .0136 and ~ is the nur.~er of months ~o closure. 
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.0136 by the number of months "at risk." 

Proper interpretation of these various reoffense rates is quite 

important. The overall. in-program reoffense rate for the restitution 

initiat.ive is expected to be about eight or nine percent. This figure 

should not be used to compare the restitution projects with any other 

program. however. unless the other program has an average risk time 

equivalent to that of the restitution programs (about 6.2 months) and 

takes similar kinds of juvenile offenders. 

If one wishes to compare the restitution reoffense rate with that 

9f some other program (or with a project within the initiative). the 

data from Table 7 should be used and only if one is confident that the 

• 

• 

• 

types of juveniles c:re relatively equivalent. To compare the initiative • 

with another program which terminates cases as they reoffend. one would 

use the figures in the first column of Table 7. To cc:mpare with a 

program in which cases are not terminated when they reoffend. the figures 

in the second column should be used. 

40 
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COMPARISON OF REC:FFENSE RATES FOR SUBGROUPS 

IN THE JUVENILE RESTITUTION INITIATIVE 

The primary purpose of this section is to compare the expected 

reoffense rates of various subgroups in order to describe the likelihood 

of reoffending for each ,group and to identify the characteristics of the 

high risk,referrals. As has been stressed throughout this paper, the 

• methodology will involve controls for differences in time at risk. Thus, 

• 

• 

group comparisons will be presented in terms of the estimated reoffense 

rates at one month beyond referral, two months, three months, and so on. 

Because average time at risk is about six months, the reof-fense rate at 

six months will be used as an overall summary measure. 

Characteristics of the subgroups included in the analysis are: 

number of prior offenses, seriousness of the offense that led to referral, 

age, race, gender, schoel status, family income, and degree of court 

control over the youth. 

Before turning to these topics, however, it will be useful to present 

a descriptive profile of the types of reoffenses committed by the youths 

and the way in which these reoffenses compare with the entry offense. 

• Description of Reoffenses 

• 

• 

• 

The most common type of reoffense is burglary (see Table 8) follo,,'ed 

by larceny. These two kinds c= of=enses a~e responsible =o~ 45 percent 

of the total reoffenses. The victimless category, with 16.5 percent, is 

the third largest. Approximately one-third of the victimless offenses 

were probation violations (37) and the others are drug, alcohol, traffic, 

runaway,' and other similar kinds of misbehavior. Less than 10 percent 

of the reoffenses are in the highly serious categories of assault 

41 



328 • 
TABLE 8. TYPES OF REOFFENSES

l 

Number of Proportion of All • Type Reoffenses Reoffenses 

'is 

Burglary 143 23.8 

Larceny 129 21.5 

Vandalism 20 3.3 • Auto Theft 49 8.2 

Assault 26 4.3 

Robbery 22 3.7 

Rape 3 0.5 

Ot.her Personal Offenses 14 2.3 

Other Property Offenses 57 9.5 • 
Other Minor Offenses 28 4.7 

Victimless 99 16.5 

Uncodable 10 1.7 

lThe number of offenses in this Table differs from the number in • 
previous Tables because the file was upcated before this computer run. 

• 

• 

• 
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(4.3 percent),' robbery (3.7 percent) and rape (.5 percent). Other personal 

offenses constituted 2.3 percent of the total and other property offenses 

• comprised 9.5 percent of the total. 

The reoffense data has been arranged in Table 9 so that some informa-

tion can be obtained on whether reoffenders are committing offenses more 

or less serious than the offense of referral. Before turning to a discus-

sion of Table 9, however, it should be pointed out that we do not obtain :. 
data on the amount of loss for reoffenses. The lack of information on 

value of loss severely limits the analysis of upward and do",·m:ard movement 

in seriousness from referral to program closure. The data in Table 9, 

therefore, should be viewed mainly as a descriptive overview of reoffend-

• ing patterns within broad referral categories rather than as a rigorous 

analysis of shifts in offense seriousness. 

The data in Table 9 suggest that most reoffenders in the initiative 

,have been returned to court with an offense roug~ly equal in seriousness 

". or less serious than the referral offense. Ranking the offenses in 

order of declining seriousness (using uniform Crime Report standards) 

68.5 percent of the reoffenders had a reoffense roughly equal to or less 

serious than their referral offense. ~!ost youths are more likely to 

• recommit the same kind of offense than they are to commit any other 

particular type. For example, of the burglars .;~o reoffended w~ile in 

the programs, 32 pe~cent co~~~~tec a~othe~ bur~:a~y compared "ith 19 

percent w~o committed a larceny, tWC percent vandalism, and eight percent 

• auto theft. Also, the burglars .,ho reoffended were not very likely to 

commit serious personal crimes as only 8.2 percent of the reoffenses 

were in this category. 

Persons 'Ylho entered the progra~s on larceny con\·ictions were more 

'. 
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.likely to recommit larcenies than any other offense: 29 percent compared 

with the next most common reoffense which was burglary, 21.7 percent. 

•• The reoffense patterns of youths who enter the program with 

convictions on serious personal offenses (assault, robbery, rape) are 

similar: 25 percent of the reoffenses are for serious personal crimes. 

Prior Offenses and Reoffending 

~. Analysis of the in-program ~eoffending rates indicates that reoffenses 

are more common among juveniles who have had a more extensive criminal 

history than among first offenders. 

Youths with no offenses prior to the one that resulted in the 

referral to the restitution program have an estimated monthly reoffe~se 

rate of one percent (see Table lO). The monthly reoffense rate increases 

as the number of prior offenses increases: juveniles with one prior 

have an expected monthly reoffense rate of 1.4 percent; with two priors' 

it increases to 1.65 percent; and those with three or more prior offenses 

have an expected reoffense rate of 2.4 percent per month. 

The monthly rates shown in Table 10 are based on the Stollmack-Harris 

calculations discussed previously. The total "months at risk" of all 

juveniles with no prior offenses, for exarr.ple, is 18,259 months. This is 

divided into the number of offenses committed by youths with no priors 

(184) to produce the monthly rate of one percent. 

A pxoper interpretation of the monthly rate is tha~ this is the 

expected proportion of youths who will reoffend each month in the initiative. 

Thus, the proportion cumulates, over time. Using the Stollmack-Harris 

formula the proportion of youths expected to reoffend at any time between 

J referral and six months of program experience is sho;..'I) in Table 10. \1ith 
T 

no p~ior offenses, the estimated six-mo~th reoffense rate is six percent 

45 
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TABLE 10. REOFFENSE RATES, BY PRIOR OFFENSES 1 

N = 9,365 

Estimated 
Monthly 
Reoffense 
Rate 

Estimated 
Proportion 
Reoffending 
Within 6 Mos. 

No. of 
Referrals 

No. of 
Offenses 

No. of "Youth 
Months" of 
Risk Time 

No 
Priors 

1.0% 

6% 

4,356 
(47%) . 

184 

18,259 

Number of Prior Offenses 

One 
Prior 

1.4% 

8% 

1,921 
(21%) 

119 

8,333 

Two 
Priors 

1. 65% 

9% 

1,089 
(12%) 

78 

4,741 

Three or More 
Priors 

2.4% 

13% 

1,999 
(21%) 

217 

9,033 

lThe monthly reoffense rate estimate is calculated as k/Nt where t 
is the number of offenses and Nt is the number of "youth months" of 
risk time for all referrals. The proportion reoffending within six 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

months is calculated as Y = 1 - e-at where a is the monthly reoffense • 
rate described above and t is set at six mo;ths. (This is the 
Sto1lmack-Harris estimati;n procedure.) Differences shown here are 
significant at the .001 level. 

• 

• 
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but climbs to eight percent and 13 percent for juveniles with three or 

more pr:i-ors. 

The expected reoffense rate for one through 12 months is shown in 

Figure 4. The reader can determine the reoffense rate for any amount of 

time in the initiative--up to 12 months--from Figure 4. Consider, for 

example, the juveniles who remain in the initiative one full year: the 

proportion expected to reoffend is slightly more than 11 percent for those 

with no prior offenses; 16 percent for youths with one prior offense; 18 

percent for those with two priors; and 25 percent for juveniles with three 

or more priors. 

The small number of cases with three, four, five, and six prior 

offenses precluded full analysis of these categories separately from one 

another at this time. However, preliminary examination of these data do 

not reveal substantial differences in the reoffense rates as the numb~r 

of priors increases beyond three (see Table 11). The expected six-month 

4t reoffense rate is 13 percent for juveniles with three or four priors; 15 

4t 

4t 

4t 

4t 

percent for those with five priors; and 14 psrcent for juveniles with 

six or more prior offenses. 

Seriousness of the Referral Offense 

Although youths with a higher number of prior offenses are more likely 

to reoffend, the data do not sho\\~ that yo\.::ths y::to CO~'T':"ttec. IJo!:'e serious 

offenses constitute a g~eater risk 0= reof=encing than do youths with 

less serious offenses. Reoffense rate estimates for juveniles in each 

of several "seriousness" categories are sho,,'!! in Table 12. The expected 

six-month reoffense rates range from a low of ~.3 percent (for minor 

offenses that cannot be classified either as property or as personal) 

to a high of 12.4 percent (for rr~nor personal offenses). 
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TABLE 11. DETAILED BREAKDOWN OF THREE OR MORE PRIOR OFFENSES l 

Estimated 
Monthly 
Reoffense 
Rate 

Estimated 
Proportion 
Reoffending 
Within 6 Mos. 

No. of 
Referrals 

No. of 
Offenses 

No. of "Youth 
Mon"i:hs" of 
P.isk Time 

Three 

2.3% 

13% 

698 

72 

3,111 

Number of Prior Offenses 

Four Five Six or More 

2.3% 2.6% 2.5% 

13% 15% 14% 

411 282 608 

43 34 68 

1,898 1,287 2,732 

lThe monthly reoffense rate estimate is calculated as k/Nt where 
k is the number of offenses and Nt is t,he nUlnber of "youth months" 
of risk time for all referrals. The proportion reoffending 
within six months is calculated as Y = 1 - e-at where a is the 
monthly reoffense rate described above and t is set at-six months. 
(This is the Stollrnack-Harris estimation procedure.) 
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TABLE 12. REOFFENSF. ',!lITES. BV SERIOUSNESS OF REFERRAL OFFENSE 
1 

Hinor Offenses nodcr ... te Serious Sedoua Very Serious Offenses 

Victimlnns General Property Persona} rror~rty Property Personal Property Personal 

Estim"tflrt 
"'onthly 

1.7 0.7 1.6 2.2 1.6 1.4 1.6 1.3 1.3 
n(>nrren5~ 

0",1;0 (1.' 
r.stimntml 
rroportlon 
R(>nrr,.ndlng ~.fi 4. J 0.9 12.4 9.3 a.l 9.0 7.6 1.6 
(.,itldn 6 
tlonthn C\' 

Hn. or 
;Jr,] 154 1,.131 210 2,657 2,771 360 1,656 323 

Rf:'Ccrrn)s 

110. oC Iq 67 19 175 175 26 109 19 
OCCr.ntH'!9 

no. of "Vouth 
'Ionlh~" o[ 1. Dr, 601 4,304 1362 10.730 12.301 1.655 0,256 1,426 
rtlsk 'l'1ml'! 

1 • 
Thr> !Mil! hly rf"Q(fr:oI11;P r;'ll.e cr;tirnntc 19 ci'llcuJ.'ltnc1 m; k/Nt whpH'! Jc: is the numher. oC ofCennc- and Nt:. is the number of 
"youth mf'"th~" of rink I.lmc (or all r ... rcrrnJs. The proportion rrocrl1nrllng wlthin nJx months l!l calcubtcd 80 Y_l_e-at 

",hr.rn ". J:; lhe mpnthly I·(',.,r(~n!'tc r.,tn (lc!tcdhrd a~Ove and tis sr.t at six months. (This is the Sto11rnm:k-ilnrris 
e:;timntion ['toC",llll r.) I)('finition~ (or the: :;r.riou~nosR ca~gorJ.cR arc given below: 

(ll) Vlctimlenn: 1"<":,1",1,,:; lrilCfic ilccldcntR or tickets, stntu!'i of(COr-CR, drugr., alcohol, 9ilrnblin9, prostitution, and 
j;rolmU;;; ·vjol11t Jnl1!t. 

(h) Hinor C~ncrilh "Ioor of{rn~cs not (!~sily claml! fled <13 property or personal, nuch as disorderly conduct. 
(e) ~I~: I\IIY propl'?rt-y 0!Cf10';C with losn/dO'1tf1nl1p. or $10 or less p.xcC"pt bUl:gl11ry .inrl arson. 
((1) Minor rnrsonnl: J1C"nlstillq or oh,.tructing ;:m oeflccr. coercion, hllziog, other similar OCR relrt II offenses. 
C ... , Ii2~i.nt~~~.s.r:~y: nut-qlnrJ"s nod nrsoos wI th loss/dr.ma!]c oC S10 or less nnd nny other type DC {,roperty D(fcnse 

with loss/flnmiuJc or Sl1 to $250. 
tn ~!,!'II!7~err~r,: nl.lYgIOlt'ics "",i i'lrr-on"'l \oo"lth los!l:/{lnm"'lg~ or Sll to $250 anrJ .nny othC!r property offensc will lOGsl 

damAge grCi1tnr tltml $250. 
(q) .Y£EY~~12~~.!?rf"'r;.ty! nt.Jrfj);lrj(,,5 .nnd aCRonR 'With losr./fl.,n,ngc of $250 O~ morc. 
(II' ~r~{!!!!.L!.!:!E!!!I:tl: IIlIilrmf!d rohhN'icn non non0l9grfWatf"',1 w;·'.mll s wit.h los!> or $250 or 105R. 
(1) Y~!:Y_.!!.£!.!.?.!.'2...!!!!~'~!I:'!: tlnilrlTlNl rQhhcrlcs and" non"qqr.avclt.ed i1!':smJJ ls wj lh lOSSCR c)l:cf"'r.rHng S2!iO iUld .,11 OCR pnrt I 

p,..rr.onOll l:'t'il11{,!; Im·lmlioq r';lp", ;1rrnf"'r1 Yohhf"ry. ilqqrllviltc<1 llt:r.mltL 
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Juveniles who committed offenses classified as very serious property 

and, very serious personal have an expected rate of 1.3 reoffenses per 

month and an expected six-month rate of 7.6 percent. Persons committing 

serious property or serious personal offenses have expected six-month 

reoffending rates of 8.1 and 9.0 percent, respectively. These rates are 

not substantially different than those for youths committing minor or 

moderate property offenses (8.9 and 9.3 percent, respectively). 

Figure 5 contains a graph of the reoffense rates for youths whose 

referral offense was a serious or very serious personal offense. (The 

seriousness scale currently being used in this and other analyses does 

not include a category of "moderately" serious personal crimes.) Although 

• the results in Figure 5 should be viewed as preliminary rather than final, 

the current indication is that reoffense rates are somewhat lower for 

juveniles who committed the ~erious pe,sonal offenses. 

A similar pattern, though not as marked, ;,-as found for property 

• offenses (see Figure 6). The probability of reoffending is slightly 

greater for juveniles who committed minor or moderate property offenses 

than it is for those who committed serious and very serious property 

offenses. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Background Characteristics 

A sununary of the est:imatec reo==ense rates by se>:, race, school 

status, age, and income is presentee in ?able 13. Nore detailed inforwa-

tion is contained in Table 14 and in Figu=es 7 through 9. 

Even though tilere are some differences in the proportion expected 

to reoffend across the various categories shown in Table 13, the major 

conclusion from the preliminary analysis is that these types of back

ground characteristics are not related to the probability of committing 

51 
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TABLE 13. 5UM1>L~RY OF ru:CFFE~5E .,ATES, 
BY BACKGROUND CIl<\AACTERIS'l'IC5, CONTROL!.!NG TIME AT RISK

l 

~ 
Male 
Female 

~ 
White 
Non-White 

School Status 

Full-Time 
Not in School 

~ 
14 and Younge::: 
15 
16 
17 or More 

~ 
Less than .6, 000 
.6, 000- $9,000 
.10,000-.13,999 
$H,OOO-$19,999 
$20.000 and More 

One 

\ 
lleoffending 

1.41 
1.26 

1.3& 
1.51 

1.29 
1.57 

1.35 
1.53 
1.39 
1.35 

1.50 
1 •• 3 
1.34 
1.41 
1.17 

'l'hree 

% 

Reoffending 

4.15 
3.71 

4.0 
4.43 

3.80 
4.6 

3.97 
4.48 
4.07 
3.97 

4.40 
5.06 
3.94 
4.14 
3.45 

Months at Risk 

5ix 

.. 
Reoffending 

S.14 
7.28 

7.84 
8.66 

7.45 
8.99 

7.78 
S.76 
7.98 
7 ~ 78 

8.61 
9.86 
1.73 
S.ll 
6.78 

Nine 

.. 
Reoffending 

11.95 
10.72 

11.52 
12.71 

10.96 
13.18 

11.44 
12.85 
n.70 
11.44 

12.63 
14.40 
11.36 
11.92 
9.99 

'rW&lv!! 

Reoffending 

1~.61 
14.03 

15.06 
16.57 

14.34 
17.17 

l~. 96 
16.76 
15.30 
H.96 

16.47 
18.75 
14.85 
15.57 
13.10 

lThe propo:'-:ion reoffencing at each t.irne lag :is calcula't.ed ..... i-th the formula Y '= l-e -at 
where a. :is the reo!fense rate. (.0130) and <: is ~he lrl:lnths at risk:. The: di::!e::-enCe 
i!1 rec?.=encing =0: scn::'lol sta:::.us is st:a=is~ically 5.!.gni!icao.::' (p == ~O.(;. Ncne c! 
the ot:.'ner ci==erenees are si;ni:ica~t e-:. 't-he ~05 level. 
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'subsequent o~~enses. 

The monthly reoffense rates of males and females are quite similar ;. (1.4 percent to 1.3 percent), and, by six months, there is less than one 

percent difference in the expected reoffense rate (8.14 percent for males 

and 7.28 percent for females). Figure 7 shows the expected proportion 

repffending for males and females at each time point beyond referral. As 

mentioned previously, this is interpreted to show the proportion reoffend-

ing if the case remains open for that length of time. Additional informa-

tion on males and females is in Table 14. 

White and non-white youths do not differ substantially in the prob-
, 
" ; ability of reoffending (see Tables 13 and 14 and Figure 8). Non-white 

1. youths have a slightly higher monthly reoffense rate (1.5 to 1.4 percent), 

but by six months there is still less than one percent difference in the 

proportion expected to reoffend (8.66 percent to 7.84 percent), and at 

j' 

t. 
the end of one full year there is a difference of about 1.5 percent 

between the two groups. 

Whether the juvenile is in school or not has some bearing on the 

likel~hood of reoffending but, as with the other social and demographic 

indicato~s, the differences are not siz~le. A~ six months, the expected 

!,. reoffense rate is about 7.5 percent for youths regularly enrolled in 

school and about 9 percent for those who are not in school. (Additional 

i~fo~ation on school status is in Table 14 anc Fi~~re 9.) 

Slight differences in reoffendins are obse~e~ for youths of cifferen~ 

~. ages with the 15-year-olds having the highest probability of co~~itting 

subsequent offenses: a 1.5 percent per Itonth rate ""hien produces an 

e>:pected 8.76 percent reoffense rate by six months (see Table 13). The 

youngest (14 and under) and oldest (17 or more) youths are ec;:ually likely 

55 
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ThBLE 14. DEThILED INFORMhTION ON BACKGROUND CHARACTERISTICS ANDREOFFENDINGl 

Estimated Proportion Number of "Youth 
Estimated ~Ionthly Reoffending Within Number of Number of Months" of 

Characteristic Heoffense Rate six Months Referrals Offenses Risk Time 

% % 

SEX 

Mille 1.41 8.1 8,562 524 37,050 

Female 1.26 7.3 1,005 54 4,299 

Rl\CE 

White 1.4 7.8 6,794 393 11,640 

Nonwhite 1.5 8.7 2,611 176 2~,905 

SCHOOL ATTENDANCE 

In School 1.3 7.5 6,903 384 29,781 

Not III School 1.(, 9.0 1,829 127 8,066 

AGE 

14 ilnd Younger 1.35 7.8 1,781 106 7,850 

15 1.50 8.8 1,843 125 8,177 

16 1.40 8.0 2,383 144 10,388 

17 and older 1.35 7.8 3,524 199 14,744 

l'fhe monthly reoffense ri1l:e estimate is calculated as k/Nt where k is the number of offenses and Nt is the number 
of "youth months" of ri~)~ 1:ime for all referrals. The proportion reoffending within six months is calculated as 
Y=l_e-at where a is the monthly reoffense rate described above and t is set at six months. (This is the Stollmack
Harris estimilti'(;n procorlnr,.,.) 
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to reoffend. The monthly rate for these two groups is 1.35 percent, 

which translates into a 7.7e percent rate if the cases are open for six 

months. 

The evidence concerning the relationship between income and the 

probability of reof£ending is not easily interpreted at this time. As 

shown in Table 13, juveniles from families with lower incomes are some-

what more likely to reoffend than are those from families with higher 

incomes, but the relationship is not consistent nor linear across the 

income categories. The highest reoffense rate is for juveniles fronl 

families in the $6,000 to $9,999 category (1.73 percent per month; 9.86 

percent within six months), and the lowest rate is for youths from 

• 

• 

• 

families making $20,000 or more per year (1.17 per month and 6.78 within • 

six months). Even between these two groups, the estimated difference at 

six months of three percent is not great enough to be of much relevance 

in terms of program policies. Additional information about income and 

reoffending is in Table 15. • 

Reoffending and Court Control 

Juveni:e courts th~t are participating in the OJJDP restitution 

initiative use several different kinds of court actions in addition to 

requiring that restitution be made to victims. A few cc~rts permit • 
juveniles to participate in the restitutio~ prog~arn ~ithout any other 

sanction or requirements, although most of the jurisdictions place.the 

youths on probation. Many courts use suspended commitment (along with 

probation and restitution) as the disposition for juveniles referred to • 

the projects. 

Reoffending rates of juveniles for whom restitution was the sole 

sanction imposed by the court (see Table 16) was 5.7 percent at the six-

60 • 
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E$t1mated Monthly 
Reoffense Rate 

Estimated Proportion 
Reoffending Within 
(; ~lonths 

No. of Referrals 

No. of Offenses 

No. of. "Youth ~lonths" 
of Risk 'rime 

• • •• 
TABLE 15. REOFFENDING RATES, BY INCOMEl 

Less th!ln 
$6,000 

1. 5\ 

8.6% 

1,129 

81 

5,410 

$6,000 to 
$9,999 

1. 7% 

9.9\ 

1,045 

82 

4,748 

$10,000 to 
$14,999 

1.3% 

7.7% 

1,163 

68 

5,0'73 

• ./, ' 

$15,000 to 
$19,999 

1.4% 

8.1% 

974 

59 

4,191 

'e' 

$20,000 and 
.More 

1.2% 

6.8% 

1,259 

61 

5,209 

IThe monthly reoffenl"e rate estimate is calculated as k/Nt where k is the number of offenses and Nt 
is the number of "yollth months" of risk time for all referrals. The proportion reoffending within 
six months is calcl1J.iltecl as Y = 1 - e-at where a is the monthly reoffense rate described above and 
l: is set at six months. (This i$ the Stollmack::jIarris e$timation procedure.) 
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,TABLE 16. REOF'F'ENDING RATES BY DEGREE OF· COURT. CONTROL 1 

Estimated Monthly 
Reoffense Rate 

Estimated proportion 
Reoffending Within 
6 Months 

No. of Referrals 

No. of Offenses 

No. of "Youth ~'onths" 
of: Ri!1k Time 

Sole Sanction 
Restitution 

0.98% 

5.n 

1,228 

44 

4,507 

Probation and 
Restitution 

1. 42% 

8.15% 

0,735 

429 

30,285 

Suspended Commitment 
and Restitution 

2.32% 

13.2% 

434 

44 

1,893 

l'rhe monthly rcoffense rate estimate is calculated as k/Nt where k is the number of 
offenses and Nt is the number of "youth months" of risk time for all referrals. The 
pr.oportion reoffending within six months is calculated as·Y = 1 - e-at where a is the 
JIIonthly reoffense rate described above and t is set at six months. (This is the 
Sto.l.lJllack-l!nrris estimation procedure.) Differences shown here are significant heyond 
the .01 level . 
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month time point, whereas the six-month reoffending rate for youths who 

·',ere required to make restitution and also were 01) probation was 8.15 

percent. Youngsters who were on probation and whose disposition included 

a suspended commitment (usually indicating intensive probation) reoffended 

at an even higher rate: 13.2 percent for a six-month time period. 

These results could be interpreted in several ways. One interpreta

tion is that juveniles are less likely to reoffend if the court holds 

them "accountable" for their offense but imposes no other sanctions, 

conditions, or requirements. A second interpretation is that juvenile 

court judges and probation officers are able to determine which youths 

are a "good risk" and which ones are more likely to reoffend. The 

sentencing recommendations reflect these a priori judgments in such a 

way that the "good risks" are given restitution as a sale sanction, the 

"moderate" risks are placed on probation (and required to ma"e restitution), 

whereas the "poor risks" are required to make restitution, placed on 

• probation, and carry an explicit threat of commitment throughout their 

time in the program. If this explanation is correct, then the relation

ship between reoffending and the degree of court control is due to 

selection criteria. And, the irnplicatic~ that a greater degree of court 

• control increases reoffending would not be valid. 

Still a third possible explanation is that restitution projects do 

not become a\,;are of s~sequent o==e:lses =0::- Il scl e sa."lctio:1 11 you1:hs ~o 

the sarne extent that they become at-:are of subsequent offenses for youths 

• who are on probation or suspended co~~tments. If so, then the degree of 

uundercoW1t U in reoffenc.ing ",Tould be more extensive =o~ the sale sanction 

group, thereby producing the results shov.7l in Table 16. 

Of particular concern is the possibility that yout.hs v:ho are more 

63 
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likely to reoffend tend to be placed on suspended commitment, whereas 

tllOse less likely to reoffend are given "sole sanction" restitution. 

Prelinunary examination of the data does not support this interpretation 

for the higher reoffense rates of the suspended commitment and probation 

groups in comparison with the sole sanction group. 

Considering only the youths who have no prior offenses, those give~ 

sole sanction restitution orders reoffend at a six-month rate of 4.6 

percent, whereas those on probation reoffend at a rate of 6.7 percent, 

and the ones with suspended commitment (and probation and restitution) 

Feoffend at a rate of 11.5 percent within six months. This information 

is shown in Table 17 and Figure 10. The same pattern holds for youths 

with one and two priors: reoffense rates are lowest =or the group with 

the least amount of court control and highest for the group with the 

greatest amount of officia.l control. Juveniles with three or more priors 

show exactly the same pattern except that the overall rate of reoffending 

• 

• 

• 

• 

is higher. Still, as shown in Table 17 and Figure 10, the sole san~tion • 

group reoffends at a six-month rate of 11 percent compared with' 13 percent 

and 16.5 percent for the other two groups. 

These results concerning the potential negative impact of court 

control over youths in the restitution program should be viewed with 

considerable caution and skepticism at this time due to the possibility 

that differences in selection factors have not been completely controlled 

and the possibility that data collection problems differ among the three 

groups. Further analysis and investigation pertaining to the effect of 

court control on in-progra~ reoffending will be undertaken in subsequent 

repor·ts. 
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TABLE 17. REOFFENSE RATES BY DEGREE OF COURT CONTROL, 
CONTROLL!NG FOR PRIOR OFFENSES 

• Sole Sanction Probation and Suspended Commitment 
Restitution Restitution and Restitution 

% Reoffending % Reoffendin2 % Reoffendin2 

No Prior Offenses 

Monthly Rate 0.79 1.16 2.04 
6-Month Rate 4.62 6.72 11.52 

• 12-Month Rate 9.39 12.99 21. 72 
No. of Cases (662) (2,602) (126) 

One Prior Offense 

Monthly Rate 1. 35 1. 44 1.45 
6-Mont..'l Rate 7.78 8.29 8.31 
12-Month Rate 14.95 15.89 15.93 
No. of Cases (214) (1,420) (94) 

• Two Prior Offenses 

Monthly Rate 0.0 1.65 2.84 
6-Month Rate 0.0 9.42 15.65 
12-Month Rate 0.0 17.95 28.85 
No. of Cases (108) (829) (63) 

'l'hrCi!e or More 

Monthly Rate 1.95 2.37 3.01 • 6-Month Rate 11.04 13.24 16.52 
12-Month Rate 20.87 24.37 30.32 
No. of Cases (~96) (1,451) (154) 

• 

• 
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SUMMARY AND IMPLICATIONS 

The primary purposes of this paper were to estimate the proportion • of offenders who will commit subsequent offenses during the time they 

are under the jurisdiction of the restitution projects and to examine 

the reoffending rates of various subgroups within the population. Al-

though results from studies of in-program reoffending should not be used, 

:,. alone, to assess the effectiveness of restitution programs, this analysis 

can be used as an early indication cif whether the rate of reoffending 

is acceptably low. Additionally, the information on reoffense rates for 

different subgroups of juveniles under different program conditions 

should be used as a dia"nostic tool by project dire 'tors. - Two methodologies were used to measure the rate of in-program 

reoffending. One of these, commonly called the Stollmack-Harris method, 

produced an estimate of 8.4 percent whereas the other (a cumulative 

proportion, method) indicates that 8.8 percent of the youths will reoffend 

~ during the time they are under the jurisdiction of the program. Unfor-

tunately, most evaluations of delinquency programs do not examine nor 

report the rate of in-program reo£fending in such a manner that comparisons 

could be made with the Estimates from the ~estitution initiative. It 

seems reason.ble, however, to say that the :ceoffense rate is acceptably 

I-I la\>,', given the overall level of o=fender /of:er.s: se::-io:lsness anc i:h~ 

fact that juveniles are in the programs for an average of six months. 

Two of the eligibility screening criteria commonly usee in delinquency 

programs--number of prior offenses and seriousness of the immediate 

_ of=ense--were examinee to determine ..... hether ;there are any differences in 

the rate of reoffendins for serious and less serious offenders. The 

results show that the likelihood of reo=fending increases with the number 
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of prior offenses. The proportion expected to reoffend within six months 

of referr~l is six percent for first offenders, eight percent for youths 

with one prior, nine percent for those with two priors, and 13 percent 

for juveniles with three or more prior delinquency offenses. The rate 

of ~offending, however, does not seem to increase with increased 

seriousness of the· immediate offense, those convi~ted of the serious 

personal offenses of assault, rape, and robbery were slightly less likely 

to reoffend than were juveniles convicte~ of less serious personal or 

property offenses. Likewise, juveniles convicted of very serious property 

9ffenses (burglaries or arsons with losses of $250 or more) were some

wh~t less likely to reoffend than were juveniles convicted of less 

serious property offenses. 

One clear implication of these findings is that the seriousness of 

the immediate offense should not be used as an automatic criterion for 

determining youths to be ineligible for restitution programs. The risk 

of reoffending does not increase with the seriousness of ~ne offense. 

The implication of these results for use of prior offenses' as a 

screening device is somewhat less clear. Although youths with a longer 

history of delinquency are higher risk referrals in terms of reoffending, 

the risk is not terribly great. In the final analysis, of course, the 

level of risk that is acceptable depends on the toler~,ce for delinquency 

,·:iti::'n the project, court, and communit~'. Neve!:'theless, a reoffense rate 

of 13 percent, in six months, for youths with three and more prior offenses, 

probably is acceptable in many--perhaps most--communities. 

It is generally acknowledged that certain kinds of "social variables"-

such as race, income, school attendance, and so on--should not influence 

dispositional decisions in juvenile courts. OJJDP is on record as 

68 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



,.' 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

" 

• 

355 

being opposed to the use of these kinds of factors in determining eligi

bility for restitution programs. 

It is the case, however, that characteristics of juvenile offenders 

may be associated with differing levels of risk and, if so, projects 

should be aware of which youngsters constitute high-risk and low-risk 

referrals. This information permits a more appropriate allocation of 

resources within the project. 

The analysis of sex, race, and age revealed only minor differences 

in the rate of reoffending and no differences substantial or consistent 

enough to warrant concern in te=rns of program operation. 

Reoffending rates were somewhat higher for youths in the lower 

income categories (eight to ten percent in six months) compared with the 

higher income groups (seven to eight percent reoffending in six months). 

These results were not very consistent, however, across income groups 

and the differences are not especially great. Still, this is an area 

that might be of concern to project directors an;' L'; a subject for 

additional investigation in the evaluation. 

school attendance also shows some association with reoffending: 

nine percent of the youths who are not in school reoffend within six rno~ths 

compared with 7.5 percent of those who are in school. 

The juvenile court dispositions that accompany restitution vary 

considerably across the 85 proje=t sites. Some juve~ilc o==enders are 

given restitution as a sole sanction; for others it is a condition of 

their probation; and some youths are on suspended commitments (usually 

implying intensive probation) during the time they are completing their 

restitutlon requirements. Comparisons of these three groups of offenders 

revealed that those who were under the least amount of court control 
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(i.e., sole sanction restitution) had the lowest rate of reoffending 

whereas those under the highest degree of court control (suspended commit

ment) had the highest rate of reoffending. The differences among the 

three groups were substantial: sole sanction restitution youths reoffend 

at a rate of 5.7 percent in six months; probation restitution youths 

reoffend at a rate of S.l percent; and those with restitution and suspended 

commitments reoffend at a rate of 13.2 percent in six months. 

Obviously, these relationships could be due to the fact that youths 

with suspended commitments tend to be more serious offenders than those 

who are on sole-sanction restitution. To examine this possibility, the 

relationship between degree of court control and reoffending within 

each category of prior offenses 'as ascertained. The results show that 

the greater the court control, the greater the likelihood of reoffending 

for first offenders, for those with one prior offense, two priors, and 

so on. In short, the preliminary analysis indicates that the relationship 

between higher court control and increased reoffending is not a spurious 

relationship attributable to differences in the number of prior offenses. 

Considerably more analysis is needed (and will be undertaken in subsequent 

parts of the evalua~ion) because of the eno~ous implications of this 

finding should it be confirmed. 
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FOOTNOTES 

1. More information about the initiative can be found in the report, . ; 
4It. "Implementation and ?olicy Issues in the National Juvenile Restitution 

Initiative: A six Month Evaluation Report." This report is available 

from. the Institute of Policy Analysis. Additional information can be 

found in the initiative guidelines, "Restitution by Juvenile Offenders 

That document can be obtained from OJJDP. 

4It 2. Names, location of projects, and other info=rnation about each can 

be found in the six month report (see Footnote 1). Additional and 

regular information is contained in the Monthly Evaluation Reports and the 

Project Data Reports. These are prepared by IPA and available from us. 

4It 3. See the initiative guidelines, "Restitution by Juvenile 

Offenders .. 

4. This report reflects only one part of the multi-purpose national 

restitution evaluation. Experimental designs in six restitution sites 

will provide comprehensive information on restitution--in comparison with 

4It nonrestitution al~ernatives--vis a vis performance measures such as self 

report offenses, juvenile attitudes, victim attitudes, and 12 to 18 months 

of follow-up on recontact with authorities afte~ release from the program~ 

5. Commentary on the appropriate length of follow-up can be found 

• in vtaldo anc Griswolc, Kontrov.-i-:::, !·:alt:z a:1C !-1=~lea:::'Y, anc Stollrnack 

and Harris. 

6. The Nanagement In:o!:mation System (~US) \\'a5 established by IPA 

in each project as part of the national evaluation. ?~ojects complete an 

intake form and closure form on each refe~ral. These are ~~nt to IPA for 

4It editing and computer ar.alysis. 
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7. See Baer and Cowden. 

S. The major methodological problem is in combining frequency 

and seriousness of offenses into a single dependent variable for analysis. 

Analysis of reoffenders, alone, in terms of the predictors of the most • 
serious offenses can be quite misleading since ~offenders would have to 

be excluded from the study. 

9. See Miller. 

10. See Empey and Erickson, pp. 73-93 and Murray and Cox, pp. 159-160. • 11. Individual-level scoring systems which adjust for differences 

in time at risk can be developed but, due to the complexities of the 

analysis, this will be done for a later report. 
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APPENDIX A 

Referral Data 
ADDITIONAL METHODOLOGICAL NOTES 

Information on referrals is shown in Table 1. The columns contain 

the number of youths referred in each mon~h, beginning with January, 1979 

(designated as 7901 in the Table) and extending through April, 1980 (coded 

as 8004 in the Table). The rows show the number 0: youths whose cases 

were open in the referral month (month 0) and those that ,,'ere still open. 

in each succeeding month beyond referral. For example, there were 197 

juveniles referred to restitution projects in January, 1979; 220 were 

referred in February, 1979; 454 were referred in March, and so on. For 

. • :the entire time period covered in this analysis, 9,255 juveniles had 

• 

been referred. Of the 197 juveniles referred in January, Iii cases were 

still open one month beyond referral; of the cases referred in February, 

209 were still open one month later; 420 of the !·~arch re::errals were still 

open one month later, and so on. Of all the refer::-als for whom at least 

one month of follow-up time had occurrec, 8,156 were still open one month 

later. The drop-off in cases as one pro~~esses =ro~ the first month 

beyond referral to the secone, thirc, anc so on is dUe to cases' bEing 

closed (either successfully or unsuccess:ully). Blam: areas in Table 1 

e indicate time periods \-;hich Dc:.ve not. ye,,: o=cu!:rec and, therefore, the~·E 

• 

• 

• 

is no information on the nl.lIr.!:>er of caSES st:"ll open for a particular 

referral monili. 

conth is sho~~ in Table 2. (The c==enses inc2ude all ,delinquent and 

status infrac~ions b~ought to ~he a~~e~t~on 0= ~he juvenile cour~ that 

became known to resti~ution program personnel.) The information in 

Table 2 follows the same format as tha~ in ?~blc 1. For exar.~le, cO~Eicer 

the youths refe::::red in wa:lua::y, 1?79. One 0= theEE: youths reo::fencec. 

it 
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TMlLF. 1. NUllDER or CMr.S REHlIIHIHG orm ron 1 TO 15 HONTIIS BEYOND RErERAALI 

t\"Inth!'l Reforral Month Total 
I1r vond Cases 

Referral .7901 7902 1903.. 1904 1905 7906 1907 7900 7909 7910 1911 7912 B001 B002 8003 8004 Tracked 

0 197 220 454 553 006 703 651 656 554 753 722 593 6B4 5B4 596 529 9,255 

177 209 47,0 50. 761 662 (,21 592 524 121 600 557 641 552 540 8,156 

144 11. 365 425 637 544 477 504 4U 623 611 4B. 55. 473 6,473 

120 147 292 339 491 41B 405 428 370 515 513 400 47. 4,931 

104 127 214 ~HH ;1M 320 313 353 37.0 419 432 337 3,572 

92 )01 17n 2'-) JUi :'hl) 263 281 211 355 366 2, .... "\ 

15 M ISO 1.3 ;n" 230 20. 234 234 305 1,900 

..., 6" 12 17.9 144 2015 196 181 203 205 1,4011 eo ..., CD 
0 55 64 100 17,0 2)0 171 161 181 1,07£1 ~ 

53 53 to], Ion 191 149 141 79. 

10 51 40 9n 90 174 141 59. 

11 40 3" 7n 90 ]63 415 

12 41 20 '" R4 214 

13 3fi )0 GO 120 

14 24 In 42 

15 23 23 

------
lUurth('rr; In thl! ct:'J lA 5h'n .. how rn.""V of tim cl'or." rr.Corred in a'lch lOO:oth (s~~ column he .. ulln9!'1) wero opr.n for lrf;B than one rronth bonth 0), 
on'" month, tW() rronth!f, thrr.(> 1R'1I11hq, ilntl so on up to 16 months. For CXi\tnpJe. 197 caSl"n \oII'r.o rclorred In .:Jnnn:..ry, 1979 (7901). or 
thr.!'I~. 177 were ~tlll oj'lf!n in 01" rJr!'lt full. rronth nCtcr referral hmoth 1), • .,., were ntLll oprm In the Rccowl mnth, nnd 1'10 on • 

• • • • • • • • • 
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TABLE 2. llUHllf:n OF RROFFf.NSES Fon 1 'l'O 15 HOHnlS BEYOND A.£FERRAL 

1 

Mont.hs no Cerral Honth 
nn\'ond 'rotal " ]tc[cr['",1 1901 7902 190) 1904 1905 1906 1901 1900 1909 1910 1911 1912 Baal B002 BOO:i B004· ReottenS8t1 

0 ]0 6 6 11 

9 10 11 6 12 12 6 105 

11 ]0 11 6 15 0 6 94 

10 12 IJ 10 B6 

40 

41 

~ >- 10 0 0 24 

0 9 ... 
CD 

15 ~ 
0) 

0 0 0 
~ 

]Il 0 

11 0 

12 0 n 

13 0 0 

l' 0 

15 

Totnl 
orr,=,m;r~ 19 )5 SO .2 5" 41 .4 49 40 )0 43 10 IB 13 504 

J'hlmil('T.!'& In the Cp.U, ~how how m.,f1\-' nr tho CtU1p:; r(>r~rT.~d in each rrnllLh (sc~ r.oltlmn hCi1dLnCJ~) reoffendr.d in the flrnt month, second II'Dnth. llnr) 

!"If) on up t.o J 5 rrnnthr. ., Ct"r rl1 rrrra I . Fnr. ,.x."lmplr, or th,. cn:;rn rf'r"'rr,.d In 7'1111 (.l;\lumry, J979). one rcoCCfmdr.l U.01t: nal%lC rronth. two rroCCl':"ndcd 
JII til,. (Ir!;l "",,"t.h. nnur> !n tll~ n'~':ltll.l ITYlIIlh, .10<1 nn on. Flqurr!l In th,. rl']hl:-Imnd cnIUm!. etc-toll rr.orrrn~C'n) nhllw thl"! total nudmr ..,ho rr.o£fr.ndcd 
In th,. rrr.mth of r"(l"rr.,1 (mont.h 0). thn rlrRt mnnl;h. nnd 0;0 forth. 
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in the same month he or she was referred to the project; two reoffendec 

within pne month of the referral; none reoffended in the second month; 

one reoffended in the third month beyond referrul, and so on. As in 

Table 1, the lower right-hand part of the Table represents time periods 

·which have not yet occurred. 

CUmulative Proportion Reoffending 

The cumulative proportion reoffending estimates need to be "smoothed" 

in order to remove unnecessary error variance before using them to estimate 

reoffense rates or probabilities. The formula used is Y = l_ae-bt where 

~ and £ are parameters to be estimated from the data. The cumUlative 

probability reoffending is inverted (see Table 3) [i.e., Y-l = ae-bt] 

before. solving for the parameters. 

Matlz-McCleary Program 

A program to calculate the Maltz-McCleary value of a on the HP-33E 

calculator is in Chart I. 
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TABLE 3. AN EXPONENTIAL FIT FOR TIlE CU',lULATIVE PROPORTION REOFFENDING 

Cumulative 
l".onth Probability of '. Beyond Reoffending Predicted Predicted 

R"ferral (y) (l-Y) l-Y (Y) 

----
0 .0077 .993 .974 .0213 

1 .0206 .979 .969 .0270 

2 .0351 .965 .959 .0364 

• 3 .0525 .9475 .949 .0497 

4 .0637 .936 .939 .0606 

5 .0610 .919 .929 .0716 

6 .0931 .907 .919 .0627 ., 7 .0993 - .901 .909 .0935 

6 .1132 .667 .699 .1041 

9 .1162 .662 .690 .1146 

10 .1232 .677 .660 .125(, 

11 .1304 .670 .671 .1352 

• 12 .1397 .660 .661 .1453 

13 .1460 .652 .652 .1554 

14 .1460 .1653 

15 .1460 .1750 

• -b~ 
Y l-ae 

1-(.9845) e 
-.0116': 

-.9Si Y r = 

a .9645 b = .0116 

• 
80 

• 

• 79·489 0-81--24 
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HP-33E PROGRAJ.: TO CALCtJL1.'l'£ 'l'HE P~R~.' TH!: f'AILUn:c AA'I'Z. AS DEFINED 

IN 'l'HE PAPER: "The Mathez:\Atic$ of Behavlc::o.al Change, l\ec:i~i\·i6ll!. Me 
Constru~ Val!c!.1ty," Michael 0 .. Jo'.al ',%. and Richarc MeCleary, Evalua~ion 

Quarterly, Vol. 1, No.3, August, 1977. 

Ol 

02 

Instruction 

l/x 

STO 2 

Com::nentSi 

Initialize;. • 1/'1'1.0 

~e? Curren't A in ~:2 

••• Calculate Intermediate Constants 

03 !lCL 2 Get A 

04 !lCL 1 Get TAO 

as x Calculate 1.*'1'1.0 

06 STO 3 Keep ATAU in REGl 

07 eX Calculate e',,'rAU 

08 STO 4 Keep it in REG4 

09 

10 C.alcu16te e ATAU 
- 1 

11 STO 5 S::::e i~ in r..=:::>s 
12 x 2 

Calculate (en':'AU _ 1]2 

l3 sm 6 Store i': in REG6 

.... calcula'te next trial value fo: ;.. Using Ne"'~on I S Hethod 

H 

lS 

16 

l7 

l8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

2' 

2£ 

27 

26 

29 

30 

31 

GS8 22 

PAUSE 

Calculate n1J::lerator, !CA) 

Let user look at f CA) brie!l), 

Is feA} • 0 ? 

Yes, 90 finish up 

No, Calculate c.em:lninator, !' CA) 

f. (division 5:.;n) C~:'C1.!late f(;')/f' CA) 

STO-2 (minus sign) $to= ~e ... ·;. ... ;. - ! CAl /! I e;.) in REG2 

G'l'O oa 
s~:ou'Cine to Calculate f (1.1 

ReI. 3 

l/x 

!lCL S 

1/x 

Go ':.:"}' til:' ... value 0: ;.. 

Ge'; :.TAlt in >:-:;.e;ister 

Cal::u1a-:.e 1/1.7'AU 

Ge';. i.-rAe - 1 in X-Re;iste: 

C~lC'lllate 1/ Ceh'l';'O _ :'1 

Cl:.lcul~:E. l/l.:::;'U - 1/(£1.=A~_1) 
R=. 0 uet TBAA in X-Re;is:er 

R:L 1 Ge~ 'l';;U in X-Re9ister 

of (ctivision sisn) Cf!;lculate '!'BJ.R/'l'AU 

Caleulate f (1.) 

A:-.C re:1l-'"'n to c~lling p:ogra:: 

-This p=o;ra::: ... as \.'Titten by Jerry Easle. Ins';itute c! Pclic)' MAl~·sis. 

81 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• 

Line 
Nwaber Instruction 

367 

Comments 

. *** Subroutine to Calculate the derivative f' (A) 

32 

.33 

34 

35 

36 

37 

38 

39 

40 

41 

42 

43 

ReI. 3 

RCL 2 

X 

l/x 

ReI. 4 

RCL.l 

v ... 
RCL 6 

~ (division sign) 

cp.s 

P.TN 

Get ATAO in X-~egister 

Get A in X-Register 

Calculate A2TAU 

Calculate l/A
2

TAU 

Get eATAOin X-Register 

Get TAU in X-Register 

Calculate TAU*e
ATAU 

G-~ (eATAU_l)2 in X-Register 

Calculate TAo*eATAU/(eATAU_l)2 

Calculate -f' (A) 

Calculate f' CA) 

And Return to calling program 

*** Finishing Up section; Get here having found a zero of f, 
*** that is, f(A) = 0 for the current value of A 

·44 

45 

RCL 2 

GTO 00 

Get current A i~ X-Register so can see it 

And STOP 

*** To calculate the value of the other parameter R, do the follO'odng: 

K 

ENTER 

N 

RCL .; 

X 

RCL 5 

Put K in X-Register 

Push K into Y-Register 

Put N in X-Register 

Calculate K/N 

Push eATAU onte stack 

Calculate (K/!\)teATAU 

Push eATAU_l onto stack 

Calculate parameter R 

To Begin the Program, do the follo~ing: 

TEAR 

STO 0 

'I'AU 

STO 1 

R/S 

To do another estimate go to 00 

Put TE;'.R in >:-Re;is~er 

PUt TAt: in X-Registe::

Store TAU in PZG 1 
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Method of solution: 

Solve [1] iteratively using Newton's Method for a. 
Then substitute this in [2] and evaluate to get E. • 

In general, 

Here, 

x 
n 

1 
f (a) = 

at 

1 

at 1 e -

t 

T 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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ABSTRACT 

Judged frequently require that offenders, as a condition of 

probation make restitution to their victims. More rarely, resti-

tution is ordered as a sole sanction with no additional penalties 

or requirements. This paper, based on data from more than 10,000 

• 

• 

juvenile court cases invoZving restitution, compares the outcomes • 

of cases in which offenders were sentenced to restitution as a 

condition of probation with those in which the offender was ordered 

restitution as a soZe sanction. The data indicate that youths 

receiving restitution as a soZe sanction are more ZikeZy to com- • 

pZete the order successfuZZy and Zess ZikeZy to commit new 

offenses while under the jurisdiction or the restitution project. 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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Introduction 

An important issue in the use of restitution as a sanction for 

criminal offenders is whether it should be used alone or in conjunction 

with other sanctions, and, indeed, a number of writers have called for 

research in this area (Galaway, 1975; Galaway, 1977a; Galaway, 1977b; 

Hudson, Galaway, and Chesney, 1977a), While some model sentencing codes 

and proposed dispositional standards have expressly provided for the use 

of restitution as a sole sanction (NCCD, 1972; IJA/ABA, 1977), restitution 

is most commonly employed as a condition of probation and hence an 

"add-on" sentence (Bryson, 1976; Schneider, et al, 1977; Hudson, Galaway, 

and Chesney, 1977b; Schneider and Schneider, 1980), 

Three arguments for the combination of restitution with other 

penalties, such as probation or even incarceration, can be found in the 

literature: 

1. Restitution by itself may constitute "insufficient punishment," 

Perhaps the best known exponent of this point of view is Stephen Schafer 

(1970:126) "ho warns that if restitution were the only sentence for a 

crime "it might weaken the sense of wrongdoing attached to that crime 

(reduce) the terror which potential wrongdoers might feel of committing 

the crime , , , expose criminal justice to the dangers of the criminal 

escaping punishment, and lead to social injustice in that , the 

wealthy, possibly professional, criminal could buy off his punishment 

with money, , ," Similarly, the framers of the IJA/ABA Juvenile Justice 

St:andards worry that for instances in which the "gravity of the crime 

(is) substantial, the judge may feel that the restitutionary sanction 

alone will be inadequate to impress upon the juvenile offender the 

1 
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consequences of his or her actions" (1977:48). Some support for these 

views was found in a survey conducted by Burt Galaway and William Marsella 

(1976): Of those interviewed, 67 percent of the victims, 80 percent of 

the police officers, and 100 percent of the probation officers felt that 

restitution alone was an insufficient penalty. However, 91 percent of 

the juveniles ordered to make restitution as a condition of probation--and 

63 percent of their parents--disagreed. 

2. For restitution to be "constructive, II it needs to be llguided." 

This is a clinician's view of restitution; it holds, essentially, that 

re,stitution is a "treatment" and that an offender who receives restitution 

as a sentence needs to be helped along or guided in order to reap its 

full benefits. Without such guidance, it is believed, the offender may 

not make the connection between the harm done and the efforts to make the 

victim whole. "His initial thinking is in terms of avoiding or of enduring 

punishment,. and of vengeance," writes Albert Eglash (1975:288). "His 

understanding of what is involved in restitution will not grow overnight. 

Like reparation, restitution is appropriately used in connection with 

probation." Eglash further argues that in-kind restitution, bearing 

direct relevance to the crime, would be particularly effective, and he 

suggests that probationary guidance may be easier with a group than with 

an individual: "In committing an offense, what a youth would not do 

alone he tackles when supported by his group. In maYing restitution, what 

a youth could not do alone he may tackle with the support of his group" 

(1975:289). 

3. Unless restitution is made a condition of probation or some other 

sanction, it cannot be enforced. Alan Harland (1980) points out that an 

important distinction between restitution as a condition of probation or 
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suspended sentence and restitution as a sole sanction lies in the 

procedures for enforcement: If restitution is made a condition of 

probation, then it may be enforced through revocation and the imposition 

of an alternative sentence: if a sentence of restitution is the sole 

sanction, then it can only be enforced through contempt proceedings. 

Burt Galaway probably speaks for many law enforcement professionals when 

he states " ••• the criminal justice syatem must maintain the possibility 

of imposing a more severe sanction if the offender fails or refuses to 

meet the restitution obligations. While many offenders will undoubtedly 

meet their obligations out of a sense of duty, some will be evasive and 

means must be available to coerce those who wish to evade their 

responsibility" (1977c:6). 

Arguments against the combination of restitution with probation and 

other sanctions fall generally into two categories. In one category are 

those arguments against the addition of restitution requirements to 

probation: and in the other category are those arguments against the 

addition of probation to restitution requirements. Specifically, the 

arguments are as follows: 

1. Restitution should not be required as a condition of probation 

because it increases the likelihood of failure of probation, it is too 

costly and it places too great a burden on probation officers. Landis 

• (1969) and Miller (1980), in separate studies conducted in California 

• 

and Colorado, observed that the ~xistence of a restitution order was more 

prevalent among the case histories of persons who failed probation than 

among those who were successful: thus the addition of restitution 

apparently increased the probability of revocation. Miller notes the 

additional time and effort required of probation officers to monitor 

3 
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restitution requirements and suggests that restitutive sanctions may 

"cost· more than they are worth." Similarly, Klein (1978) argues against 

the addition of restitution to probation requirements because, first, he 

doubts the utility of the concept, and second, probation officers are too 

busy to enforce it. During his experience as director of a restitution 

cerlter in Canada, he reports, probation officers were too busy to monitor 

the fulfillment of restitution 'requirements and, when breaches were noted, 

too busy to return the person to court. • • (F) or a number of reasons," 

he writes, " ••• the enforcement of a restitution condition under a 

pr~ba':ion order is, indeed, problematic." 

2. Restitution should be used as a sole sanction, where appropriate, 

because it is suitable for some offenders, it is cost-effective, and it 

will generate knowledge about the feasibility of restitution as a sentence 

on its own right. In the literature, support for sole sanction restitution 

is cautious and usually targeted at the less serious, nonviolent offender. 

For example, Karl Menninger (1968) has singled out check offenders as one 

group for whom restitution might be the only necessary sanction, and 

Hudson and Galaway (1975) suggest that sole sanction restitution would be 

appropriate for nondangerous offenders. For such offenders, restitution 

only could be cost effective in that, other things being equal, supervision 

would be minimized. The National Council on Crime and Delinquency, citing 

a shortage of probation services, ,has urged courts to use restitution as 

the I.hole sentence for those cases where supervision is not needed (1974). 

Finally, Galaway (1977b), and Hudson, Galaway, and Chesney (1977a) have 

promoted the use of sole sanction restitution under research conditions 

so that its unique effectiveness--apart from the impact of probation, for 

example--can be examined. 
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Clearly, the use of restitution as a sole sanction is an important 

issue--both theoretically and operationally--in the design and implementa-

... tion of restitution programs. This paper will attempt to examine this 

issue empirically by comparing restitution as a sole sanction with resti-

tution combined with other sanctions in terms of (a) the persons likely 

to receive such sentences and (b) the impact of the sentences on the 

offenders' behavior • 

... 
The Data 

In February, 1978, tIle Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency 

Prevention announced a major initiative designed to promote and experiment 

with the use of restitution in juvenile courts (OJJDP, 1978). The 

... objectives of these restitution projects, according to the program announce-

ment, would be (1) to reduce incarcerations of juveniles; (2) reduce 

recidivism; (3) bring about a greater sense of responsibility on the part 

of young offenders; (4) help satisfy victims; (5) pr~mote community 

... confidence in the juvenile justice process, and (6) generate increased 

knowledge abQut the feasibility of restitution for juvenile offenders. It 

was clear, moreover, that the framers of the initiative wished to test 

the use of restitution as a sole sanction: The extent to which restitution 

was to be used as an alternative to traditional dispositions was named as 

a criterion for funding and as a focal point for study (OJJDP, 1978:111;15). 

Following a two-stage application process, grants were awarded to 41 

separate projects in 26 states, Puerto Rico, and the District of Columbia. 

six of these grants were awarded to statewide agencies or organizations 

which in turn spawned a total of 50 projects at the local level. Altogether, 

85 projects were funded by the initiative with a total commitment of . 

approximately $30 million over three years. The Institute of Policy Analysis 

5 
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was selected national evaluator and the National Office for Social 

Responsibility was awarded a cont~act to provide technical assistance. 

Data on every referral to the restitution projects are collected by 

project personnel both at intake, when the youth is referred to the proj

ect, and at the time the restitution portion of the youth's disposition 

is completed. These data are s~nt weekly to IPA for computerization and 

analysis. By the end of April, 1980, data on approximately 10,000 

referrals--including more than 7,000 youths whose cases were closed--had 

been received at IPA. As these data were collected at about the mid-point 

in the life of the restitution initiative, they represent about one-half 

of all the referrals expected while the projects are receiving federal 

funding. 1 

Youths referred to the OJJDP-funded restitution projects receive 

essentially three types of disposit~ons: Restitution as a sole sanction, 

restitution as a condition of probation, and restitution under a suspended 

sentence of commitment to a juvenile institution. The type of restitution 

required may be monetary, community service, direct service to victims, or 

any combination of those three. The data in Table 1 describe the referrals 

in terms of dispositions and the type and amount of restitution ordered. 

As might be expected, restitution as a condition of probation is the most 

common disposition ordered, but a large number of the referrals also 

receive restitution as a sole sanction. Forty-four of the projects in 

the ini~iative have at least some sole sanction restitution cases, and, 

in 16 projects, at least ten Fercent of the caseload have this type of 

disposition. Of the types of restitution ordered, monetary is most 

common, followed by community service and then combined orders of community 

service and monetary restitution. For these cases--which represent iess 
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TABLE 1. TYPES OF D!SPOSITIONS, TYPES OF RESTITUTION, 
AND AMOUNTS OF RESTITUTION ORDERED 

• DISPOSITIONS 

~jpeS of DisEosition 

So1eSanction Restitution 

Restitution·and Probation 

suspended Commitment Restitution 

Other 

~e of Restitution 

Monetary Restitution 

Unpaid community Service 

Direct Victim Service 

Court Costs and Fines Only 

Monetary and Community Service 

Monetary and Victim Service 

Community and Victim Service 

Other 

Amounts of Re.-,titution Ordered 

Monetary ReGtitution Ordered 

Unpaid Community Service Ordered 

Direct victim Service Ordered 

7 

NUMBER 

1,284 

6,933 

444 

1,277 

4,973 

2,769 

76 

179 

1,218 

40 

11 

11 

PERCENT 

12.9'0 

69.8 

4.5 

12.8 

53.6'0 

29.9 

0.8 

1.9 

13.1 

0.4 

0.1 

0.1 

$1,565,601 

203,138 hours 

4,311 hours 
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than half of those. eventually expected to be in the initi~tive--judges 

had. ordered over $1.5 million in monetary restitution, more than 200,000 

hours of community service, and more than 4,000 hours of direct service 

to victims. 

SUccessful Completion of Restitution Requirements 

Arguments for the combination of restitution with other sanctions 

focus on the need to impress offenders with the consequences of their 

actions, provide them with guidance, and enforce the payment of restitution 

or the successful completion of whatever the court has ordered. Youths 

.~who are ordered to make restitution as a condition of probation or under 

a suspended sentence of commitment receive harsher penalties, mOre guidance, 

and greater enforcement. It would be expected, therefore, that the 

juvenile offenders with combined dispositions would be mOre likely to 

complete their restitution requirements than those ordered to make 

restitution as a sole sanction. 

In the national evaluation of the Juvenile Restitution Initiative, 

successful completion of restitution is defined as full compliance with 

the original or adjusted restitution order (Griffith, Schneider, and 

Schneider,1960). If a youth has completed all rest~tution within the 

allotted time period, or has fully complied with an adjusted restitution 

order--i.e., one where modifications j~ the order were agreed to after 

the youth began making restitution--and there wer~ no violations of any 

other condition of the disposition, the youth is considered a successful 

completion. Of the more than 7,000 youths in this study whose cases 

were accepted and later closed by the projects, about 63 percent were in 

full compliance with the original restitution requirements and five percent 

complied with adjusted requirements. 
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Table 2 shows the rates of successful und unsucc~ssful completion of 

restitution requirements for each of the three types of dispositions. 

Surprisingly, youths who receive restitution as a sole sanction demon

strate a markedly higher rate of successful completion than those with 

combined dispositions. The 9S percent successful completion rate for this 

group is even more impressive given the overall rate of about 88 percent. 

The gamma coefficient, which is appropriate as a measure of association 

between variables such as these, summarizes the strength and direction of 

the relationship: it indicates a moderately strong correlation between less 

restrictive degrees of court control and successful completion of court 

orders. 

The relationship between rates of successful completion and restitution 

as a sole sanction is consistent .across the different types of restitution 

judges most commonly order. As shown by Table 3, youths receiving any type 

of restitution as a sole sanction (monetary, community service, or a combi

nation of both) are more likely to complete the disposition successfully. 

The data in Tables 2 and 3 suggest that a sentence of sole sanction restitu

tion somehow produces a higher completion rate than a sentence of restitu-

tion combined with probation or a suspended commitment. It is possible, 

however, that the apparent relationship is merely spurious, and in fact 

due to the influence of other factors which are statistically related to 

both the type of disposition and the rate of successful completions. For 

example, judges may know which youths need "guidance" and "enforcement" 

in making restitution, and sentence accordingly. Also, they may order 

restitution as a sole sanction in dealing with relatively small amounts of 

loss, and couple restitution with other sentences to encourage the payment 

of "larger sums. Indeed, sentencing should not be random, and it would be 

9 
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TABLE 2. SUCCESSFUL COMPLETION RATES BY DEGREE OF COURT CON'rROL 

CHARACTERISTICS 

Degree of Court Control 

Sole Sanction Restitution 

Restitution and Probation 

. Suspended Commitment Restitution 

P < .001 

Gamma = - .32 

PERCENT PERCENT NUMBER 
SUCCESSFUL UNSUCCESSFUL OF CASES 

95% 

87 

87 

5% 

13 

13 

939 

3,862 

282 

"TABLE 3. SUCCESSFUL COMPLETION RATES FOR SOLE SANCTION AND NON-SOLE 
SANCTION RESTITUTION BY TYPES OF RESTITUTION ORDERED 

TYPE OF 
RESTITUTION 

Monetary 

Unpaid Community 
Service 

Monetary and Unpaid 
Community Service 

SOLE 
SANCTION 

94% 
(N= 586) 

96% 
(N= 282) 

97\ 
(N= 95) 

10 

NON-SOLE 
SANCTION 

88% 
(N=2578) 

90% 
(N=1738) 

83% 
(N= 659)" 

GAMMA 

.34 

.45 

.72 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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startling to learn that there are no discernible differences among 

juvenile offenders who receive different sentences. 

To determine the types of youths most likely to receive restitution 

as a sole sanction rather than restitution combined with other sanctions, 

the type of disposition was dichotomized and cross-tabulated with a group 

of predictor variables that included socio-demographic characteristics, 

number of prior offenses, seriousness of the presenting offense, and size 

• of restitution order. 2 The results, displayed in Table 3, indicate that 

the youths required to make restitution alone generally would be considered 

• 
"better risks" than those receiving combined dispositions: They are 

older, have higher family incomes, are more likely to attend school on a 

full-time basis, usually have fewer prior offenses, and tend to have been 

referred to the juvenile court on less serious charges. Moreover, youths 

with smaller amounts of restitution to payor community service hours to 

work were more likely to receive sole sanction restitution than those with 

larger orders. There were no statistically significant differences with 

• respect to race and gender. 

If certain types of youths are more likely to receive restitution as 

a sole sanction, are they also more likely to successfully complete the 

restitution order? The data in Table 4 suggest they are: While age does 

not seem important, the relationships of successful completion rate with 

family income, school attendance, number of prior offenses, seriousness of 

presenting offense, and size of restitution orders are substantial. The 

picture which emerges, then, is one of rational, calculating judges who 

know precisely what they are doing. They know that certain types of 

juvenile offenders are more likely to complete restitution requirements, 

11 
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TABLE 4 • SOLE SANCTIotlRESTITUTION BY BACKGROUND CHARACTERISTICS 

SOLE NON-SOLE NUMBER 
CHARACTERISTICS SANCTION SANCTION OF CASES • 
~ 

13 and younger 11% 89% 1,074 
14 12 88 1,570 
15 12 88 2,335 
16 13 87 2,515 
17 15 86 1,865 
18 and older 18 82 456 • p < .001 

Ganuna = .09 

~ 
White 13% 87% 7,025 
Non-White 12 88 2,701 • n.s. 

Ganuna = - .06 

Annual Fami1~ Income 

Less than $ 6,000 14% 86% 1,163 
$ 6,000 - $10,000 14 86 1,077 • $10,000 - $14,000 11 89 1,205 
$14,000 - $20,000 14 86 1,010 
OVer $20,000 17 83 1,309 

p < .01 
Ganuna = .05 

School Attendance • Full-time 14% 86% 7,130 
Not in school 9 91 1,172 

p < .001 
Ganuna = - .23 

• 
(continued) 12 

• 

• 



,--;---.-,-~-, 

TlIBLE 4 • SOLE SANCTION RESTITUTION BY BACKGROUND CHl\RACTERISTICS (continued) 

SOLE NON-SOLE NUMBER 
CHARACTERISTICS SANCTION SANCTION OF CASES 

Total Number of Priors/Charges 

0 15% BS% 4,427 
1 11 B9 1,943 
2 10 90 1,106 
3 9 91 702 
4 9 91 415 
5 B 92 2B3 • 6 and more 12 BB 617 

P < .001 
Gamma = - .17 

Seriousness 

Victimless 29% 71% 266 
Minor General 16 B4 156 • Minor Property 11 B9 1,150 
Minor Personal 10 90 213 
Moderate Property 16 B4 2,695 
Serious Property 12 BB 2,B17 
Serious Personal 12 BB 377 
Very Serious Property 9 91 1,673 
Very Serious Personal 9 91 326 

P < .001 
Gamma = - .14 • 

Sex 

Male 13% B7% B,BS4 
Female 13 B7 1,044 

n.s. 

• Size of Monet~ Restitution Order 

$ 1 - $ 41 17% B3% 1,205 
$ 42 - $ 90 15 B5 1,199 
$ 91 - $ 165 14 B6 1,250 
$166 - $ 335 14 B6 1,291 
$336 - $12,500 12 BB 1,314 

P < .001 
Ganuna = - .09 • 

(continued) 13 

• 

• 
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TABLE 4, SOLE SANCTION RESTITUTION BY BACKGROUND CHARACTERISTICS (continued) 

SOLE NON-SOLE NUMBER 
CHARACTERISTICS SANCTION SANCTION OF CASES • 
Size of UnEaid Communi t:( Service Order 

1 - 16 hours 28% 72% 842 
17 - 25 14 86 826 
26 - 40 10 90 815 
41 - 74 4 96 699 
75 - 468 2 98 855 

p < .001 • Gamma = - .55 

• 

• 

• 

• 
14 

• 

• 
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TABLE 5.. SUCCESSFUL COMPLETION RATES BY BACKGROUND CHARACTERISTICS 

.... CHARACTERISTICS 

• 

• 

14 and younger 
15 
16 
17 and older 

n.s. 
Gamma = - .00 

Income (Annual) 

Less than $ 6,000 
$ 6,000 - $10,000 
$10,000 - $14,000 
$14,000 - $20,000 
$20,000 and over 

P < .001 
Gamma = .20 

School Attendance 

Full-time 
Not in school 
Other 

P < .001 
Gamma = - .38 

Total Number of Priors/Changes 

o 
1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 and more 

P < .001 
Gamma = - .29 

(continued) 

PERCENT 
SUCCESSFUL 

15 

89\ 
87 
88 
89 

83\ 
88 
89 
92 
92 

91\ 
80 
82 

92\ 
89 
87 
81 
81 
86 
77 

PERCENT 
UNSUCCESSFUL 

11% 
13 
12 
11 

17\ 
12 
11 

8 
8 

9\ 
20 
18 

81i; 
11 
13 
19 
19 
14 
23 

NUMBER 
OF CASES 

1,461 
1,353 
1,468 
1,503 

671 
649 
676 
607 
796 

4,247 
1,111 

242 

2,743 
1,092 

644 
407 
.228 
159 
347 
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TABU: 5:. SUCCESSFUL COMPLETION RATES BY BACKGROUND C!lARACTERISTICS (continued) 

PERCENT PERCENT NUMBER 
C!lARACTERISTICS SUCCESSFUL UNSUCCESSFUL OF CASES • 
Seriousness 

Victimless 92% .8% 180 
Minor General 90 10 98 
Minor Property 90 10 755 
Minor Personal 91 9 131 
Moderate Property 92 8 1,688 
Serious Property 87 13 1,643 • Serious Personal 86 14 208 
Very Serious Property 82 18 879 
Very Serious Personal 84 16 159 

P < .001 
Gamma = - .25 

Size of Moneta~ :aestitution Order • 
$ 1 - $ 41 95% 5% 866 
$ 42 - $ 90 94 6 881 
$ 91 - $ 165 89 11 839 
$166 - $ 335 85 15 760 
$336 - $12,500 76 24 617 

P < .001 
Gamma = - .40 • 

Size of Communitr Service Order 

1 - 16 hours 97% .3% 673 
17 - 25 95 5 608 
26 - 40 91 9 566 
41 - 74 85 15 468 
75 - 468 74 26 476 • P < .001 

Gamma = - .50 

• 
16 

• 

• 



•• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

387 

and therefore 1ess in need of supervision; thus, these youths receiv& 

restitution as a sole sanction while others, who seem to be greater risks, 

are given dispositions which combine restitution with other sanctions. 

However, the picture is not yet complete. To reject as spurious 

the proposition that sole sanction restitution is predictive of successful 

completion, the relationship between these variables must disappear when 

the effect of other, competing, factors is held constant. If the originally 

observed relationship "washes out," then the weight of evidence is on 

the side of the competing explanation. 

Table 5 displays the zero-order gamma coefficient between type cf 

disposition and completion of restitution requirements, as well as first

order partial gamma coefficients with statistical controls for school 

attendance, family income, number of prior offenses, offense seriousness, 

and amounts of restitution ordered. The originally observed relationship 

between type of disposition and completion of restitution does not disappear, 

but in fact remains strong even when multiple controls are introduced. The 

earlier finding--that juveniles who are ordered to make restitution as a 

sole sanction are more likely to complete those requirements successfully-

remains, and cannot be rejected as spurious. 

Type of Disposition and In-Program Reoffense Rate 

In addition to the rate of successful completions, another measure 

• of an offender I s performance while under an order from the court to make 

restitution is the in-program reoffense rate. This rate is important since 

a major goal of the restitution initiative is to reduce recidivism by 

rehabilitating juvenile offenders. In the 85 projects funded by the 

• 

• 

• 

initiative, youths are automatically terminated from the restitution proj

ect if a new offense becomes known. Through the end of April, 1980, about 

17 
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TABLE 6. EFFECT OF DISPOSITIONS ON COMPLETION RATES, 
CONTROLLING FOR OFFENSE SERIOUSNESS, 

AND OTHER FACTORS 

ZERO-ORDER 
RELATIONSHIP 

(ganuna) 

Relationship Between Successful 
Completion and Sole Sanction 
Restitution 

controlling for offense 
seriousness 

controlling for number 
of priors/changes 

controlling for school 
status 

controlling for annual 
household income 

controlling for size of 
monetary restitution order 

controlling for size of 
conununity service order 

controlling for offense 
seriousness, number of 
priors/charges, school status, 
and annual household income 

- .40 

18 

FIRST-ORDER 
PARTIAL 
(g"nuna) 

- .40 

- .40 

- .36 

- .36 

- .40 

- .40 

FOURTH-ORDER 
PARTIAL 
(ganuna) 

- .26 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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500 cases out of approximately 10,000 had been closed in this manner. 

The calculation of the in-program reoffense rate is complex as it involves 

• the computation, over time, of the nUlnber of cases expected to be "at risk" 

and the proportion of cases expected to reoffend. The procedures for 

calculating the rate are explained in detail elsewhere (Schneider, Schneider, 

and Basernore, 1980); in sum, about 1.36 percent of all the juvenilnn 

in the initiative can be expected to reoffend each month. This 

• means that about eight percent of all the juveniles in the initiative for 

six months are likely to commit new offenses, with the rate growing 

cumulatively larger for each successive month of time at risk. 

For a number of reasons, the type of disposition should be related 

to the.probability of reoffending, since youths on probation or under 

• suspended commitments are subjected to greater scrutiny, are more closely 

supervised, have "more to lose," and so forth. The observed relationship, 

once again, is in the opposite direction and parallels the earlier finding 

concerning successful completions. As shown in Table 6, the estimated 

• monthly reoffense rate increases monotonically with what might be called 

the "degree of court control"--a scale ranging from sole sanction restitu-

tion (least control by court) to suspended commitment and restitution (most 

control). The table also shows the estimated proportion reoffending within 

six months, and the data from which the estimations were calculated. 

• As was done with the finding concerning successful completions, the 

in-program reoffense rate was cross-tabulated with the offenders' demo-

graphic characteristics, the number of prior offenses, the seriousness of 

the presenting offense, and the size of the restitution orders. The 

• purpose of these analyses was to search for a third variable which might 

account for the relationship between type of disposition and probability 

of reoffending. Only the number of prior offenses seemed a likely 

19 
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TABLE 7. REOFFENDING RATES BY TYPE OF DISPOSITIONl 

Estimated Monthly 
Reoffense Rate 

Estimated Proportion 
Reoffending Within 
6 Months 

No. of Referrals 

No. of Offenses 

No. of "Youth Months" 
of Risk Time 

SOLE SANCTION 
RESTITUTION 

0.98% 

5.7 

1,228 

44 

4,507 

PROBATION AND 
RESTITUTION 

1.42% 

8.15 

6,735 

429 

30,285 

SUSPENDED COMMITMENT 
AND RESTITUTION 

2.32% 

13.2 

434 

44 

1,893 

IThe monthly reoffense rate estimate is calculated as k/Nt where ~ is the number of 

offenses and Nt is the number of "youth months" of risk time for al: referrals. The 

Proportion reoffending within six months is calculated as Y = 1 - e at where ~ is 

the monthly reoffense rate described above and ~ is set at six months. (See Schneider, 

et. a1.. 1980) • 

• • • • • 
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TABLE 8. REOFFENSE RATES, BY PRIOR OFFENSES1 

N = 9,365 

Estimated 
Monthly 
Reoffense 
Rate 

Estimated 
Propor.'::ion 
~ofrending 

Wi thin 6 Mos. 

t10. of 
Referrals 

No. of 
Offenses 

No. of "Youth 
Months" of 
Risk Time 

NO 
PRIORS 

1.0% 

6% 

4,356 
(47%) 

184 

18,259 

1See note in TABLE 6., infra. 

NUMBER OF PRIOR OFFENSES 

ONE 

PRIOR 

1.4% 

8% 

1,921 
(21%) 

119 

8,333 

21 

TWO 
PRIORS 

1.65% 

9% 

1,089 
(12%) 

78 

4,471 

THREE OR MORE 
PRIORS 

\ 2.4% 

13'!i 

1,999 
(21%) 

217 

9,033 
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REOFFENSE RATES BY TYPE OF DISPOSITION 
CONTROLLING FOR PRIOR OFFENSESl 

SOLE SANCTION PROBATION AND SUSPENDED COMMITMENT 
RESTITUTION RESTITUTION AND RESTITUTION 

% Reoffending % Reoffending % Reoffending 

No Prior Offenses 

Monthly Rate 0.79% 1.16% 2.04% 

6-Month Rate 4.62 6.72 11.52 

12-Month Rate 9.39 12.99 21.72 

No. of Cases (662) (2,082) (126) 

One or Two Prior Offenses 

Monthly Rate .94% 1.52% 1.98% 

6-Month Rate 5.46 8.7 11.2 

12-Month Rate 10.63 16.7 21.1 

No. of Cases (322) (2,249) (157) 

Three or More 

Monthly Rate 1. 95% 2.37% 3.01% 

6-Month Rate 11.04 13.24 16.52 

12-Month Rate 20.87 24.37 30.32 

No. of Cases (196) (1,451) (154) 

ISee note in TABLE 6., infra 
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candidate for, as shown in Table 7, the estimated reoffense rate increases 

steadily as the number of prior offenses increases. However, when this 

variable was controlled, an astonishing but consistent pattern emerged: 

For each category of number of prior offenses, the in-program reoffense 

rate increased with the degree of court control exercised in the different 

~ dispositions. The data are presented in Table 8 and graphically 

in Figure 1: they suggest, once again, that juvenile offenders who 

• receive restitution as a sole sanction are more likely to "succeed"--in 

terms of avoiding ~uture crimes as well as compieting their sentences--than 

youths who receive combined dispositions. 

• 
Also, the argument that sole sanction restitution is appropriate only 

for the less-serious offenders appears to b~ontradicted. The data clearly 

indicate that, even in the "most serious" category of offenders--those with 

three or more prior offenses--sole sanction restitution may be effective 

in reducing recidivism. While it is true that the reoffense rates for 

this category are greater, the rate for the youths on sole sanction restitu

tion are slightly less than the rate for first offenders who were placed 

in restitution projects under suspended sentences of commitment. 

Discussion 

The findings reported in this paper ou'e fascinating: On the one hand, 

they fly in the face of the popular notion that nothing, in the broad 

field of corrections, "works": on the other hand, they challenge decades 

of practice in American juvenile courts. It has long been co~non for 

juvenile court ~udges to link specific sanctions with probation, and, even 

in a federal program in which sole sanction restitution is encouraged, 

judges favor combined dispositions by a margin of about four to one over 

restitution alone. Challenged, too, are the arguments propounded in the 

23 
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395 .' literature, for the practice of making restitution a condition of probation. 

If persons making restitution as a sole sanction are less likely to reoffend, 

and more likely to complete their requirements, then the arguments that 

• the sanction is by itself "insufficient," or that offenders making restitu-

tion need "guidance," or that probation is required for "enforcement," would 

seem to be invalid. 

But while the finding is fascinating, it is not inexplicable nor, in 

a broader context, even unique. An almost identical result was obtained 

It nearly 20 years ago by a group of Cambridge researchers in their study 

It 

of attendance centers in England (McClintock, Walker, and Savill, 1961). 

The attendance center sentence is a court order requiring juvenile offenders 

to spend a given number of hours during weekends at a center that usually 

is administered by the police department. In addition, some offenders 
/' 

(about 50 percent) are placed on probation for one to three years. The 

researchers found that the offenders sentenced to the attendance centers 

as a sole sanction were less likely to fail (recidivate) than those who 

were placed on probation in addition to being required to attend the 

centers. The combined disposition, in other words, had a failuxe rate 

greater than that of the sole sanction. 

Like ourselves, the Cambridge researchers suspected that the observed 

relationship between the sole sanction and greater success rate might be 

spuricas and accounted for by the criteria judges use in sentencing 

offenders. They found, upon further investigation, that those who received 

combined sentences were, on the average, worse risks than the others in 

terms of prior delinquency and social status. However, when the back-

ground characteristics of the offenders were statistically controlled, 

the relationship remained the same. Moreover, another test of the relation-

ship, using a different sample of offenders, yielded similar results. 

25 
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As a potential explanation for their findings, the cambridge researchers 

suggest that there are other, more subjective, factors that are related 

to both the offender's selection for probation and his probability of 

failure, such as the "atttude of the offender in court." The same 

explanation can be proffered for the results obtained in this study, and, 

indeed, it is worth noting. Campbell and Boruch (1975) suggest that this 

explanation--that of a "profound underlying confounding of selection and 

treatment"--invalidates most social experiments. Furthermore, if the 

real reason for selection into a particular treatment is (a) unknown and 

(b) highly related to the outcome, or "effects," of the treatment, then 

efforts to statistically control for the selection bias will be ineffective 

~ the control variables are nearly perfect surrogates of the "real" 

variable. 

It is not highly probable, howerer, that this explanation can threaten 

the validity of the results obtained with either the restitution data or 

the attendance centers data. In appraiSing the Cambridge study, Leslie 

Wilkins (1969) avers that an explanation based on subjective estimates 

of an offender's success in a given program "would seem to ascribe .,lmost 

divine insight to the magistrates concerned" (Wilkins, 1969:82). Rather, 

he suggests an interpretation based on the face value of the study's 

results: "(They) show a combination of treatments to be poor treatment 

It may be convenient to believe that two obviously good things together must 

be better than one singly, but the study's evidence is to the contrary." 

Wilkins proposes what he calls the "simplest" hypothesis: •. the least 

that it is possible to do with offenders, the better the outcome!" (empha-

sis in original). Moreover, he adds, from the standpoint of complexity, 

the simpler, the better: "Probation alone is more complex than attendance 

center alone, and probation plus attendance center is even more complex." 

26 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



•• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

397 

The same might be said for the juvenile offenders in the restitution 

. initiative, and the lesson, possibly, is that as more requirements are 

placed on youths, the opportunities for failure increase. 

Is it possible, too, that the effects from simpler treatments are 

more long-lasting? The data on the restitution program reoffense rate 

would seem to suggest they a=e, and the notion is buttressed by a study 

of traffic offenders in a California court (OWens, 1967). The study com-

pared the effectiveness of combined sanctions--fine and probation, fine 

and driver's school, and fine, probation and driver's school--with the effec-

tiveness of single (sole1 sanctions. According to the study, assignment to 

the driver's school without probation appeared to be the most effective 

sentence in reducing recon~ictions. 

Proponents of labeling theory will note the similarity between Wilkins' 

admonishment to do "the least that is possible" with young offenders and 

Schur's (1973:1551 injunction to "leave the kids alone where'Jer possible." 

Indeed, Lemert's (1967:77) hypothesis suggesting that stronger penalties lead 

to further deviation may offer yet another explanation for the findings 

reported in this paper. However, the data should not be pushed too far: 

it can be argued that all th!YOuths involved in this .study were "labeled" 

in that all were formally adjudicated delinquent. In addition, the use of 

these data in support of the labeling perspective would require evidence that 

those offenders sentenced to probation feel more stigmatized than those ordered 

restitution only. 

Further research on the effectiveness of sole sanction restitution as 

compared with combined dispOSitions 'is forthcoming. As a part of its 

evaluation of the juvenile restitution initiative, the Institute of 

27 
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Policy Analysis is conducting field experiments, involving random assign

ment, in six cities across the Unj.ted States. One of these experiments 

is explicitly designed to test for differences, both short-term and long

term, among juveniles who received different types of dispositions. In 

the experiment, offenders are randomly assigned int? three groups: Sole 

sanction restitution, restitution plus probation, and probation alone. 

An attitudinal questionnaire is administered to the youths in each group 

upon completion of their dispositions, and the youths are tracked for up 

to two years to assess their rates of recidivism. The knowledge gained 

frOm the experiment will inform, and either support or contradict, the 

findings of this study. 
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NOTES 

1. What is referred to as the mid-point in the life of the initiative 

• is not necessarily the same as the mid-point in the life of· any given 

• 

project. The projects were funded over a six-month period from September, 

1978, to March, 1979, and many projects took several months to get started. 

Grants were awarded for a maximum of three years; funding for some of 

the projects will end as early as September, 1981, and for others it will 

continue through February, 1982. The total number of referrals to all 

projects is expected to be slightly more than 20,000. 

2. For purposes of the analyses reported in Tables 3 through 5, the 

"type of disposition" variable was dichotomized by combining "restitution 

• plus probation" with "restitution under suspended commitment." This was 

• 

considered appropriate since there are no differences between these 

categories when this variable is cross-tabulated with completion of 

restitution requirements. The N-siz.es in these tables will total less 

than 7,000 (the approximate number of closed cases available for analysis) 

because of missing data on some of the variables. While the socio-demographic 

variables (age, race, sex, family income, and school attendance) are 

straightforward, the others require definition. "Total number of priors/ 

charges" is computed by adding prior offenses, which include any delinquent 

• offense ~own to court authorities except those which were dismissed or 

• 

• 

• 

screened out due to lack of evidence, and concurrent offenses, which are 

delinquent acts other than the referral offense which are listed on the 

petition or among the charges again~t the youth. "Offense seriousness" is 

a variable which combines the gravity of the offense (ranging from traffic 

violations through rape and armed robbery) with the amount of loss which 
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resulted from the crime. For example, burglary is coded a "moderate 

property offense" if the loss is $10 or less; "serious" if the loss is 

between $11 and $249; and "very serious" if the loss is $250 or more. 
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The Juvenile Justice System 
Uses A Special·Language 

The language comes from a 
deliberate attempt to distinguish the 
juvenile. justice system from its adult 
counterpart by the use of different 
terminology. 

Police do not arrest juveniles: They 
take them into cUstody. 

Juveniles are not charged with 
crimes: They are alleged to be 
delinquent. 

Juveniles are not jailed: They are 
detained. 

They are not put in jail: They are 
placed in security detention. 

A juvenile alleged to be delinquent is 
a respondent, not a defendant. 

There is no conviction in the juvenile 
justice system: There is ~djudication. 

The decision on how to treat a 
juvenile adjudicated delinquent is 
called a disposition, not a sentence. 

Juveniles are not sentenced to 
prison: They are committed to a 
jU\'PnJl£> school. 

They are not placed on prohation, 
hut under court supcrvbiun. 

They are not parollt:d: They nrc 
placed on after care. 

This juvenile justice system 
language indicates real differences 
between the juvenile and adult 
systems. 

tt Written, compiled and edited by 
David L. Tank 
Mary C. McEniry 

The Wisconsin Juvenile Restitution Project is administered 
.. by: The Bureau for Children, Youth and Families 
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Division of Community Services 
Department of Health & Social Services 

Prepared under Grant #79-JS-AX-0099 from the Office 
of Juveni Ie Justice and Del inquency Prevention, Law 
Enforcement Assistance Administration, U.S. Depart
ment of Justice. 

Points of view or opinions in this document are those 
of the authors and do not necessari Iy represent the 
official position or policies of the U.S. Department 
of Justice. 
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Introduction 

In November 1978 the Wisconsin Legislature activated a 
revised Children's Code, clarifying and updating the legal 
rights of children in Wisconsin. One important aspect of 
the new code is its clarification of the purpose and pro
cedures for allowing a juvenile to make restitution for 
his or her offense. With the sanctioning of restitution 
settlements, consideration for victim compensation was 
also reinforced. Restitution;s now a viable alternative 
to traditional methods of juvenile rehabilitation. The 
pri·mary factors for thi s renewed i nteres tin restituti on 
appear to be: 

1) Recognition of the victim's importance to juvenile 
criminal proceedings; 

2) Disillusionment with tradit40nal dispositional 
alternatives; 

3) A philosophical shift attempting to more closely 
asso~iate dispoiitions with offenses. 

With the incr~ased authorization for Juvenile Restitution 
in Wisconsin, there also comes the challenge and responsi
bility to implement the pl'oaess of restitution. The Wis
consin Juvenile Restitution -Project, funded on a pilot 
basis by the Federal Law Enforcement Assistance Adminis
tration (lEAA), provides an opportunity for juveniles to 
make restitution for their offenses and accept responsi
bility for their actions. 

This booklet provides a brief overview of the restitution 
process, its background, and future in Wisconsin. It is 
a helpful starting point for persons interested in learn
ing more about juvenile restitution or helping to design 
a local program. 

Readers wanting further assistance about the initiation 
or development of a restitution program should contact the 
Juvenile Delinquency Prevention Consultant (JDPC) at one 
of the six regional offices of the Division of Community 
Services, Department of Health and Social Services or 
write to The Wisconsin Juvenile Restitution Project. 
Addresses are on the back of this booklet. 

• 
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A Brief History of Restitution 

"VwUng -the rU.gM, -the 1.a.d qiUe:t1.y CJl.ep-t up 
:to -the. :te.:thvr.e.d hOMU. He. cut :the. 1l.0pe. an 
one 06 -them and w,Uh a ~-Lng.te motion Wa.6 on 
:the hOM e .PaU6-Lng .6Ughti.y, he. IUck.ed :the. 
hOM e. and .0 ped away. WaMn minutu :the 
whale camp Wa.6 awak.e.ned. The. ownvr. 06 :the . 
hOMe Man caugM up w,Uh -the boy and k.nock.ed 
Mm 066 hU. hOMe. Wahout wa..6:Ung :Urn'!., -the 
own('.Il. paid a v-L.6a :to the 1.a.d'.o home and a6:tvr. 
a bue6 cLU C'..U6.o-Lo n an CWta.ng emen:t Wa.6 agll.eed 
upon whvr.eby -the lad woui.d WOll.k. on :the ownvr.'.o 
6aJUn w,Uhout pay 601l. :thi.tLty daY-6." 

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 

"Randy wa1.k.ed .o.tow.ty -thll.ough -the Il.OIAl6 06 c.a.M 
pMk.ed -Ln 61l.On;t 06 :the dMcount .6:toll.e. F-Ln.a.Uy 
he . .6aw wha.:t he Wa.6 loolUng 6oli.. .•• a c.M w.U::h 
k.ey.6 -Ln :the. -Lgn.,i;ti.on. He C[iUck..ey hopped 
-Ln.6-Lde and -6-tM:ted -the eng-Lne. LoolUng Mound 
he c!Jwve :the. CM old: 06 :the lo:t. A new mtnutu 
Wvr. a :tUc.ed -6 ho ppvr. Il.e.:tWtned :to 6-Lnd hvr. CM 
rrU..6.6-Lng. She :thll.ew hvr. aJtm6 up -Ln cLUptUll., :then 
we.nt back. -Ln.6-Lde and calle.d :the poUce and hell. 
-Ln.6 UIl.a.nce co mpany • " 
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Things aren't the way they used to be. Our methods of 
dealing with crimes, victims and offenders have become 
increasingly impersonal-and segmented. The victim is 
dealt with by one department. The offender is handled 
by another. And the insurance co~pany pays the bill 
for damages. 

In the not-so-distant past, offenders, particularly 
juveniles, were informally required to make restitution 
for thei r mi sdeeds. Restituti on meant simply "a 
making good for loss or damage," and this usually 
occurred directly between the victim and offender. 

Although restitution has been with us for a long time, 
some historians argue that the purpose of restitution 
has changed throughout the years. In the earliest day, 
the victim took a very active role in seeing that he or 
she was somehow repaid. Later, as towns began to grow 
and individuals became economically stable, there was 
more negotiation involved in property crimes. Then, 
Codes of Laws were written. Rules were set down whereby 
a certain article or person was worth a certain quantity 
and repayment was ordered by multiplying its worth. 

In Europe, during the Middle Ages, the victim lost 
practically all recompense for a crime when offenders 
were required to pay the state. This was "protection" 
money to protect the offender against the revenge of 
the victim. Restitution was also not for everyone. 

• 

• 

• 

Rather; t was a substitute for corporal pun; shment and • 
those who were not fortunate enough to pay often faced 
a harsher, direct system of justice. 

Some historians interpret this gradual loss of victim 
involvement as due to the attempt to build social unity 
(revenge and feuds were very socially destructive types 
of behavior); to consolidate central power (kings wanted 
to have more control over their subjects and were inter
ested in keepi ng the money for themsel yes);~ 
and to protect the wrongdoer from the ,,~ 
vengence of the vi ctim. Thus. the vi ctim . ,,~, "" 
was not the central concern in these . -' ~ . 

I( \ .~, 

f~rms .of restitution. Rather, res- . :', .~t 
tl tutl on was a way to curb the hi:~~ . {/ 
behavior of the victim. ' 

• 

• 
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As history progressed, the right of the injured 
slowly separated from criminal law. Citizens 
interested in obtaining restitution from offenders 
had to proceed through civil law. a process which 
was often di!\satisfying . 

Although severa1 people tried to renew interest in 
restitution as a correctional device, there was 
little done in the United States until the 1900's. 
During the early 1900's restitution was often given 
as a condition of probation, or a suspended sentence, 
or informally arranged. However, it has only been 
since the 1950s that there has been an increase in 
legislation to provide monetary compensation to 
victims of crime. At the same time victim compensa
tion ideas were being considered, people also began 
to see the rehabilitative potential of restitution. 

Several formal juvenile restitution programs have 
been introduced throughout the country within the 
last 10-20 years. In 1978 the Office of Juvenile 
Justi~e and Delinquency Prevention, within the law 
Enforcement Assistance Administration. launched a 
30 million dollar initiative in juvenile restitu
tion. The initiative was implemented in 29 states 
involving 86 counties, the largest single Special 
Emphasis Gr.ant Pro~na~ administered by OJJDP. 

'. :~ 
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Wisconsin, with it~ newly revised Children's Code, 
was a ready recipient for the new restitution project. 
The Wisconsin Juvenile Restitution Project. adminis
tered through the Department of Health & Social 
Services' Division of Community Services, was put 
into operation in 10 court jurisdictions within the 
state in February 1979. These first 10 projects 
were located in Ashland, Barron, Chippewa, Douglas, 
Marathon, Outagamie. Rock and Walworth counties, the 
city of Green Bay and the Menominee Indian Reservation. 

Juvenile Restitution Today 

In its simpZest form 3 juvenile restitution involves 

• 

a 12- to 17-year-old offender repaying a viatim for • 
loss or damages. One aim of restitution is to re-
store, at least partially, the victim's loss and to 
satisfy the victim that the youth is being held 
responsible for his or her actions. But it is 
more than just repaying or satisfying the viatim. 

In its fuZZest sense~ juvenile restitution serves 4t 
as an important tool in the process of rehabiZi-
tation. It also serves as a deterrent for repeat 
offenses. By holding the youths 
accountable for their actions 
they are given the chance to 
accept personal responsibili-
ty for thei r 1 i ves . • 

• 

• 
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~ Restitution May Take Three Forms 
::.: 
'c 

~. 

• 

1 

2 

3 

monetary payment - the youth forfeits personal 
savings or works on a job until he or she 
earns enough money to repay the victim. 

community service - the youth works on a vol
untary basis with a community agency or organi

'zation for a specified period of time to 
symbolically repay the losses incurred by the 
community. 

victim service - the youth works voluntarily for 
the victim during a specified period of time to 
repair or replace the damaged or stolen property. 

Restitution should not be confused with victim 
compensation services. In victim compensation~ 
the government repays the victim for loss or 
damage according to compensation laws. In 
restitution~ the youth must, in some way 
personally repay the victim. 

Juvenile restitution is based on the assumption 
that, by having to forfeit time and resources to 
repay the victim, the youth will ... 

... be held personally accountable and become 
aware of the consequences of his or her actions . 

.•. have an opportunity to behave in a socially 
acceptable manner and in a way that both 
increases a sense of respon~ibility and 
improves the youth's seZf-image . 

••• not become Zabeled by others as cr~minal or 
de Unquen t. -

•.. be deterred from becomir~ invoZved in further 
deZinquent activity • 
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Is Restitutio., THE ANSWER? 
It would be naive to believe that anyone program 
could be the answer to all the problems presented 
by juvenile delinquency. But as a part of the 
total juvenile justice system, restitution can 
serve an important function. Research and. evalu
atfciri"I"about juvenile restitution has been 'limited 
in the past. There is no conclusive scientific 
evidence showing restitution's value for the of
fender, victim. community or even the long term 
costs that will be involved. Still, the most 
commonly heard comment during' discussions of 
restitution is, "It seems so Zogical-! - Why 
weJ:'en't we doing this befoJ:'e?" An extensive 
evaluation of the Wisconsin Juvenile Restitution 
Project is currently being conducted that will 
help in shaping future programs. 

-

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

•• 
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The Ju"enile Court Procedure 

Juvenile court proceedings can be confusing to the 
person not familiar with them. What follows is a 
brief description of how the juvenile court typi
cally operates. 

Not all youths who have been apprehended are sent to 
court or see a judge. Depending upon the offense 
committed, law enforcement officials and the intake 
worker often divert juveniles from the formal court 
proceedings. Each court has specific guidelines 
to determine who must be brought to court and ""ho may 
be diverted. 

If a youth is referred to court, the first person 
that he or she will come in contact with is the 
intake worker. The intake worker is a person con
nected with the court who initially interviews the 
juvenile, determines whether the court has juris
diction over the case and either recommends that a 
petition be filed or negotiates an informal decision 
with the youth and hi~ or her parents. 

• 79.-489 0-81-27 

'.' 
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If it is determined that the case should continue 
within the court, the youth will next meet with 
either the juvenile court commissioner or the judge 
who will decide if the youth is a violater of civil 
laws or ordinances; is delinquent, which means the 
child has violated a state or federal law; or is in 
need of protection or services, as in the case of 
child abuse or a runaway. Once the status of the 
youth is determined, the judge consults with attor
neys, probation officers, and social workers to 
determine the most appropriate disposition, or 
treatment plan, for the youth. 

Where Does Restitution Fit Into The 
Juvenile Justice System? 

The intake I'lOrker may deci de to proceed tuithout a 
formal court hearing and, instead, make an informal 
disposition whereby the juvenile would sign an 
agreement with his or her parents, stating that 
restitution would be made. The amount of da~ages 
to be repayed is indicated at this time. 

If the case has been referred to the courts~ res
titution can be"ordered at various stages of the 
proceedings: 

4t If the youth admits to the allegation during the 
plea hearing - the first meeting with the juvenile 
and the judge - the judge may stop the proceedings 
and order a consent decree. A consent decree is 
a voluntary agreement between the youth and the 
court stipulating that the juvenile will perform 
certain activities, which may include making resti
tution. The judge may, however, choose to make a 
judgment and adjudicate the juvenile as delinquent 
or in violation of a civil law or ordinance, and 
schedule a dis~ositional hearing. At this dispo
sitional hearing the judge may then order resti
tution. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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.. If the youth denies the aZZegations~ the judge 
decides if the charges are true or false at a 
fact-finding hearing. If, during the course of 
this hearing, the youth changes his or her plea 
the judge may suspend the proceedings, order a 
consent decree and restitution. 

Once resti tut'i on has been ordered by the judge the 
case is referred to the ZocaZ JuveniZe Restitution 
Project. If determined to be an appropriate refer
ral, the project director or staff works with the 
youth, the victim and a board of community volunteers 
to determine a "reasonable" manner for the youth to 
make the restitution settlement. The youth is given 
assistance in locating a job, so that restitution 
can be made. The project also monitors the work of 
the juvenile, collecting the money to be repaid to 
the victim, and helping the youth straighten out 
other personal problems that may be affecting com
pletion of the settlement. Once the restitution 
has been made, the case is closed, and in the case 
of a consent decree, the records are destroyed. 

If the court jurisdiction does 
not have a program to help 
juveniles make their restitu
tion settlement, the court may 
still order restitution, but it 
is up to the offender to see to 
it that the settlement is ful
filled, something that has not 
worked well in the past. 
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Who Is Eligible To Participate In The 
Juvenile Restitution Project? 

Because of the pilot nature and grant provisions of 
the Wisconsin Juvenile Restitution Project, only 
.those youths who have been judged delinquent, or have 
been found to be responsible for criminal acts, are 
eligible for involvement in the program. The 
number of previous court referrals is also taken 
into consideration when admitting a juvenile into 
the current project. Most youths admitted to the 
pilot projects have a history of two or more prior 
court referral s. For acts. consi dered offenses 
solely because the offender is minor, such as 
running away, drinking or truancy (status 
offenses), involvement in the restitution project 
is consi dered i nappropri ate. 

As restitution programs grow and are expanded to 
other court jurisdictions, eligibility criteria 
could be changed to allow for involvement by 
greater numbers of youths. Such decisions may 
vary slightly from project to project, depending 
upon the local situation within which each project 
operates. 

Who Can Sponsor A Juvenile 
Restitution Project? 

Restitution programs may operate from different 
agencies, such as the courts, youth service bureaus, 
police departments, or social service offices~ It is 
important, however, that the agency with which it is 
linked is willing to establish a full-ti·rrie 'staff ' 
(perhaps just one person) to devote full energies to 
the restitution project. Because of the nature 
of the position, strange hours may be common. One 
cannot expect a potential worksite supervisor to 
juggle his or her business schedule in order to 
accommodate the overbooked calendar of a part-time 
restitution worker. A formaZ restitution program 
requires a fuZZ-time staff. The program staff needs 
to be interested i.n the welfare of juveniles. To make 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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the program work well, the staff must be sensitive to 
the needs and interests of the youth and be willing to 
work with him or her in seeking the best, not the 
easiest, restitution situation. 

Funding A Restitution Project? 

Finding the funds to support a full-time restitution 
program will not be easy. However, it will not be 
impossible either. Within the next few years, all 
Wisconsin counties will be given the option of 
developing local restitution programs, using state 
Youth and Family Aids monies. 

Compared to other methods of juvenile rehabili
tation, it appears that restitution is a bargain. 
The major cost involved is for the support of a 
full-time staff and for assistance in locating 
jobs for the youths through subsidy. In cases 
where the community is very supportive local 
businesses may be willing to hire juvenile offenders 
on a short-term basis without the added incentive 
of government subsidies. In such a situation admin
istrative costs will be the only expense. 

There are also other funding sources that can help 
get a restitution program off the ground. For 
current information on who to contact and what is 
available get in touch with the Juvenile Delinquency 
Prevention Consultant (JDPC) for your area or the 
project coordinator of the Wisconsin Juvenile 
Restitution Project in Madison. Their addr.esses 
are listed on the back of this booklet. 

... :'" 
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What Is The Future 
Of Juvenile Restitution? 

The future of restitution will depend upon several 
factors: 

*Community Support: The success of any restitution 
program depends upon what happens at the local 
level. Often times, in order for the juvenile to 
make restitution. he or she needs a job. In order 
for that youth to get a job, the support of the 
local business community is needed. Government 
supported or subsidized worksites can only have 
the short-term effect of getting a project 
started. 

*GovernmentaZ Action: Legislation authorizing and 
encouraging the use of restitution for juveniles 
has already been given. Authorization, however, 
isn't enough to make restitution succeed. Local, 
county, or state governing bodies must also be 
willing to support restitution by providing staff 
and facilities. 

*Support Of The JudiciaL System: The court has the 
final say about which juveniles are admitted to the 
restitution program. Judges who believe in the 
value of restitution are likely to refer youths to 
a local restitution project. 

*KnowLedge Of How Restitution ActuaZLy Works: As 
programs are evaluated it will become increas
ing1y easy to adapt and tailor individual projects 
in an attempt to make the restitution process as 
effective as possible. 

-

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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For more information 

• CONTACT YOUR JUVENILE DELINQUENCY PREVENTION 

• 

CONSULTANT (JDPC) AT YOUR NEAREST DIVISION 

OF COMMUNITY SERVICES REGIONAL OFFICE 

SOUTHERN REGIONAL OFFICE: 
3601 Memorial Drive, Madison, 53704 (608)249-0441 

SOUTHEASTERN REGIONAL OFFICE: 
225 Executive Drive, Brookfield, 53005 (414) 257-4450 

• f4ILWAUKEE REGIONAL OFFICE: 

• 

819 N. 6th St., Mi Iwaukee, 53203 (414) 224-4501 

EASTERN REGIONAL, OFFICE: 
1181 Western Ave., Box 3730, Green Bay, 54303 
(414) 494-9641 

WESTERN REGIONAL OFFICE: 
719 W. Clairemont Ave., Box 228, Eau Claire 54701 
(715) 836-2174 

NORTHERN REGIONAL OFFICE: 
Schiek Plaza, Box 697, Rhinelander, 54501 

.. (715) 362-7800 

• 

• 

• 

Or contact 

Wisconsin Juvenile Restitution Project 
Dennis Maloney, Project Coordinator 
Bureau for Chi Idren, Youth & Fami lies 
State Office Building 
I West Wi Ison Street 
Madison, Wisconsin 53702 
(608) 266-5716 
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WISCONSIN JUVENILE RESTITUTION PROJECT EVALUATION 

SECOND INTERIM REPORT 

EXECUTIVE SU~1MARY 

Submitted To: 

The Wisconsin Council on Criminal Justice and 
The Department of Health and Social Services 

Madison. Wisconsin 

Submitted By: 

Carkhuff Associates. Inc. 
Amherst, Massachusetts 

February, 1981 

This evaluation research is supported with funds awarded by the 
\visconsin Council on Criminal Justice and the Law Enforcement 
Assistance Administration under the Crime Control Act of 1968 
and 1976. Poi nts of vi e~1 or opi ni ons s ta ted herei n are those 

'of Carkhuff Associates, Inc., and do not necessarily represent 
the official position of the \oIisconsin Council on Criminal 
Justice. 
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OVERVIEW 

WISCONSIN JUVENILE RESTITUTION EVALUATION 

SECOND INTERIM REPORT 

EXECUTIVE SU~INARY 

Overview 

This report is the Second Interim Report on the Evaluation of the 

Wisconsin Juvenile Restitution Project. The purpose of this report is 

to present a summary of all the data collected to date. This report in

corporates and updates the information presented in the First Interim 

• Report, June, 1980. The data should not be viewed as conclusive or final. 

• 

During the,next phase of this study, Carkhuff Associates will be collect

ing additional information and further analyzing the data. A final report- -

will be developed in the Fall of 1981. 

The data presented in this report can be used to describe Restitution 

Project youth. A total of 492 youth are included in the sample. At the 

time this .report was compiled, 347 of the yC'uth had completed their resti

tution invo1-vement, while 145 were still participating in the project. Data 

collection began with the first case at each project sit,a. Project start 

'. dates v'aried, as indicated in the list below: 

SITE DATE OF FIRST 
RESTITUTION INTAKE 

Outagamie 5/16/79 

• Rock 2/12/79 
Walworth 3/28/79 
Green Bay (Brown) 3/29/79 
~'enominee 4/23/79 
Marathon 9/8/78 

(5/1/79 - 2nq Case) 
Chippewa 3/6/79 • Doug1 as 8/23/79 
Ashland 5/21/79 
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The following sections are summarized in this report: 

Section I: Restitution Project Overivew 

Purpose: To present an analysis of the process evaluation so that 

the critical components of the administrative and project qelivery pro

cedures can be identified and refined. 

Section II: Survey Results 

Purpose: To present the initial findings from surveys completed by 

victims and community opinion leaders so that attitudes towards the 

restitution project can be identified and improved. 

Section III: Impact Data 

Purpose: To present the impact data collected on projected youth 

so that a picture of youth involvement at each site can begin to be 

developed. 

A more detailed presentation of each section is included in The 

'Second Interim Report. 

Carkhuff Associates would like to acknowledge the restitution project 

staff for their continued assistance and cooperation with this evaluation 

study. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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SECTION I: 

RESTITUTION PROCESS OVERVIEW 

I NTROOUCTION 

This section contains an overview of the· firm's finding from the 

process evaluation of the Wisconsin Restitution Project. Process evalua

tion data have been previously reported in: 1) The Project Improvement 

Report, November, 1979; 2) The First Interim Evaluation Report, June, 

1980; and 3) The Preliminary Process Evaluation Reports for Eau Claire, 

Fond du Lac, Kenosha and Racine Restitution Projects. 

Most of the process data were collected during on-site visits conduc

ted by Carkhuff Associates staff at the fourteen project sites. Additional 

information was derived through telephone interviews and attendance at 

Restitution Quarterly Meetings. 

Project staff can use the process evaluation findings to refine their 

existing procedures. Also, the findings can be used to assist individuals 

who are interested in developing new restitution project sites . 
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Chart #1 

Subject: An Overview of Restitution Project Administration PI'ocedures 

ADMINISTRATIVE 
PROCEDURES 

Policy Development 
and Implementation 

~~~~~~~--

---.-~----

-------~ 

--~------

--------

PURPOSE OF THE 
PROCEDURE 

To develop and assist in the imp1e~ 
mentation of contracts between county 
restitutlon project staff and the 
OHSS; to.insure the adherence to 
contract provisions by monitoring 
and providing technical assistance. 

To actively provide for, and assist in; 
the collective setting of restitution 
project policy with all appropriate 
personnel (e.g., project coordinators, 
University of IHsconsin Technical 
Assistance staff, Juvenile Delinquency 
Prevention Consultants, etc.). 

To manage DHSS administrative activi-
ties in order to comply with the 
financial and program stipulations 
set by the Office of Juvenile Justice 
and Delinquency Prevention. 

To develop and implement public 
information and public relations 
activities so that the general pub-
lic and interested criminal justice 
professional s are kept informed 
about the progress of the restitu-
tion project in Wisconsin. 

To develop and cultivate resources 
for the project and to gather infor-
mation relevant to the continued 
growth and expansion of county 
restitution activities. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

~.' .. 
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ADMINISTRATIVE PROCESS 

IMPLICATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

f 
.J .. 
~ 1. The following planning dimensions should be considered in an effort 

to secure future project funding: 

• Potential sources should be identified. 

• Data and information should be developed for presentation 'to 

potential funding sources and community leaders. 

• Methods for dissemination of project information should 

be sel ected. 

• Technical assistance should be provided to project sites so 

that they can pursue local funding sources. 

2. The Restitution Project Manager should consider using an expert in 

public relations to assist in the development and dissemination of 

project information. 

3. The administrative component of the restitution project should arrange 

; or provide technical assistance to project staff in order to: 
-~ .... 

• Provide skills training 

• Help in solving local problems 

• Assist in the development of local resources 

• 'Stimulate information exchange among local project staff 

4. Administrative monitoring of local restitution project delivery 

~tt should be frequent and linked to the restitution program evaluation. 

tt 
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Chart 112 

Subject: An Overview of Restitution Project Delivery Procedures 

DELIVERY 
PIHiCfoliREs 

PURPOSE OF' THE 
PROCEDURE 

To identify youth who are potentially 
eligible for project participation 

-----~ and accept those who meet specific 
'-------r------' pr.oject eligibility criteria. 

To make a recommendation to the 
-----~ court which specifies a fair and 

equitable amount of restitution. 

To develop an indivi.dl;::1ied resti
tution p'lan which addresses the 

------~ responsibilities of the youth and the 
'-------.,-------' interests of the parents and victim. 

To monitor and differentially rein-

• 

• 

• 

-----. __ force youth performance and behavior •• 
'--_____ -,--____ --' during participation in the project. 

Closure of Restitution 
Cases 

To close project cases when full 
restitution to the victim has been 
made or when a youth is terminated 

------~ from participation as a result of 
'--_____ .,-____ ---0 noncompliance with the restitution 

flan. • 



-, • • • • e'''''''·' '. ',' ~'.'-"n--.~'r:_""'~\.~'M1)'.-"!_h'~':"'l";t-,.-~ ,-,~.,~" • .}q"~}'>";-"~:".-+'~d'";,"""""'~ -::'k 1")";" ~;'~I<:'·1r4"<_ ':':;""":~ <::(1 ... 'I''''f.' '~"~','(f-,r'.I';);1 

Table 2. 

OVERVIEW OF PEOPLE INVOLVED IN RESTITUTION DELIVERY PROCEDURES 

PRO J E C T' PRO C E D U RES 
MONITORING 

TARGET GROUP OETERMlIlATlON OF DEVELOPMENT OF PARTICIPATION AlID CLOSURE OF 

PEOPLE INVOLVED IDENTIFICATION THE RESTITUTION YOUTH RESTITUTION PROVIDING RESTITUTION 
AND INTAKE AMOUNT PLAN REINFORCEMENT CASES 

County Project Coordinator X X X X X 

ProJect Advi sory Board X 

County Judge X X 

District Attorney X 

Intake Staff X 

Social Service Staff X X X -
Prohation Staff X X 

Youth Parti ci pants X X X X 

Parents of Project Youth X X X X 

Victims X X 

~loyers of Project Youth X X X 

Project Partners X X X 

.1 n_surance Adjuster X 

*Any single county project may involve a larger or smaller number of people in a larger or smaller number 
of procedures. This chart presents information about the types of people most frequently involved in 
procedures among all project sites in the study (N = 14). 

~ 
'" l\:) - ...;J 

I 

.! 

/~. 
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RESTITUTION DELIVERY PROCESS 

IMPLICATIONS AND RECO~lMENDATIONS 

1. It is important that Restitution Project staff work with the 

• 

• 

court, social services and other local agencies in order to clearly • 

define the role of the project within the community. 

2. Victims should receive specific information about the Restitution 

Project, anticipated payment schedule, and alternative ways to 

receive compensation. 

3. Whenever possible, behavioral contracts between the project, the 

. youth, and the youth's parents should be developed. This approach 

insures that the youth have a clear understanding about the conse

quences of their behavior, the responsibilities of the project and 

the outcomes associated with successful participation. 

4. Project staff should provide feedback to local law enforcement agen

cies in order to facilitate an ongoing exchange of information. 

5. An active partner program can provide "the project with resources 

needed to personalize restitution programming for each youth. A~ 

effective partner program includes: 1) selecting, 2) training, and 

3) supervising of partners. 

6. Whenever possible and appropriate, parents should be involved in their 

child's restitution program~ing. The decision about parental involve

ment should be made on a case-by-case basis. 

7. Project staff should work closely with job-site supervisors. Employers 

are not only the youth's source of' restitution employment, but also 

offer an ,opportunity to learn valuable new \~ork skills. 

•• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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Z 8. Participation in the restitution project provides the opportunity 

•• 

to increase youth skil.ls in a variety of dimensions. Research 

indicates that providing new living, learning and working skills 

to youth is the most effective form of rehabilitation. Project 

staff should take every possible opportunity to facilitate the 

project youth's skill development . 

• 79-489 0-81--28 
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SECTION II 

SURVEY RESULTS 

INTRODUCTION 

This section contains the firm's initial findings from the victim 

and opinion leader surveys. The surveys focus on collecting attitudinal 

•• 

• 

data about the Restitution Project and the local Juvenile Justice System. • 

The following list contains the sites surveyed: 

NUMBER SURVEYED 

Site Victi:.is 0einion Leader 

Outagamie 38 11 

Rock 23 5 

Brown 27 4 

Menominee 13 6 

Marathon 15 5 

Chippewa 20 5 

DCiuglas 2 5 

Opinion leaders included county board members, law enforcement 

persom.el, social service staff, community advisory cOl1lJlittees and 

others who are involved in local services for youth. 

• 

• 

• 

. ...• w· 
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INITIAL FINDINGS 

VICTIM QUESTIONNAIRE 

Total Number Sent = 149 

Total Number Returned 83 

Total Number Returned by Post Office 7 

Response Rate 58.5% 

QUESTION: How do you feel about the way the restitution pro-

cess was handled in your case? 

~ 

Very Dissatisfied - 1 

Very Satisfied 

No Responses 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

- 7 

PERCENT OF RESPONDENTS 

14.46% 

6.02% 

8.43% 

19.28% 

13.25% 

16.87% 

21. 69 % 

·'r'''l': 
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VICTI~l QUESTIONNAIRE 

QUESTION: How 00 you feel about programs which involve the e. 
youthful offender in paying back the victim for the 

loss produced by the crime? 

RATINGS 

Very Unfavorable - 1 

2 

3 

4 

6 

Very Favorable - 7 

No Response 

PERCENT OF RESPONDENTS 

9.64% 

4.B2% 

3.61% 

7.23% 

2.41% 

10.B4% 

60.24% 

1.20% 

QUESTION: How do you feel about the way the juvenile justice 

system is dealing with youthful offenders in your area? 

RATINGS PERCENT OF RESPONDENTS 

Very Unfavorable - 1 13.25% 

2 12.05% 

3 13.25% 

4 24.10% 

5 15.60% 

6 B.43% 

Very Favorable - 7 6.02% 

No Response i------, 7.23% 
) 

/ -

e 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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VICTIM QUESTIONNAIRE 
IMPLICATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

• Respondents expressed dissatisfaction if a small percentage of the 

documented loss was returned. 

Recommendation: 

• Project coordinators should explain to victims the process by which 

the restitution amount was set. Victims should be given a list of 

steps they can take in order to get the full amount of the loss 

returned. 

Theme: 

• Some respondents were unsure of why the amount returned was less 

than the amount ordered by the court. 

Recol1illendation: 

• Victims should be notified if the youth fails to complete his or 

her restitution. The reason for the incompletion should be provided 

as well as the subsequent steps the victim can take in order to 

receive compeDsation. 

Theme: 

• ~lany respondents were dissatisfied with the length of time between 

the offense and final payment of restitution. 

",: 

, .. ".'.:' 
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VICTn1 QUESTIONNAIRE 17 

Recommendation: 

• Although the Restitution Project coordinators have limited control 

over the time frames between offense and payment, the following 

is recommended: 

Theme: 

Victims should be informed about the Restitution Project 

time frames and the reason for the time frames. 

If a long time is anticipated before restitution payment 

can be made in full, then projects should consider 

partial payments to the victims. 

• Some respondents commented that although they were dissatisfied 

with the amount and/or the delays in payments, they were impressed 

with the Project Coordinator's efforts. 

ReCOIlDnendation: 

• Victims should be kept well informed about all activities related 

to their case. 

Theme: 

• Many respondents indicated some dissatisfaction with the handling 

of their case, while at the same time, most of the respondants felt 

very favorable towards the concept of restitution. 

Recommendation: 

• If victim dissatisfaction with the payment procedures could be 

addressed, then victims will be an excellent source of community 

support for the projects. Projects may want to consider eliciting 

suggestions from victims at the termination of a case'. 

-

• 

•• 

• 

: •.. 
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INITIAL FINDINGS 

OPINION LEADERS 

Total Number Sent = 41 

Total Number Returned = 28 

Response Rate 68.3% 

QUESTION: HOw did you feel about the way the juvenile 

justice system in, your area dealt with the youthful 

offender two years ago? 

RATINGS PERCENT OF RESPONDENTS 

very Unfavorable - 1 7.14% 

I 
2 17.86% 

3 21.43% 

t 
4 14.29% 

5 21. 43% 

6 7.14% 

Very Favorable - 7 3.57% 

No Response 7.14% 

", ~ 

.' :i,., 
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OPINION LEAOER QUESTIONNAIRE 

QUESTION: How do you feel about the way the juvenile justice • 

system deals with young offenders? 

RAT"INGS 

Very Unfavorable - 1 

Very Favorable 

No Response 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

- 7 

PERCENT OF RESPONDENTS 

10.71% 

7.14% 

10.71% 

7.14% 

25.00% 

21.43% 

14.29% 

3.57% 

QUESTION: How familiar are you with the juvenile offender 

victim restitution program in your area? 

RATINGS 

Very Unfamiliar - 1 

Very Familiar 

No Response 

2 

3 

4-

5 

6 

- 7 

PERCENT OF RESPONDENTS 

3.57% 

7.14% 

7.14% 

7.14% 

7.14% 

21. 43% 

46.43% 

.i 
• 

• 

• 

••• .• 1 

• 
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OPINION LEADER QUESTIONNAIRE 

QUESTION: How do you feel about victim restitution programs 

which help victims get some type of pay-back from the 

juvenile offender? 

RATINGS 

Very Unfavorable - 1 

Very Favorable 

No Response 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

- 7 

PERCENT OF RESPONDENTS 

3.57% 

3.57% 

3.57% 

17.86% 

71. 43% 

QUESTION: How do you feel about the Restitution Project now 

operating in your area? 

RATINGS 

Very Unfavorable - 1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

Very Favorable - 7 

No Response 

PERCENT OF RESPONDENTS 

7.14% 

3.57% 

14.29% 

25.00% 

50.00% 
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OPINION LEADER QUESTIONNAIRE 
IMPLICATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

• Many opinion leaders were very familiar with their local Restitution 

Proj ect whil e others i ndi cated that they were unfamil i ar wi th the 

project. 

Recommendation: 

• Restitution Project coordinators and advisory boards should make an 

effort to inform the communities about the Restitution Project 

highlights. Vehicles for disseminating information about' the projects 

could include newspaper articles, speaking engagements, informal 

meetings with community leaders. and development of materials 

describing project outcomes (e.g., annual reports). 

Theme: 

• Some opinion leaders commented that they felt the Restitution Project 

was effective because it involved parents in the process. 

Recommenda ti on: 

• The involvement of parents in the restitution process should be 

encouraged whenever possible by project coordinators. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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OPINION LEADER QUESTIONNAIRE 23 

Theme: 

• Respondents supported the objective of victim compensation, but 

also felt strorilgy about the potential community benefits of 

restituti on. 

Recommendation: 

• Projects should consider the assignment of community service hours 

along with victim compensation in cases where it would be appropriate. 

Theme: 

• Opinion leaders see the project as an opportunity for youth to learn 

new skills and gain self-respect. 

Recommendation: 

• Efforts should be made to assist youth in the acquisition of new 

skills. Gains made by youth in skill areas should be documented 

by the proj ects. 

, ' , 
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!§! 

Park Line = Victill1 
Respondents 

White Line = Opinion 
Leader Respondents 

ATTITUDES TOWARD 
RESTITUTION CONCEPT 
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~ 
Dark Lines = Victim 

Respondents 
White Lines = Opinion 

Leader Respondents 

ATTITUDES TOWARD 
JUVENILE JUSTICE SYSTEM 

3 4 5 6 

RATINGS 

7 
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Favorable 



-~----- - --- --,--.. ---- - ---;-~------c::;-. -. ----;--;-;- ---

442 

SECTION III 

IMPACT DATA 

INTRODUCTION 

This section contains a statewide summary of the impact data 

collected to date. The primary sources of information were the IPA 

Intake and Closure Forms. The Second Interim Report presents the data 

by project site. At this time, it would be inappropriate to consider 

the data as conclusive or final. Rather, the data presented in this 

report can be used to describe restitution project youth. A total of 

492 youth are included in the sample. At the time this report was 

compiled, 347 of the youth had completed their restitution involvement, 

while 145 were still participating in the project. A narrative des

cription of the data is presented, followed by a summary of· the statewide 

data. 

• 

• 

• 
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DESCRIPTION OF THE DATA 

The following is a description of the youth involved in the Wisconsin 

Juvenile Restitution Project. 

Youth Characteristics: 

Ninety percent of the youth are male. The most cOl11ll1on birth years are 

1962, 1963 and 1964. Seventy-four percent of the youthl are enrolled fu11-'-. 
time in school, while 13% 'l.re not attending school. At the time of 

restitution closure, 81% of the youth are living with their families, and 

12% of the youth are resi di ng in non-secure faci 1 iti es.l 

Offense Data: 

The most common referral offense is burglary, followed by vandalism 

and larceny/theft. On a 7-point scale, with 1 being least severe and 7 

bring most severe, the most frequent severity rating assigned to the 

referral offenses is 5. Thirty-eight percent of the youth are first 

offenders. However, the average number of prior offenses for the entire 

sample is 2.92. 

Most project youth are given multiple dispositions, including resti-

tution, with probation and/or counseling. At restitution closure, a 

~ majority of the youth are still on probation. 
±. 
, Seven percent of the project youth have committed a subsequent offense, 

while in the restitution project. Consistent with the referral offense 

information, burglary is the most commcn type of subsequent offense. 
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Victim Information: 

Many cases indicate multiple victims. The most common vtctim type 

is a person or individual. The average amount of documented victim loss 

is approximately $700.00. 

Einployment Information~ 

The most common type of restitution work arranged is subsidized 

employment, followed by regular employment in the private or public 

sector. A majority of the YQuti~ retain less than 50% of their wages. 

• 

• 

The average amount earned ~y project youth is $327.00. .: 

At restitution closure, 37% of the youth are employed. Employment 

at closure is most commonly obtained by the youth or through the con

tinuation of their restitution po~itions. Fifty-four percent of the youth 

are unemployed at closure. The most common reason state for unemployment • 

is the lack of a position. 

Closure Information: 

Eighty-five percent of the project youth completed their restitution 

requirements. The most common reasons for incompletions are: 1) youth 

moved; and 2) petition dismissed/inappropriate for project. 

• 
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SUMMARY 

STATEWIDE DATA 

Intake - 492 

YOUTH CHARACTERISTICS 

Sex: 

Birth Year: 

Race: 

School 
Status: 

Living 
Status 
a.tCiOsure: 

79-489 0-81-29 

Male - 418 Female - 48 

1958 - 1 
1959 - ---
1960 - 5 
1961 - 22 
1962 - 90 
1963 - 136 

White - 359 
Nat"ive American - 96 
Black - 4 
Unknown - 33 

Full-Time - 362 

1964 - 116 
1965 - 59 
1966 - 25 
1967 - 4 
1968 - 2 
1969 - 2 

Not in School - 65 
Night Schoo1/GED - 4 
Alternative School - 3 

With Family - 273 
Non-Secure Facility - 40 
Secure Facility - 11 
Independently - 4 
Runaway - 4 
Military - 1 
Drug Treatment Center - 1 
Away at School - 1 

Closure - 347 

Missing Data - 26 

Missing Data - 30 

Part-Time - 8 
Graduate - 1 
Secure Facility School - 2 
Unknown - 47 

Missing Data - 12 
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STATEWIDE DATA 

OFFENSE DATA 

Referral 
Offense: 

Offense 
Severit~ 
Rati.illl.: 

Number of 
Prior 
Offei1ses: 

Forcible Rape -
Robbery - 8 
Aggravated Assault - 2 
Burglary - 172 
Larceny/Theft - 61 
Assault and 8attery - 8 
Arson - 7 
Forgery - 9 
Sta1en Property - 13 
Vandalism - 77 
Auto Theft - 55 

LEAST SEVERE 

~ 
HOST SEVERE 

~lean = 4.29 

if OF PRIORS 
o 
1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
18 
20 
22 
25 
28 
30 
31 

I-lean = 2.93 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 

1 - 119 
7 

13 
- 292 

0 
30 

Mode = 5 

/I OF YOUTH 
164 
88 
51 
34 
22 
18 
7 
7 
8 
1 
3 
6 
2 
3 
7 
1 
2 
1 
3 
2 
5 
1 
1 

Node = 0 

Weapons - 4 
Drunkennp.ss - 2 
Disorderly Conduct - 8 
Trespass/Threat - 3 
Curfew - 1 
Operating Motor Vehicle 

without Consent - 35 
Reckless Driving - 2 
Drivi ng Under Inf1 uence - 1 
Crim'<na1 Mischief - 3 

Missing Data - 20 

Missing Data - 30 

Missing Data - 55 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

e.: 
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STATEWIDE DATA 

Court 
Actions: 

Subseguent 
Offense 
i'ri"Orto 
Restl tuti on 
Closure: 

Court 
sta'fiis at 
Closure: 

447 
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Restitution - 462 
Proba ti on - 309 
Non-Secure Placement - 48 
Secure Facili~y - 14 
Commitment to State Corrections - 6 
Counseling - 155, 

Burgl ary - 8 
Larceny/Theft - 4 
Vandalism - 1 
Trespass - 2 
Assault and Battery - 1 

Auto Theft - 4 
Forgery - 1 
Criminal Hischief - 1 
Operating Hotor Vehicle 

without Consent -. 1 

Offenses Not Specified - 13 
Total Number of Subsequent Offenses - 36 

Percentage of youth with Subsequent Offense - 7.31% 

No Longer Under Court Jurisdiction - 98 
On Probation - 198 
Review Scheduled - 14 
Secure Facility - 8 
Youth Transferred - 3 
Case Up for Appeal - 1 
Non-Secure Placement - 2 
Informal Supervision - 5 
Moved - 1 
Ordered Restitution on New Offense - 1 
Consent Decree - 2 
Other - 5 

VICTIM INFORMATION 

Victim Type: Person - 210 
Household - 94 
School - 99 
Store/Business -

Missing Data - 24 

156 

Victim Loss: Average Amount of Documented Loss: $ 701.73 
Range of Documented Loss: $0 - $7,000 

"-;'.l 



STATEWIDE DATA 

Amount 
ReCciVe" red: 

448 

33 

Average Amount of Restitution Paid: $ 348.15 
Range of Amount Paid: $0 - $6,411 

Average Percentage of Loss Recovered - 28% 

EMPLOYMENT INFORMATION 

Youth 
E'ii'riiTn 9S : 

Employment 
at Closure: 

Reason for 
Unemployment 
at Closure: 

CETA Position - 38 
Subsidized Em~loyment - 258 
Regular Employment - 75 
Victim Service - 14 
Community Service - 62 
Household Chores - 3 
Paid Youth Program - 2 

Average Amount Earned: 
Range of Amount Earned: 

Average Amount Kept by Youth: 
Range of Amount Kept by Youth: 

Average Amount of Youth's 
Earnings Paid by Project: 

Range of Amount Paid by Project: 

Restitution Job Continuing - 53 
Job Found Through Project - 11 
Job Found by Youth - 49 

$ 327.25 
$0 - $2,251 

$ 116.88 
$0 - $751 

$ 235.11 
$0 - $2,251 

Job Found by Parents or Friends - 5 
Job Obtained Through Other Program - 6 
Unpaid Community Service - 1 
Type of Employment Not Specified - 3 

Total Number of Youth Employed at Closure - 128 
Percentage of Youth Employed at Closure - 36.89% 

Ooesn't Want to Work - 47 
Has No Job - 110 
Not Employable - 10 
Employment Arranged, Not Started - 8 
In School - 11 
Runaway - 2 

Total Number of Youth Unemployed at Closure - 188 
Percentage of Youth Unemployed at Closure - 54.18% 

• 

• 

•• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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STATEWIDE DATA 

CLOSURE INFORMATION 

Completions: Full Compliance with Requirements - 274 

Incomp1etions: 

Full Compliance with Adjusted Requirements - 21 

Total Completions - 295 
Percentage of Youth Completing Restitution - 85.01% 

Youth Never Had a Job - 7 
Youth Lost Job - 5 
Youth Did Not Meet Requirements - 8 
Youth Moved - 9 

.Youth Refusad Participation - 1 
Parent Refused Participation - 1 
Youth Committed on Current Offense - 7 
Referral Withdrawn/Inappropriate for Project - 3 
Petition Dismissed/Not Guilty - 9 
New Offense - 1 

Total Number of Incomp1etions '- 51 
Percentage of Youth Not Completing - 14.70% 

Project Average number of days from offense 
Time Frames: to referral: 

79-489 0-81-' -30 

Average number of days from referral 
to closure: 

120 days 

121 days 
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Wake County Juvenile 

Court Restitution 

"Learning 

Through 

Community 

Service" 

Wake County Juvenile Court Restitution 
Ms. Sandy Pearce, Program Director 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Wake County Courthouse, Room 227 .:. 
P. O. Box 351 

Raleigh, N. C. 27602 
(919) 733-2867 
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The Problem 

Vandalism! Larceny! Breaking and Entering! The 
incidence of property-relat€d crimes commited by 
juvenile offenders increases annually on both the local 
and national level. In Wake County, at least 60% of all 
cases brought to the attention of the Juvenile Court 
Office involve the taking and/or destruction of prop
erty. There are numerous on-going efforts to dissipate 
the occurrence of these offenses. The most innovative 
and predictably the most successful is restitution 
through community service. 

The Goals 

• The goals of the Wake County Juvenile Restitution 
Program are: 

• To, increase the sense of responsibility and account-
• ability of juvenile offenders 

• 

• 

• 

• To prevent the recurrence of property-related crimes 
committed by juveniles (under 16 years old) 

• To satisfy the victims of prorerty-related crimes by 
ordering compensation through supervised service to 
the community 

• To provide juveniles in the program an opportunity to 
learn appropriate behavior patterns and to practice 
behavior necessary for success in interpersonal and 
work situations 
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The Program 

The Wake County Juvenile Court Restitution Program • 

is Federally Funded (OJJDP) and operates through Wake 

County Government. It is an innovative program designed 

to confront juvenile offenders, under age 16, with their 

responsibility to compensate victim(s) of property related • 

crimes. Juveniles who are adjudicated delinquent in court 

proceedings will be ordered by the court to make 

restitution in the form of supervised community service. 

The Wake County Juvenile Court Restitution Program • 

will: 

(1) screen the juvenile for appropriateness to 

the program 

(2) determine the length and location of service 

(3) develop community job sites 

(4) provide adult supervision· for juveniles 

during the service period 

(5) and notify victims of the youth's satis

factory completion of his/her restitu

tion obligation 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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The Work Sites 
Typical work sites cooperating with the Wake County 
Juvenile Court Restitution Program include: 

• The Wake County Sheriff's Department 

• • Wake County Opportunities, Inc. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• The Womeds Center, Inc. 

• The Raleigh Housing Authority 

• The Wake County School System 

...• Hilltop Home for Retarded Children 

• The Raleigh Parks Department 

• The Raleigh Police Department 

ctJuvenile olfenders should be held accountable for their 
crimes. Restitution through service to the community 
provides a constructive method for teaching responsibility 
within a community setting." 

The Honorable George F. Bason 
Chief District Court Judge 
Wake County 

.:.;. : 



CARl.. J. JOHNSON 
W",(c C~~""Tl' .., ....... ,:1:111 

The f\lI"OOSe 

454 

WAKE COUNTY JUVENILE COURT RESTITUTION 
"L~':'!=i~l:-'Ci ~£:$?Ot .. S.aH .. lry T-IROJ,,!';:;'H 

COM~l.o~(TV S~~V·Ct.·· 

$.,\.~O't c.. ?tA~CE 
"~"",,,:,,.t:=l"O" 

,1:1, O. SO~ 3!51 
fUoL.L:C:;;IoI, 'l, '!:. 271J.'JZ 

733-2867 

The 'xat;.; CO'..Lrlty Juvenile Cou:t Restitution ?!"'ograo is Federally 
f~~ded (OJJDP) ar.d operates through County gove~ent. It is an 
ir~ovative ,rogram designed to confront juvenile offenders with 
their responsibility to compensate victims and the co~ur~ty fOr 
property of£ensers (i.e., larceny, burga~ly, breaking ~~d ente~ing, 
sho:olifti:"1g). Juveniles a:--e adjuc.icated de.1inquent and. a!"'$ or-dered 
by t~e court to o:~= res~itu~ion i~ ~~e ~O~ of supervis~d co~~~ity 
servic-es. 

- To i~c~eaSe the sense of responsibility a~d accountability o~ 
juvenile offenders, 

- To ~r"ev-=nt t:'1e recuT':-epce of ?:,ope~/-:"~la-:ed Cr'i:nes cCi:lWitteci, 
by ~uve~!.lBs~ 

- To sat~sf1 the victi~s o~ ~rope~ty-relatee cri~es by o~deri~g 
cc.::::;e~sa. ';!.O':1 t:-...!'o~g!: st1pe:-;!.sac- s~:Wlic.e -:0 -:1".e cou:.o'..:.ni ty. 

- ~o ;=:-ovi·:!; .jt.:ven!.les in the ?~o,gra::n a!"l op~ortu..'"lity to learn 
apP:'Iopriate behavi~Z" ?att.erns a:o.d to practice behavior' necessa:'Y 
for success in interpersonal and "/lorl( situations. 

T~e ?:'ocess 

:sach cas~ is sc~-=er.ed 'tiy an i:l-:ake CO'..l.'1selo:" to ceter:line tbe se
ver!ty of the c~a~ge$ and the ap?rop~iate~$Sz o! co~t action. 
A£ter a petition is filsd, an evaluation team meetir.g 1s conducted. 
!"he cot1.."'"!se;'o:'", ?esti~ution c.ir-ac-:or, ar.d · .. e Court. Psychologist 
:~~:;.: ~~e _~:S; !~t.~;f1S _ o!, ~!~r.:eff:;~f:;S i;O ~~~e =rr~~;a~. _=:~; ~~ 
- ...... 6 ..... o ..... __ o .. :!J..-._",y ~e .. ,_ ......... """--5-"--..1- ... _~ ~ ...... _lot ... ~ ..... ,:,c .... _._ ... Q, 

cor~e~encef A forcal recoCQenda~ion is cade in the prehearir.g 
court s\!COa!'}' for pa!'ticlpation in cOIll:n1J.rl ... :;ty service resti-cution. 

Ste~ II - !he Court Process 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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;hke CO\l.'lty Juvenile Cour"': Restitution 
Page 2 

volvement in the Restitution progra~ is entered. 

Steo III - COlll!:lunit'l Service Process 

I~eciately following the court hea~i~g, ~he p~o5~a~ di~9ctor ~eets 
with the youth a:"~c. !'lis/he:- pa:re~t.s. ':'he ;nlrp0.5e a:,,~·:' pr-oce'!"..:=;s !:;. 
the p~og~a~ a=e ex~lained. A Resti~u~ion So~~ra:~ and o~h~~ !o~~s 
are sigced. A second meeting is sctgduled. The second meeting is 
a job SKills conference. The program director uses this conference 
as: 

1) an opportunity to get to "~'10W the client 
and 

2) an opportunity to provide job skills t~aining. 

A Rest!.tut~on Handbook is prese!1.ted a!1d discussed with the client; 
I~~or~ation regardi~g ~he purpose of the program, the ~les of the 
prog:-am, and p:'ocedur-es for handling problems at work are delinated. 
A mock job application is completed by the client. The program. 
director discusses the victim' 5 p2rs;ec~ive ',ofi th each t;l!er.~. A 
letter is sent to each victim desc~ib1cg the program and specifying 
the jUvep~le's COQffi~ity se~ice obliga~io~. 

~'f·':'t~i~ t· .... o 'N'ae~s of tr.e cou.. .... t :'1ea:'i::g -:ne ,:u·re!1!.le begins ·,ijor:::::g. 
·volu.."'ltea:- 'h'or:< is per.!'o!".:1ed on Sa -:urc.ays a t co~uni ty agenc:.es J i. e. , 
T~e ?olica Depart::le!"l': I -the Y:'!CA J t::e 'l·~:len I s Ce!1ter t 2o::d -the '/i'a:r;e 
CO'..l_T'rty Cere'::lral ?alsy Ce~~e!"'. ':'he ';~ .. "'/en!.l~s · ... ·ash cars, Fai!'1t !"oows, 
ra:--:e :"e3:,es, ·,.;ash 'r"li::c.~;.'s, clea."'l hct:,sa c:' p:ar-,t sh--Uc.s. Th'Sre is 
c~e st:.?':?:"V!.sor :or ~',ery ~~ee ju';e!"'.iles. !'~<; .5\lpc!"·v!.~o!""s ~o=;la"';e 
six. :"10 1..J:s 0: -:rai!"~ng cefor-e i\'o:'"~:!.~g in t?1e program. The su.per'V~.5o!"s 
ar~ ~aid 'oy the hour. Transport~ :ion is prov:dec. fo!" clien1:s (leased. 
van) ·"!--.o do no-: have t:-.e1r o",-n tra!1s?orta:'ion. 

T~e 3u~e~/iso~5 co~plete a behaVioral c~eck2i5~ on each cli=n~ each 
week. This ~e~ort is given to tr.e prog~am cl:'ector :~d the ~OlLrt 
cot.:..~sel,=,:,. ?:-05~gSS a!"'.1 ~ro:le:lS E.:'e :!or...! ~o::-ed v:'a -:his !"'spor-:. 

1". hen t::e clie!"l-: completes i"!is/her · .... ork ebl!.ga-:ion, a "te!":li:;ation con
~er=:lce is conc.ucted. T!l~ p!""o5:~a!:l di.!'ect~:-- discusses the 1 .... ~:-!< e;(-
P~~::~C8 .",~~~ ~~.e ~~i.:.nt~-:o _~:ses~ a~; .a::t!.t~~!~al ~:" 'ce~~;:,~o:7~Q'" c"_.'.5_5. ..n_ Io.. ... na 1_0 .. r_po ... 1,.;:' ar .... u~_a ... 0 ~. _i;:,e 0 ... corl;:, _ .. _c" ..... I __ y 
c:-!. tizs the clien-: I s behavior l:1 a n'~'orkn si -:uation. The clis~t I s 
:'s'o't'a:-d for r:.o~~e~i::.g "'t:-.e .:!·:l::".gat:'Jn is a posi":!.ve c.'t:l.:::a.=.i~:: se:""V':::e 
st.:.=!ta:-; ·..;:-.ich i5 i~clt.!ced in his/::er ~oU!"t !"'eco:-'d. 7he v!.c-:i:n is 
r:.ot!.::'.;d 0: the clis~-:' 5 sat.!..s!actoI""'/ cOuplet-ion o! -che ?rog:-am. 

T::e ODoortu ... "1i ty 

:nvo:'1s:"'~:l~ L'1 cO~:l\.!!:it:; serY~~o:: :t-=s-::"":.~.:.:'io:l !os a ?csi"t':'ve :.;a:-::i!':.i 

~~e~~,~~~g a;~r =~i~~~!;::.~~~;~~~rp :>~~~.~;!~s br.e~~r~~.i~~: ~~.~ ~~~g::J; 
sac:"!.~i:::.!.::g 'ti::ne a::.c s:;.e~5i to ·liO:-'?. 3."":. a cO::'::"':"'''1ity -agg!'lC,. T1:'~ough 
pa:::·-+;icipatlcn .!.n cO~I.l.";itr ser'.rice restituti:;~, j '.lveniles o:'ten gain 
a se!1s-e o~ :"-as;:or...s::i:ity !o!" ·,o(!"O:-.5-:'~!.!tg, a sense o~ contributing 
to ~~e CO~~'1i~y and an cndersta~~i~g o! the victi~rs perspective. 
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~~'ake COu.."l1;y Juvenile Court Rest! tution 
?age 3 

This program offers juvenile property offenders: 

1) positive inte:-action 'I/ith exemplary, supportiva adult role 
models "ilho supervise them at work sites. 

2) social and sirn:pl!stic job skills training in a g:--oup settir.,g. 
3) ~nd an opportunity to succ:::ed ·"hen i'ailu:re has becorr.e a ?at:ta:-n. 

Restitution through service to the comm~~ity provides a const~~ct!ve 
method for teaching responsibility within a community setti~g. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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1'fA.:(E C01JNT!' oTh~iILE COURT R.ESTIT1..iTION 

S;TAFFING PRCCWURE§ 

The e'lalua4;io:1 tae..:!! fo:" each r.efe:-:-al ·..;il1 CO!1sist 
of the Program Director, the supervising ~take and/or 
court counselor a=.d the court psychologist (if needed). 

1~e supervisL~ cou.~ co~~elor will present to the 
evaluation tea~ L~o~tion regardL~~ the juvenile, 
including: 
1 ~ 0emograp'ni';: i!"..fona tion 
2 Social histo~l L~o~ation and 
3 Court histo~J 

The juver~le's appropriateness to the program will be 
assessed individually by the sc:"ee~g co~ttee, 
based on the child's total range of functiona~l a
bilities, L~cludir~ intelligence, emotior~l stability, 
and social skills. . 

4) If the ju~enlle is deemed inappropriate for the program, 
the supe~/ising co'..l.rt cou::.selo::, 'Ifill indicate "this to 
the child and hiS/her f~ily. ~e coucselo::' will file 
a :'lo";;ion :or ?evie· .... a.~d d.elineate t"-is situation to 
the cou.:-t, 

• 

• 

• 

;;) If the juvenile is deeoed a?~)t'opriate for the program, 
t.~e screen.i:';.g comni -!;tee 'dll set the !:ll.!!!lcer' of hours • 
to be · .... o::-ked a:-:.d the location of e;nplo;l'!l:e::.t, based on 
the type ar.d serious~ess o! the offense. 

• 

• 
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·tfAXE COt;'NTY JtTVZN1LS COURT RESTITUTION PRCG~.l'1 

Selection Criteria 

T!':.e inc.i vidual must 1::e 'between ten a."ld i'i::teen years 
old a::ld a resident of 'dake County J NC. 

T:1e juvenile must 1::e adjudicated for the offense(s) 
for which he or she was charged. 

~e o!,fe::se (s) cocm.!. ttec. · .... ill be rest:-icted to prcpe:-t:r 
c!"!.:nes. 

T~e juvenile ~ust ce c.ee~ed physically, centally and 
emotionally a~le to fulfill a restitution requirement. 

The juvenile ~~d his parect O~ legal ~Jardian ~ust be 
· .... illing to sign a contractual agreement ',,,hich will stip
~ate the n~ce:- 0:: ho~s of cO~~"lity service work to 
be uerfo~ed ~d the c.ate for comcletion as determined 
by b.e ','iake Cct.:.nty J'.lve!'ile Court- Res~itution Prog:-a.:n. 
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'I{A..".\Z CClJNTY J1PI:;NILE CClJ?T ?.2ST:;:Tt,,~ION ??'CG?vl~'! 

Seve~~ty o~ Oife~se 

Level I 

'!':-espaSSl:ig 
:alse .!.la~ 
?os.session of 3,t.lrglary 

Tools 
Scop!.i:-ti~g 

~~sce=~a~o~ :a~~e~'l 
~t!..s:::e.::ea::o~ 3rsaki.::g 

ar.d :2;:':a!"ir.g 
::::-ge:-/ 
Joy ?!"-='i~g 
?ecei~~~g 5tole~ Goeds 
'1a.::daEsm 
~!o-:;.o!" Vee!:::!.; C:'!e::,ses 

invo::"v,i.:;.g ~r:Jpe:-::t c'a:lage 
~n:'a...-!'..:.l =\.!...~n.gs 

:e:"or.J..o'.:..s !...a:"ce::y 
Arson 
:elor~ou5 =~ea~ing a:.d 

~;:':e:,,!..:;.g 

?ooce::7 

Comcunity Se~iice Hou:s 

20 - 25 25 - 30 30 - 40 

20 - 30 30 - 40 40 - 50 

30 - 40 40 - 50 50 - 60 

I. =,~-_g_:_:_:-._y __________________ ~ __________ ~ _________ ~ __________ ,~ 

• 

., 
• 

• 

• 

• 
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RULES AT 'l;,HE'n'ORK-SITE 

I. Rules for the Juvenile 

All jobs must have rules and regulations. In order 
for you to complete your 'liork progral1l, it is necessary 
that all rules be obej'ed. If you do not obey the rules, 
it :nay become :1.ecassary to te:-::ll::ate (STOP) you involve
ment in the prog~a:n. It you a~e ter~ir4ted (STOPPED) 

from the program tor oreaking rules, you case will 
RETU?1-1 TO COlBT 'FOR A :-iE'n' D'scrS!ON BY 1':8 JUWE. THE " 

RULES THAT YOU are ex:;:>ected to follo'li are: 

1. =e at work on time. 
2. 'lior~ each '!laek \J:".lass you haye a good reason, (sick-

ness, death in the fa~lly). 
3. Follow the instr'1.l.ctlo:1.S o! the 'liork-sHe su,ervisor. 
4. ~o not dest~oy prope~y at the ~o~k-site. 
5. Do not argue or curse with ~~yone at the work-site. 
6. Do ~ot use or ;ossess ar~ alcohcllc beverage, oari-

juana, glues, i~~alents or any drugs on the job-slte. 
7. Do not fight '!llth ~'1yone at the work-site. 
e. Do not steal at the work-site. 
9. You must 'J'lork hard, do a good job. 

10. Y01.l may not possess ~'1y 'lleapons at the work-sites. 
11. You =zy not flirt with fellow workers or your su~er-

• visors. 

• 

• 

• 

12. Do ~ot lea',e the joe-sIte '!lithout per:nission. 
13. You should not BE CnA.':l.GW '/i'ITn 3REAXING 1':8 LXii 

'/fEIIZ !~j THE ?.ESTI1'UT!ON PRCGK!..."!. 
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II. Rules tor the SunerVisor 

.. 

It is your res~c~sibility tc deal with problems ~~d 
rule in!~ac:ions at the wo~~-si~a in a ¢oosis~s~t ~~d 
fair ~.a..;:ne~. !.::l c.oi!'lg so 7C1~ :rn.l.S-: set an $XS-,,",?l9 bj: 

1 ) 
2) 

3) 
4) 

5) 
6) 

7) 

8) 

9) 

Reporting on ti~e for each assig~~nt. 
Re?crting for each assig~~nt ~less there is a 
va1i~ e~cu~e (sic~e3s. etc.). 
:iot: cursi!l¢ or arguing · ... ith your employees. 
No~ ~si~ ~~ ?CsJess:~~ ~J alco~clic oe79~ao9s, 
QA!"ij'.ta.nS:. 0:' O';C9!" d:'.l.gs st the job-s :!.es. 
!ict \,:,s!.:::.g physical !'crce ~o deal · ... ith prcbleClS. 
R6mabiJ:g b.),sy a!ld 1~7017Sd .... ith the jU79::111e9 a.t 
the liork-site • 
!lot: lea.ving the jU7er,iles u.nsupervised at t::e ·.rark
site. 
&ct ca~ng ~~ecessa.r7 physical contact .... ith jU79niles 
O~ ta~low super7iso~s a: the joo-,!te. 
Y~in~a~~ the ~ole of ~~pe~7~sor ~d ~ot :or~ s 
social !'elat!.::>ns~!p "'":!.th thd 7outh. 

Should e. :'~-t:..9 rtole.tio.:l cc:t..:..:' s.":. ~he ~:':l-S:~91 ~'c~ p.:'o
?er proc-9c.'.!..:"s is to: 

1 } 

2) 

3) 

Con!:'c::t a..'1c. diactJ,sa the ~.l:'d "r_ola.tion ·,;i~b. tee 
j1J. ~tl.ile. 
rt i~ is a ::C.!l0:' r~le, l:s.!ld.la tee sit'..t.9.tion the:,~ 
a.::d ;:oi;l: O\.:.; r'),ture cc::seq:':Ol:lCOlS ct con'Cino.:ed :nis
con'::.lC'; . 
I: the r-'.l.le i=.:raction is ~jo!" 0:' disr1.lpci7e 1 ask 
1;:'e J'.!~:::.!,t.e,_ to 19a'fs ;~e jo"o si:e 0:" ;!"o71c.d h!.:1/.::e:, 
e~ans~cr~ation of! the s!~e if ar.otber s~~e~7iaor is 
a72.il2.b1e. 1:' ass!?ul'; "ceco::es a ?ossi·oi.l.l.~y. call 
a?pr'c;::"ia~e la-'" e~o:,cer.:e::'; o!'~i¢ials. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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WA.XE COUNTY JWENILE COURT ?.ESTITliTION PRCGRAl4 

Termi~3tion Criteria 

A juvenile ~y b~ voluntarily terminated and ~e:erred back to 
the court for sentencing siwply by the expression o! desire to 
do so. 

Invol~~tary termination with referral back to Juvenile Court for 
sentencing may occur as a result of the following: 

1. MO~9 tha~ one unaut~orized absence !rc~ the comcunity 
service ~ork assignment as scheduled. Unauthorized ab
sences will be those ~~elated to school or illness. 
Other absences such as family or personal commitments 
must be approved in advance by the prog~am director. 
An ~~excused 10 minutes tardy will constitute an un
authori~ed absence. 

2. Failure to make up absent hours by the scheduled complet
ion date. 

3. ;,!ore than one unexcused tardy on wcrk assigr.ment schedule. 

4. F'.ll'ther adjudication of juvenile ';lhile he is a participant 
of the program can ce~~ autc~tic termination. 

5. Failure to comply ';lith the rules or cooperate ';lith the 
'.."ork-site supervisor at the job site. 
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Community Arbitration 
An Experience In Social Restitution 
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The American public has long described 
the juvenile justice system as a "do 
nothing" system, one that does nothing 
about the young offender, and even less 
about protecting society. Their frustration 
stOrT'S from trying to deal with a system 
that has not been visible to them, and 
which they feel apparently does little more 
than slap a youth's wrist and turn him back 
out on the street. 

Traditionally, in Maryland, when a youth 
is referred to the Juvenile Services Admin
istration for a first or secorld misdemeanor
type offense, he may have to wait several 
weeks before receiving an intake screening 
letter from a Juvenile Services intake 
officer, asking the youth to come in and 
discuss the offense. 3y this time, the youth 
may have committed several other 
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offenses and the problem is no longer 
minor; he comes to feel that society does 
not punish or hold him responsible for his 
actions. The total effect is that society -
parents, community, and the legal process 
- fails to set the limits within which all 
people must operate. 

Maryland began looking for ways to 
resolve this dilemma, and, in 1973, the 
Anne Arundel County office tlf the Juve
nile Services Administration de'leloped the 
Community Arbitration Program. It is, 
basically, an innovative use of Maryland's 
existing juvenile law, which allows quick 
and positive responses to a youth's anti
social behavior. By maximizing the interest 
and involvement of concerned community 
groups and organizations; the program ulti
mately delivers a greater amount of atten-

ANNE ARUNDEL COUNTY JUVENILE CITATION No. 
Juvenllo', Last Name First Middle 

Addntu Phone 

Aace Su Age Hot. Wgt. Ha;r Eyos Compo DOB 

School and Grad" and/or PlacII of Employment 

First MlddllJ Phone 

Mlddl·:;-.--pPlh;;;o"'n:;-. ---

Mathai?, Addross t,f dlfferentf 

Oatu of Offens£I Ttme 

YOU ARE. HE REBV NOTIFIED TO APPE.AR ON THE ____ day ot 

___ • 19 _ • al at the Dllct. 01 JU\I'enlle Services, 50 
CalMOral St., Annapolis, Maryland, PhaM 224·13G2. 

Your lallul\l to appear may result In filing 01 a pelltlon tor Formal Co un 
ACtlOI), 

I HEREeV ACKNOWl..EDGE RECEIPT OF THIS CITATION AND 
PROMISE TO APPEAR ON THE: DATE AND TIME SPECIFIED, 

I FURTHER HAVE BEEN ADVISED OF MY RIGHT TO HAVE 
COUNSEL. APPEAR WITH ME. 

I f:URTHER STATE THAT THE ABOVE INFORMATION IS TRVE 
TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE. 

MSP AACoPO APO 

Other'. 

l.ssulng Otflcer 

D\s.trlct Beat 

Juvenile's Signature 

Panmt/Guardlan Signature 

10 No. 

Division 

CENTRA.L. ~ECORD$ 

79-489. 0-81-31 
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tion and resources to the child than would 
be possible within the traditional process. 

Community Arbitration is an innovative 
juvenile intake procedure,l and the Com
munity Arbitrator's options, therefore, 
parallel those of the regular intake officer. 
These options include: closing the case at 
intake because of insufficient evidence, 
closing the case at intake with a 
"warning" , referring the case to the 
State's Attorney's Office and authorizing 
the fiflng of a formal court petition, or 
placing the child on 90 day informal 
supervision. 

A key to this program is the unique utili
zation of the 90 day informal adjustment 
process. Community involvement is 
stressed to the youth by encouraging him 
to agree to donate time in community 

1. Juvenile S(!rvices intake marks the youth's first contact 
with the juvenile justice system, and seNes the vital 
function of det8rmj'ning how deeply Involved In the 
system the youth WI'll become. All oflr'cial complaints 

service. Community counseling agencies 
are heavily used also. In addition, the 
program has helped to develop. several 
specialized educational resources, such as 
the Mini-Bike Safety program run by the 
Anne Arundel County Police, and the Drug 
Education Program designed and run by 
the County Health Department. With each 
of its programs, Arbitration encourages 
community solutions to what are 
essentially community problems. 

If a youth is alleged to have committed a 
delinquent act which is included on the list 
of offenses heard by Arbitration,: and the 
police officer is satisfied that the child was 
probably involved in the case,3 the police 
officer issues a "juvenile citation" (similar 
to a traffic ticket) to the youth. 

8{Jalnst youtlts are screened by,Juvenlle Servlcf!s Intake 
officers, who defermlno if B case requires court Bction, 
or csn be handled through cOlJriseltng or other seN/ces. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

.' 
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StU> last page 
Polle€! perla" this screenmg procl1duro In all JUVfHltlt' 

C,lses, whether L'hglble tor Arbltriltlon or not 



"You can talk to that lady 
about a lot of stuff. She don't 
just sit there and tell you what 
you're going to do and ,7/1 that 
stuff... Kind of gives you a 
choice. " 

"It's fair ... you don't have to listen to him 
... You can have your attorney here .. .fairest 
it's gonna ever get, as 1 see it ... and it came 
up fast ... " 

.< . 
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The citation form, which provides for the 
signature of the child and his parent or 
guardian,both notifies the child and parent 
of the offense alleged, and serves as a 
parental release form. The police officer 
then sets the hearing time and date directly 
on the citation (7 working days after the 
issuance of the citation). A copy of this 
citation is left with the child and parent, 
and a copy is given to the complainant. 

The citation accomplishes several objec
tives; 1) it emphasizes to the child and 
parents that the child has been accused ·of 
an offense; 2) the child, parent, and com
plainant are each notified that a hearing 
will occur at a specific time and place, and 
that each party will have an opportunity to 
be heard;4 and 3) it states to all parties that 
what will be taking place is an important 
legal matter, carrying certain respon
sibilities. 

A greater number of juveniles - and 
complainants - are responding to this 
method. Since the program's inception, 
consistently fewer than 5% of the youths 
fail to appear at the hearing. Those youths 
not appearing at the Arbitration hearing 

4. In the regular intake process, complainants are not 
partIes to the proceedings. 
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are then referred to the conventional intake 
process for possible Juvenile Court action. 

The Arbitration hearing is conducted in a 
courtroom setting, which visually empha
sizes to the child that he has become 
involved with the juvenile justice system. 
While bcHh the conventional intake hearing 
and the specialized intake process of Com
munity Arbitration represent the child's 
initial contact with the juvenile justice 
system, the more formal setting of the 
Arbitration hearing enables the child to 
quickly comprehend the importance and 
meaning of the procedure with which he is 
involved, and that it is not merely another 
lecture or discussion. To all parties, tickets 
and courtrooms are recognized and ac
cepted arenas for resolving legal disputes. 

The Community Arbitrator is an attor
ney, which allowed several significant de
velopments in the ~rogram: 

1) Because Arbitration makes dramatic 
departures from the traditional intake 
conference, an attorney can better guide 
the legal aspects of the program's develop
ment, implementation, and expansion. . 
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"It got me busy domg something to stay out of trouble ... Lets me pay 
back for all the trouble I caused. " 

2) The underlying prumise of the pro· 
gram is that when the child oversteps legal 
boundaries, he should realize not only that 
such boundaries exist, but also the purpose 
and intent of these boundaries. I For 
example, a child charged with being dis· 
orderly should know what constitutes dis· 
orderly conduct, as well as why disorderly 
conduct is prohibited by society.! Another 
underlying theme of the program is to 
teach youths to obey the law out of reo 
spect for the rights of others, not just out 
of fear of consequences. An attorney's 
training and experience better equips him 
to explain the rational basis of the rules 
established by society. 

31 An attorney is also trained to reo 
cognize whether the charge alleged meets 
the standard of legal sufficiency. One es· 
sel'tial philosophical basis of the U.S. 
Supreme Court decision regarding children 
(In re Gault, 1966) is that the State should 
not interfere with the lives of children until 
or unless there is llvidence that a delin· 
quent act has been committed. The initial 
intake inquiry should, therefore, address 
two basic issues: whether there exists 
enough evidence for the State to prove its 

5 TmdlfroniJlfy. In Md1vl,md. ~\fhl'" ,'J ('h,id def),es ar 
offf>nse ,H rile Intll.i;P hparmq th(· mfc1xp [.ffli"N reiN"> 

case, and whether that child'!> behavior 
constitutes an offense. An attorney can 
make the determination on sufficiency of 
evidence when a child claims non·involve
ment in an offense.s 

The complainant is always advised of his 
option to have the State's Attorney review 
any and all decisions resulting from 
Arbitration. Complainants have appealed 
arbitration decisions in less than 1 % of the 
cases. These appeals have resulted in the 
subsequent filing of petitions in only .1 % 
ofthe Arbitration caseload. 

The cooperation and support of local law 
enforcement jurisdictions, the courts, the 
State's Attorney's Office, and the County 
Executive's office, are indispensible to the 
Arbitration efforts. 

The legal aspects of the program are 
balanced by a social worker's overseeing 
the community component of the process. 
A social worker, by training and experi
ence, is capable of locating, using, and 
expanding already existing community 
resources and developing /lew resources in 
which to involve children participating in 
the program. A vital aspect of Arbitration is 

thE' CDSC t(l (he State's ANomey's offIce for 8 
dptert?lInqtl('n of suffiCIency 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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developing a constructive relationship 
between the child and the sponsoring com
munity group, so that the community 
begins approaching the children not as 
"delinquents", but as individuals who can 
and want te become contributing mem
bers of their communities. In addition, the 
social worker coordinates and supervises 
the activities of field staff to ensure that 
the children receive the care and treatment 
mandated by Maryland law. 

Most youths who come into the Com
munity Arbitration Program can readily 
perceive the detrimental results of their 
misconduct, and it may be a disservice to 
those youths not to permit them to re
habilitate themselves by repairing the 
damage to the community. An important 
aspect of Community Arbitration is to help 
the child understand the extent to which 
his community is injured when a person 
willingly breaks the law (for example, 
increases· in consumer prices can be 
directly related to shoplifting.) 

One aspect of the Community Arbitra
tion Program involves having children who 
have broken a law agree to contribute 
some time to improving the community. If 
a child admits to the charge and agrees to 
an informal adjustment of his case, he and 
an assigned field supervisor select a com· 
munity work project that will involve the 
youth with a group or organization already 
dedicated to bettering the community. The 
youth works directly with neighbors and 
acquaintances who are themselves in
terested in community improvement. 

The field supervisor plays three vital 
roles: 1) monitoring work sites to ensure 
that the child is not being taken advantage 
of or mistreated by 'he community group 
or organization; 2) alleviating any friction 
that may develop between the organiza
tion and the child, and 3) providing back
up services, such as counseling, support, 
or transportation, that the child may need 
to complete the program. 
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The positive effects of the community 
involvement aspect of Arbitration is de
monstrated by many children maintaining 
their involvement with the community im
provement organization well beyond their 
agreed upon hours, and children becoming 
members or junior members of these 
organizations. Work projects have ranged 
from youths helping to construct parks for 
retarded children, to helping in day care 
centers, nursing homes, or hospitals. 

In some cases, however, youths are 
unable to fully appreciate how private 
offenses (such "victimless" crimes as 
narcotics violations, glue sniffing, etc.) 
injure the community. These youths are 
often referred into community counseling 
agencies, such as youth service bureaus 
and pastoral counseling units, whic~ are 
physically divorced from the Juvenile 
Services Administration. This separation 
allows the child to approach the counseling 
experience as something completely 
distinct from the legal process. Location of 
such counseling agencies within the im
mediate community also enables the child 
to seek help without relying upon his family 
for transportation. 

"If I had a friend coming here, I would tell 
him to take the community work like I did. 
This is good for kids because he (field 
supervisor) listens to both sides, and you 
have a chance. " 
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As the Arbitration program developed,it 
also became apparent that many specific 
charges actually resulted from long 
standing leuds among several families 
within a community. These feuds involved 
juveniles as well as adults; they often 
originated with the adults and later 
involved the children. In several cases, 
juvenile citations were coupled with 
District Court warrants involving adult 
offenders. Because traditional counseling 
techniques are ill-suited to the successful 
resolution of such situations, the inter
family counseling service was developed 
within the Arbitration program. Ideally, at 
the Arbitration hearing, both sides agree to 
meet with the counselor, who then 
arranges separate meetings with each side 
in the dispute. Later, in a combined 
meeting at some neutral location, the inter
family counselor mediates and guides the 
parties to resolving the problem. 

For many of the children who have been 
through the juvenile justice system, 
traditionai methods hava just not been 
effective in setting limits for their behavior. 
The Community Arbitration Program was 
designed and implemented as an innova
tive and flexible attempt to reach children 
whose needs were not being met by those 
regular, traditional methods. It is the 
philosophy of Maryland's juvenile justice 
system that children have the right to 
expect an adequate and appropriate 
response when they test society for the 
limits of permissable behavior .. 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

473 

"When I walked into the arbitration room· 
it makes you think . about gettinp some 
time." 
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Offenses Subject to Hearing 
Before Community Arbitrator 

1. Assault 
2. Assault and Battery 
3. Auto Tampering • 4. Concealed We?;lonS Violation 
5. Conspiracy 
6. Cruelty to Animals 
7 .• Desecration ot State or National Flags 
8. Destruction of Property 
9. DisorderlY Conduct 

10. False Alarm 
a) Fire • blBurglary 
c) Other 

11. False Statementto Police 
12. Firearms Violations 

al Discharging. 300 ft. of residential 
area 

bl Other 
13. Forgery and Uttering .' 14. False Pnitllnse 
15. Hitchhiking 
16. Interfering with Public Servant in Line 

of Duty 
al Police Officer 
bl Fireman 
c) Other 

17. Indecent Exposure 

'" 18. Larceny under.$l00 • al Shoplifting 
bl Other 

19. Littering 
20. Loitering 
21. Phone Misuse/Harassment 
22. Poss9ssion of Fireworks 
23. heceiving Stolen Goods 
24. Removing or Defacing Serial Numbers • 25. Resisting Arrest 
26. Traffic Violations 

a) Driving without license 
b) Reckfess driving .. 
c) Unregistered vehicle ;i 
d) Driving intoxicated 
el Otner 

27. Trespassing ..; 
28. Unauthorized Use 
29. Vandalism 

.' 
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Special thanks 10 the models appearing in all photos. 

Prepared by: 
Juvenile Services Administration 

Stale of Maryland Depanment 
of Health and Mental Hygiene 

from funds provided by 
The Governor's Commission on law enforcement 

and the Administration ot-Justice, 
and the OHice of the County ExotUlive 

fa, Anne A,undel County 

Special thanks to Warren Duckett, Jr., State's Attorney 
for Anne Arundei County; Robert Pascal, County 
Executive; the Anne Arundel County Legislative 
Delegation; the county iudiciary; and the state, county, 
and city law enforcement agencies for their vital and 
constant support of our program. 

The services and facilities of the Statf! of Marvland Depanment of ~ealth'and Mental fiygiene are 
operated on a noo·discfimlOBtoT)' basis. ihis policy prohIbits discrimination on the basis 01 race, 
coror. sex, or natjonal origin and applies to the provisions of employment and granting of 
advantages, privireges, and accommodations. 

Issued August, 1976 
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RESTlTUTION PROGRAM WORKS, CITY YOUTH SAYS 

(By Charles Zehren) 

Becky McEwing could have ended up sitting in a youth home and become just 
another lost number in the state corrections system. 

But because of Wisconsin's unique way of hanoling juveniles who stray from the 
straight and narrow, the 17-year-old West High School Senior's future ~romises 
more than that. 

Becky, 1328 Gross Ave., is one of two Wisconsin juvenile ex-offenders scheduled to 
testify Tuesday before the House Subcommittee on Human Resources in Washing
ton, D.C. 

She successfully completed the Green Bay Juvenile Restitution Program and has 
been invited to testify before the committee along with another youth from Rock 
County. 

Becky had a run in with the law in 1978 aftel" going on a joy ride in a stolen car 
with several other teenagers. But, she says that is behind her now. 

The youths will be accompanied to Washington by former Green Bay resident 
Dennis Maloney who heads the Juvenile Justice and Youth Development Section of 
the state Department of Health and Social Services in Madison. Maloney was 
director of the Brown County Youth Resources Council until 1978. He then accepted 
a position with the Wisconsin Bureau of Children and Youth. 

Maloney said he was asked to testify by the Congressional subcommittee staff 
along with two juveniles to describe Wisconsin's 12 county program. The 43 federal
ly funded restitution programs across the nation are being analyzed as part of the 
current budgetary review, Maloney said. 

Maloney said he asked Becky to testify because of her great success in the 
program and praised her present efforts as a career development trainer for the 
Youth Division of the department. 

"The whole program is fantastic. There is no way I could have gone out and found 
a job for myself. I would have been sent away somewhere if there wasn't a restitu
tion project," Becky baid. 

"The people who work for the restitution project really relate well with kids," 
Becky said adding, "If someone thinks they can't make it because they are not 
getting along with their job supervisor, the workers at the restitution project will 
help you fit in somewhere else so you can payoff what you owe." 

Becky said the court ordered her to pay the owner of the car $180 and complete 
50 hours of volunteer work. 

"I finished the whole thing when I completed my volunteer work in February of 
1980. I worked at the YWCA cleaning and painting. I never saw any of the money; 
it went right to the victim. I completed my fifty hours of volunteer work at the Boys 
Club doing secretarial work," she said. 

"I am now involved with a career training program for kids from the restitution 
project. We help them dig into themselves to find out what their values, skills and 
main career goals are. We show them how to find more information about job 
hunting and learning new skills," Becky said. "I know that it is a successful 
program because people involved in it are finding jobs," she said. 

Becky said she plans on continuing her work with juvenile offenders after com
pleting college. 

Juvenile Restitution Program staff members help the young offenders find jobs so 
they can comply with court orders to pay for damage they were responsible for. The 
staff members also help the juveniles find non-paying jobs to complete public service 
requirements. 

Since the state began this compensation program in 1979, about $103,000 has been 
paid to victims by offenders and 86 percent of the juveniles involved have completed 
their restitution on schedule, Maloney said. This makes Wisconsin's program the 
most successful in the nation, he said. 

[From the News and Observer. Raleigh. N.C .. Mar. 23. 1980] 

RESTITUTION PLAN OFFERS CONRTRUCTIVE HELP TO TEENS 

(By Angelia Herrin) 

It was just another night. Not much was going on, just Brad and a bunch of other 
15 year olds goofing off drinking a few beers. 

Then somebody said, "Let's break into a house." 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

'. 
• 

• 

• 

• 

t.: 

477 

"I didn't really want to or need to," Brad (not his real name) 'recalled in a recent 
interview. "I was already on probation for taking a car, But, okay, we did it. 

"Then another guy started picking up stuff to take out. Thew we all did it." 
They took a cassette recorder, guns and a coin collection. The other guys sold 

their stuff. Brad got nervous. He told his probation officer. The other guys got 
caught. Once again, Brad was in trouble. 

His punishment normally would have been more time on probation-or maybe six 
months at a state training schooL This time, though, the judge had an alternative
Wake County's new juvenile court restitution program. 

For eight weeks, Brad worked Saturdays from 9 a.m. to 4 p,m. He washed sheriffs 
cars, cleaned wheelchairs at a rest home and raked leaves. 

It wasn't punishment, Brad says, it was a payoff. 
"The guy we robbed got most of his stuff back, but if he didn't I couldn't have 

gotten a job to pay for it," he said. "But the courts wrote him a letter and told him I 
was doing this work. And that's good, because I feel like I'm kinda paying back for 
doing stupid stuff." 

Brad got the message, said Sandy C. Pearce, director of the restitution program. 
"The idea is to make these kids see clear-cut consequences for their behavior," she 

said. "If they commit an offense, they make a payment for it." 
The program, funded by a $29,566 federal grant, is a year long pilot program for 

teen agers under 16 who have committed property offenses, 
In Wake County, more than 50 percent of all cases in juvenile court involve 

property-vandalism, shoplifting, breaking and entering and motor theft. 
Tbe Wake project, begun in August, is similar to three year restitution programs 

act up in 1979 by the federal Law Enforcement Assistance Administration in Chica
go and New York. It is the only community service restitution program for juveniles 
in the state. 

The time an offender spends in the program-from three weeks to three months
is determined by the severity of the offense, Service work is scheduled after school 
and on Saturdays. 

Paid supervisors pick up participants and monitor their activity. Eighteen Wake 
County agencies, ranging from the Women's Center of Raleigh to the YMCA, use 
the program services, mainly for cleanup and maintenance. 

The program benefits the whole community. Ms. Pearce said. 
"These offenders are too young to get jobs, to pay for their offenses monetarily," 

she said. "But they have to give up something more precious; their time and energy, 
They understand that they pay. 

"Usually probation or a training school is threatened for these kids, but that 
doesn't really treat the problem. A training school just keeps them away from 
society. What we're trying to do is keep them in the community and change their 
values. 

"We think we can prove it is a viable alternative to incarceration." 
Wake's chief District Court judge, George F. Bason, agrees. 
"I'm very pleased with the program, and I think it's gaining public support and 

acceptance," he said. "And people are pleased to know that juveniles are made 
accountable for their actions.' 

Since August, 34 teens have been referred to the program. Sixteen have complet
ed their assignments, three dropped out and the remainder still are working. 

Does the restitution program work? 
"Well, so far we've had an 89 percent completion rate," Ms. Pearce said. "In the 

short term, that's a success. We're trying to teach responsibility and accountability. 
For most of them, completing a set of tasks is a real test. 

"Of course, the real measurement will be how many of these kids will get in legal 
trouble again. We'll have to wait and see how the program's message stays with 
them." 

The program also sends a message to the community. When a juvenile begins 
restitution work, a letter is sent to the victim of the crime. 

In Brad's case, the victim was John Peters, an IBM employee. He was angry after 
the break in. "A man's house is his castle; It's supposed to be safe, and to have that 
violated is upsetting." Peters said. 

While he is not sure the restitution program is a solution to juvenile crime. Peters 
said he was glad to see the courts taking action in the community. 

"There is an element in all of us that has learned what ha.epens when you go 
against society rules," Peters said. "Sitting in a jail cell doesn t necessarily teach 
that. Maybe this can." 
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